

Contents

		0
Part I	Introduction	13
1	Contents	13
2	What`s new?	13
3	Program activation	14
4	Registering for web functions	16
5	ChessBase Account	18
6	User Concept with Ribbons	19
7	Screen Layout	22
8	Style specifications	24
9	Optimized Interface with Direct2D	24
10	Replaying, entering and saving games	26
11	Playing through games with the mouse wheel	27
12	Finding Games	27
13	Manage Databases	28
14	Printing and Publishing	29
15	Movies in ChessBase	32
16	Correspondence chess management	34
17	Configure the program	36
18	Support	37
Part II	User Interface	38

ram Windows	
Database window	
Database w indow	
Preview Window in the Database Window	
Double click on the fast board	
Help Menu	
Useful shortcut Ctrl-F6	
Board window	
Instant Analysis	
Transitions in the evaluation profile	
Print evaluation profile	
No evaluation profile?	
Endgame probabilities	
Trends	
Display Reference Percentage	
Engine w indow	
Evaluation display	
Display attack relations	
Select Default Engine	

New in selected database	
Extended Engine Information	
Notation w indow	
Detect Sacrifices	
Speak text annotations	
Folding and game hints notation	
Replay Training	
Repertoire training	
Plan Explorer	
Use of colours for variations within the notation!	
Flexible headings in the notation window	
Diagrams within notation	
Moves highlighted with a yellow arrow	
Show ing the name of the opening	
Notation Window Toolbar	
DGT Board	
Position Setup using the DGT board	
Board window	
Extended Information in the Board Window	
Navigating games with the slider	
Annotation palette	
Fold notation	
Search result window	
Game History in the Board Window	
Add analysis engine	
Real 3D Board	
Ray Tracing boards	
Book analysis window	
Book window	
Maximum size of the tree of positions	
Extended Book Display	
Different Statistical Displays in the Opening Book	
3D Board Settings	
Game overview	
Score Sheet Notation	
Table notation	
Goto Fritz	
Rest name	
Sending games to the web app Fritz	
Passing on to the openings ann	
Window	
Liet window	
Cames list	
Tine Game list	
Rustomising the display of information	
Conving games with a right click	
Top Comes in the Database Come List	
Detabage statistics	
Database Statistics	
Deduty UI GdHes	
Set Deduly	
Harves index	

Flayer preparation by mouse click	
Tournament index	
Full text search in the Tournament list	
Annotator index	
Source index	
Teams index	
Endgame keys	
Strategy key	
Tactics key	
Theme keys	
Endgame Classification	
New Index	
ng Boxes	
Search mask	1:
Interactive search mask	1
Interactive search mask-Everyone	
Interactive search mask Any Strength	
Interactive search mask Any Opening	،۱٬
	، ۱۰
Interactive search mask-Any Event	۱۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰
Interactive search mask-Any Position	
Interactive search mask-Any Material	
Interactive search mask-Other Options	
Search mask	
Search mask – Game data	
Tip Search mask	1
Search mask – Annotations	1
Search mask – Manoeuvres	1
Search mask – Material	1
Search mask - Attacks	1
Search mask – Medals	1
Search mask – Position	1
Searching for time controls	
Options	
User name	
Setting the notation	
Design Dialog	
Standard engine and Heumas	
l imits	1
Meraina transpositions	1
Tablebase Path	1
Suzvav Tahlahases	1
Caviata ECTB files	1
Gaviola EGTB files	۱۱ ۱
Gildoro	ا ا بر
i Uludi S	1 ۱ د
	1
Copy games to book	
Parameters for Reference Search	
Feedback for training positions	1
Iraining questions including those being timed	1
Database types	1
Edit player's name	
Save mask	

	Save games as analysis	189
	Board design	
	ID-Card	
	Options in the book window	193
	Source edit dialog	
	Tournament data	195
	Serial Number	196
	Book Window Options	196
	Options Player Encyclopedia	197
	Tournament tables	198
	Rearranging windows	200
	The Menu Bands	201
2	Keyboard Shortcuts	201
	Customize Shortcuts	
	Keyboard shortcuts for commentary symbols	
	Keyboard shortcuts in games lists	
	Keyboard shortcuts in the board window	
	Keyboard shortcuts in the database window	
3	Fonts	206
4	Drag & Drop	206

Part III Reference

1	Entering and Annotating Games	207
	Analysis engine	207
	Enter moves	208
	New input mode for games	210
	Rapid input of games	212
	Assisted analysis	213
	Trying Out Moves	
	Enter moves with single clicks	219
	Correcting moves	219
	How can you insert a possible continuation into a saved game?	
	Enter position	
	Interactive Position Setup	
	Annotating games	
	Annotation palette	
	Text commentary	
	Supplementary moves at the end of a game notation	
	Fonts Commentary Box	
	Language selection by mouse click	
	Variations	
	Stopping the variation box from appearing	
	Editorial annotation	
	Promotion	
	Critical positions	
	Removing critical positions from notation	
	Graphic commentary	
	Coloured circle in the notations?	
	Medals	
	Removing medals	
	Bookmark games in ChessBase	
	Color bars	

	Insert a diagram before the first move	243
	Pawn structure and piece path	245
	Commenting functions	
	Saving games	249
	Changed conventions for the saving and replacing of games!	250
	Merging games	253
	Tipp Merging Games	
	Replace game	
	Input and saving of illegal positions	
	Training	256
	Threat Animation	256
	Chess Media System	257
	Create training lessons	258
	Solve training lessons	260
	Training quastiene with disgrams	
~	Finally Questions with diagrams	
2	Finding Games	
	Filtering a games list	263
	Direct Search in a Database List	
	Saving searches	
	Tips on searching for a player	266
	Interactive search for structures	
	Search for games between players whose Elo ratings differ greatly	
	Searching for positions	271
	Searching for annotated games	
	Sorting games in the list	
	Online database	
	Annotated games Online database	277
	Annotated games	277
	Browse Positions	277
	Intelligent Searches in the Online Database	278
	Bosition sourch in the online database	
	Position search window of the online database	
	Opdating the search window of the online database	
	Game History	
	Search for sacrifices	
	Search in the Online database	
	Search in the reference database	
	Reference database	
	Search for similar endgames	288
	Search for similar middle game structures	289
	Search for similar moves	290
	Typical tactical positions in an opening variation	291
	Same players	293
	Final Material	294
	Searching for game tags	294
	Piece probability	295
	Statistics	297
3	Finding Players	297
	Player encyclonedia	207
	Player Encyclopedia anline	
	No information from the playor oncyclonaedia?	
	no intormation nom the player encyclopaeula?	JUU 200
	ID-0aru	

	Player index	. 301
	Player dossier	. 303
	Search in the player encyclopedia	. 304
	Player Encyclopedia as List	. 306
Det	Spening of players names	. 307
Data	abase management	308
	Databases	. 308
	Database types	. 310
	My databases	. 311
	Database symbols	. 312
	Creation date of a Database	. 313
	Directly deleting databases	. 314
	Tip for a new installation	. 315
	Default book	. 315
	Advanced Database Management	. 316
	Search booster	. 317
	Clip database	. 318
	Clip database for web-based use	. 319
	Database file selector	. 321
	Copy games	. 321
	Choosing good games	. 323
	Import protocol	. 323
	Delete game	. 324
	Tip Deleting Games	. 324
	Deleting a Database	. 325
	Rename a Database	. 326
	Install database from DVD	. 326
	Install database on hard disk	. 327
	Update of the Reference Database	. 327
	Games subscriptions	. 329
	Downloads Reference Database	. 330
	Simplified update of the reference database	. 331
	Copy games to book	. 332
	Manage Databases	. 333
	Database path	. 334
	Archive database	. 335
	Edit menu in games list	. 336
	File names and extensions	. 337
	Check integrity	. 339
	Search booster	. 339
	Automatic Correction of Player Names	. 341
	Filter – Good Games	. 341
	Live databases	. 342
	Live opening comments/notifications	. 343
	Database formats	. 345
	New data format 2cbh	. 346
	Conversion from older file formats to the new 2CBH format	. 347
	Conversion from 2CBH to older file formats	. 348
	FAQ 2CBH Format	. 349
	*.cbone	. 349
	Register File Types	. 350
	Database Indexes	. 350
	Folders	. 351
	Find double games	352
	· ····	

	A tip on searching for doubles	354
	PGN format	354
	FEN Format	355
	Automatically paste PGN and FEN	355
	Recognising PGN downloads	356
	PGN Downloads from the Internet	358
	Saving Games in PGN	358
	Password	359
	Network capability	359
5	General	359
	Flo ratings	359
	ECO classification	360
	ChessBase Magazine	361
	Commentary symbols	361
	Chess notation	362
	Mega Database	363
6	Ononinge	364
0	Opennigs	
	Define reference database	364
	Opening Reference	365
	Opening surveys	367
	Tips Opening surveys	372
	Name of the opening	373
	Searching in the online shop	373
	Direct installation from the shop	374
	Show Hot Variations	376
	Opening reference for databases	377
	Opening reference for groups of games	377
	Marking variations with Reference	378
	Openings report	379
	Export opening report	382
	Openings classification	383
	Collect Openings	384
	Openings book	385
	Classify whole database	386
	Find novelty/compare	387
	Novelty Annotation	388
	Notation – Remove Novelty	389
	Openings Key	390
	What are classification keys?	390
	Show classification positions	390
	Openings key	391
	Key functions	392
	Insert new key	393
	Install new key	393
	Define/Insert key memo	394
	Transfer key	394
	Sorting Keys	395
	Repertoire	396
	Repertoire database	396
	MyMoves	397
	Immediate Access to the Repertoire Database	398
	Add game to repertoire	398
	Creating a Repertoire Database	399
	Repertoire print	401

Contents

_		400
1	My moves	402
	My Moves	402
	Access	402
	Extending the repertoire	404
	Other options for working on the repertoire	404
	Use of colours in the repertoire	406
	Hints for working on your repertoire	407
	Standard repertoires	407
8	Organising repertoires	408
	Organising repertoires	408
		4 00 /10
	Working on or ovtending a reporteiro	410
		411
	Backup conice of your reportoire	413
	Deleting variations in the reporteirs	413
	Completely delete a reporteire	413
~	Completely delete a reperione	414
9	Printing and Publishing	414
	Output menu in games list	414
	Page setup	416
	Page setup - Print games	417
	Publishing of Games in the Internet	418
	Creating EBooks	420
	E-Mails from ChessBase	423
	Diagram List	424
10	Program Configuration	425
	DirectX	425
	DGT Board	425
		426
	Language	4 20 197
	Limits	421
	Forwarites list	420
	Ontimize Deal 2D Deard	430
		431
11	Correspondence Chess	432
	ICCF Correspondence Chess Server	432
	Correspondence chess management	432
	Correspondence header	434
	Correspondence move	435
12	Engines	436
	Installed engines	436
	Default engine	437
	Load Engine	437
	Loading multiple instances of an engine	/30
	Hash tables	
	Finding narameters	
	Note shout the UCL engines	 149
	Fytended Ontions in the Engine Window	442 112
	Extended Engine Information	443
	Analysis monu	444 AAF
	Analysis memory Analysis	445
		440
	visual Evaluation	447
		449

	Analysis with Comments	450
	Tips in the engine window	451
	Engine variant with language	452
	Apply text analysis and variants with a click	454
	Buddy Engine	456
	Evaluation history in the search	458
	Deep analysis	459
	Cloud Analysis	461
	Analysis Jobs	464
	Tactical analysis	470
	Individual tactics training	472
	Blunder Categories	473
	A tip on tactical analysis	474
	Centipawn Analysis	475
13	Engine - Cloud.com	476
-	Sarvar Engine Claud com	476
	Server Eligine-Cloud.com	
	List view	
	Board window with provided engine	
	Using a Cloud Engine privately	
	Public Cloud Engines	
	Offering a public Cloud Engine	
	Summary of the auction system	
	Hints Engine Cloud	496
	Use of Cloud Engines	496
	Providers of Cloud Engines	497
	Cloud Engines on Playchess.com	498
	Cloud Game Analysis	499
	Let's Check	499
	Infinite Analysis with a Cloudengine	500
	Settings dialog for providers	501
	Engine	501
	Computer	502
	Revenue	503
	Private Users	504
	Ignored Users	504
	Bid Dialog	505
	Ducats	506
	Rating List	506
14	Let's Check	508
	Description	
	LiveBook	510
	Basics	512
	Start Lat's Chark	514
	How should a game be analysed with Let's Check?	518
	What do the green blue and red letters for the denth mean?	
	Why does the progress har often jump back after reaching 100%2	
	they uses the progress bar often jump back and reaching 100 %?	
	Let 9 Olleth del vel statistica	
	Let 9 Offect Context menu	
	Commentaries in the LivePook	
	Notworked Analysis	
	Networken Allarysis	
	Game analysis with Let's Check	
	Prospecting for innovations	531

	Honours Lists	534
	Speedindex	535
15	Common questions about Let's Check	536
	Is my analysis always sent to Let's Check?	536
	Can Let's Check be used anonymously?	536
	What does it cost?	536
	What difference does the power of my computer make?	536
	What engines are allowed?	536
	Can variations and evaluations be manipulated?	537
	Can senseless moves be input and analysed?	537
	How are the Let's Check honours lists created?	537
	What do the two diagrams in the LiveBook window mean?	537
	Can a text commentary be edited or deleted?	538
16	Cloud Databases	538
	Cloud Databases	538
	DataBase Format Cloud	539
	Registration with ChessBase Cloud	540
	Create new Cloud Databases	541
	Saving Games	
	Storage space for the Cloud Databases	
	Using Cloud Databases offline	543
	Database functions with Cloud Databases	543
	Deleting a Cloud Database locally	
	Accessing Cloud Databases on other computers	
	Sharing Cloud Databases	545
	Publishing Cloud Databases on the Web	548
	Repertoire Databases in the Cloud	549
	Cloud Database Icons	550
17	Database text	551
	Database text	551
	Database text header	552
	Database text editor	552
	Database text multimedia links	553
	Database text chess links	554
	Format text	555
	Default Text	557
	Looking for and finding database texts	557
: IV	Support	559
4	System requirements	550

Part

1	System requirements	559
2	Support	559
3	Use touchpad	561
4	Trouble shooting	561
5	Font problems	562
6	Optimize Real 3D Board	562
7	Admin Tool	564
8	FAQ on activating / deactivating	564
9	Updates	565
10	64 bit versions of Windows	567
-		

11	DGT Board 64 Bit	567
12	Error Messages	567
	Can't open database	567
	Database in use, can't delete	
	Only replace game with multimedia commentary	568
	Not enough RAM memory	568
	Read/write error	568
	Wrong database format	568
	Error Update	569

Index

1 Introduction

1.1 Contents





Finding games Replay, enter and save games Managing Databases Printing, Publishing, E-Mail Correspondence Chess Configure the program

Support

Chess News, New Products: <u>www.chessbase.com</u> Chess Server: <u>www.playchess.com</u>.

1.2 What`s new?

New data format 2cbh ...

Advanced Engine Analysis ...

Buddy Engine ...

ChessBase 17

14

Visual Evaluation ...

Analysis with Comments ...

Interactive Position Input ...

Engine variant with language ...

Display <u>attack relations</u> ...

Classification scheme <u>beauty</u> ...

Interactive search mask ...

Style specifications

Save games as analysis ...

Apply text analysis and variants with a click ...

Speak text annotations ...

Automatically paste PGN and FEN

Display percentage ...

Evaluation History in the Search ...

New <u>Dialog for text input</u> ...

Menu Bands ...

Annotation with colors and arrows ...

Detect <u>Sacrifices</u> ...

Optimized Interface ...

Moves at the end of a game notation

and much more ...

1.3 Program activation

The first time you start the program you have to enter the serial number. <u>After doing</u> this you can access the online database.

Some of the program features only work correctly if the program has access to a fast, up to date <u>online database</u>. The program has to be first activated on the Internet to do this.

The program is registered with the command **Menu File** Activation Activate.



Usually the serial number that you entered when installing the program is entered into the dialog box as default.

After activating the program you are given a message about the activation status.

If you want to install the program on a new computer you must first deactivate the old registration. The reason for this is the hardware recognition. When you register the program the server stores details about your computer's hardware configuration.

The program is deactivated with **Menu File** Activation **Deactivate**. This increases the remaining activation count on the server.

Note: It is possible to register the program for use with a <u>maximum of two computers</u> with one serial number.

If a serial number is not already present in the text boxes type the number that you received with the program. The serial number can be used to install the program on a maximum of two computers. If you want to install the program on a new computer, or you want to re-install your operating system, you should first deactivate the current registration online.



After entering the serial number you have to register the program on the Internet. To do this use the *Menu File* and click on *Activate*.

The online activation is necessary to be able to receive things such as free program <u>updates</u>. It is only possible to use <u>"Let's Check</u>" in the Online Analysis after activationg the program.

Information about ChessBase Admin Tool

Important: If you want to install the program on a new computer you must first deactivate the previous online registration. The reason for this is the hardware recognition. When the program is registered the server stores information about the system configuration of the user's computer.

Note: If you make significant changes to your computer's system configuration you must also deactivate the program and activate it again.

See also the FAQ

1.4 Registering for web functions

In the **Home** Menu you will find the registration box for the use of the web-based services offered by the program. This is where for the whole time you are working you can log in for the web-based services offered by the program.

A click on "Login" starts the dialogue.

Login Login Account ChessBase	at Account				
Login with your Che to Playchess, the Or Let's Check, a Create N	ssbase Account to get access line Database, the LiveBook, and the Engine Cloud.				
Username	Pitters				
Password	•••••				
Remember Password					
ОК	No, thanks				

"Create new player name" allows you to enter a new player name.

Should you – like the majority of users of CB – already have registered for an account with ChessBase enter your own data, i.e. user name and password. "Save password" makes access easier when you re-start the program, since you do not have to enter your access data each time.

After you have registered there is a simple way to check whether your log-in has worked. A click on "playchess.com" in the bottom left of the window starts the access to the chess server with your user name. Unlike in earlier versions of the program, therefore, you do not have to keep on entering your access data because the login now follows "seamlessly".

The panel reappears in those windows which require logging in to a server.

These are as follows:

- 1. Chess server: login is automatic. You can start working immediately.
- 2. Games cloud: here too the login is automatic. But there is the additional option of

working on the databases offline.

3. Engine cloud: here too the login is automatic. You can start working immediately.

4. Online database: if your ChessBase account has premium access and you are logged in, when you access the online database you also receive games in annotated form.

5. <u>Let's Check</u> / Live book: automatic login only works here if you have indicated this in the appropriate setup dialog.

The entries for name and password are prefilled with your CB Account data. Otherwise there is no change here from the previous version.

6. Games subscriptions: here too, login is automatic. If you have already registered your weekly games updates under your CB account, there is no more you need to do. Everything works as previously.

1.5 ChessBase Account

For the use of our web apps and many online functions (Playchess, MyOpenings, etc.) a ChessBase account is mandatory.

So every user who wants to use this service has to create a ChessBase account. It is possible to try and test the access free of charge for three months. We offer two different access options. There is the starter access and the premium access.



Premium users have the full functionality of the web apps at their disposal, with the Starter access there are minor restrictions regarding the functionality and the resources to be used.

1.6 User Concept with Ribbons

ChessBase uses a completely new design which is based on the proposals of the "Microsoft Fluent UI". The so-called Ribbons were first used by Microsoft in Office 2007. The ribbon is a graphical concept for combining menus and icons. This user concept is very useful for complex programs.

Ribbons are used throughout the program, for instance in the <u>database window</u> and the <u>board window</u>.

The main advantage is that the user no longer has to navigate through a tree of menus and submenus to find the function he needs. Instead of this he is shown icons for the program functions that are available in the current context.



At the top of the program window there are expressions that represent command, such as *Home*, *Reports* or *Maintenance*.

Clicking on one of these expressions does not open a menu, but a toolbar that contains the commands that are available. Every "menu" has its own toolbar, which is called a *ribbon*.

In its default setting the ribbon takes up more room on the screen than the classical combination of menus and toolbar. The symbols are ordered sensibly within the ribbon, depending on the monitor's resolution and the size of the program window. Since there is more room for commands in the ribbons dialog boxes are less common. It is also possible to "minimize" the ribbons to make more room on the screen. This is done by right clicking on a ribbon and selecting *Minimize ribbon*.

Minimize Ribbon

In this case the ribbon is hidden until you click on one of the expressions.

A very important element in this user concept is the **Menu File**. This is activated by the symbol in the top left corner of the program window.

20	ChessBase 17	
	💑 🏌 🕮 =	
	File	Maintenance Cloud View
	New >	y 🚵 🗅 🧕
	Open 🕨	n My Cloud Show Co Databases Databases of D Database
	Save >	▼ ×
	Activation	Activate se 2016
	Install >	Activa 📩 Activate
	E-Mail Selected Database	Deactivate
	🖸 Customize 💈 About 🐧 Options 🥸 Close	Update Program
	REPERTOIRE WEISS	

This menu is used to change the program options and start essential program functions.

For instance, in the application menu there is a list of the last databases opened with the program.

File	Home	Report	м	aintenance	Cloud	View	Help	
	lew		•	Recent Datat	ases			
				<u>1</u> 2014_10_18	_Samstag.cb	h		
• 💻)pen		•	<u>2</u> 2014_11_6_	Donnerstag.	cbh		
🤨 A	ctivation		•	<u>3</u> C:\Users\\	New Databa	ise.cbh		
				<u>4</u> C:∖ChessBa	se Daten\ille	gal.cbh		
I 🗐 Ir	nstall		•	5 kasparov.cl	bh			
E E	-Mail Selected	d Database		<u>6</u> Mega Data	base 2014.cb	h		
				<u>7</u> MyInternet	Games.cbh			
				🐧 Option	ns 🛛 🥸 Clos	e 📃 Cu	stomize	💈 About

Another important element is the Quick Access toolbar with a list of icons that can be used to start commonly used functions with a single mouse click.

n &	1cmä	Format	
🍝 🏌 🕮	Ŧ		
File	Cus	tomize Quick Access	e Cloud Vi
	~	My Databases	
-	~	Options	
Opening	×	Board	Repertoire Rep
reference Ann		Tile	e Report White Rep
		Details	Repertoire Database
Folders		Backup Database	
🕀 📲 Databa	•	Opening reference	NEER DATABASE
🗄 👰 Drives		Opening reference	2016
🗄 🕛 Öffentli	i	Show Below the Ribbon	Detaile 2016
🛓 🖣 Netzwe			lega Database 2016
🗄 🕙 Game H	-	Minimize Ribbon	

The user can decide whether the toolbar is displayed beneath the ribbons or in the program's title bar.

The user can also configure the quick access toolbar. Right clicking on one of the icons opens a context menu with the following options:

Add to Quick Access
Show Quick Access Above the Ribbon
Minimize Ribbon

Add to Quick Access gives the user the possibility to add the functions he uses most often to the toolbar.

This user concept has a lot of advantages in day to day work with ChessBase, for instance you can access your favourite functions faster, such as selecting boards or accepting offers on the chess server. Since the symbols in the ribbons are automatically ordered by the frequency of their use this greatly increases your speed.

When you work with the program you should pay attention whether a small arrow is shown next to a command. This arrow means that additional functions are available for this command.





This example shows the menu for adding annotation symbols. If you click on the small arrow you will see a submenu with more functions.

Using ribbons makes it much easier to use the program. Obviously you need to get used to ribbons if you have worked with conventional menus for years, but the new user concept is much more transparent and faster to use.

1.7 Screen Layout

The latest version of the program offers a way to format the screen with intuitive "docking". This allows you to adapt the screen to your own needs.

Click on the title of a window pane (window inside a window) and move it by moving the mouse while holding down the mouse button. In this example we have moved the window with the openings book on top of the chess board.

There are several arrow buttons in the window which are displayed every time you move the window and want to dock it. You can use these buttons to position a window exactly.

To dock a window move the mouse over the coloured area of an arrow button while holding down the mouse button. This gives you a <u>preview of the new window position</u>.

0	41.7	2590	204
5		2563	256
3	کار	2463	262
	1		257
1		2390	255
1		2565	255

In our example we have chosen the upper arrow, so the window with the openings book notation will be placed directly above the chess board. We have to move the mouse to the blue area and release the mouse button.



The preview shows the <u>exact position the window will be placed in blue</u>. When you release the mouse button the window will be docked here.

Note: A window can also be dropped anywhere on the screen without docking it.

1.8 Style specifications

The program offers you - besides the existing individual layout functions - different views.

The different styles are available in the upper right screen area of the interface.

-		×	
	Style	~ 🕜	
	•	White T	heme
	1	Blue Th	eme
		Gray Th	eme
	1	Black Th	neme

Select the preferred settings with a mouse click.



Note: If Windows is in a high contrast mode, the program adjusts accordingly.

1.9 Optimized Interface with Direct2D

All drawing operations in notation and lists are performed in ChessBase 17 by fast hardware related functions of Direct2D, which was developed for games. This makes the software run much faster even on slow computers/graphics cards.

There are many optimizations: Game notation generation has been improved so much that you can now easily merge thousands of games. The resulting deeply nested game notation is still easy to handle. This means that there are no longer any limits to huge variant trees. (The new clear folding helps additionally).

The present program version introduces a new technology for the chess board. Based on the Direct2D graphics interface, there is now a fresh new look, new animations (chesses, stroke moves), higher resolution, new graphical effects.

In the board tab there is a check box "*New 2D board*" which simply switches between the new and the old board.



Under *Board -> Pieces* a new set of pieces is available in a simple design language, which is a contrast to the visual habits familiar from chess literature.



The new board needs an average graphics card for good performance, but every notebook has one nowadays.



The quickest way to start the Board Design dialog is to right-click on the graphic chess board. Select *Board Design* from the context menu to set colors, pieces, border thickness and background of the 2D board.

1.10 Replaying, entering and saving games

You replay games in the <u>board window</u> after you load them from a <u>games list</u> with a double-click or the enter key.

Click in the <u>notation window</u> to jump to any position. Use the cursor to play forward and backward.

Or click on the navigation buttons below the board:



If the replay arrows are not visible, right-click below the board to switch them on. The white arrows in the green circle navigate in the <u>game history</u>. The stop arrows lead to the begin/end of the current variation. The single arrows go forwards/backwards move by move. The red undo button in the center cancels the last move entered.

ChessBase has a new, intuitive way to navigate games. The slider below the board can be dragged or clicked, as in a media player, to get to different parts of the game very quickly. This is especially useful in long, commented games. You can install the

slider by using the menu right-clicking the board and using <u>Board Design</u> -> Slider.

You <u>enter moves with the mouse</u> or by typing the coordinates ("e2e4"). You can <u>annotate</u> a game with variations, text, chess symbols and many other special features like colored arrows.

While you replay or enter a game, you can start an <u>analysis engine</u> for move suggestions and evaluations.

When you are done entering and annotating a game, you <u>save</u> it into an existing or new <u>database</u>.

Mousewheel

If you would like to navigate quickly through the notation of a game, you can do so very quickly with the mouse wheel.

You can activate this function via Menu File – Options– $\underline{\mathsf{Misc}}$. – Mouse wheel executes moves

1.11 Playing through games with the mouse wheel

If you would like to navigate quickly through the notation of a game, you can do so very quickly with the mouse wheel.

You can activate this function via *Menu File Options Misc*.



Select "Mouse wheel executes moves".

1.12 Finding Games

How to find games by

Openings

<u>Opening Reference</u> <u>Openings key</u> <u>Openings report</u> <u>ECO-Code</u>

Players, Tournaments, Source, Annotator, Team

Double click a database symbol in the database window. In the database browser, click the tabs <u>Players</u>, <u>Tournaments</u>, <u>Annotators</u>, <u>Sources</u>, <u>Teams</u> to see the related index.

Alternatively, you can use the search mask in any <u>games list</u> to filter the list by those attributes.

Material

Double click a database symbol in the database window. In the database browser, click the tab <u>Endgames</u>. If the database has no endgame key installed, click on the button Install big key to create an endgame key for it.

Alternatively, you can use the search mask in any <u>games list</u> to filter it by <u>material</u>. Or check the <u>final material</u> column in the games list.

Positions and Patterns

You can <u>filter</u> any games list by positional patterns using the <u>position tab</u> in the search mask.

In the search mask you can define the search criteria you wish via the tab "Attacks".

See also:

Filtering a games list Sorting a games list Finding games online

1.13 Manage Databases

ChessBase stores games in <u>databases</u> The <u>database window</u> is your control center to access, copy, delete, edit, merge and backup databases.



• Open a database for browsing in a <u>list window</u> by double-clicking on its symbol in the database window.

- Copy games by <u>Drag & Drop</u> or by menu Edit Copy and menu Edit Paste.
- Edit type and title of a database by right-clicking on the symbol Properties.

 Call <u>advanced database management</u> functions by right-clicking on the symbol – Tools. • The most important tool is to <u>backup</u> a database into a single compressed file: *Right-click*, *Tools* Backup Database.

JE TESU 2	Eait		,	ign considering	-	Elo B
ls 🏢	Remove Delete All Files	Umscha	Entf alt+Entf	Huge Icons x256 Giant Icons	h,Y v,G ▼ × v,G	
	Tools		•	Backup Database	Strg+Z	
	Properties	Alt+	Eingabe	Remove Deleted Games		
	Kasparov, G Kasparov, G	0-1 0-1	56 39	Find Double Games Sort Database		e data
_	Edit type and	title of a data	ibase by	Unannotate DB Cannibalize		

1.14 Printing and Publishing

ChessBase prints formatted games, diagrams, game score sheets, and encyclopedic opening tables. You can create text files in different formats like RTF and HTML for further editing in a word processor including embedded diagrams. Finally you can publish games as web pages with Java script.

Printing diagrams

To print diagrams, load a game or <u>enter a position</u>. Call menu *File -> Print -> Print Diagram*.

Our program offers the possibility of generating game notation in the form of an <u>animated film</u>. With this you can present interesting games on the different social networks.



To print several diagrams one one page, use the <u>Diagram List</u>. You can also embed diagrams into a printed game notation with right-click on the notation -> Insert Diagram.

See also Diagram list

Printing games

Print a loaded game with menu *File -> Print -> Print Game* in the board window. ChessBase uses a print preview showing the page layout of the printout. You can cancel this without printing.

From a <u>games list</u> you can print several games in one go. Use Ctrl-mouseclick to select several games, then *right-click -> Output -> Print Selection*.

Note: To change the order of games for layout purposes, drag & drop them to the desired position in the games list.

Printing repertoires

A heavily annotated opening is called repertoire in ChessBase. <u>Printing a repertoire</u> is different from printing games: Repertoires are layouted like tables in the Encyclopedia

of Chess Openings (ECO).

Up to move XX" option

"Up to move XX" option - this option, found among the print settings, appears to be new, but I can't seem to use it as it is inactive. Can this option be used to limit the number of moves when printing repertoires, e.g. to 25? Or is there another way to limit printing to a number of moves when printing a repertoire?

Repertoire	Repertoire			dence		Coordinates			
Print Diagram			Diag	ram title		Fonts			
Layout	Pag	e nu	mbers	Title		Print games			
🔲 Game nur	V T	📝 Tournament							
🔽 ECO code	🗸 E	V Elo numbers							
🔲 Annotatio	V A	Annotator							
Justify columns			V P	Paragraphs					
Diagrams				Diagrams directly					
🔲 Analysis diagrams small			all 📃 U	Use colour					
✓ Up to move			23	23					
				<u> </u>	<u>)</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel			

The option becomes selectable/active if the "Comments" checkbox is deselected. The value is used when printing multiple game annotations and limits the number of moves printed. This means that variations are then not printed.

Creating textfiles

You can create a textfile from a loaded game or from selected games in a games list. In a games list, select games with Ctrl-mouseclick after bringing them in the desired order by drag & drop. Right-click -> Output -> Selection to Textfile leads you to a dialog box querying the desired format. For your word processor, RTF is a good choice.

Publishing games on the Web

It is possible to <u>publish</u> one or more games on the Web. This is also possible using Facebook's "Share link". *Board Window - File - Publish to Web*

E-Mailing games

In a games list, *right-click -> Output -> E-Mail selected games* <u>backups</u> the selected games into a single file for attachment to an e-mail. If you have a registered e-mail client like Outlook, this will be automatically started with an appropriate e-mail form.

1.15 Movies in ChessBase



In any <u>board window</u>, with a game on the screen, click "*File* > *Publish this game*" to get the following formats:

- Animated GIF (for Twitter, What's App, etc) In just a few seconds the program will produce a gif like this.
- Movie with 2D board This will produce an animated MP4 movie in a few seconds.
- Movie with 3D board This takes a few minutes to render.

The Graphics Interchange Format (abbreviated to GIF) is a popular data format for coloured images. It allows extensive loss-free compression of these images and thus is frequently used on the internet.

Over and above that, several individual images can be stored in a single file and can later be interpreted by suitable viewing programs such as web browsers as animation, or film.

As this happens the individual images are played by browsers or image editors one after the other with a time lapse. This enables the broadcast of short film-like files and

so animated GIFs are very common.

Our program offers the possibility of generating game notation in the form of an animated film. With this you can present interesting games on the different social networks.

The program plays through the individual sequences of moves from the notation and offers the user the possibility to save the animated GIF file. You can then make use of this file on Twitter, What's App, etc..

Alternatively you directly export the notation from the program as an animated film in MP4 format.

In the settings dialog which is displayed you can specify the pathway and the resolution for the film; the game headers are used as the standard for the name of the file which will be created.

Movie with 3D board		×
Directory C:\\ChessBase\NoGan	nes\CapablancaMarshall.mp4	j]
Seconds per Move	1	3
Resolution	 426x240 640x360 1280x720 1920x1080 	
Camera animation	○ Fixed camera ○ Rising Camera Orbiting Camera	
<u>O</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel	

Additionally, the dialog allows you to determine the length of the delay between game moves, in our example 1 second per move.

The result of the export is displayed in a window.



You have a number of options:

If you select the standard settings you will get a 3D MP4 film, one you can publish on YouTube or Facebook.

The procedure for producing films in 3D format is identical.

Movie with raytraced board (64 bit only) – These can take a long time to render, hours or even days, depending on the quality, resolution, frame rate, camera movement, etc. And of course the speed of your hardware. The moves are accompanied by sound effects.

Of course you can very easily uplode such films to social media.

1.16 Correspondence chess management

See also ICCF Chess Server

ChessBase has extensive management functions for correspondence chess players. It will look after correspondence games, keep track of progress, present them in the best way possible, print out cards, and send email to your opponents.

	Open	Þ	2	Database		nts Bo	oard Onlir oard Sear	ne Hard Disk chgames	Prepare Against	Find Player Playe	List Player Encyclopedia rs	Log Off	Edit Accour Che
Save		Þ		Open Clipboard		Format	Path						Date
		100 m	Refere			. C:\ChessBa	ise Daten∖	Datenbanke	en\Mega	Database 2016	i.cbh	5.11.2	
12	**					CBH	C:\\Ches	Base\Ency	y\Bases\201	6\Open	ing Encycloped	lia 2016	5.11.2
	,		Chess Media File		CTG	C:\ChessBa	se Daten\	Books\Fritz	13.ctg			7.11.2	
					CBH	C:\ChessBa	se Daten\	Bases\kaspa	arov.cbh	1		5.11.2	
	Install	•		Correspondence	rrespondence Server Games		C:\ChessBa	se Daten\	Datenbanke	en\Tests	ets\Pcschach.c	bh	11.10
			***			CDU	0.01 P	D · · ·					11.10
E-Mail Selected Database		atabase	-	Login		to correspondence chess server (ICCF et al.) and display the list of my g					y games	11.10	
			Search Mask										5.11.2
	🖸 Customize	💈 About				CBH	C:\\Dater	banken\T	estsets\Big	Book of	Combinations	.cbh	5.11.2

These are the available functions:

• To start a correspondence game you must first fill out the <u>correspondence header</u> for the game:

Board window: Insert – Annotations – Special annotation – Correspondence chess header (Ctrl-Alt-W)

For each move you are going to send you must enter a <u>correspondence move</u> commentary:
 Board window: Insert – Annotations – Special annotation – Correspondence move

(Ctrl-W)

▶ To send a correspondence chess move click: Board window: Menu File - Print Print Correspondence card.

▶ To get a report on the status of the game click: Board window: File - Print - Print Correspondence report.

• To e-mail a correspondence move or report click: Board window: *Menu File Send Send correspondence move/report*.

Note: The correspondence header only needs to be entered once for a game, but every move of the game must get a "correspondence move" commentary. This keeps track of the time spent by each side. When you have executed a move for yourself and inserted the correspondence move commentary you can print out the letter or postcard you send to your opponent.

How to play a correspondence game

This is basically how you start and maintain a correspondence game:

Click the New game button or press Ctrl-N.

Press Ctrl-Alt-W to get the header mask. Fill out the header form as explained in the next sections.

Enter your opponent's first move (e.g. 1.e4)

Press Ctrl-W and fill out the commentary form.

Save the game (Ctrl-S) and ponder your reply.

Load the game and enter your move (e.g. 1...e5).

Press Ctrl-W and fill out the commentary form.

Click File – Print – Print Correspondence card. Mail the card to your opponent. [Alternately click File – Send – Send correspondence move if you are playing by Email]

Replace the game (Ctrl-R) in the database.

Special games list for correspondence games

In the <u>games list</u> of your correspondence database you find special correspondence columns: Last Move, Move sent, Time White, Time Black. On the games list use *right-click List Format Correspondence Info* to make those columns visible.

Correspondence Notation

ChessBase supports entering games and printing in correspondence notation. Just type 5254 in the starting position. To switch to correspondence notation, call Menu Tools – Options – Notation – 1.4244.

Question: Why is there no shortcut for the option "Send correspondence chess move by E-Mail"?

Answer: You can create a keyboard shortcut yourself via Customize .

Customize keyboard shortcuts

You can find this on the programme's file menu.

1.17 Configure the program

To work comfortably with ChessBase, it is essential that you understand two small things about the window layout:

How to resize and rearrange window panes.

Also font size is essential for your individual comfort. In all text display windows (notation windows, game lists, etc), you have right-click menus containing a Choose Font item (or List Format -> Choose Font).

Every window contains *Menu View* Standard Layouts, giving you a choice of five default skins for the program. The default skin is wood.



For every menu function you can assign a <u>keyboard shortcut</u>. Call *Menu File* -Customize for a list of commands in the present frame window. This is also a helpful mini reference of available functions. Select a command, click on Input new shortcut then type. Finally click Assign to link this shortcut to the chosen command.

🐧 Opti	ions 🛛 🥸 Close	일 Custo	omize 🙎 About
2751406	Knoll,H	2365	Sucher I
2751407	Kreindl,H	2230	🛯 💁 Customize keyboard shortcuts
2751408	Krivoshey,S	2498	Wege, J
<u>Hint</u>: Call *Menu File - Shortcuts* for a list of all keyboard shortcuts. Click the Copy button to copy this list into the Windows clipboard for pasting into a text processor to print out a handy reference.

1.18 Support

First of all: Check for <u>updates</u> in the chess server.

Automatic updates as required



Updates are actively supplied for the program

The program is supplied with a help file. When in the program, click on the symbol with a question mark on the top right-hand edge of the screen to open the help file.

Visit the <u>support page</u> on www.chessbase.com for answers to frequently asked questions.



Check the <u>download page</u> of www.chessbase.com for further resources.

Write a mail to our support if this does not solve your problem.

Check for Windows Updates.

Menu Help

Access to the Helpfile.

2 User Interface

2.1 **Program Windows**

2.1.1 Database window

2.1.1.1 Database window

The database window is the control center and start screen of ChessBase. From here you install, access and manage your databases.

In the database window is the main window of ChessBase which always appears when you start the program. Here you can open, browse and generally look after databases. On the left you find the "Folder" window.

In case of a user-defined path, another icon appears in the tree.

Folders 👻 🗙					\sim	1						
Database path			3444						1-		I	
Database path - Custom	_	_				-	-		Y			
Drives	trainingss	tellun	referenz22.2	2cbh pl	aychessneu.2cb	h neuere	serverpar	t ausp	probieren.	.2cbh a	analysieren.2	cbh
Öffentliche Dokumente			-									
Netzwerk		m l			1 🖤 🔪		Ĭ					
Game History	C)	÷.							3			
D:\CBDaten\Neues Format\History\Jahr_2022\11-Nov	Testmorn	hy 2chh	Morphy 2	- bb	Carlsen 2chh	A51-A	52 Strate		indatenha	ank I	Königsindise	her
Shop	resultorp	пулссоп	morphy.c		consenzeon	~ ~ ~	or strate	ay Ci	paarenbe		Anariff	inci
Cloud Databases												
My Databases												
🐌 Königsindischer Angriff												
Live												
	-											
	📑 🖏 Ope	n 📰 De	tails 🏢 Til	e xa2 Sr	mall lcons ×48	Medium I	Icons ×6	• Big Ico	ons x128	Huge Ico	ons x256 Gia	nt Icons
	Database Preview: Morphy											
	Number	White		Elo W	Black		Elo B	Result	^ BR			-
	1	Morphy, P)		Morphy,A			1-0				* *
	2	Morphy)		Mornhy A			1-0	A 11 1 10 10	LED III I		

You can click on the plus symbol to reveal the contents of a drive or directory. If you click on the drive or directory itself the databases it contains are shown in the window on the right. If you click Details in the View (or in the right-click) menu the database symbols are replaced with a full filename and path display.

User Interface	39
----------------	----

The database window has a window pane called Database Preview. If you click once on a database symbol, this shows a <u>games list</u> of the database. You can switch this of in the Window menu or toggle it with Ctrl-Alt-L.

Double-click a database symbol to list out its contents in a full list window.

To find your database window, hit Alt-Tab to switch between the running Windows applications and select the ChessBase Icon. Or click on the ChessBase button in the task bar at the bottom on the screen:

<u>My databases</u> is a special place in the folder window, containing links to your favorite databases and folders. It is your "home" database window. Ctrl-F12 always takes you to the My databases window.

	_
Folders 👻 🗸	×
Database path	
Database path - Custom	
Drives	t
Öffentliche Dokumente	
Netzwerk	
Game History	
2022 - November	
Shop	
Cloud Databases	
My Databases	
퉬 Königsindischer Angriff	
Live	

In the folder window, you also find an entry $\underline{\mbox{Game History}}$ containing the daily work databases.

Large database symbols for high resolutions

This can be selected using the buttons underneath the database explorer.



It is also possible to view a DVD's contents with a single click.



2.1.1.2 Preview Window in the Database Window

The <u>database window</u> is the nerve centre of ChessBase. This is where you load and view databases installed on your computer.

A very useful feature is the Database Preview.

This preview is activated by the ribbon *View* Database Preview.



The database preview opens an <u>additional window</u>, which contains the game list of the database that you have selected.

🗟 Open	Details	Tile x3	Small Icons	×48 Mediun	n Icons	×64 Big Io	cons	128 Huge Icons 28	6 Giant Icons		de la e	Detelese	- D-4-1	SCLIMARZ T
Database Pi	review: kasparo	ov.												▼ ×
Number	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Mov	ECO	Tournament	Date	VCS	R	Medi ^		Sax,Gyula 2530 - Adorjan,Andr
1750	Kasparov,G	2825	Topalov,V	2740	1-0	37	B43	Sofia m 25' rapid	03.05.1998	VCS	4			C09 HUN-ch (17) 23.12.1976
1751	Kasparov,G	2825	Alterman,B	2615	1/2-1/2	25	B36	ISR-Kasparov ha.	19.05.1998	rCS	1.1			1.e4 c5 2.c3 e6 3.Sf3
1752	Sutovsky,E	2590	Kasparov,G	2820	0-1	53	B85	ISR-Kasparov ha	19.05.1998	rCSt	1.2			d5 4.exd5 exd5 5.d4
1753	Kasparov,G	2820	Smirin,I	2595	1/2-1/2	39	B43	ISR-Kasparov ha	19.05.1998	rCSt	1.3			Sc6 6.L55 Ld6 7.dxc5
1754	Huzman,A	2610	Kasparov,G	2825	0-1	42	E15	ISR-Kasparov ha	19.05.1998		1.4	2	81 184	Lxc5 8.0-0 Sge/ 9.Sbd2
1755	Alterman,B	2615	Kasparov,G	2825	0-1	50	D37	ISR-Kasparov ha	21.05.1998		2.1	1		0-0 10.5b5 Ld6 11.5b04
1756	Kasparov,G	2825	Sutovsky,E	2595	1-0	41	B30	ISR-Kasparov ha	21.05.1998		2.2			14 14 14
1757	Smirin,I	2590	Kasparov,G	2825	0-1	54	D12	ISR-Kasparov ha	21.05.1998	VCs	2.3			12-12
1758	Kasparov,G	2825	Huzman,A	2610	1-0	41	B90	ISR-Kasparov ha	21.05.1998		2.4	1	Daublaslisk to load th	
1759	Ariela		Kasparov,G	2825	0-1	51	E90	Internet blitz 5'	25.05.1998				Doubleclick to load th	e game into a big board, rightclick
1760	Ariela		Kasparov,G	2825	0-1	44	E16	Internet blitz 5'	25.05.1998					
1761	Gambrinus		Kasparov,G	2825	0-1	42	E32	Internet blitz 5'	25.05.1998					
1762	Kasparov,G	2825	Ariela		1-0	21	A57	Internet blitz 5'	25.05.1998					
1702	· · ·	2025			1.0	20	105	1.	DE OE 1000					
•												,		4
oh = 2549 Ga	mes													https://de.chessbase.com
													A Bildschirm	96 Dpi Caps Num Scil 🛒

A miniature board can also be displayed in the database preview, by right clicking in the window and selecting *List Format Quick Board*. The notation is automatically loaded when a game is selected.

Games can be replayed in the database window using the <u>four arrow keys</u> without having to open a <u>board window</u>. The up and down arrows select a game, the left and right arrows replay the game. It is also possible to load replay buttons beneath the board if you prefer to replay games with the mouse.



By right clicking on the miniature board and selecting <u>Board Design</u> you can add buttons or the slider beneath the board.

2.1.1.3 Double click on the fast board

Database P	atabase Preview: CB Light Database 👻 🖲														
Number	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Mov	ECC ^		Richter, Kurt1 - Abramavicius, Leonha						
2	Horwitz, B		Bird, H		¥2-¥2		A10		C13 Hamburg ol (Men) [Germany-Lithuan						
3	Kieseritzky, L		Anderssen, A		0-1	20	B20	******	1.d4 d5 2.Sc3 Sf6 3.Lg5 e6 4.e4 🔺						
4	Loewe,E		Wyvill,M		0-1	29	A34		dxe4 5.Sxe4 Le7 6.Lxf6 Lxf6 7.Sf3						
5	Loewenthal, J		Williams, E		0-1	44	C01		Sd7 8.Ld3 0-0 9.De2 c5 10.0-0-0						
6	Mayet, C		Kennedy, H		0-1	39	C00		cxd4 11.a4 a6 12.h4 La7 13.h5						
7	Mucklow, J		Kennedy, E		1-0	62	D00		Te8 14.hxa6 hxa6 15.a5 e5						
8	Staunton, H		Brodie, A		1-0	15	C44		16.Th4_Sf8_17.Tdb1_Lf5_18.Df1						
9	Szen, J		Newham,S		1-0	64	B44	6 ± 6 ± 6	Tc8 19 Th8+ 1 yh8 20 Tyh8+ Kyh8						
10	Anderssen, A		Kieseritzky, L		¥₂-¥₂	55	C39		21 Dh1+ Sh7 22 Sf6 K 7 23 Dh6+						
11	Bird, H		Horwitz, B		1-0	59	C65		1-0						
12	Brodie, A		Staunton, H		0-1	52	A30		1-0						
13	Kennedy, E		Mucklow, J		0-1	43	B44								
14	Kennedy, H		Mayet, C		1-0	60	A21 _								
10	N C		C 1		0.1	10	CO1		l>> 🗄 🗒 🛓						
		_													
2029 Games									www.chessbase.de						

Easy loading of games from the fast board (the board in the game lists).

Double clicking on a move in the notation loads the game into the normal board at this exact place.

2.1.1.4 Help Menu

You can access information on how to use the program or provide the developers with feedback using the *Help menu* in the <u>Board window</u> the <u>Database window</u>.

Here you can open the Help File.



• Open the Support Wiki.

https://de.chessbase.com/support-kb/	••• 🗑 ✿	
ChessBase Wiki Startseite	Tags Inhalt 🔜 💥	Anmelden
3D-Brett, 64-bit, Account, Aktivierung, Analyse, Android, A	P , Apps , AssistedAnalysis, Bedenkzeit, Bewertung, Brettdarstellur	ng, CB online, CB

• Contact the Support!

2.1.1.5 Useful shortcut Ctrl-F6

When you have opened a lot of windows whilst working with ChessBase, you can switch between opened ChessBase windows with the key combination (hotkey) **Ctrl-F6**. That is the same hotkey as in Microsoft Word.

The advantage of this solution compared to the task manager is that here you are switching only between the windows opened in the current application (here CB 14). With task manager all open windows are displayed; changed to the desired window there is more laborious.

2.1.2 Board window

2.1.2.1 Instant Analysis

If you load a game from the games list into the board window, an evaluation profile is automatically generated for that game.



Fritz users are acquainted with this valuable guidance and help. With its positional evaluation the program shows in graphic form the course of the game, allowing the user to see at a glance the point at which the game tipped one way or the other.

Calculating the evaluation profile takes place without delay in the background on fast computers. In that case, right after a game is loaded valuable guidance and help for considering the game is available.

It was invented for engine testing in Fritz and later became the standard to visualize the drama of a chess game: the Evaluation Profile. ChessBase 15 introduces Instant Analysis, which creates an evaluation profile for any game, while loading. It just takes a few seconds and uses one core of your processor and works smoothly without changing the game notation. And it is a very useful guide to unannotated games.

Naturally you can click on the graph and the board will jump to the corresponding position.

Of course this rapid analysis is no substitute for deep analysis, but for a rapid glance at games, above all unannotated games, it is extremely helpful.

Should the program be installed on a slow computer or should you not wish to set up rapid analysis for the evaluation profile, you can switch off the function in the database window under *File Options Engines*.

✓ Enable Endless	
------------------	--

Uncheck the box for "Enable" to switch off rapid analysis.

The setting "*Endless*" brings about a hidden form of "Permanent analysis" by the engine working in the background. The program continues to calculate the game notation and updates the display of the evaluation profile when that evaluation changes.

A right click starts the following dialog.

"Instant analysis" starts a dialog for setting times.



The analysis seen in the evaluation profile continues working while you are playing through the game. Here is where you set the thinking time per move.

Seconds per Move	1
ОК	Cancel

2.1.2.2 Transitions in the evaluation profile

If you load a game from a games list into the <u>board window</u>, an Evaluation profile is automatically created for the said game. Users of Fritz are familiar with this helpful guidance. Using the evaluation of positions the program shows in graphical format the course of the game; with it the user can spot at a glance the point at which "the game swung one way or the other".

In this version of the program the evaluation profile shows transitions, the transition from opening to middlegame then to endgame. The following illustration shows the marks for this with red frames.



2.1.2.3 Print evaluation profile

If a rating profile is saved in the batch, it can be printed.

Print setup			×
Layout	Game number	✓ Tournament	
Page numbers	ECO code	🖌 Elo numbers	
Title	Annotations	Annotator	
Print games	Justify columns	✓ Paragraphs	
Repertoire	✓ Diagrams	Diagrams directly	
Correspondence	One game per page	Ose colour Automatic diagrams	
Coordinates	Evaluation Profile		
Print Diagram			
Diagram title			
Fonts			

2.1.2.4 No evaluation profile?

This problem can occur when using a <u>notebook</u>. If the computer is not linked to the net but provide with electricity via a battery pack, no profile is generated either.

When the program is used on the move all those functions are deactivated which could possibly shorten the computer's running time.

2.1.2.5 Endgame probabilities

In the <u>Reference</u> view the program offers a preview of possible endgame probabilities for a selected opening variation.

When entering or replaying a game you can check the probability for different <u>endgame</u> types in the current opening variation.

This information is displayed after a click on the tab **Endgames**.

Notation + Openings Book													
Notation	Reference	Rep	olay trainii	ng Tabl	e	Plan Exp	lorer	Score sh					
Moves	Game	5	Score	Last pla	yed	Hot	Be	est player					
6еб-е5	66		45.5 <mark>%</mark>	2020									
6Nb8-c6	50		52.0%	2020									
6Nb8-d7	8		56.3%	2019									
6c7-c5	7		42.9 <mark>%</mark>	6 2019									
6Bb4xc3	1		100.0%	2012									
6b7-b6	1		100.0%	2018									
6h7-h6	1		50.0 <mark>%</mark>	2009									
<								>					
Variations	Popularity	Er	ndgames										
80													
60													
60													
40													
20													
o													
~	S R S	RR	S RB	s B N	Z	8	ã						
R,	BN v	Q VS	RB v	B v:	B	Z	ð						
								_					

The bottom line of the graphic shows the frequently occurring types of endgame, the left-hand axis shows the percentage probability for the possible endgame constellations.

The following screenshot shows the program's evaluation when considering the main line of the Advance Variation in the French Defence after the moves 1. e4 e6 2. d4 d5 3. e5 c5 4. c3 Nc6 5. Nf3 Qb6.

47

		100	102.078	NAME OF	AF CE GR				Notation +	Openings B	ook						
	-	123013	~	REAL OF	-the	*	1	-	Notation	Reference	Replay trai	ning Plan E	xplorer	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Open
8	4		E.	1 Alas	Y	-	Z) .		Moves	Game	s Score	Last pla	Hot	B	lest players		^
7	8						8	8	6.a3	13514	55.3%	2016		G	rischuk;Caruar	na;Morozev	ich;
1 280			111						6.Le2	6477	44.9%	2016		Н	larikrishna;Ada	ms;Movses	ian;
6		Sill's	1						6.Ld3	5985	50.2%	2016	_				
		-	\sim			13.1	6.48M	SA.	6.b3	500	24.9%	2016					
5		1947	2		8		D. P. C.		6.Sa3	318	36.1%	2016		V	olokitin;Efimer	nko	
1			1						6.Db3	304	30.9%	2016	-				
		ALC: N		8				1996	6.Le3	199	15.3%	2016					
4				1			arrest of		6.dxc5	188	47.8%	2016					
	ALLA.	in the start		ARC'S	1	pa	a state		6.g3	120	36.6%	2016					
3		antes a	8			2			6.a4	115	36.7%	2016					
	Ω		A COMPANY	MADE N			Ω		6.Sbd2	72	24.5%	2016					
2	8	8				8	8	2 63	6.Da4	49	16.5%	2016					
	000	200				8		222	6 Dc2	27	15 1%	2015					. *
1	П	3)	9	W	S	Ð			<								>
	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	н	Variations	Popularity	Endgame	5					
						+ -	•		2 0 2 0	B vs B	N vs B	RB vs RB N vs N	B vs N	R vs B	RN vs RB	QvsQ	KIN VS KIN
									Endgame	s=13.0%							

The user can see here that in the endgames which arise from this variation it is particularly frequently rook endings or bishop endings which are the result.

The value *Endgames* shows how high the percentage of games was which resulted in an endgame.

2.1.2.6 Trends

For openings research the <u>Reference</u> search is one of the most important tools in ChessBase.

When you investigate opening variations the program makes available with its access via optimised search routines informative displays for the evaluation of various continuations. Even in searches in the early stages of the game, where of course extremely large numbers of games are collected and evaluated, the search function very quickly produces meaningful displays of information.

The Fashion Index plots the popularity of the current opening variation over time. This can show you how an opening evolved historically.

Below we have an example of a display for the Advance Variation of the French Defence. What is interesting here is the display of the Tab *Popularity*.

Notation + C	Open	ings Bo	ok						
Notation	Refe	rence	Replay trainin	ig Table	Plan Explor	er Score sheet	LiveBook	Openir	ngs B
Moves		Games	Score	Last played	Hot	Best players		F	re 🔿
6.a2-a3		17541	54.9%	2021		Caruana;Grischu	uk;Morozevi	ch;V S	v
6.ģ.f1-e2		8238	44.7 <mark>%</mark>	2021		Caruana;Grischu	uk;Vachier La	igra N	4
6.魚f1-d3	7827		49.7 <mark>%</mark>	2021		Carlsen;Van For	eest;Kryvoru	chk Jo	ы
6.b2-b3		675	25.3%	2021					
6.∛⊇b1-a3		561	42.8%	2021		Volokitin;Safarli;	Zvjaginsev;N	vla V	o
6.嘗d1-b3		434	31.7%	2021					
6.ĝ.c1-e3		295	14.2%	2021					
6 d4vc5		246	42.3%	2021		_		,	. *
120 100 80 60 40 20 -20 5 6	1907	1911	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	1952 1957 1962 1962	1982 1982	1997 1997 2002 2007 2012	2017	a2-a3 a2-a4 b2-b3 Qd1-b3 d4xc5 Bf1-d3 Bf1-e2	3

What is the significance of the values on both axes?

The horizontal axis represents the various years; the values on the vertical axis are percentages. These refer to all the games which meet the search criteria.

In the example being displayed the user can see at once that the Advance Variation was frequently played towards the end of the 1890s.

2.1.2.7 Display Reference Percentage

If you have activated the reference display of the <u>board window</u>, the performance of the continuation is displayed with a percentage value under the column entry " *Score* ".

User Interface

49

14	North State		arses		12121		1000			Notation +	Oper	nings Bo	ok		
	-	*		1111	-to		MARI			Notation	Refe	rence	Rep	olay traini	ng
8	4	9	1	1	Y			=		Moves		Games		Score	Las
7				200	1	4	ż			6.≜c1-g5		50734		51.6 <mark>%</mark>	202
6		11.		-	a fille	1 D	Sec.	王河里		6.@f1-e2		46075	_	48.5%	202
Ĭ	-	10110401	ALL ST			·		HINDS		6.創f1-c4		26245		50.2%	202
5			1	333				和協		6.f2-f3		12820		50.7%	202
4	11 12	13	1	En	8			1		6.h2-h3		11413		54.2%	202
	NAME OF	110.00	20-	2			11.26	COURSE		6.a2-a3		8189		54.1% 52.3%	202
3	14.4		\mathcal{D}					1.18		6.a2-a4		7272		49.2%	202
2	a	\$	8		1 AL	\$	8	1		6.≜f1-d3		4049		38.2%	202
				08890		2				6.≪2d4-b3		985 080		54.7% 56.7%	202
1	旦		L.	圖	Y	B	1975 B	旦		6.嘗d1-f3		779		55.4%	202
	а	b	C	d	е	f	g	h	•	<					
										Variations	Pop	oularity	Er	ndgames	

2.1.2.8 Engine window

Board window: Add default engine (Alt-F2) - Add Kibitzer (Ctrl-L)



The engine window displays the progress and results of the <u>analysis engines</u>.

Kibitzer: Fritz 18 Neur	onal					▼ ×
Fritz 18 Neurona	0 8 9	3 CPUs	• 🔒 🙎	0.04 21Dxg3+ 22.Kh1 Lxf2 23.Dd1 Dh3+ 24.Sh2 Dxc3 2	5.Lxe7 Sxe7 26.Lxb7	Lxe1 Dxf6
	Depth=31/63	19.Le4 (1/58)	3732 kN/s	depth=20, Time=2.5s		
19.Le4 Dh3! 20).g3∎ Txg3+!∎ 21.h	xg3 🖩 Dxg3+ 🔳 22	.Kh1 II Lxf2 II 23.	Lxe7 Dh3+ 24.Sh2 Lxe1 25.Txe1 Dh4	🖄 🔵	÷ 😑
26.Dd1 Sxe7 27.Lx	b7 Dxf6 28.Lg2 Tb2	29.Dd3 Dg6 30.Df	3 Kf8 31.Tg1 c6 3	2.a4 Sf5 33.Lh3 Dd6 34.Sf1 Sh4 35.Dh5 Sg6	₩ 🔵	₩ 🔵
36.Dh6+ Ke7 37.D	e3+ De5 38.Dxa7 f5	39.Lg2 Dxc3 40.Se	e3 Sh4 41.Tf1 Te2	2 42.Sxf5+ Sxf5 43.Txf5	II 🔵 🔵	X 🔵 🔵
Depth: 31/63 00:0	1:03 234MN, tb=117	3			🔔 🔘 🔵	ቋ 🔵 🔵
White is slightly b	etter. 19.Le4 parries	Qh5xf3, Black threa	tens mate (19D	0h3), 19Dh3 hangs the Ne7,	la 💿	2 🔘 🛑
20Txg3+ is a sad	, 23.Lxe7 fixates the	king on e8, Rook t	o the 7th rank wi	th 28Tb2,	A 🔵	±
Both kings are qui	te unsafe after 30.Df	3, The position ren	nains sharp.		***	
		•				👏 Very Sharp
Game: 19.Tad1 Lo	14 20.Sxd4 Txg2+ 21.	Kxg2 Sxd4+ =			a .	
_Threat: 19Dxf3 .	20.Le4 Lxf2+ 21.Kh1	Dxf6			4 1	2
Not: 19.Txe7+ Sxe	27 20.Df4 Lxf3					

This is what the engine window displays:

Top line from left to right:

Engine name; the move currently under investigation (number x of y legal move); stop

engine; increase (+) or decrease (-) the number of variations calculated simultaneously.

Second line from left to right

Fail high/fail low display; position evaluation in pawns (+ is good for White, - good for Black); search depth (full width/selective); time used on current search; number of positions per second (in thousands).

The first three lines are coloured red because the evaluation for White is dropping. There after the lines are in default black because the evaluation does not drop any longer. The evaluation in the header is always the same as in the one in the last line in the variation window, e.g. the last evaluation found.

Functions in the engine window

Right-clicking the variation window produces a function menu for the analysis engine.

Engine: Selects an <u>analysis engine</u>.

Lock: Normally the engine follows the board notation. But you can lock it to a specific position, after which it will ignore what happens on the board.

1 CPU 📝 🔒	
8Lb4 (1/39)	Unlock the engine

```
Lxc3 12.bxc3 Sdf6 13.c4 Te8 14.Tab1 Te7 15.Le5 Le6
```

You can lock the Engine with one single Mouse click.

• **Increase/Decrease number of lines**: You can instruct the engine to calculate the n best lines in the position.

• **Next best**: This is only supported by some engines (e.g. Fritz). The engine ignores the best move found so far and uses its full power to search for an alternative (the next best move).

Threat: Calculates the "threat" in the current position.

• **Clip analysis**: Copies the entire analysis history into the Windows clipboard. It can be pasted into any text editor.

• **Copy to notation**: Copies the best line found so far into the game notation (Ctrl-Space).

• Scroll main line: New lines are added to the end of the list. If this is switched off, new lines overwrite the previous ones.

Extra search information: Records evaluation, search depth and number of positions after each main line.

Scroll new moves only: New lines are recorded only if the first move changes.

• **Variation board**: Produces on a small board on which you can replay the main line.

- **Choose font**: Select font and size for the the analysis display.
- **Properties**: Allows you to set the <u>engine parameters</u>.
- **Close**: Closes the window and shuts down the engine.

2.1.2.9 Evaluation display

When you are playing through and analysing a game with the support of a chess engine the program offers useful guidance as to the evaluation of the position then on the board. As it does so, the program makes available as well as Rapid analysis further engine based guidance.

You will find the display with the slider right next to the graphical chessboard.



With it the user can spot at a glance whether one side has an advantageous position or whether the position is level.

How can the evaluation display by the engine be switched on or off?

You can switch on the display of the evaluation slider as follows. Right click on the chessboard, then from the context menu select – Board design.

If you deactivate the option *Evaluation* then the evaluation display at the edge of the board is switched off.

2.1.2.10 Display attack relations

The program can display force constellations and attack relations <u>on the chessboard</u>. In the lower left corner of the graphical chessboard you will find a discreetly added menu.



By clicking you can directly start the corresponding function. After you have selected one or more of the three settings, it remains active throughout the replay of the game!

The following options are available - combinable if desired:

Show Attackers and defenders

The program transparently displays the interaction of the pieces on the chessboard with green and red arrows.



The green arrows show a safe effect (defense) to the own pieces, the red arrows show the user possible attack effect to the own pieces.

Show heatmap

This function is especially useful as a guide in tactical games. Endangered pieces are marked in dark red, a paler red indicates useful attacking moves.



As with the other two functions, you'll understand the display better and better with simple trial and error.

Visual evaluation

With this function you visualize the placement of the figures.



So it is shown with the color markings according to the traffic light principle (green=good, red=bad) how well this is placed on the field.

2.1.2.11 Select Default Engine

The default engine is the <u>engine</u> that is used as the analysis engine in the board window with the keys Alt-F2.

Menu Options - Engine

Default Engine Fritz 18 Neuronal (1058MB) Browse		Threat	3 	6
Heumas		Generate threats		
1 3	6	nstant Analysis		
· ·	I.	1	2	6
✓ Heumas Ply				1
✓ Assisted Analysis		🗹 Enable		
✓ Legal moves		✓ Endless		
✓ Single click entry				
✓ Forced moves entry				

In the engine dialog the default engine can be selected.



The option Load Engine appears if you want to start an engine in the board window with *Add Kibitzer*.

The list contains all the engines that have been installed on your computer.

Please note that if you are connected to the <u>Engine Cloud</u> server you can also use cloud engines.

Select on of the engines in the engine list and check the box marked Default Engine.

See also <u>Standard engine</u> ...

<u>Tip</u>: If you select an engine in the list which is not the default engine the tick will be removed from the box.

Note: UCI Engines can also be used as default analysis engines in Chessbase.

2.1.2.12 New ... in selected database

Database window: Menu File New Board in... / Position in... / Text in...

This produces a new board, position input or text window which will be stored in the currently selected database (pressing Ctrl-S will automatically store it in that database).

See also: Save game.

2.1.2.13 Extended Engine Information

In Chessbase's analysis mode the <u>standard engine</u> displays new information in the engine window.

Visual Evaluation ... Buddy Engine ...

Right clicking in the engine window opens a context menu.

.\$d	Engine	- ••	≜e5x
i-e5			_≝g4-c
h6-	Lock Engine	Strg+Alt+L)3+ Ξ
.響b	Increase number of lines	+	8 34.1
'. ው ር	Decrease number of lines	-	kh5 4
≥ptł	Next Best	Y	
i.集c	Analyse threat	х	oy), W
iarp	Clip analysis		k (21.
+- (4	Copy to notation		
ot:	Scroll main line		
	Display win probability		
	Variation Board		
~	Visual Evaluation		

Next Best calculates the second best alternative for continuing. While the engine is calculating this information can be accessed faster by typing the key \mathbf{Y} .

At the beginning of the <u>engine window</u> the best line found so far is displayed in light gray letters.

<u>Tip</u>: This information is at the beginning of the list view. If you cannot see this information use the scroll bar to scroll back to the beginning of the list.

Hint: The next best move option is only available while the engine is only analysing one line !

Display of the current main line

At the bottom of the engine window the line that is currently being examined is

displayed.

The main advantage of this display is that it is constantly updated even if the best line displayed remains unchanged during lengthy processing.

Repeatedly pressing the ${\bf Y}$ key increases the number of rejected continuations at the beginning of the list.

2.1.2.14 Notation window

Board window: View Notation (Ctrl-Alt-N)



In this window you see the <u>game notation</u> with any variations or commentary it may contain.

Headers are displayed in a more flexible manner in ChessBase.

They are now made up of three lines and allow the possibility of displaying larger photos from the player encyclopaedia especially when using higher definition monitors.

There is now much more <u>information</u> in the top line of a game in the board window. Next to the player name a flag and a photo from the game's year are displayed, if available.

In the board window there is a toolbar that contains the most important functions for editing the notation. These buttons allow you to easily enter comments or change the structure of the notation. The program first checks to see if there is any text in the game notation. It first checks the "All" section before going on to check all other languages for comments. If no text is found then the default program language is used as before.

Right-clicking the window opens a menu in which you will find all functions relevant to the game notation.

c5 14.a2- c3xb2 17 7.0-0 Ξa8	rasenkow.) ·a3 c5xd4! 15.a3xb4 d4xc3 /逗c1-b1 逗a8-c8 18.鬯c2-b3 · <u>c8</u> 18.鬯c2-b1 心c6-e5= <u>Voc</u>	16.b2xc3 핥d7-a4-+) gel,R (2493)-Movsesian,S	<u>(2671)</u> Germany 2017)
13.@c4 Black sh a4-c2	Add to White Repertoire Add to Black Repertoire	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+A Umschalt+Strg+Alt+D	y difference is that White has≌c1 eel too comfortable and went astray -c5 18.≌f1-d1 ≌a8-c8 19.�2d2-f1
3 ≌f6-c '!∆ 24.≅ 8 25.ĝei b3 29.a2	Enter Variation Promote Variation Delete	T Alt+Nach-Oben ▶	f7?! 聲g5-f6 27.食b5-a4 營f6-e5 -d5 罩c7-c6 33.c4-c5!±
	Text Before Move Text After Move I, ?,	Umschalt+Strg+A Strg+A ! • = •	
notatior leet	Set Prefix Special Annotation My Moyes	S	0%
<u>: Book</u> <u>e</u> ate Übersc	Move Time Insert Diagram	Strg+J	Mark as 'My Important Move' Clear Mark

▶ You can <u>fold or unfold</u> variations, enter new ones, and promote or delete them. You can enter commentary or mark positions for diagram printing. "Material" displays the material balance at the bottom of the notation window.

• You can also set the font type and size of the notation.

• Clicking any move in the notation window causes the board to jump to that position. A double-click opens the editor to enter text commentary.

Notation Reference Replay training Surveys Plan Explorer Table Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves

At the top of the notation window you find the following tabs:

Table notation Training notation Score Sheet Openings Book Reference LiveBook Replaytraining Surveys MyMoves

Repertoire mark: Black repertoire gets a blue icon, until now both repertoires were red.

ChessBase 17 58

2.1.2.15 Detect Sacrifices

The " Detect Sacrifices" function can be found in the toolbar right next to the notation



By the way, you can quickly get an indication of the respective function of the individual buttons via mouseover.

The program "*checks*" the game and marks each party position with a sacrificial move within the notation.

A sacrifice is a move with which the player voluntarily offers (sacrifices) one or more pieces to the opponent for capture. The aim is to at least compensate the material disadvantage resulting from the acceptance of the sacrifice by other advantages (time gain, space gain, positional factors).

Below is the <u>notation window</u> without any marking/commentary with a famous game played by Paul Morphy.

Notation Reference Replay training Table Plan Explorer Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves 💻 Paulsen,Louis - Morphy,Paul 0-1 💻 C48 USA-01 Congress Grand Tournament New York (4.6) 08.11.1857 [Schreiner,Peter] ÷ ð. 室e4-e6 12.c2-c3 凹d8-d3 13.b2-b4 食c5-b6 14.a2-a4 b5xa4 15.凹d1xa4 食c8-d7 16.罩a1-a2 Ea8-e8 17. Wa4-a6 Wd3xf3 18.g2xf3 Ee6-g6+ 19. 空g1-h1 食d7-h3 20. Ef1-d1 食h3-g2+ 21.杏h1-g1 盒g2xf3+ 22.杏g1-f1 盒f3-g2+ 23.杏f1-g1 盒g2-h3+ 24.杏g1-h1 盒b6xf2 25.ভa6-f1 è 0-1 Aa

After clicking the "Detect Sacrifices" button, the notation looks like this:

1.e2-e4 e7-e5 2.④q1-f3 ④b8-c6 3.④b1-c3 ④q8-f6 4.彙f1-b5 彙f8-c5 5.0-0 0-0 6.④f3xe5 宣f8-e8 7.④e5xc6 d7xc6 8.彙b5-c4 b7-b5 9.彙c4-e2 ④f6xe4 10.④c3xe4 疍e8xe4 11.彙e2-f3 窗e4-e6 12-c2-c3 變d8-d3 13.b2-b4 彙c5p6 14.a2-a4 b5xa4 15.變d1xa4 彙c8-d7 16.疍a1-a2 窗a8-e8 17.變a4-a6 詳 17...變d3xf5 自8.q2xf3 疍e6-q6+ 19.塗q1-h1 彙d7-h3 20.疍f1-d1 彙h3-q2+ 21.☆n1-q1 彙g2xf3+ 22.尝q1 f1 彙f3-q2+ 23.☆f1-q1 彙g2-h3+ 24.☆g1-h1 彙b6xf2 25.變a6-f1 彙h3xf1 26.疍d1xf1 疍e8-e2 27.疍a2-a1 疍g6-h6 28.d2-d4 彙f2-e3 0-1

ð.

2.1.2.16 Speak text annotations

The user can have the moves and text comments read aloud while replaying a game.

For this to work it is necessary to activate the function.

Menu File - Options - Misc

Options	
Folders Limits User Notation Engines Board Design Language Clipboard Encyclonedia	Misc Sound Announce moves Speak text annotations Board sounds Several Evaluation sounds
Misc Game update Tablebases	Engine load sounds Move Input

To activate the function, put a check mark behind "*Speak text annotations*". Click on **Apply** to activate the function. If you now load a game with <u>text comments</u>, both the moves and the text comments are output via voice output when you replay the game.

The program detects if a screen reader is active and then does not use the fast display form in notation and lists. This option is useful for visually impaired users.

2.1.2.17 Folding and game hints notation

If you make intensive use of the opening surveys the program creates (according to your settings) very extensive, complex, well-structured variation trees. Also when there is very intensively annotated game notation it can be helpful to switch on or off the display of certain information.

In the notation window directly next to the notation there are now buttons for the hiding of complete branches.

Tip: If you move the mouse over the individual buttons the function is displayed in text format.



The following Functions (from top to bottom) are available:

- Switch variation folding on/off
- Fold all variations in the game notation
- Unfold all variations in the game notation
- Fold all variations except the current one
- Choose a font size for the current notation
- Switch between different variation structures
- Ask training questions while replaying the game
- Delete all variations and commentary

Tip: If you accidentally activate the final button (Delete all variations and commentary) you can recover things with the key combination **CTRL-Z**.

The program create references to recent top games. They are displayed in the notation.

61



A click on this game reference loads the game from the online database and you can play through it in the board window. The online database is accessed simply to be up-to-date. Regardless of the <u>reference database</u> used, access to the <u>online database</u> ensures that only current games are taken into account.

Clicking on "*Restore game*" in the search window for the online database takes you back to the opening survey.

2.1.2.18 Replay Training

In the <u>notation</u> window you will find the tab "Replay Training".



It enables you to switch off the usual overview of the notation and be pushed by the program to work out the game continuations yourself. The intention behind this

62 ChessBase 17

function is that. following the watchword *Learning by doing*, the user becomes more intensively involved with the content of the game and that as a result he or she learns more efficiently.

When playing through the game the procedure is generally always the same. The user navigates within the notation and makes use of the numerous ways the program can help, e.g. LiveBook, the evaluation profile or an analysis engine.

The disadvantage: many users often do not get into the content of the game intensively enough and in such a case the effect of the training remains minimal. In training mode the program offers the opportunity to work out the continuations in the game independently and supports the user with decent hints as to possible continuations.

Load a game into the board window and click in the notation view on the tab for " *Replay Training*".



Now set in the window whether you want to find the moves in the game for only one side or for both players. During the analysis there is a chess engine running in the background, calculating both tips and hints.

63

Your knight is attacked.

You played the Fischer Move 18.Sf3-d4. Your move is ok.

The position is equal. (Depth=13)					
Your Move: Game Move: Engine Move:	Nf3-d4 Nf3-d4 h2-h3	Points=5/5	0.09 0.09 0.14/16		
Total Score:	Total Score: 43 points of 46 (=93%). Very good!				

The tips which are displayed give decent hints as to the best continuation possible, but they are never categorical. If the move in the game can be found by simple calculation, the program points it out and does not display a tip.

If you do not want to receive constant help in the form of hints, deactivate the setting for "Tips".

If the continuation you choose is playable, but not identical to the move in the game, then the game move is automatically executed on the board and you can continue with the game.

Attack a pawn.

You played 19.Sd4-b3. Your move is ok. The game continued with 19.Sd4xe6 f7xe6.

The position is equal				
Your Move: Game Move: Engine Move:	Nd4-b3 Nd4xe6 Qa3-c3	Points=3/5	-0.18 0.16 0.20/14	
Total Score:	46 points	of 51 (=90%). Very good!		

The training dialog constantly displays an evaluation. On the right you will find an evaluation of the moves by the chess engine which is running in the background and the number of points you have scored.

In the event of a blunder the game is not continued and the program offers you a new attempt at working out the correct move or the game move.

You played 21.Da3xc5. This is not so good because of 21	Sd7xc5.
The best engine move is 10.7 pawns better. Please try aga	ain.

	Mistake = 10.7 pawns				
Your Move:	Qa3xc5	Points=0/5, Mistrials=1	-10.07		
Game Move:					
Engine Move:					
Total Score:	49 points	of 61 (=80%). Good.			

This "quiz function" of the program encourages you to work more intensively with the games you have loaded and we recommend that you make intensive use of this opportunity!

One elementary component of practical playing strength is the ability to calculate variations accurately without seeing the board. You can switch on "Blindfold play" with a click on the button for "Supported calculation".



After calculation training has been activated you can then input further moves on the chess board but the actual position on the board remains the same. So the user then sees the follow-up variations in the notation, but not on the graphical chess board.

In that way, at any point within critical phases of the game you can quite specifically target your calculation of variations. With a click within the notation you can start working out alternative variations at a different place and in this way you can produce complete variation trees with alternative deviations.

Holding down the right mouse button allows you to control the calculated final position directly on the chess board. It is particularly recommended that you activate this function whenever you reach a highly tactical phase of the game.

As you try out the function you will quickly become aware of its importance for training. The program efficiently supports the exact calculation of variations and with a right click it indicates more clearly the final position of the variations you have calculated. The function focusses totally on the task of calculating a position quite specifically and visualising the final position.

Be aware also of the help available via Assisted Analysis

Hint: If while in training mode no tips are being displayed even though the function has been activated, check in the options under Engines whether Assisted Analysis is

active.

Heumas Heumas Ply (1-6): Assisted Analysis Legal moves Single click entry Forced moves entry	
Threat Threats Generate threats	
Instant Analysis <mark> </mark>	

If you choose the function "Manual Analysis", there will be no hints from the program. You enter – as usual – the game moves you wish on the chess board.

Below the dialog with the evaluation there is the "Radar board".

Play White	Play Black	Hints	Repertoire
	Use th	e Radar Board to play the opening.	
You played 4@g8-f6. The game continued v	. This move is theory. vith 4d7-d5 5.&f1-b5.		
		Known Theory	
Your Move: Game Move: Engine Move:	Ng8-f6 d7-d5 	Points=2/2	Theory Theory
Total Score:	8 points of 8	(= 100%).	

The radar board offers a display showing a position three moves (six half moves) ahead of the position actually on the board. It constitutes, along with the tips, useful guidance for working out which moves are available in the game.

Using the preview of the position does not let you spot with absolute clarity which move was specifically played in the game meaning that you are challenged to work out the game move for yourself.

It displays the preview if you follow the known theory.

Play Black

✓ Hints

Use the Radar Board to play the opening.

To understand matters better: the Radar board is thus a useful guide which also makes sense in the <u>"Repertoire"</u> mode of replay training.

When the final move within theory is reached, for the first time no preview is displayed on the radar board.

In this case the user can switch the preview on with a click on the function button. We recommend not activating the radar board after you are out of theory so that the "Quiz function" does not become too simple.

Disk Button



The disk button is used to take over the changes you have made. All existing annotations are deleted and the program puts into the notation your own mistaken tries and analyses, so that you can see them there. It is not saved into a database, since mostly you will only want to take a quick look at what went wrong and not save it for eternity.

Summary

In the quiz mode/replay training it is all about finding the correct continuations in the game. The program supports you with hints and a click on the relevant button brings up further hints.

In this mode the program supports only the main continuation, possibly available variations are ignored!

In the opening phase, that is to say within the bounds of established theory, there are no hints. In this case the radar board, which can be switched on or off as you require it, can be helpful. The radar board offers a preview of the position on the board three moves later; thus the preview helps you find the correct continuation.

With a click on the Notation tab you can at any point get to an overview and if appropriate navigate to another position in the game.

The functions "Manual Analysis" and "Assisted calculation" interrupt replay training; a second click will restart the training.

The disk button is used to take over the changes you have made. All existing annotations are deleted and the program puts into the notation your own mistaken tries and analyses, so that you can see them there. It is not saved into a database, since mostly you will only want to take a quick look at what went wrong and not save it for eternity.

2.1.2.19 Repertoire training

<u>Replay training</u> can be used for more than just a "quiz" for playing through games; it is eminently suitable for examining and training your own opening variations!

Should you – as we absolutely recommend you do – have started your own repertoire databases and use them to organise your "openings card index", you can make use of this within Replay training.

To do so, load a game from a **repertoire database**.

Now click to change to *Replay Training* and activate the repertoire training with a click on *Repertoire* and establish which side you wish to play for;, here it will be the second player therefore Black.

Unlike in <u>Replay Training without repertoire</u> the program also takes into <u>account</u> <u>variations contained with the game notation</u>, as is usually the case with structured repertoire games. This difference is important for the understanding of the function.

In Replay training without the *Repertoire* button variations within the notation are not taken into account, with "Repertoire" on the other hand, they are!

If in a particular position there are several alternative moves, the program takes into account the number of moves saved and by preference executes moves followed by deeper variations.

While you are playing through the game even in this mode the program is always there to help you with advice. It consequently displays "Hints" and at any time you can ask for further hints by clicking on the function button next to the chess board.

	Notation + Openings B	ook					▼ ×					
200	Notation Reference	Replay training Plan E	xplorer Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Book	z					
山耳	Französische Verteidigung - Vorstoßvariante CO2 nachspiel test 06.11.2018 [Bangiev]											
<u> </u>	Play White	✓ Play Black	√ Hi	nts	-	Repertoire	Speech					
2		Move you	ır light squar	ed bishop.								
	You played the mo	You played the move 6g7-g6. This move has not been played yet. Please try again.										
		The position is equal										
¥	Your Move: Game Move:	g7-g6 	Points=0/2, Mist	rials=2		0.40	x					
1 1	Engine Move: Total Score:	 3 points of 5	ō (=60%).									

These are relatively simple, but not too trivial. It is assumed that the user is prepared to try to find the move on his or her own.

This puts at your disposition valuable help for refreshing and memorising your knowledge of the variations in your repertoire.

By changing to the <u>standard notation tab</u> the user can at any point select a move or variation in order to train more deeply in a specific continuation. Control/Navigation is achieved simply by a click on "Notation", when the user will see at first glance exactly where he or she is in the complex of variations.



Choose the variation you wish and simply change back to Repertoire Training.

You can then continue directly with your memorising of the variation.

Below the evaluation dialog you will find the "Radar board", which gives you as support a preview of the position after three further moves in the game. Once the end of theory has been reached the program no longer shows a preview of the position on the radar board.

Play White	✔ Play Black	√ Hints	Repertoire	Speed
	End of	Repertoire Line		\bigcirc
End of Repertoire	e Line			
				*
	WI	nite is better		1
Your Move: Game Move: Engine Move:	Nb8-d7 Po Nb8-d7 	bints=3/3	-1.01 -1.01	x
Total Score:	16 points of	20 (=80%). Good.		

Otherwise the user is able to <u>switch the preview on or off by clicking on the function</u> <u>button</u>. In any case the training helped by the preview continues in an effective way.

The points system mercilessly exposes the extent of the user's theoretical knowledge within his or her own repertoire.

	White is slightly bette	White is slightly better. (Depth=14)								
Your Move: Game Move: Engine Move:	Qa6xc4 Points=0/3	, Mistrials=1 7.94								
Total Score:	11 points of 33 (=3	3%). Failed.								

Negative evaluations should motivate you to study the variations in your own repertoire more closely. If you deactivate the Hints you are to great extent reliant on your own resources. Alternatively, you can simply change here to the mode "*Manual Analysis*". In this mode the <u>Assisted Analysis</u> simply offers you specific hints to what is the best possible continuation!

If you make changes to the game notation, e.g. as a result of manual analysis, the

save dialog will be displayed. Here, after confirmation, you have the option to save the changes you have made off to replace them.

2.1.2.20 Plan Explorer

Good theoretical knowledge together with the accompanying rote learning of the most important complexes of variations are indispensable for every ambitious tournament player.

But one aspect of the study of openings is frequently underestimated: in order to play an opening well, it is extremely important to get to know the middlegame positions which arise from it and above all to understand the positional plans appropriate to these <u>middlegame positions</u>.

Help is available here with the *Plan Explorer* which lists in a Windows Explorer type view the various plans including the relevant games employing each of them.

Notation +	Openings B	look								▼ ×
Notation	Reference	Replay training	Surveys	Plan Explorer	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Book	My Moves	
	Kramnik,Vladimir 2797 - Tomashevsky,Evgeny 2681 ½-½ =									

The function is started by a click on the tab "*Plan Explorer*" in the <u>notation window</u>.

The following example demonstrates the function through the basic position for the Advance Variation of the French Defence, a variation which is rich in strategic plans.

1. e4 e6 2. d4 d5 3. e5 c5 4. c3 Nc6 5. Nf3 Qb6 6. Be2 cxd4 7. cxd4 Nge7

User Interface

71

Notation Refer	ence Re	play training	Surveys	Plan Explorer	Tał	ble	Score sheet	LiveBook	Opening	s Book	My Moves	
⊿ . ≜ a2-a3 (60))				~	Num	nber of ga	Move 1	Move 2	Move	3 Move 4	Move
a3-b	4 (11)					Ø 1	104	b1-a3	a3-c2			
⊳ <u>≜</u> g2-g4 (5	2)					Ø 6	52	b1-c3	c3-a4			
b ▲ b2-b3 (4	9)					2 2	28	b1-c3	c3-a4	a4-c3		
b & h2-h4 (4	3)					â 2	23	c1-d2	d2-c3			
a 🚊 c1-d2 (4	2)					2 👻 🖉	20	e1-f1	f1-g2			
d2-c	3 (23)				-	2 1	1	b1-a3	a3-c2	c2-b4		
▶	9)					<u>å</u> 1	1	a2-a3	a3-b4			
j j j c2 d3 (3	5)											
b & b2-b4 (3	4)				v							
b - ≜ b2-b4 (3	4)				*	<						>
b 🔔 b2-b4 (3	4) and/Colla	pse 🔚 Thre	shold		•	<	<i>,</i>					>
Toggle Expa	4) and/Colla Elo W	pse 🎦 Thre Bl	shold ack	Elo B	~	<	Result	^	R.R.P.		Nimzowitsch	> ,Aron -
White Thipsay,P	4) and/Colla Elo W 2486	pse 🔚 Thre Bl Hu	eshold ack uzman,A	Elo B 2597	•	<	Result 0-1	^			Nimzowitsch C02 Match Si	Aron - tahlberg
White Thipsay,P Benjamin,J	4) and/Colla Elo W 2486 2590	pse 🎦 Thre Bi Hu Fa	eshold ack uzman,A rago,I	Elo B 2597 2530	*	<	Result 0-1 ¥2-¥2	^			Nimzowitsch C02 Match Si 9.むc3-a4 営h6-a5+	> n,Aron - tahlberg
white Thipsay,P Benjamin,J Rojas Keim,L	4) and/Colla Elo W 2486 2590 2423	pse 🎦 Thre Bl Hu Fa M	eshold ack uzman,A rago,I alakhatko,	Elo B 2597 2530 V 2556	*	<	Result 0-1 ¹ / ₂ - ¹ / ₂ 0-1				Nimzowitsch CO2 Match Si 9,むc3-a4 智b6-a5+ 10.急c1-d2	,Aron - tahlberg
white Thipsay,P Benjamin,J Rojas Keim,L	4) and/Colla Elo W 2486 2590 2423 2357	pse 💽 Thre Bl Hu Fa M Pr	eshold ack uzman,A rago,I alakhatko, asca Sosa,	Elo B 2597 2530 V 2556 R 2442	*	<	Result 0-1 ³ / ₂ - ³ / ₂ 0-1 0-1				Nimzowitsch C02 Match Si 9.42c3-a4 ≌b6-a5+ 10.\$c1-d2 \$f8-b4	h,Aron - tahlberg
white Thipsay,P Benjamin,J Rojas Keim,L Llaneza Vega,M	4) and/Colla Elo W 2486 2590 2423 2357 2438	pse F Thre Bi Hu Fa M Pr Kh	eshold ack uzman,A rago,I alakhatko, asca Sosa, namrakulo	Elo B 2597 2530 V 2556 R 2442 v,D 2322	*	<	Result 0-1 ½-½ 0-1 0-1 0-1 1-0				Nimzowitsch C02 Match Si 9.42c3-a4 10.2c1-d2 2f8-b4 1126d2-c3	a,Aron - tahlberg
white Thipsay,P Benjamin,J Rojas Keim,L Llaneza Vega,M Guido,F	4) and/Colla Elo W 2486 2590 2423 2357 2438 2303	pse F Thre Bi Fa M Pr Kh Fa	eshold ack uzman,A rago,I alakhatko, asca Sosa, namrakulor rago,I	Elo B 2597 2530 V 2556 R 2442 v,D 2322 2486	*	<	Result 0-1 ½-½ 0-1 0-1 1-0 0-1				Nimzowitsch C02 Match Si 9, &C-3-a4 @b6-a5+ 10.&c1-d2 &f8-b4 11&02-c3 &b4xc3+ 12 & A4xc3+ 12 & A4xc3+	a,Aron - tahlberg
white Thipsay,P Benjamin,J Rojas Keim,L Llaneza Vega,M Guido,F Castro Rojas,O	4) and/Colla Elo W 2486 2590 2423 2357 2438 2303 2410	pse in Three Bi Fa M Pr Kh Fa Br	eshold ack uzman,A rago,I alakhatko, asca Sosa, namrakulo rago,I aga,F	Elo B 2597 2530 V 2556 R 2442 v,D 2322 2486 2455	*	<	Result 0-1 ½-½ 0-1 0-1 1-0 0-1 ½-½				Nimzowitsch CO2 Match Si 9.42c3-a4 10.\$c1-d2 \$f8-b4 11.8c2-c3 \$b4xc3+ 12.42a4xc3 \$b4xc3+ 12.42a4xc3 \$b35-b6	> n,Aron - tahlberc
white Thipsay,P Benjamin,J Rojas Keim,L Llaneza Vega,M Guido,F Castro Rojas,O Schatz,D	4) and/Colla 2486 2590 2423 2357 2438 2303 2410 2218	pse in Three Bi Fa M Pr Kh Fa Br Za	eshold ack uzman,A rago,I alakhatko, asca Sosa, amrakulo rago,I aga,F iragatski,I	Elo B 2597 2530 V 2556 R 2442 v,D 2322 2486 2455 2376	•	<	Result 0-1 ½-½ 0-1 0-1 1-0 0-1 ½-½ 0-1 ½-½ 0-1	<			Nimzowitsch C02 Match Si 9.42c3-a4 10.\$c1-d2 \$f8-b4 11.\$d2-c3 \$b4xc3+ 12.42a4xc3 13.\$e^2-b5 13.\$e^2-b5	a,Aron - tahlberg
b & b2-b4 (3 b - b2-b4 (3 c Toggle Expr White Thipsay,P Benjamin,J Rojas Keim,L Rojas Keim,L Llaneza Vega,M Guido,F Castro Rojas,O Schatz,D	4) and/Colla 2486 2590 2423 2357 2438 2303 2410 2218	pse Three Bl Hu Fa M Pr Kh Fa Br Za Za	eshold ack uzman,A rago,I alakhatko, asca Sosa, aamrakulo rago,I aga,F iragatski,I	Elo B 2597 2530 V 2556 R 2442 v,D 2322 2486 2455 2376	~	<	Result 0-1 ¹ / ₂ - ¹ / ₂ 0-1 0-1 1-0 0-1 ¹ / ₂ - ¹ / ₂ 0-1 1-0	< ×			Nimzowitsch C02 Match Si 9.42c3-a4 曾b6-a5+ 10.象c1-d2 象f8-b4 11.象d2-c3 象b4xc3+ 12.42a4xc3 響a5-b6 13.象e2-b5	a,Aron - tahlberg

Plan Explorer lists next to the chess board the possible continuations for White whose move it is in the position displayed. The sort order is determined by the number of games taken into account.

The number of games is displayed in brackets beside the move.

As in Windows Explorer the user can see from the small arrow symbol in front of an entry that in this case there is more content to be seen.

A click on the arrow in front of Nb1-c3 opens up the sub-structure:

e1-g1 (702)
b1-c3 (634)
c3-a4 (364)
c3-a4 (364)
a4-c3 (176)
b1-a3 (515)
b1-a3 (515)
c2-b4 (55)
c2-e3 (45)
c2-a3 (438)
c3-a3 (438)
c3-a3 (435)

Plan Explorer now lists plausible continuations for the knight in the board position displayed.

The Plan Explorer view then offers further help.

Below Plan Explorer you will find a <u>list of games</u>. There the program lists games in which the search for manoeuvres has found the motifs displayed. Here you will immediately find material to review about how to proceed and you can take a look at how other players have employed the typical plans in their games.

Next to the display of the list with the possible continuations you will find further useful supplementary information.

Notation	Reference	Replay training	Plan E	xplorer	Table	Sco	ore sheet	LiveBook	Opening	s Book		
Notation	Reference -g1 (702) -c3 (634) c3-a4 (364) -c3 (515) a3-c2 (503) -c2-b4 (-c2-c3 (5)	Replay training 176) 55) 45)	Plan E	Numbe 20 512 20 371 20 179 2 152 2 131 2 101	Table er of gam	Sco	Move 1 b1-a3 b1-c3 b1-c3 c1-c3 c1-d2 e2-b5 e1-f1	LiveBook Move 2 a3-c2 c3-a4 c3-a4 d2-c3 b5-c6 f1-g2	Opening Move 3 a4-c3	s Book Move 4	Move 5	
⊳-≗ a2 ⊳-⊈ e1	-a3 (438) -f1 (435)											

Plan Explorer creates a points system for those manoeuvres which offer the best prospects of success. With it the user quickly recognises which manoeuvres are particularly promising in the board position which is currently being displayed.

The function offers, e.g., useful hints as to which squares specific pieces are best posted on within a system.

Where is the rook best placed? Where is the best place for me to put the knight?
On the basis of the games evaluated, the program is able to give specific answers to these questions.

Let us take for example the Exchange Variation in the Queen's Gambit which arises after the following moves.

1. d4 d5 2. c4 e6 3. Nc3 Nf6 4. cxd5 exd5 5. Bg5 Be7 6. e3 O-O 7. Qc2 Nbd7 8.Bd3 Re8



The standard procedure for White consists of the minority attack by means of b2-b4.

In the present position this move would simply give away a pawn and for that reason is displayed neither in the <u>reference</u> search nor in <u>LiveBook</u>. *Plan Explorer* shows the correct procedure here because you can see immediately from the high evaluation accorded to the pawn move that in the given position this way of proceeding is positionally and strategically justified.

In the Plan Explorer you can define a threshold for manoeuvres.

e	T 🛃	hresh	old		
		Blac	Set	threshold for manoeuvre %	Result

That allows the user to define when a plan is to be displayed in the Explorer.

74	ChessBase 17		
	Filter (%)	8	
	ОК	Cancel	

Reference value is the most frequently played plan.

2.1.2.21 Use of colours for variations within the notation!

Games deeply annotated with variations, as e.g. opening analyses, are much more clearly structured with ChessBase and much more readable.

The program makes it possible to steer one's way through deeply nested variation trees; this is enabled with the <u>support of colours</u>.

The settings for how the <u>notation</u> is displayed are chosen under *Menu File* Options *Notation*.

otation	Variations
 1.d4 ● 1.d2-d4 ○ 1.P-Q4 	0 1.4244 Structured Variations Slightly structured Variations Indented Variations Indented Variations
KQNBRP	Annotations
Figurines	□ Training
	□ Show embedded diagrams
ew	✓ Create game links
Font	✓ Display text annotations
Variation Colour	Evaluation
Text Colour	O (none)
	Centipawn Win probability
Text Colour/Variations	OBoth

When playing through the game, you spot within the notation alternative moves which are at the same hierarchical level because they are highlighted with the same colour. The alternatives to the present variation are pointed out to you with colour, as are the move order leading to the present position and what the continuation looks like.

It is easy to learn about the function of the button "*Text colour/Variations*" by trying it out. In the colour palette set the colour you wish to be used for textual commentary within variations.

You can immediately check the result in the game notation.

2.1.2.22 Flexible headings in the notation window

Headers are displayed in a more flexible manner in ChessBase.

Notation + Openings Book 🔹 👻												
Notation Reference Replay training Surveys Plan Explorer Table Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves												
M = Kramnik, Vladimir 2797 - Tomashevsky, Evgeny 2681 ½-½ = M A07 Razuvaev Memorial 2020 Moscow (8.2) 06.11.2020												

They are now made up of three lines and allow the possibility of displaying larger photos from the player encyclopaedia especially when using higher definition monitors.

2.1.2.23 Diagrams within notation

Diagrams represent a valuable resource in the annotation of a game. In general a <u>diagram</u> is always inserted into the notation whenver a position which especially needs to be remarked upon crops up.

A mouse click allows you to position a diagram at any desired point in the notation.

This is achieved via the annotation toolbar below the notation.



The result appears as follows.



<u>Tip</u>: You can remove the most recently added diagram with the key combination CTRL-Z.

To the right of the <u>chessboard</u> you will find a small toolbar. Here you have the option to switch embedded diagrams in the notation on or off by mouse click.



78 ChessBase 17

2.1.2.24 Moves highlighted with a yellow arrow

 \overline{W} hen you load a game from a database and play through it the move which was last played (as in the case of our chess programs) is highlighted on the chess board with transparent yellow arrow.



That allows you t see at a glance which was the last move played in the game which is in our view helpful. If you do not wish to see this move highlighted you can deactivate the display under *File Options Misc*.



Mouse Wheel executes moves

2.1.2.25 Showing the name of the opening

After you have loaded a complete game into the board window, the opening is displayed by name.

At last, W	hite accep	ots the ba	ait an	d his positio	n rapidly di	sintegrat	es. Lxe	5 25.Sc4	Sxg3 2		
Modern Benoni: Fianchetto Variation: 9Nbd7 10 Nd2 a6 11 a4 Re8											
1 🔀] 🖺 👗		!!?	?! ? ??	+- ± ±	= ∞	8 ∓	∓ -+ ₹	ż 🥔		
LiveBook				*****	r.						
Move	Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date	Evaluation	Visits	[%]				
5d6	108	51%	2429	2016-Okt-16	=	4969	51				

You will find the information immediately above the $\underline{toolbar}$ along with the functions needed to edit the notation.

In this line you will also find information concerning differences in the distribution of material in the game in question.

2.1.2.26 Notation Window Toolbar

In the <u>board window</u> there is a toolbar that contains the most <u>important functions</u> for editing the notation.



These buttons allow you to easily enter comments or change the structure of the notation.

The program first checks to see if there is any text in the game notation. It first checks the All section before going on to check all other languages for comments. If no text is found then the default program language is used as before.

t	Analysis	Training	View						
	*Q (Enter text afte	er move						
• •	Deep Cl Analysis An	All			English				
	De	English Deutsch			Disch			d mate but	
					васк па	as narrowi	y escape	d mate, but	
÷		Add Lan	guage				×		
		Englis	h						
1		Deuts França	ch ais						
		Españ	ol						
a.	Ä	Neder	rlands						
	6 No. 24	Češtir	าอ าหหั						
2	98889	中文						nguage	
3	¥.								
の時間			ОК		[Canc	el	Help	
18	8 2		[20 mag de	-e5 40	.yz-yə j				
	K L	40	.h4-h5 ຮ້ e6- d	ו f7 Und	Matt in s	echszehn	Zügen!!!!		
	Ż								
	g h		A W A						<u>\$\$</u>

Entering moves has been made much easier.

The variation dialog pops up less often, and if an alternative move is entered in the notation a variation is usually created without a variation dialog being displayed. If the User press the **CTRL Key** when he inserts an alternative Move, then the old Variation dialog with the different options is shown on the Screen.

The variation dialog is displayed if an alternative move to the last move is entered, because this is a case in which errors frequently have to be corrected.

<u>Tip</u>: The menu Home -> Undo takes back the last changes.



It is even faster to use the key combination CTRL-Z.

2.1.2.27 DGT Board

Board window: Board DGT Board

The DGT board is a wooden sensor board.



You can connect it to ChessBase for move entry.

The connection of the DGT board and the operation of the driver is described in the DGT manual.

There are different drivers available for the <u>32-bit and 64-bit versions</u> of our programs.

You can download the appropriate driver from the <u>support pages</u> of the DGT website.

2.1.2.28 Position Setup using the DGT board

The normal chess start up position is automatically detected by Fritz or Chessbase.

If you have a different position on the board and you want Chessbase/Fritz to start from this different position, you have to lift both Kings and put them back on the same position on the board. To determine which colour should do the first move, do place the King of that colour back as last on the e-Board.

Example: You have to set a position on the e-Board and white is to move first: Lift both Kings, put the black King on the e-Board and then put the white King on the e-Board.

If this is done correctly, all moves played on the e-Board should now be registered correctly by our Programs.

Please keep in mind that there might be positions on the board that will not recognise your move. E.g. the black King is in check and you want to move a different move that does not solve the check. Chessbase does not show anything at that moment as the move is an illegal move.

In Fritz you can setup a position in the same way.

Important remark: to make this work you have to enable "Start/Stop setup" in the extra tab of the RabbitPlugin.

Special commands Detect result Use MoveNow Use Start/Stop setup	Extra DGTXL Sound	Battery	Autosave	About	Help	Log
Detect result Use MoveNow Use Start/Stop setup			Special con	nmands		
✓ Use MoveNow ✓ Use Start/Stop setup			V Detect r	esult		
🕼 Use Start/Stop setup			🗸 Use Mov	veNow	_	
			🔽 Use Star	t/Stop se	tup	

2.1.2.29 Board window

In the board window you can enter and replay games, analyse and annotate them, search for relevant material and generally study chess.



The board window consist of the following "panes" which you can <u>rearrange</u> and switch on or off in the menu **View**.

✓ Notation	🗌 Players Photos 🛛 🗹 Status Bar
🗌 Extra Book Pane 🗌 LiveBook	Chess Media System
🗌 Online Database 🗌 Best Book Line	Plans
Pan	es
	Plan Explorer
8 🝟 🗤 🗑 📣	

Board

This is used to follow or <u>enter moves</u>. Right-click the board to start a position search.

▶ Notation (Ctrl-Alt-N)

This window has six tabs for <u>full notation</u>, <u>table notation</u>, <u>score sheet</u>, <u>training</u> <u>notation</u>, <u>book</u> and <u>reference</u>.

Players Photos (Ctrl-Alt-P)

If ChessBase has access to the <u>players encyclopedia</u> this pane will display pictures of the players, the flags of their countries, their full names and their ages. Clicking a picture will produce a more detailed profile.

Extra Book Pane

A special book window allows you to compare the moves in the notation window and the openings book.

Best Book Lines

The <u>Best Book Line</u> calculates and displays entire variations from the book.

Reference search

The best way to search for a position is the <u>openings reference</u>, hidden behind the notation as tab. If you want to see it together with the notation, open the opening reference as extra pane.

▶ LiveBook Access to the <u>LiveBook</u>.

Reference database (Shift-R)
 Shows the search results from the reference database.

• Online database

Shows the results of a <u>search in the ChessBase online database</u> (i.e. over the Internet).

Search result

This presents the <u>search results</u> of any search. You can use Drag & Drop in the list of games that appear.

Chess Media System

Opens the video window for replaying Chess Media material.

Engines

In the Window menu you can also switch on the <u>default engine</u> (Alt-F2) or select one of the <u>analysis engines</u> that are currently installed.

Plans

Plan Explorer which lists in a Windows Explorer type view the various plans including the relevant games employing each of them.

You can close windows with a right-click and Close, or you can repeat the keyboard shortcuts given above.

Click here to see how to rearrange panes.

Loading and saving layouts

In the menu **View** you can load predefined layouts for different purposes or save your own setup for later use. If you have one or several Kibitzers running, their configuration will be stored as well and they are loaded automatically upon loading this layout.



84

2.1.2.30 Extended Information in the Board Window

There is now much more information in the top line of a game in the board window. Next to the player name a flag and a photo from the game's year are displayed, if available.



Clicking on these elements displays additional information.

- ۸. Magerramov,Elmar - Kasparov Report Insert Board Analysis 🔿 Undo sition Redo 30 me New Online Hard sition 30 Game -Disk game
- 1. A bigger picture of the player.

2. Double clicking on the name displays a <u>description of the player</u>.

3. Double clicking on the tournament displays the results table. You can also open a tournament table by clicking on the tournament data of a game header in the notation window.

In order to display the pictures and the flags it is necessary to have installed the player lexicon or to allow access to the <u>online lexicon</u>.

2.1.2.31 Navigating games with the slider

ChessBase has a intuitive way to navigate games.

The slider below the board can be dragged or clicked, as in a media player, to get to different parts of the game very quickly. This is especially useful in long, <u>commented</u> games.



You can install the slider by using the menu right-clicking the board and using <u>Board</u> <u>Design - Slider</u>.

If you would like to navigate quickly through the notation of a game, you can do so very quickly with the mouse wheel.

You can activate this function via Menu File – Options– $\underline{\mathsf{Misc}}.$ – Mouse wheel executes moves

2.1.2.32 Annotation palette

Board window: Insert (Ctrl-Alt-S)



There is a special annotation palette that helps you insert <u>chess commentary symbols</u> with a single click.

$\begin{array}{c c} 1 & ? & ?? & ?! \\ +- & \pm & = \\ \cong & \swarrow & \uparrow & \rightarrow \end{array}$	‼ ?? ○ □ ∞ ∓ ∓ -+ C ⊕ N					
≤ =	△					
Text Before Move	After Move					
Variation						
Start	End Variation					
Promote	Delete					

• The first line contains move evaluations (good move, blunder, etc.) that appear after a move.

• The next two lines are mainly position evaluations (White is better, unclear). They also appear after a move.

• The symbols in the fourth line (better is, with the idea, etc.) are automatically inserted before the move.

"None" removes any symbols attached to the current move.

When you move the mouse cursor onto a symbol its meaning is displayed.

Text before move / after move

Use this to enter <u>text commentary</u> in front of or behind the current move.

Start variation

Takes back the current move and allows you to add an alternate line (equivalent to pressing "T").

Promote variation

The current variation is promoted to the next-higher level, and the variation there becomes the subvariation. Ctrl-Z will undo this action.

Delete variations

Removes the current variation and all subvariations from the game. Ctrl-Z will undo.

End variation

Ends the variation and jumps to the main line, so you can continue entering the moves of the main line.

See also the Information about Notation Toolbar

2.1.2.33 Fold notation

Complex analysis and large repertoire trees often have very deeply nested variations. To make the notation easier to read ChessBase provides a folding facility. This is activated with a right click in the notation.

ame		Insert Diagram	p La	sker which created a			*					
print 1	t Fold Enable Training -d3											
6 6.4	6.4 Show Material Fold All 8-c7 3-e5 Show Evaluation Profile Unfold All Notes and the second sec											
З-е5												
penii b5	penir ✓ Show Tooltips Disable Folding 14 Choose Font 16e6-e5 17. gd3-e4!)											
14												
.멾f1- I3vb1												
15	₩e2	xh5 f7-f5 achieves nothing.]	_				1					
2q8xh	?q8xh7 16.≝e2xh5+ ☆h7-q8 17.≜e5xq7!! Today Lasker might have tried to copyright this											
the Black has narrowly escaped mate, but 22. $@q4-d7!$ wins a piece and the game. $e^{-6} = 23.@d7xb7$ $@b6-a7 = 24.@a1-f1 @a8-b8 = 25.@b7-d7 @f8-d8 = 26.@d7-a4+ @a7-f8$												
xe5	$xe5 \pm 6fa_{q}7 28.e5 - e6 \equiv b8-b7 29. @a4-a6 f7-f6 30. \Xif1xf6+ \pm a7xf6 31. @a6xf6+ \checkmark$											

In the fold menu you can select the following:

Fold all: The notation only displays short lines. At points where sublines are

present there is this symbol: 🖺. Click on this to unfold individual sublines.

• Unfold all: The variations are all unfolded. At the branching points you will find

this symbol **E**. Click on this to fold away individual variations.

• **Disable folding:** This switches off folding completely. All folding buttons disappear from the notation.

Some things to note:

When you replay a "folded" game the variations are still offered in the variation window and are automatically unfolded if you enter them.

Pressing Delete folds the current variation complex and jumps to the last branching point, which appears in the variation menu.

Pressing "+" and "-" fold and unfold the next branch (unless an <u>analysis engine</u> is running).

2.1.2.34 Search result window

/----->

88

Database window: Home - Harddisk ...

Help)							0	
	***		2	S		S	P	\mathcal{D}	Logged
ontents VD	Board	Online	Hard Disk	Prepare Against	Find Player	Player Encyclopedia	Log Off	Edit Account	DerAme
	Board	Search	games		Playe	rs		Ches	sBase Ac
Find games in the reference database (Umschalt+Strg+F)									g+F)
ingsstell	un re	eferenz22.2	2cbh p	olaychessne	u.2cbh i	neuereserverpa	rt aus	probieren	.2cbh

This allows you to start a search in the <u>reference database</u> or in the currently selected database. The <u>search mask</u> appears and allows you enter your search criteria. The results are displayed in a search result pane in the <u>board window</u>.

Paste Game © Copy Game Game © Copy Position Clipboard game	ne Hard Disk	Mega Datal Repertoire Repertoire I Find Po	oase 2016 White Black osition	🔹 📆 In t	this Game	Default Kibitzer Add Kibitzer Remove Kibitze Engines		 Edit Game Data Load Previous Game Load Next Game Database 	0 0 0 Game Histor	y
	Search Resul	t								▼ ×
8 1 /h & 1 /h & 1	Restore Ga	ame			Searc	ch Result				
	White	Elo W	Black		Elo B Result	Year	Notatio	on	VCS	ECO
	Kasparov,G	2785	Lurie,M	20	070 0-1	1996	1.c4 Sf6	5 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5 4	Sf3	A16
										Þ
Notation + Openings Book 🔹 🗙	LiveBook									▼×
Notation Reference Table Training Score sheet	Move	Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date	Evaluation	Visite			
							VISIUS	[%]		
Kasparov, Garry 2785 - Lurie, Michael 2070 0-	4.g3	1318	63%	2466	2016-Okt-28	=	29867	[%] 52		Â
Kasparov,Garry 2785 - Lurie,Michael 2070 0- A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996	4.g3 4.Sf3	1318 501	63% 60%	2466 2445	2016-Okt-28 2016-Okt-5	=	29867 13436	[%] 52 23		^
Kasparov,Garry 2785 - Lurie,Michael 2070 0- A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996	4.g3 4.Sf3 4.e4	1318 501 69	63% 60% 46%	2466 2445 2383	2016-Okt-28 2016-Okt-5 2016-Okt-3	=	29867 13436 5440	[%] 52 23 9		· III
Kasparov,Garry 2785 - Lurie,Michael 2070 A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996 1.c4 Sf6 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5 4.Sf3 g6 5 a4 Svr3 6 bvr3 1.a7 7.1a3 0.0 8.1c4	4.g3 4.sf3 4.e4 4.d4	1318 501 69 62	63% 60% 46% 61%	2466 2445 2383 2464	2016-Okt-28 2016-Okt-5 2016-Okt-3 2016-Apr-30	= = = =	29867 13436 5440 5826	[%] 52 23 9 10		* II
Kasparov,Garry 2785 - Lurie,Michael 2070 O- A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996 1.c4 Sf6 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5 4.Sf3 g6 4 5.e4 Sxc3 6.bxc3 Lg7 7.La3 0-0 8.Lc4	4.g3 4.sf3 4.e4 4.d4 4.Db3	1318 501 69 62 7	63% 60% 46% 61% 86%	2466 2445 2383 2464 2460	2016-Okt-28 2016-Okt-5 2016-Okt-3 2016-Apr-30 2015	= = = = =	29867 13436 5440 5826 617	[%] 52 23 9 10 1		• III
Kasparov,Garry 2785 - Lurie,Michael 2070 O- A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996 1.c4 Sf6 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5 4.Sf3 g6 5.e4 Sxc3 6.bxc3 Lg7 7.La3 0-0 8.Lc4 c5 9.0-0 Dc7 10.De2 Lg4 11.h3 Lxf3	4.g3 4.e4 4.d4 4.Db3 4.Da4+	1318 501 69 62 7 3	63% 60% 46% 61% 86% 33%	2466 2445 2383 2464 2460 2368	2016-Okt-28 2016-Okt-5 2016-Okt-3 2016-Apr-30 2015 2015	=	VISICS 29867 13436 5440 5826 617 268 260	[%] 52 23 9 10 1 1		• III
Kasparov,Garry 2785 - Lurie,Michael 2070 O- A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996 1.c4 Sf6 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5 4.Sf3 g6 5.e4 Sxc3 6.bxc3 Lg7 7.La3 0-0 8.Lc4 c5 9.0-0 Dc7 10.De2 Lg4 11.h3 Lxf3 12.Dxf3 Sc6 13.De2 Da5 14.Lb2 Tfd8 ▼	4.g3 4.sf3 4.e4 4.d4 4.Db3 4.Da4+ 4.e3 4.SvdE	1318 501 69 62 7 3 2 1	63% 60% 46% 61% 86% 33% 50%	2466 2445 2383 2464 2460 2368 2248 2280	2016-Okt-28 2016-Okt-3 2016-Okt-3 2016-Apr-30 2015 2015 2015	= = = = = =	Visits 29867 13436 5440 5826 617 268 360 1100	[%] 52 23 9 10 1 0 1 2		* E
Kasparov,Garry 2785 - Lurie,Michael 2070 O- A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996 1.c4 Sf6 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5 4.Sf3 g6 . 5.e4 Sxc3 6.bxc3 Lg7 7.La3 0-0 8.Lc4 . c5 9.0-0 Dc7 10.De2 Lg4 11.h3 Lxf3 . 12.Dxf3 Sc6 13.De2 Da5 14.Lb2 Tfd8 ▼	4.g3 4.e4 4.d4 4.Db3 4.Da4+ 4.e3 4.Sxd5 4.Dc2	1318 501 69 62 7 3 2 1 1	63% 60% 46% 61% 86% 33% 50% 50%	2466 2445 2383 2464 2460 2368 2248 2380 2352	2016-Okt-28 2016-Okt-5 2016-Okt-3 2016-Apr-30 2015 2015 2015 1982 2002	= = = = = = = = =	Visits 29867 13436 5440 5826 617 268 360 1109 107	[%] 52 23 9 10 1 0 1 2 0		* III
Kasparov,Garry 2785 - Lurie,Michael 2070 A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996 1.c4 Sf6 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5 4.Sf3 g6 5.e4 Sxc3 6.bxc3 Lg7 7.La3 0-0 8.Lc4 c5 9.0-0 Dc7 10.De2 Lg4 11.h3 Lxf3 12.Dxf3 Sc6 13.De2 Da5 14.Lb2 Tfd8	4.g3 4.e4 4.d4 4.Db3 4.Da4+ 4.e3 4.Sxd5 4.Dc2	1318 501 69 62 7 3 2 1 1 1	63% 60% 46% 61% 86% 33% 50% 50% 50%	2466 2445 2383 2464 2460 2368 2248 2380 2352	2016-Okt-28 2016-Okt-3 2016-Okt-3 2015 2015 2015 1982 2002 2024	= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	VISICS 29867 13436 5440 5826 617 268 360 1109 107 27	[%] 52 9 10 1 1 2 2 0 0		* E

• Clicking on a game displays its notation. The board jumps to the position in which the search criteria are met.

• Right-clicking the search result window allows you to perform many different operations, just like in the <u>list window</u>.

Kasparov,G 27: Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	15 Karpov,A Edit Copy to notation Opening referent Selection to Boo	2705 n ice on select	0-1	1984 Umschalt+S	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 e6 3	Sf Sf
Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Edit Copy to notation Opening referen	n Ice on select		Umschalt+S	ہ itrg+Alt+Eingabe	Sf .gE
Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Copy to notation Opening referent	n ice on select	ien	Umschalt+S	ة ب trg+Alt+Eingabe	.gE Sf:
Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Copy to notation Opening referent	n ice on select		Umschalt+S	Strg+Alt+Eingabe	SE2
Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Opening referen	ice on select	tin n			212
Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Kasparov,G	Selection to Boo		lion	S	Strg+Alt+Eingabe 3	.Sf.
Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A		1k		U	mschalt+Fingahe	3.g
Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	500000000000000000000000000000000000000			01	B	.Sf.
Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Replay games a	utomatically	(3.g
Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Output				► B	S.Sf
Kasparov,G Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Cross Table				т	3.d
Karpov,A Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Charlin Charles				j B	S.Sf
Kasparov,G Karpov,A	Statistics				S	3.c
Karpov,A	Piece Probability	/			Umschalt+S 3	S.Sf
	Overview				0	3.c
Kasparov,G						3.g
Karpov,A	List Format				▶ 1	3.c
Kasparov,G					3	.g3
Karpov,A	Close					3.c
Kasnarov G 27	15 Karnov A	2705	1/1-1/1	1984	1 Sf3 Sf6 2 c4 c5	2 5

• The four cursor keys can be used to browse through the search results. Press cursor up/down to select a game from the list and cursor left/right to play through the moves. Page up/down scrolls entire pages.

2.1.2.35 Game History in the Board Window

Apart from the <u>database window</u> it is also possible to access the games that you have loaded during the current sitting <u>in the board window</u>.

This is possible by using the *Game History section* of the Home ribbon.



The two arrows, **Back** and **Forward**, allow you to scroll through the games you have loaded in this session. They are loaded directly into the <u>game notation</u>.

If you click View *Game History* the program opens a game list containing all the games loaded during this session.

90 ChessBase 17	90	90
-----------------	----	----

	🔽 Quick Bo	oard ₹	7-Friday: 15	Games	2-1	-				_		-	-		x
File	Home	Stat	istics Gam	es Players	Opening	Keys	View								۲
Paste	Delete	Inclip	Full Gan Segoe UI First	ne Header	Board	Filter List	Edit Game Data	🐓 Se 💌 Go Edit	lect All to Line	Cross Table To	Next urnament	Activate/de Fritztra	eactivate ainer		
Text	Games PI	ayers	Tournaments	Annotator Sou	rces Tear	ms Gam	ne title Ope	nings						,	
Number	White	- 1	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Mo	ECO	Tourn	ament	Date	^ ۷		RADIOLAL	
7	Adams	M	2715	Kasparov, G	2851	1/2-1/2	61	B50	Corus	Wijk aan Z.	. 19.01.20	00			
8	Kasparo	ov,G	2851	Morozevich,A	2748	1-0	45	D17	Corus	Wijk aan Z.	. 20.01.20	00 V			
9	Short, N		2683	Kasparov, G	2851	¥2-¥2	34	B26	Corus	Wijk aan Z.	. 22.01.20	00 V			
10	Kasparo	ov,G	2851	Anand, V	2769	¥2-¥2	56	E20	Corus	Wijk aan Z.	. 23.01.20	00 r(➡┥
11	Lputiar	n,S	2605	Kasparov, G	2851	1/2-1/2	30	D85	Corus	Wÿk aan Z.	. 24.01.20	00 v	<u> </u>		
12	Steinitz	w,		Sellman,A		1-0	35	C11	Baltim	ore	1885	v'_	r r		
13	Shqahu	i, O		Onur,C	1631	0-1	59	D45	EU-ch	U12 Girls.	29.09.20	13			~
14	DerAm	ateur	1580	Emre	1516	0-1	32	D05	Wertu	ngspartie, 3	. 14.02.20	11 c			
15	Smyslo	v		Kotov		1-0	4		Moska	u	1943	V !			Ψ.
•			III									* +			
											100%				

2.1.2.36 Add analysis engine

Board window: Window Add Kibitzer



Lasker, Emanuel - Bauer, Johann Hermann 1-0

A03 Amsterdam VAS Int-01 Masters (1) 26.08.1889 [Kasparov,G]



A Kibitzer is an analysis engine which evaluates the board position. You can have more than one kibitzer though the quality of calculation will degrade if engines share the available processing power.

In the dialog you can select the engines (if you have no chess playing programs

<u>installed</u> on your system you will only see two engines instead of the long list shown above). You may want to set the <u>Engine parameters</u> and the <u>Hash table size</u> before clicking Ok.

Ad <u>v</u> ance	d	-> Cl	oud
	Engine parameter	s	
	Clear Hashtable		
Hashtable size		1536 MD	
Maximum Hashtable size		1536 MB	-
Default Engine			
V Use Tablebases			
OK	Help	Cancel	

After you select an engine a new <u>engine window</u> appears in which you can analyse the board position with the program.

You can store the configuration (and the window layout) of one or two (or more on a fast computer) kibitzers. Use *View - Load* to restore your layout including the kibitzers.

The list contains all the <u>engines</u> that have been installed on your computer.

Please note that if you are connected to the <u>Engine Cloud server</u> you can also use cloud engines.

Engine Parameters: Many engines have options that influence the way they play.

<u>Clear Hashtable</u>: This initialises the hash tables, clearing results that might be contained from previous evaluations. Only important for experts.

Hashtable size: This tells the engine how much temporary memory it has to store evaluations.

Use Tablebases: If endgame <u>tablebases</u> have been installed the program can play the best moves from the tablebases without using the engine, as long as a position with five or less pieces is on the board.

Smart CPU Usage

A deep engine starts on a computer with hyperthreading (i7 4 Cores + 4 Hyperthreading) with only 4 Threads/Processors. On a computer without hyperthreading (i5, AMD) it starts with n-1 Threads/Processors. If this option is turned off it runs as in older versions.

Exception: The user has defined the number of threads/processors explicitly, for instance by defining a UCI engine.

<u>Cloud</u> loads the main window of Engine Cloud so that you can load cloud engines.

If you select an engine in the list that has been defined as not the standard engine the tick before the engine's name is removed.

Note: <u>UCI engines</u> can also be used as the standard engine in ChessBase.

Select Default Engine

The default engine is the engine that is used as the analysis engine in the board window with the keys Alt-F2.

Default Engine Deep Fritz 14 (307MB)	
Browse	

Menu File - Options - Engine

This is the easiest way to set the Default engine.

In the engine dialog the default engine can be selected.

Default Engine

Select on of the engines in the engine list and check the box marked Default Engine. If you select an engine in the list which is not the default engine the tick will be removed from the box.

2.1.2.37 Real 3D Board

Board Window: Board - 3D Board



Click <u>Settings</u> to configure the 3D board. Move the board by right-clicking on the margin, then moving the mouse without holding down the button. Click again to release the mouse coupling.

Keyboard navigation:

- .: Rotate right
- ,: Rotate left
- 9: Move view point to the left
- 0: Move view point to the right
- v: Move board up
- z: Move board down
- i: Move board closer

Note: There is also a key which moves the board further away, but it has been assigned to "Overview". When you change the shortcut for "Overview" to e.g. Shift-O, by means of menu: Tools - Customize, then the "o"-key will move function. You need <u>DirectX</u> for the 3D board. Also a fast graphics adapter for smooth operation in real time play.

2.1.2.38 Ray Tracing boards

With the new program you get access to new <u>3D views</u> for the graphical chess board.



Raytracing is used above all for 3D computer graphics and most realistic representation possible 3D views.

Calculating the graphical representations is demanding and presupposes a high performance computer setup. The result of this technology is very attractive with perfectly calculated shadows and reflections which make these views very realistic.

95



The 3D views are available under *Board* Raytraced Board. That is where you can load the style you wish.



You can also make use of the graphics for documents related to chess. Via *Start Copy position* the graphics are copied into the Windows clipboard.

Below the 3D board you will find the button *Settings*. A click starts the settings dialog.





2.1.2.39 Book analysis window

Board window: View Best Book Line

File Ho	me Insert	Board	Report	Analysis	Training	View					
 ✓ Notation Extra Book Online Date 	☐ Refere Pane ☐ LiveBo abase ✔ Best B	nce Search ok ook Line Panes	Players F Chess M Plans	Photos Jedia System	✓ Status Bar	Standard Layouts ~ De	 ➡ Save ➡ Load ➡ Factory Seteration 	ttings	Open Cloud Engines Engine Cloud	Maximize All Arrang	op 2 Verti op 2 Hori: op 2 Diag e Main W
HANNER MORENCE		No.			Notation +	Openings B	ook				
. =	A 111	1 ato	100	-	Notation	Reference	Replay trainin	g Tab	e Plan Expl	orer Score shee	t LiveBo
* 📥					A 🖓 🖌	N	%	Av	Perf		
7		<u>è</u>			Noomen	628	41 50 <mark>.4</mark>	2513	2539		
		1			6.罝f1-e1	567	04 50.7	2514	2541		
6		6			6.集a4xc6	273	39 48.1	2491	2518		
5					6.02-03!?	234	43 48.2 0 46.6	2492	2509		
			A Paral		6.d2-d4	11	9. 496	2310	2320		
4 🔮	Section State	Å		CRIP.	Best Book L	.ine					
3				•	N=24681, N= 7627, N= 7952, N= 3801	47% 6.말f1 62% 6.말f1 49% 6.말f1	-e1 b7-b5 7.g -e1 b7-b5 7.g -e1 b7-b5 7.g -e1 b7-b5 7.g	ĝa4-b3 ga4-b3 ga4-b3 ga4-b3	0-0 8.c2-c3 d 0-0 8.c2-c3 d 0-0 8.h2-h3 g 0-0 8.a2-a4 k	d7-d5 9.e4xd5 l7-d6 9.h2-h3 gc8-b7 9.d2-d3	©f6xd5 d7-d5 17-d6
					N= 3494,	51% 6.gf1	-e1 b7-b5 7.g	a4-b3 ≩a4-b3	0-0 8.d2-d3 (d7-d6	., 40

The <u>openings book</u> displays all moves that were played in any given position, including statistics, in the <u>book window</u>. It is often much more instructive to see full variations. These are displayed in the book analysis window. Before you can use it you have to open a book or generate one by merging games into a temporary book (mark all games from an openings variation and hit Shift-Enter).

This is what the book analysis window looks like:



Beside each variation you can see the number of games ("N=") and the success in percentage from the point of view of White. Double-clicking a line jumps to the end of the variation and inserts it into the game notation.

If you right-click the book

analysis window you get a menu with the following options:

Min %

Only variations with a minimum on n% of the games are shown (you will be prompted to enter a numer).

• Copy to notation

Copies the right-clicked variation into the notation of the current game.

Copy all to notation

Copies all variations displayed into the notation of the current game.

Variation board

Opens a small board which allows you to play through the highlighted variation.

Critical line

The critical line is the one in which both White and Black make the statistically most promising moves. It is displayed in red at the bottom of the book analysis window.

Font

The font can be set to a different size than that of the main game notation.

Close

Closes the book analysis window.

2.1.2.40 Book window

Board window: Notation Openings Book

Menu View - Extra Book Pane

The book window displays the moves and statistics of an openings "tree".

100 100			ALC: NO.			LAND S.		Notation +	Openings Bo	ok						
	-		À 11	11 ala				Notation	Reference	Replay trainin	g Table	Plan Explor	er Score sheet	LiveBook Opening	s Book My Moves	Surveys
7	=	n			6				N	%	Av	Perf				
6					A	A A		Noomen	6284	1 50.4	2513	2539				
5	-	1010			* <u> </u>			6.≝f1-e1	5670	4 50.7	2514	2541				
Ľ.	A					NCO VENIO		6.âa4xc6	273	9 48.1	2491	2518				
4	島			8				6.d2-d3!	234	3 48.2	2492	2509				
3		1102		1	5			6.@b1-c3	930	46.6	2516	2528				
2	å	÷	8 1		÷	8 8		6.d2-d4	119	49,6	2726	2731				
1	-	m	à 30	82	19			6.營d1-e2	76	44.1	2483	2499				
<u>.</u>	4	2	J. []	1	4		A WEST	6.c2-c3	4	50,0	2549	2582				
	a	D	C U	e		g n		6.h2-h3	2	75.0	2499	2665				
		+	+	~	→	→ I							1-0: 6912 = 12% 1/2: 43624 = 77% 0-1: 6168 = 11%	N = 56704 (56707) 2514-2541 (56623) 2536-2510 (56605)		
															1000/	

This is what the book window displays:

• N: Number of games. At the top you see the total number of games which led to the current board position. In the column itself you see the number of games in which each move was executed.

▶ %: The percentage score achieved by the move is always given from the point of view of the colour to play. If the number of games is low then the percentage is given in grey because it does not have great statistical significance.

• Av: The Elo average of the players who used the move. If only a small percentage of the players had a rating then the number is given in grey.

• **Perf** : The Elo performance of the move is the rating a player would have achieved in a fictitious tournament playing the move in all his games.

• **Statistics**: For any highlighted move the program displays at the bottom the exact number of games that were won, drawn or lost. The bar graphics on the left make it easy to take in the information at a glance. On the right you can see the total number of games in which the move was made, plus the average ratings of the players. (You need to have switched "statistics" on in the properties of the bookwindow in order to see it.)

If you right-click a blank area of the tree window you get a menu in which you can sort the list (you can also click the column headers), search for games that led to the current positions, set the font size, delete the entire book, etc. <u>Properties</u> allows you switch the statistics, the retro move and unplayed transposition display on and off

You can browse around the book using the cursor keys or clicking moves. Right-clicking a move opens a menu in which it can be annotated.

"Tournament move" determines whether Fritz and other ChessBase programs will consider the move in tournament mode or not.

Forbidden moves are displayed in red.

2.1.2.41 Maximum size of the tree of positions

The program plays the first moves of a game from the "<u>Openings book</u>" which comes with it. That is a folder of approximately a million opening positions in which the program finds how frequently specific opening moves have been played and how promising they are.

In addition the program can also store in the file its own experiences with opening variations – it learns from its successes and its defeats.

In the program the openings book is also called the "tree of positions" (tree of variations). The files which make it up are quite big – the program requires approx. 70 Bytes per position.

Question: Apart from the hardware resources is there any limitation to the size of the tree of positions? If so, what happens when this is reached?

Answer: At the moment the limit for the size of the tree is 16 TB. So far, no user has

managed to generate a tree of positions of that size. Theoretically nothing happens if the limit is exceeded, but this has not yet been tested in practice.

2.1.2.42 Extended Book Display

In the <u>book options</u> you can use "*Show Next Move*" (Rightclick) to change to an informative table display.

Number of positions: 4159377
Unplayed transpositions
Retro moves
Show Elo numbers
Show next move
Result from white side
Statistics
OK Help Cancel

This makes it easy to see the continuations and statistics that are stored in the position tree.

	ALCONOMIC AND A	Notation + Openings	Book					▼ ×
		Notation Reference	e Replay training S	urveys Plan Explorer	Table Score she	et LiveBook Openi	ngs Book My Moves	s
III 🕹 🖄 🚊 🦉 🚊 🚰 🛓			N %/	Av Perf				
		Noomen	708694 54.5 25	33 2565				
		1.e2-e4	1e7-e5	1c7-c5	1c7-c6	1e7-e6	1d7-d6	1@l
6		335564 54.1%	119365 51.6%	111577 55.1%	86893 54.6%	12450 56.1%	1450 65.1%	
		1.d2-d4	1d7-d5	1 🖄 g8-f6	1e7-e6	1c7-c6	1f7-f5	1d7
	00	318071 56.3%	153781 55.0%	152631 57.1%	4484 58.5%	2595 58.6%	2105 62.6%	
		1.@g1-f3	1d7-d5	1 🔄 g8-f6	1c7-c5	1c7-c6	1g7-g6	1e7
		24800 53.8%	11964 52.5%	8410 55.0%	3044 54.5%	537 53.3%	205 60.2%	

Inside each box a move is displayed, the number of games in which this move was displayed, and the success rate as a percentage.

If the percentage is displayed in gray it means that not enough games were played to provide a meaningful statistic.

<u>Tip</u>: The subsequent moves are displayed next to one another. If you click on the next move, both moves are entered on the board. This can be tested by using the start position. Click on the move that follows 1.e4, which is 1...c5 in the Fritz 12 opening book.

Both moves will be entered on the board immediately.

2.1.2.43 Different Statistical Displays in the Opening Book

The program has access to an <u>opening book</u> in which a variety of proven opening moves are saved. A ChessBase opening book is a database which exclusively contains positions. For this reason the format of the opening book is also referred to as a positional tree.

A positional tree offers the following advantages when studying openings:

For any random board position you receive an overview of all the moves which have been played including detailed statistics.

This concept allows the reliable recognition of move transpositions. Some users are irritated by the new version because various statistical information is displayed.



Here's an example:

1.e4 e5 2. Nf3 Nc6 3. d4 exd4 4. Nxd4 Bb4+ 5. c3 Bc5 6. Be3 Bb6 7. Nf5

-	N	%	~	N	%
Mega 2300	280	53.8	Mega 2300.ctg	280	53.8
7.Nf5	118	60.6	7.Nf5	118	60.6
•	N	%		N	4
Mega 2300	118	60.6	Mega 2300.ctg	118	39.4
	69	59.4			
/Bxe3	05		7Bxe3	69	40.6

The diagram shows the various positional evaluations with ChessBase 9 and the current version of ChessBase.

What is the reason for these differences?

ChessBase always shows all the results and evaluations <u>from the white side</u>. This is the critical difference compared to previous versions. The diagram from the white side makes more sense when analysing a position with a chess engine.

2.1.2.44 3D Board Settings

To configure the <u>DirectX</u>-based real 3D board, either click Settings in the tool bar below the board:



	Pieces	
System Info GPU Info Caps Noble Wood Pieces Board Render options	Knight White Mirror -90	+90
	Black	
	-90	+90

Material

Select the material of your board. ChessBase comes with the wooden piece set "Modern". If you have a reasonably fast machine and graphics adapter, try to use the highest resolution (Texture resolution) for best quality.

Effects

Set the shadow type. Recommended is Rendered as compromise between speed and aesthetics.

You can experiment with the different reflections, though usually the default values yield best results.

The slider Animation determines the speed of animated moves. If you have a strong graphics card, try moving the slider to the right.

Geometry and Board

Square Size determines the ratio between board and king height. A small square size creates a somewhat crowded board.

Knight controls the orientation of the knight's heads.

Gamma

The gamma values control the color intensity of your monitor. This is only visible in Extreme 3D Mode.

Info

Shows technical information about your graphics adapter. This is important if you experience problems with your 3D board. You can measure the performance of your hardware. A decent card should yield a frame rate of 25 frames per second with the Modern board.

104 ChessBase 17

2.1.2.45 Game overview

Right-clicking a game and selecting Overview (or pressing O) produces an overview of the game in small diagrams.



The number of moves between the diagrams is the same. You can click any of the boards to load the game and jump to that position in the notation.

The button Board at the bottom cycles through different sizes of diagrams.

2.1.2.46 Score Sheet Notation

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Click}}$ Score Sheet in the notation pane of the board window to see the score sheet notation.

i illa Posicio			LIIGHES			Databa	5e 0	anie instory				
Notation +	Openings E	Book						-		• ×		
Notation	Reference	Replay training	Surveys	Plan Ex	plorer	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Ор	1 +		
Kaspa	arov,Garry	(2815)			Kramnik,Vladimir (2780)							
Tournament Kosmos m 5' Moscow blitz												
Round <u>22</u> Date <u>28.11.1998</u> Result <u>1-0</u>												
ECO <u>D47:</u>	Semi-Sla	v: Meran Systei	m									
	1	d2-d4 (17-d5	21	Rc1-	h2	Nf6-d5			-		
	2	c2-c4 c	:7-c6	22	Bd3x	h7+	Ka8-h8	-				
	3	Nb1-c3 N	Vg8-f6	23	Bh7-	f5	Bc7-b6+	_				
7	4	Ng1-f3 e	е7-еб	24	Kg1-	h1	Qe6-h6					
	5	е2-е3 Л	Vb8-d7	25	Bf5-e	24	Nd5-e3					
	6	Qd1-c2 E	3f8-d6	26	Qc2-	b3	Ne3xf1					
	7	Bf1-d3 0	D-0	27	Rb1x	f1	Ra2-a7					
	8	0-0 a	15xc4	28	Rf1-f	3	Bb7-c8			-		
1					Ŀ	100%				٦.:		

This is in the style of a hand-written score sheet used in over-the-board chess.

You can also print this with **Menu File Print Score Sheet** (also handy to print empty score sheets for a quick game at home).

2.1.2.47 Table notation

Clicking the **Table tab** in the notation window converts the <u>notation</u> to table form.

TRANSPORT OF A DESCRIPTION OF A	Notation + 0	Openings B	look												• ×
8 🗃 🔥 🖌 🖶 👘	Notation	Reference	Replay t	raining T	able	Plan Explorer	Score sh	neet Livel	Book Op	enings Boo	ok MyM	oves Sun	/eys		
	E32 ¹	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
	1 d2-d4	c2-c4	&]b1-c3	皆d1-c2	e2-e4	<u>ģ</u> f1-d3	<i>∛</i> ⊇g1-e2	0-0	d4-d5	睿c2-d2	c4xd5	<u>ģ</u> d3-b1	皆d2-f4	e4xf5	
	∕©g8-f6	e7-e6	<u>ģ</u> f8-b4	0-0	d7-d6	&_b8-c6	<u>್ಲ</u> ಿb4-a5	<u>ĝ</u> a5-b6	@c6-b4	e6xd5	∕⊡f6-g4	皆d8-h4	f7-f5	<u></u> ₫c8xf5	
															-
	<u>A</u>														
	14 <u>¢</u> c8xf5	15.h2-h3	≜b6xf2	+ 16.ģg1	I-h1 ĝf	f5-d7 17.睿f	4-g5 ≜f2	2-c5 18.≌	f1xf8+ 🗉	a8xf8 19.	.@e2-g1	≌f8-f1 20).盒b1xh7	+ 🔺	
	₫g8-h8														
$i \leftarrow \leftarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow i$														*	
	Δ														
											100% 💻				

Table notation is useful in games that have very dense opening lines. You should also use it if you <u>merge</u> a number of games from a particular variation.

At the bottom of the table notation you will find the "footnote" window: clicking a

move in the table displays the rest of the game and all variations here. If you are using the cursor keys to navigate, the cursor will jump into the footnote when you hit the right edge of the table.

The fonts of both sections of the notation can be modified independently.

Printing

Using the <u>print repertoire</u> function will produce a printout that looks much like the table notation.

2.1.2.48 Goto Fritz

Board window: Menu File Goto Fritz



This fires up the chess program Fritz and hands over the complete game. Fritz has advanced analysis functions such as natural language annotation, blunder check, correspondence chess analysis, etc. You can also simply play out the game against Fritz.

In order to use this function you will need a copy of Fritz, Hiarcs, Junior or Shredder. In the programs mentioned there is the corresponding command **Menu File Goto ChessBase**.

2.1.2.49 Best game

You have played a particularly good game and are of the opinion that this game should be made available to a wider public?

ChessBase offers an interesting function for sending a selected game to the editors of <u>Mega Database</u>, which is recognised as the standard reference database.

Load you game into the board window.

Then via the menu item *File* Send Upload best game you can carry out the upload.

🛃 Save Game As		Send Correspondence Report
Save To Cloud		Correspondence Server Move
Print	۲	Wpload Best Game
Diagram List	۲	Upload Best Game
Send	×	

Then a dialog box is displayed in which you can check, correct and then send the data.

Submit then immediately sends the game to the editors of <u>Mega</u>.

See also

2.1.2.50 Sending games to the web app Fritz

You have several possibilities for investigating in practical fashion against a chess program a game which you have loaded.

In the board window <u>Menu File – Goto Fritz</u> allows you to analyse or to continue to play through the game with Fritz.

Within CB14 we have integrated direct linkage to our web apps. One example of this is the possibility to send a game which has been loaded to the online version of Fritz.

```
Menu Training Play Out against Fritz
```

Ana	lysis	Tra	ining	١	/iew		
)	- Q				
	Play C Against)ut Fritz	Openin App	gs			
	Chess	Base	Account				
		Pla	y this po	siti	on against a chess program of human	strength	e she
6.						Kaspa	rov

Be sure that you have logged into the database window with your ChessBase account name! if transferring does not work with your user name, before continuing the game enter your user name and the level Club Player.

You can now continue your game against the online version.

Why then transfer the game to the online version when it is possible to make use of the very strong Fritz stored on your own hard disk?

Going to "Online fritz" makes sense above all when you take into account the function of "Calculation training".

With calculation training you simply input the variation via the chess board whereas the position from the real game remains unchanged. In addition within the notation you get information about how the program evaluates the position. Click again on Calculation training and you go straight back to the game and can simply continue from where you left off. With this function the program is offering a valuable support for the learning of how to calculate variations accurately, one of the most important preconditions for success in competitive chess!

2.1.2.51 Passing on to the openings app

In the ChessBase board window it is possible to transfer directly to the openings app and interesting game which is relevant for your own opening repertoire.



Menu Training Openings App.

This transfers the <u>complete game directly</u> to the openings app. There you can continue to work on the game, e.g. mark individual moves as being relevant for your own <u>repertoire</u>.
2.1.3 List Window

2.1.3.1 List window

Double-clicking a <u>database symbol</u> opens a list window. You can also click and hit Enter.

Text	Games Players	Tournam	ents Annotator	Sources Te	ams Game Tag	Text titles	Analysis Worl	d Openings				
Number	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Moves	Beauty	ECO	Tournament	Date	VCS	Round
4301	Carlsen,M	2776	Kramnik,V	2759	0-1		000	E32	Amber-blindfold.	25.03.2009		10
3840	Anand,V	2797	Carlsen,M	2865	0-1	36	<u>888</u>	A90	Grenke Chess CL.	06.02.2015	RCS	4
1505	Carlsen,M	2823	Ivanchuk,V	2765	1-0	34	888	E21	Grand Slam Fin	10.10.2011	RCS	9
4286	Dominguez Pe	2717	Carlsen,M	2776	0-1	54	888	B77	Linares 26th	01.03.2009	RCS	9
2367	Morozevich,A	2760	Carlsen,M	2864	1-0	53	888	B35	Moscow Tal Me	12.06.2013	с	7
1588	Carlsen,M	2826	Howell,D	2633	1-0	40	888	C65	London Classic	03.12.2011	Rst	1
3300	Carlsen,M	2881	Potkin,V	2621	1-0	28	888	B48	Wch Rapid Dub	16.06.2014		3
923	Carlsen,M	2279	Berg,O	2065	1-0	46	888	B53	Troll Masters	10.01.2003		4
1316	Carlsen,M	2484	Ernst,S	2474	1-0	29	888	B19	Corus-C Wijk a	24.01.2004	RCS	12
3524	Carlsen M	2862	Firouzia A	2749	1-0	43	XXX	R23	Maanus-∆lireza	22 02 2021		5

The list window has a number of tabs at the top which take you to the different indexes for the games of the database.

The "Games" tab produces the <u>games list</u> with all entries in the order in which they are physically stored in the database. You can scroll up and down the list, filter or sort it.

The other indexes are all described in their own sections:

Default Text Players index Tournament index Annotators Source index Teams Openings key Theme keys for tactics, strategy, endgames and general themes. Game Title A new Index.

Note: Theme keys are only available optionally. Searching for <u>similar endgames</u> or <u>similar structures</u> is more precise and delivers much more exact results.

The Ribbons

File	Home Ana	llysis G	ames Player	s	Opening I	Keys	View					
Paste	∑ <u>D</u> elete	E Full Segoe UI	Game Header + 13	•		Q Filter	Edit Ga	🤡 Sel	lect All to Line		Nevt	
- unic	Clip or Unclip	First	0 Properties	÷	Board	List	List Data		Edit		Tournament	Fritztrainer
Text	Games Players	Tourname	ents Annotator	Sou	irces Tear	ms Ga	me Tag T	ext titles	Analysis	World	Openings	
Number	White	Elo W	Black	E	lo B	F	Result	Moves	Beauty		ECO	Tournament
4301	Carlsen,M	2776	Kramnik,V	27	759	()-1	20	000	5	E32	Amber-blin
3840	Anand,V	2797	Carlsen,M	28	865	()-1	36	222	5	A90	Grenke Che
1505	Contract NA	2022	1	-	7/-			24	X X X	-	5.24	C d

The Ribbons at the top of the list window offers direct access to frequently used functions. If you move the mouse onto a button, after a second or two a description

of the function appears. For example:

Copy selected games, i.e. mark them for copying Paste games which were marked for copying Filter games, i.e. use the <u>search mask</u> to list specific games Edit the game data of the selected game Compress a database into a single file for backup purposes Generate <u>tournament table</u> Show statistics for selected games

2.1.3.2 Default Text

When a database contains a <u>database text</u> at the first position, you can open this by clicking on the text tab in the <u>database list window</u>:

The Albin Counter-Gambit <u>Training</u>



This training section provides games featuring ideas and plans typical for the Albin Counter-Gambit which should be looked at both from White's and from Black's point of view. The entire training includes the solving of concrete game positions to improve your understanding of typical ideas and plans.

The following games are proposed for training:

Games featuring typical manoeuvres for Black in the Albin Counter-Gambit:

There is no language selection tab in this editor, the text is shown in the program language. To switch between possible other languages, load the database text by double-clicking it from the games list:

Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Openin	igs T	hemes	Tactics
Number	White	2		Elo W	Black			Elo B	Resu	lt Mov
	The '	World C	hampions 🗌				Text	t		
	The	Challen	gers						Text	t
	Conc	litions							Text	t
	Alek	hine							Text	t

2.1.3.3 Games list

Naturally the games list is the most frequently used window type in ChessBase. You use it to browse a database, a search result, contents of an openings key, game of a player and so on. Please try to understand how to configure a games list, it will considerably increase the usability of the program for you. Other lists (players, tournaments) work the same.

Text	Games Players	Tournam	ents Annotator	Sources 1	Feams Game Tag	Text titles	Analysis V	/orld Openings				
Number	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Moves	Beauty	ECO	Tournament	Date	VCS	Round
4301	Carlsen,M	2776	Kramnik,V	2759	0-1		000	E32	Amber-blindfold	25.03.2009		
3840	Anand,V	2797	Carlsen,M	2865	0-1	36	888	A90	Grenke Chess CL.	06.02.2015	RCS	4
1505	Carlsen,M	2823	Ivanchuk,V	2765	1-0	34	88	E21	Grand Slam Fin	10.10.2011	RCS	9
4286	Dominguez Pe	2717	Carlsen,M	2776	0-1	54	888	B77	Linares 26th	01.03.2009	RCS	9
2367	Morozevich,A	2760	Carlsen,M	2864	1-0	53	888	B35	Moscow Tal Me	12.06.2013	с	7
1588	Carlsen,M	2826	Howell,D	2633	1-0	40	888	C65	London Classic	03.12.2011	Rst	1
3300	Carlsen,M	2881	Potkin,V	2621	1-0	28	888	B48	Wch Rapid Dub	16.06.2014		3
923	Carlsen,M	2279	Berg,O	2065	1-0	46	888	B53	Troll Masters	10.01.2003		4
1316	Carlsen,M	2484	Ernst,S	2474	1-0	29	88	B19	Corus-C Wijk a	24.01.2004	RCS	12
3524	Carlsen M	2862	Firouzia A	2749	1-0	43	XXX	R23	Maanus-∆lireza	22 02 2021		5

Use the separation marks between the column headers to resize columns. <u>Drag & Drop</u> columns to a new place. The program will remember any changes in the configuration of the games list.

Obvious but important: You sort the list by clicking on the column title. Right-click on the column title to get a menu for toggling single columns:

Optimize column widths Ctrl-+ All Columns								
Hide 'Black'								
Auto Fit Column ('Black')								
Hide all columns to right ('Black' ->)								
Show 'Round'								
Show 'White Team'								
Show 'Black Team'								

<u>Hint</u>: your mouse over symbols like ECO, medals, annotation types and get a tool tip explanation.



Most important in the games list is the <u>right-click menu</u>. It offers standard column layouts and a lot of functions on selected games.

You can select games with Ctrl-click or Shift-cursor keys. Use Ctrl-A to select all elements of a list.

At the Top of each game list, you find the Ribbons:

112 ChessBase 17



Click *Filter List* to filter the games list with a <u>search mask</u> Click *Copy* to prepare the selected games for copying to another database. Click Edit to enter game data for one or more games. If you select more than one game of the same player, the player name is offered for editing. Clip copies the selected games to the <u>clip database</u>. Delete marks the selected games for deletion.

2.1.3.4 Tips Game list

The most important thing. To open a game always double click on the game item in the list.

This open the board window with the game!

Selection of more than one game in the game list.

Click with the left mouse button on the first game you want.

Press the <u>Ctrl key and hold it down</u>. Now you can click on any other games to highlight them.

Release the Ctrl key and you have all desired games selected.

Selection of a small range of games in the game list

Click the first game with the left mouse button.

Now hold the Shift key down (not the CTRL Key !!!) and press it down.

In the next step click on the last game you want to highlight.

Release the Shift key and the selection is done!

Selection of a large range of games in the game list

Click the first game with the left mouse button.

Now hold the **Shift** key down (not the CTRL Key !!!) and press it down.

In the next step press the key ", Page Down " to select the games.

Release the Shift key and the selection is done!

Selection of all games in the game list

This could be done with **Ctrl-A**.

Note: you can easily unselect a selection with a simple mouse click in the game list.

2.1.3.5 Customising the display of information

Problem: In previous versions, the parameters chosen in the games list were the ones which were installed for all new databases. Thus if I chose for one database to hide the entries for team, White or source, these headings were automatically hidden whenever I set up a new database. After one of the most recent updates, these headings now appear in every new database. How can I hide these annoying headings once and for all?

Answer: Try to do so with the function "*Hide all columns to right*". Within the present session, then the information will also be hidden within new databases insofar as the new database is created during the same session. If you switch the computer off and then back on again, all the column headings will be displayed once more. Basically that is what is intended to happen. The user should be provided with the maximum amount of information.

2.1.3.6 Copying games with a right click

The program makes it possible for you to copy into a new database games which you have selected (highlighted) from the <u>games list</u>. To do so you proceed as follows.

In the games list of the database, highlight the games you wish to copy into a separate database. You are able to highlight games with $Ctrl+mouse\ click$ or $SHIFT+mouse\ click$.

Output	•	Print Selection	10.03
Cross Table T		Print multiple training	1.03
Statistics S		Page Setup	:4.03
Piece Probability Umschalt+S		Printer Setup	:5.03
Overview O		F-Mail Selected Games	:6.03
Create game title		Selection To Text file	
Tactical Analysis		Database	
Set Beauty		Publish to Web	52
Harvest Training Material	Z P	erez,L 2/58 1-0	60
		2847 1/2-1/2	75

Then right click – Output – Datenbank starts the Windows file selection dialog, from where you can select the target database into which you want to copy the new

114 ChessBase 17

games.

After the choice of the target database the game(s) are immediately copied.

2.1.3.7 Top Games in the Database Game List

In a database game list there are some new columns.

Theoretical Weight	Players (CBF)
0	Anand,Viswanathan 21
•	Carlsen,Magnus 2826

Sorting by the **Top Game** uses only the search criteria evaluation, ie the average Elo of the players.

Top Ga	me
Top G	ame
Top G	ame
Top G	ame

Sorting by the **Theory Weight** takes into consideration not only the Elo values of the players, but also when the games were played.

2.1.3.8 Database statistics

Whenever you open the games list of a database you can immediately access statistical information about the database you have loaded.

	Edit	•
	Opening reference on selection	Strg+Alt+Eingabe
	Selection to Book	Umschalt+Eingabe
	Replay games automatically	
	Output	•
	Cross Table	Т
L	Statistics	S
	Piece Probability	Umschalt+S
	Overview	0
	Create game title	
	Tactical Analysis	
	List Format	•
	Close	

In the start dialog the statistics function shows a great deal of information, e.g. the number of games, results and the average rating for the database loaded.

Right click Statistics or key S



It is possible to search directly from the dialog box for the results of a specific player

Select Player	r				×
Player		Ka			
Last Nam	ne		First Na	me	
Karpov			Anatoly		
Kasparo	/		Garry		
1					
<u>C</u>	<u>0</u> K			<u>C</u> ancel	

As soon as the player's name has been input, the relevant entries from the list of players are displayed from the index and the individual results are listed opposite the player.

The choice of colours is selected under "White/Black" or "Both".

The headings Length/Years/ or Eco show the length of games, the number of years in which they were played or an overview of the games according to the classification system of the Chess Informant. The interpretation of the results is self-evident.

Here is an example of the division of the games according to the years in which they were played.



In the chart the bottom axis gives the year, the left-hand one gives an overview of the number of games played.

Within the games list of a database you can play through games directly without having to specifically load these into the board window. This alternative option is especially useful when you are taking a quick look at games in a database.

Are you interested in statistical information on games which were played in a specific opening variation?



The position serving for the classification is displayed including the distribution of the ratings and the number of games. Under Endgames you see the possible endgames which occurred in the games n the database with the selected opening variation.

How long pieces remained on the board is shown by the statistics function.



Take the example of the black rook on a8. How do we interpret the values displayed? The rook on a8 survives in 67% of the games and remains on the board until the end of these games.

2.1.3.9 Beauty of Games

The current program version offers the possibility to classify games according to the criterion "*beauty*". This criterion is also taken into account for the game search, for example. Now, as is well known, the perception of beauty is a matter of taste and often lies in the eye of the beholder.

How is the criterion beauty defined within the program and what concrete benefits does this classification scheme bring to the user?

The program defines beauty in terms of <u>sacrificial tactical games</u>. You have our large reference database with many millions of games, how do you find these exciting games with ChessBase?

In earlier ChessBase versions you could search specifically for sacrifices or combinations, for example. The present program version classifies each game by beauty if desired, the degree is indicated by zero to three orders in a column of the game list.

This makes each database sortable by beauty, i.e. the spectacular games are at the top of the <u>game list</u>.

Tournament	Date	VCS	Beauty	Round	Medals
Amber-blindfold	25.03.2009		888	10	
Grenke Chess Cl.	06.02.2015	RCS	888	4	
Grand Slam Fin	10.10.2011	RCS	888	9	
Linares 26th	01.03.2009	RCS	888	9	
Moscow Tal Me	12.06.2013	с	222	7	
London Classic	03.12.2011	Rst	888	1	
Wch Rapid Dub	16.06.2014		222	3	
Troll Masters	10.01.2003		222	4	
Magnus-Alireza	22.02.2021		888	5	
World Cup blin	19.10.2007	RCS	222	8	
Corus-C Wijk a	24.01.2004	RCS	222	12	
Corus-B Wük aa	15.01.2	DCC	XXX	2	

Note: setting beauty values works exclusively with the new *****.2cbh data format.

2.1.3.10 Set beauty

Just set beauty values once for a database, ideally for your large <u>reference database</u>.

There are several ways to Rome, also in the program you can set beauty values with different methods.

```
Gamelist - Set Beauty
```

File	Home	e Analysis Ga		Games	Players Opening Keys		View			
۲		X	ECO	İI	<u>_</u>		→		(<mark>え</mark>)	2
Create good/bac game set		Set Beauty	Set ECO Codes	Final Material	🗌 <u>W</u> hite	Black Stron	ng Games	Dnly	Publish to Web	Fix Sorl Order
Process games			nes			Filter			Publish	Maintena
Text	Games	X	Calculat	e the beau	ity of each g	ame and add it to th	ne list Tag	Tex	ttitel An	alyse We
Elo W									ECO	
2776		Kram	nik,V	2759		0-1	20		E32	
2797		Carls	en,M	2865		0-1	36		A90	

You want to set the beauty values for selected games only?

Game selection in the game list - right click - context menu - Set Beauty

	2.00	v .	20								
Carlsen,M	2865	0-1	36	A90							
Ivanchuk,V	2765	1-0	34	E21							
Carlsen,M	2776	0-1	54	R77							
Carlsen,M	Edit			• • •							
Howell,D	Opening	reference on selection	Strg+A	lt+Eingabe							
Potkin,V	Merge Se	elected Games		Eingabe							
Berg,O	Selection	to Book	Umscha	alt+Eingabe							
Firouzja,A	Replay of	ames automatically									
Polgar, J	Outrust	Output									
Ernst,S	Output			,							
Carlsen,M	Cross Ta	ble		T							
Nakamura,H	Statistics		S								
Martinez Villa	Piece Pro	bability	Umschalt+S								
Carlsen,M	Overview	1		0							
Ponomariov,											
Carlsen,M	Create ga	ame title									
Guseinov,G	Tactical /	Analysis									
Carlsen,M	Set Beaut	ty									
Tang,A	Harvest	raining Material									
Karjakin,S		-									
Aldrovandi,C	List Form	at		•							
Carlsen,M	Close										
Petrosian, T											

122

ChessBase 17

You should set the beauty values once for your large database. This can take several hours, because every game has to be replayed and every position has to be briefly examined for tactical motives. A fast computer can handle about 600 games per second. Another possible application is to create a database with games of a certain player and to classify them with the beauty value. You will then immediately see the tactically most explosive games at the top of the game list, based on the column sorting.

The functions described above are only available in the new data format **2CBH**.

On all database types (also Cloud or PGN) you can search for nice games:

To do so, click on "Beautiful games" in the advanced search mask.

		User Interface 123
Year:	2022 - 2022.11	Difference 0
ECO:	A00 - E99/99	
Moves:	0 + - 22 +	Result
- la Papataira -		
 No 	⊖ White ⊖ Black	Text Good games
		Beautiful Games
Any Text		Not Reset
Time Control		
● All	⊖ Slow	○ Rapid ○ Blitz

This finds all the lots with at least one Order of Beauty.

2.1.3.11 Harvest training material

You want to compile a database with selected games/positions for tactics training with just a few clicks?

Within a game list, mark the games that should serve as the basis for the training database to be created.

You do not have to limit yourself to selected game entries, alternatively mark all games in the database.

Right-click on the marked game entries - Context menu - Harvest training material

Edit	•
Opening reference on selection	Strg+Alt+Eingabe
Merge Selected Games	Eingabe
Selection to Book	Umschalt+Eingabe
Replay games automatically	
Output	•
Cross Table	т
Statistics	S
Piece Probability	Umschalt+S
Overview	0
Create game title	
Tactical Analysis	
Set Beauty	
Harvest Training Material	
List Format	

You can save the results in a <u>new database</u> in the next step. The standard engine performs a quick check and saves matching positions with training questions within the database.

When you load an entry from the database list, the party position incl. training question is displayed. Therefore activate under *Training - Activate training*.

2	110.56	CCCCCCCCCCCCC	Training: Black's move
<u></u>	in the second		Please enter a move for black.
8	2		
		2	
- The The The The The The The The The The			Solution Next Question
12.33		111 111	

In the dialog you can see that the program keeps statistics about the results, you can also go directly to the next position.

User Interface 125

Next Question		Try again				
Load Next Game						
⊖ White	⊖ Black					
	-					
10/10 = 100)%					
	Next Question Load Next Game O White 10/10 = 100	Next Question Load Next Game O White O Black				

This an application situation that is certainly interesting for many users is, for example, that he checks from his tournament games with the function and tries critical positions again in the training mode.

2.1.3.12 Player index

List window: Click **Player** tab

The players index is sorted alphabetically.

Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sou	irces Tea	ms Game Tag	g Text ti	tles Ar	nalysis World	Openi	ngs					
Last na	me		F	irst Name	^	Games											~ >
Kran	nnik			/ladimir		Number	White		Elo W	Black		Elo B	Result	Moves	ECO	Tournament	Da 1
Kras	enkow		Ν	Michal		2777	Kramnik,V		2753	Carlsen,M		2863	0-1	24	B87	Legends of Chess Prel	li. 29
Krist	iansson		S	Stefan		2776	Carlsen,M		2863	Kramnik,V		2753	1-0	62	D35	Legends of Chess Prel	li. 29
Krive	borodov		F	aor		2775	Kramnik,V		2753	Carlsen,M	_	2863	1/2-1/2	76	B92	Legends of Chess Prel	li. 29
Krive	chov		-	-goi Forgoi		2774	Carlsen,M		2863	Kramnik.V		2753	1/2-1/2	42	C54	Legends of Chess Prel	ü. 29
KIIVO	siley			serger		2459	Carlsen,M		2872	Kramnik,V		2753	1-0	41	D02	Wch Blitz Moscow	30
Krsn	k Cohar		l'	van Vihor	~	1870	Carlsen.M		2835	Kramnik.V		2777	1/,-1/,	56	C00	Tata Steel-A 81st	15
<	_			>	_	<											>
Search	: Kramni	k				Tourname	ents										• ×
														100%			

Type the first letters of a player into Search below the list to find a player.

Right-click a player to get the following menu:

Text	Games	Players	Tourn	aments	Annotato	or So	urces	Teams	Game		
Last nan	ne	First N	lame	Total	Elo		Title	m/w	Cou.		
Kortsc	hnoj	\ /:1-4 D	-	7 1 	2400		CNA	 Charact	w 🎴		
Korzu	bov	Prep	are aga	inst whi	te			Strg+	w		
Kostay	iolas	Prep	are aga	inst Blac	k			Strg+	B		
Kouat	lv	Sear	ch whit	e games		Umsc	halt+S	trg+Alt+	w		
Kozul		Sear	ch blacl	c games		Ums	chalt+	Strg+Alt+	-В		
Krabb	e	ID-C	ID-Card Strg+Alt+B								
Kramr	nik	Doss	Dossier Strg+D								
Kraser	nkow	Play	Player statistic								
•		Imp	Improve Player Names								
Search:		Edit							F2		
		Dala									
Joeard	11101 31	Dele	te					Er			
Searc	h for si	Cho	ose Fon	t							
] Searc	h for si	Clos	e					Alt+	F4		
] Same	players			-	This	nives	vou	only th	e whit		

Search White/Black

This gives you only the white or black games of the player.

ID-Card, Dossier

This calls up the <u>ID-Card</u> or generates a <u>Dossier</u> of the player.

Player statistic

This shows <u>statistics</u> of the player's games in the current database (opponents, results, openings).

▶ Edit

This allows you to edit the <u>player's name</u>. If there are a number of entries of the same player with different spellings mark them all with Crtl-click and use Edit to unify them. But be careful: if you include a different player by mistake you will not be able to find him again after you have changed the names.

Most of the above functions are also in the Tools and Edit menus.

See Player preparation by mouse click

You can close the games list or tournaments list panes by right-click close. To reopen them, use menu Window -> Panes. You can <u>rearrange</u> the window panes in the usual fashion with the splitter bars.

2.1.3.13 No games displayed in Player index

Problem: When clicking on the <u>Player</u>/<u>Tournament</u> tab no games are displayed in the right view for the corresponding <u>game list</u>.

If you are confronted with this problem it is recommended that you carry out maintenance on the database by executing an integrity test.

Select the database in the database window and select the menu **Maintenance** - **Integrity test**.



<u>Alternative</u>: Delete the <u>Search Booster</u> and create a new one.

2.1.3.14 Player preparation by mouse click

Apart from the <u>dossier</u> Chessbase 10 offers another way for you to prepare to play against a particular player.

Open the <u>player index</u> in a database list and select the player against whom you want to prepare yourself.

Right clicking on a player's name opens a context menu that offers amongst other things the options **Prepare against White** and **Prepare against Black**.

Ciocaltea	Victor 1476	GM m 📭
Ciocan	Prepare against White	Strg+W
Ciocanaru	Prepare against Black	Strg+B
Cioce	Search white games	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+W
Ciochina	Search black games	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+B
Cioffi	ID-Card	Stra+ Alt+ B
Cioglia	Dorrier	Stra+D
Ciola	Dissier	Sug+D
Ciolac	Player statistic	
Ciolek	Improve Player Names	
Ciolek	Edit	F2
Ciolek	Clip or Unclip	F5
Cioltea	Delete	Entf
•	Choose Font	
Search: Ci	Close	Alt+F4

The same information is displayed as in the <u>Opening Reference</u>. The contents of the display have to do with the white and black repertoires of the selected player.

2.1.3.15 Tournament index

List window: Click Tournament tab

Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Game Tag	g Text title	es Analysis	World	Openings							
Title				Place		Touri ^	Games											▼ ×
Mosco	ow <mark>n</mark> ero	oflot op	-A	Mosco	w	17.C	Number	White		Elo W	Black	E	Elo B	Result	Moves	ECO	Tournamer	nt ^
Mosco	ow al I	Vemoria	al 1st	Mosco	w	06.1	1322	Berkes,F		2602	Carlsen,M	2	484	1-0	60	E61	Moscow A	Aer
Mosco	ow ¹ al I	Vemoria	al 2nd	Mosco	w	10.1	1323	Carlsen,	М	2484	Yakovich,Y	2	591	1-0	37	B80	Moscow A	Aer
Wch E	Blitz 2nd	1		Mosco	w	21.1	1325	Carlsen,	М	2484	Rustemov,A	2	585	1/2-1/2	22	C02	Moscow A	Aer ⊻
Mosco	ow ¹ al I	Memoria	al Blitz	Mosco	w	29.C	Players						-					v x
Mosco	ow ¹ al I	Vemori	al 4th	Mosco	w	05.1 🗸	Last name	2	First Name	Total	Elo	Title	m/w	Coun	Native	Ph	Born	^
< Search:	Mosco					>	Carlcon «		Мадрик	1565	2 29/15	cwc	m	-			1000	>
													1	00%				1.4

The tournament index window has three panes. You can switch off e.g. the players pane with right-click -> Close. To resize or rearrange the player and games list pane, use the mouse on the splitter bars.

Full text search in the Tournament list is possible

Right-click a tournament to get the following menu:

Cross Table Improve	т
Edit	F2
Clip or Unclip	F5
Delete	Entf
Choose Font	
Close	Alt+F4
Show Map	М

Cross Table

This produces a <u>tournament table</u> of the selected tournament.

Clip or Unclip

Copies the games from the selected tournaments to the <u>clip database</u>.

Improve

Automatically completes tournament data like category and number of rounds if they are missing.

Delete

Marks all games from the selected tournaments as deleted.

▶ Edit

This allows you to edit the <u>tournament data</u>. If there are a number of entries of the same tournament with different spellings mark them all with Crtl-click and use Edit to unify them. But be careful: if you include a different tournament by mistake you will not be able to find it easily after you have changed the name.

Show Map

Display the Location of the Tournament on the World Map

You can copy a tournament by <u>Drag & Drop</u> with the mouse to another database.

2.1.3.16 Full text search in the Tournament list

For instance, type "Candidates 1953", "Bonn 2006" or "Linares".

File	Home Stat	istics Game	s Players	Opening Keys	Vi	ew									۲
Paste	Delete Copy Clip or Unclip Clipboard	Full Gam Segoe UI First	e Header 15 0 Derties	Board Filte	r E	dit Game Data Edit	ne Cros Table	s Next e Tournament							
Text	Games Players	Tournaments	Annotator Sou	rces Teams O	penin	gs									
Title		Place	Date	Туре	Nati	Games	_		_						- 💌 🔛
Bonn	Man-Machine	Bonn	25.11.2006	match		White	Elo W	Black	Elo	BR	esult	Year	Tourna	ment	
Lisbor	nne CEAX op 1st	t Lisbonne	10.03.2006	open	5	Report				Т	ext		Bonn M	an-Ma	chi.
						Comp Deep		Kramnik, V	275	0 7	2-1/2	2006	Bonn M	an-Ma	chi.
						Comp Deep		Kramnik, V	275	0 1	-0	2006	Bonn M	an-Ma	chi.
						Comp Deep		Kramnik, V	275	0 1	-0	2006	Bonn M	an-Ma	chi.
						Kramnik, V	2750	Comp Deep	o F	4	2-1/2	2006	Bonn M	an-Ma	chi.
						Kramnik,V	2750	Comp Deep) F	4	2-1/2	2006	Bonn M	an-Ma	chL.
						Kramnik, V	2750	Comp Deep) F	7	2-72	2006	Bonn M	an-Ma	cni.
						-									
						Players									- 🖬
						Last name	First Nan	ne Total	Elo	Title	m/w	Cou	Native	Ph	Born
						Kramnik	Vladim	ir 2026			m				
						Comp Deep Fr.		6							
						and a second second		2							
-															
Search:	Bonn 2006					₹									÷
2610MB	3									1	100%				

Only a second after finishing typing the search begins automatically.

2.1.3.17 Annotator index

List window: Click **Annotator** tab

Tex	t (Games	Players	Т	ourname	ents	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Game 1	Tag Text titles	Analysis	World	Opening	js						
Last	name					^	Games													•	x
Ad	ams						Number \	Nhite		Elo W	Black		Elo B	Result	Moves	ECO	Tournament		Date	VCS	^
Ad	hibar	1					1680 (Carlsen,N	1	2835	Caruana, F		2832	1/2-1/2	35	A29	World-ch Carls	en-Car	13.11.2018	RCS	<u>[</u>
An	and						34 (Carlsen,N	1	2835	Caruana,F		2832	1/2-1/2	35	A29	World-ch Carls	en-Car	13.11.2018	RCS	×
Arc	onian						<													>	
Δtl	ac						Tournamen	ts												•	×
	rukh					, F	Count	Tit	le		Place	Tourn	ament	Туре	Nation	Cat	Rounds	C	Coordinates	Т	burr
<	UKI				>	Ť	2	W	/orld-ch	Carls	London	09.1	1.2018	Match	215		12	0	53.2046 N, C		
Sear	rch:						<														>

The annotator is entered in the <u>save mask</u> when you save or replace a game. If you yourself add commentary to a game that was not previously annotated, ChessBase will automatically insert <u>your name</u> as the annotator in the save mask.

2.1.3.18 Source index

130

List window: Click **Source** tab

Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Game Tit	le C	penings	Themes	Tactics	Strategy	Endgames			
Title		Pub	lisher	Publicatio	on Da	ate	Versi	• •	Games							▼ ×
EXT 2	018	Che	essBase	13.10.20	17 13	3.10.201	71		Number	r	White		Elo W	BI	lack	-
CBM	180 Extr	a Che	essBase	06.10.20	17 06	5.10.201	71		707909	92	Bartme	yer,J	1691	Ka	atscher,G	
CBM	180	Che	essBase	13.09.20	17 13	3.09.201	71		707909	93	Camarg	o,L	1730	0	liveira,C	1
CBM	179 Extr	a Che	essBase	23.08.20)17 23	08 201	7 1		707909	94	Da Cun	ha,P	1495	М	oraes Silva,	C 1
CBM	170	Che	ascBase	12 07 20	17 13	07 201	7 1		707909	95	Da Silva	,J	1872	La	bussiere,Y	_1
CDIVI	175	Cit	2330430	12.07.20	17 12		/ <u>1</u>		707909	96	De Bork	oa,G	1888	G	oncalves,O	1
CRW	1/8 Extr	a Che	essBase	22.06.20)1/ 22	2.06.201	/ 1		707909	97	De Bort	oa,G	2232	Pe	eroza,E	1
CBM	178	Che	essBase	14.05.20	17 14	1.05.201	71		707909	98	De God	oy,S		Ce	ezar,R	1
CBM	177 Extr	a Che	essBase	27.04.20	17 27	7.04.201	71		707909	99	De Olive	eira,G	1868	M	arcolino,M	1
CBM	177	Che	essBase	16.03.20	17 16	5.03.201	71		707910	00	De Olive	eira,W	1800	Ca	aetano,R	1
CBM	176 Extr	a Che	essBase	02 03 20	17 02	03 201	7 1		707910)1	Do Valle	e Card	1929	H	errera,J	1
CDNA	170 EAU		D	17.01.00	17 1-	100.201	, <u> </u>		707910)2	Frois,V		2011	Ta	anide,G	1
I CRW	1/0	Che	essbase	17.01.20	1/ 1/	.01.201	/ 1		707010	12	Havach	i K	1500	Δ	lmaida G	

Any game may contain information on its <u>source</u>, i.e. the place where it was originally published. The source index lists all sources in alphabetical order.

2.1.3.19 Teams index

List window: Click **Teams** tab

File Home Statistics Games Players	Oper	ning Keys View										۲
Image: Delete Image: Delete Image: Delete Image: Delete Image: Delete Image: Delete Image:	Boa Boa	rd Filter List Da	Goto Game Edit	t All Line Cre Tal	oss ble To Tourna	Next urnament ments	Activate/o Fritzt Acti	deactivate rainer vate	e			
Text Games Players Tournaments Annotator Sou	rces	Players	Openings									- ■
Texas Tech II 2012	-	Last name	First Name	Total	Elo	Title	m/w (Cou	Native Ph	Born	Died	d
Texas Tech III 2012		Meier	Georg	1039	2465	GM	m	•	-	1990		Е
Texas Tech Knight Ra 2013		Moradiabadi	Elshan	789	2496	GM	m	0		1988		Е
Texas Tech Univ 2011		Bykhovsky	Anatoly	366	2647	GM	m	-	3	1987		З
Texas Tech Univ 2012	1	Diamant	Andre	655	2568	GM	m		1	1985		2
Thailand 1976		Boros	Denes	943	2470	GM	m			1988		1
Thailand 1977												
Thailand 1979												
Thailand 1980		Games										- 🖻
Thailand 1981		White	Elo W Wh	ite Team	E	Black	E	lo B I	Black Team	Result	Mo	Tourr ^
Thailand 1982		Bykhovsky,A	2532 Tex	as Tech Ur	niv F	losenberg	g,E 2:	161 1	New York Univ	1-0	37	USA-c
Thailand 1984		Cameron,K	Nev	v York Uni	V. B	Boros, D	24	487 1	Texas Tech Un	iv 0-1	43	USA-(
Thailand 1986	-	Diamant,A	2504 Tex	as Tech Ur	niv F	oisor, S	2:	361 M	Varyland BC U	10 1/ 1/	48	USA-(
<	•	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	2 104 199	as tern tir	10	11 II.		1999 I	anas (r) - Z0	17 79-79	1/	•
Search:												
									100%			

This displays a list of all games which were played by the members of a team.

When a team championship game is entered this is specified in the <u>save mask</u>. If all the team championship games are correctly specified and have the same tournament name then a correct <u>tournament table</u> can be generated in the <u>tournament index</u>.

2.1.3.20 Endgame keys

List window: Click **Endgame** tab.

Note: Theme keys are only available optionally. Searching for <u>similar endgames</u> or <u>similar structures</u> is more precise and delivers much more exact results.

Notation	📝 Always Promote To Queen	Mark Move With Arrow
Engines	Rightclick Retracts	Mouse Wheel executes moves
Folders	Register as PGN Reader	
Limits	Announce moves	
Tablebases	Board sounds	
Clipboard	Evaluation sounds	
Encyclopedia	Engine load sounds	
Misc	Show opening	
User	Game History	Save Last Game in CloudClip
Design	🔽 Use 'Theme Keys'	
Language		

Theme keys are only available <u>optionally</u>. Searching for similar endgames or similar structures is more precise and delivers much more exact results.

The endgame key is like any <u>theme key</u>, in which each entry is defined by the <u>search</u> <u>mask</u>. The contents of the endgame key are generally devoted to the different material configurations and the different tactical and strategic motifs found in the endgame.

- 	ick Board 🗧	Mega Databas	e 2014	_	_		-	-		-		×
File Ho	me Stati	stics Games	Players	Opening K	eys View							0
Paste	lete py p or Unclip ard	Search Res Segoe UI First Prope	sult • • 13 • o (* erties	Board Board	Filter List Filter	Come Select All Game Edit	Cross Ney Table Tourna	t Activ ment f	zate/deac ritztrain Activate	tivate er		
Text Game	s Players	Tournaments	Annotator Sc	ources Team	ns Game title	e Openings Themes	Tactics Strat	egy Endga	mes			
⊞·A		Pawn Endi	ngs		Bauerne	ndspiele					347054	~
		Pure Rook	. Endings		Reine T	urmendspiele					1111276	
. ≝ :	∆/∕⊇/⊉	Rook vs.	. Other P	ieces	Gemisc	hte Turmendsp	iele				386122	
		Rook and	d Minor P	iece	Turm u	nd Leichtfigu	r				1741755	
		Two rooks	3		Zwei Tü	irme					434209	Ξ
		Pure Quee	en Ending	13	Reine I	Damenendspiele					181265	
	∆/④/盒/	🗄 Queen v	s. Other	Pieces	Gemiso	chte Damenends	spiele				205516	
⊕ 世食/世纪,	/ 12	Queen a	and One P	iece	Dame	und Figur					342981	
⊕ 42/2		One Mino	r Piece		Eine L	eichtfigur					1025619	
🗄 ଶକ/ ଶଛ	/ <u>@@</u>	Two Mi	nor Piece	3	Zwei	Leichtfigure	1				256384	-
Games												- 🖂
White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result Y	ear	Notation		VCS EC	о т	Annotator		
												_
										100%		
										-		

• If you load a game from an endgame key the program will jump to the position that led to the match (if that is possible).

See also Endgame Classification

2.1.3.21 Strategy key

List window: Click Strategy tab.

The strategy key is like any <u>theme key</u>, in which each entry is defined by the <u>search</u> <u>mask</u>. The contents of the strategy key generally concern pawn structures and strategic ideas.

Theme keys are only available optionally.

File Home Statistics Games Players Oper	ing Keys View	0
Image: Delete Image: Delete Image: Delete Image: Delete Paste Copy Segoe UI 13 Paste Clipboard First 0 Clipboard Properties Boa	d Filter Edit Game title Openeing Therese Tournament	
Text Games Players Fournaments Annotator Sources	reans vane due openings mentes racios ordegy Endganes	
🕀 Pawn Structures / Bauerns	trukturen	502874
Material Allocation / Materia	lverteilung	4298845
Typical piece behavior / Typisch	es Figurenverhalten	515017
King's positions / Königsp	ositionen	1089594
Uutpost / Vorpost	en	215315
Medals to strategy / Medaill	en zur Strategie	4178
Symbols / Symbole		23948
Text Comments strategy / Textkom	mentare Strategie	29780
Winning strategies / Gewinns	trategien	28530
Games		▼ 🖪
White Elo W Black Elo B Result	Year Notation VCS ECO T Annotator	
	100% 💻	

• If you load a game from a strategy key the program will jump to the position that led to the match (if that is possible).

2.1.3.22 Tactics key

List window: Click **Tactics** tab.

Theme keys are only available optionally.

The tactics key is like any <u>theme key</u>, in which each entry is defined by the <u>search</u> <u>mask</u>. The contents of the tactics key generally concern sacrifices combined with positional fragments and manoeuvres.

Fil-				2	a : "	15				6
Pile Paste Text	Home Delete Copy Clip or U Clipboard Games P	Unclip	tics Games Cournered Games Cournered Games	Players	Board Filter Board Filter rces Teams Gar	View Select All Edit Game Data Edit Edit Edit Copenings Themes	Cross Next Table Tournament Tournaments Tactics Strategy 1	Activate/deactiva Fritztrainer Activate	te	
 	tack fence Medal de Text com dals tac xtcommen aining q	efence mment ctical nts ta questi	e defence ctic .ons	 	Angriff Verteidigu / Medaille / Textkomme Medaillen Textkommen Trainingsf	ng Verteidigung ntar Verteidigung taktisch tare Taktik ragen	r.			28108 6051 945 5106 5098 17071 3732
Games White		Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result Year	Notation	VCS	ECO T A	nnotator	
									1000/	

• If you load a game from a tactics key the program will jump to the position that led to the match (if that is possible).

2.1.3.23 Theme keys

List Window - Themes

Theme keys are only available optionally.

ChessBase has two main methods for accessing a database. On the one hand the search mask offers you a flexible method of searching by various criteria; on the other the keys (openings, players, endgame, etc.) give you a structured means of access which has the additional advantage of being virtually instantaneous.

File Home Statisti	cs Games Play	ers Opening Keys	View			(0
Clipboard E	Search Result	Board Filter	Edit Game Edit Game Data	Cross Next Table Tournament Tournaments	Activate/deactivate Fritztrainer Activate		
Text Games Players To	ournaments Annotato	r Sources Teams Ga	me title Openings Themes	Tactics Strategy	ndgames		
🕀 Quick wins until	. 20 moves	/ Schnelle	Siege bis 20 Züg	8		225559	•
🗄 Sea snakes >= 99	moves	/ Seeschla	ngen >= 99 Züge			16618	
Brilliant moves		/ Brillant	e Züge			9457	
🗄 Blunder		/ Grobe Pa	tzer			22718	Ξ
• Stalemate		/ Patt				4644	
Hitting successi	on 10x	/ Schlagfo	lgen 10x			115	
Critical opening	positions	/ Kritisch	e Eröffnungsstell	ungen		6189	
. Critical middleg	ame positions	/ Kritisch	e Mittelspielstel	lungen		5390	
Piece path	-	/ Figurenp	fad	-		1559	
Medals		/ Medaille	n			5916	-
: Comer			**********			_	
Games	Dia da El	D Develo Vere	Matalian	1/65	FCO T Associates	•	
White Elo W	Black Ele	D B Result Year	INOTATION	VCS	ECO I Annotator		
							_
					100%		(

The theme key of ChessBase combines both methods. A key is defined by the contents of the <u>search mask</u>, and this definition is permanently stored with the key.

So the key can be used to classify new games or even a completely different database.

The <u>classification keys</u> for themes, strategy, tactics and endgames can all be viewed by clicking tabs in the <u>list window</u>. When you <u>classify a database</u> each game is examined to see whether it matches all the search criteria in the theme keys.

✤ If you right-click an entry in a theme key and select Edit (F2) you will get the search mask that defines the key. You can change it to modify the criteria for games to be classified into that key.

✤ If you load a game from a theme key the program will jump to the position that led to the match (if that is possible).

I want to transfer a thematic classification key that I have created myself to another database.

Unfortunately, this only works with opening keys. The "Transfer" option cannot be selected from the thematic key context menu. Transfers don't work for any other keys (other than <u>opening keys</u>). The program does <u>not support the transfer of thematic keys</u>.

2.1.3.24 Endgame Classification

There is a new menu "Endgames" under the Games option in the database window.

This adds an endgame classification to the games in a database.

The endgame key can be found in the folder "Documents \ ChessBase \ Key".

The classification is not entered in the key, but in the game itself. There is a new column "Endgame", in which the longest endgame in the list can be seen, for instance RB-RN. This column can also be sorted.

The classification is used in the openings overview and in the player report. There is a new item called "*Endgames*":

The most common endgames in the list of games is displayed, as well as the deviation as a percentage from the games in the reference database.

Apart from this the deviation from the lengths of the endgames in the reference database is displayed.

RB-RN (+8.9) means that the endgame RB-RN occurs about 9% more often than in the complete database.

This is an indication of factors such as a certain opening position leading to a particular endgame, or a player preferring a particular endgame.

2.1.3.25 New Index

When a game is saved a description text can be added to it, dependent on the default language. The dialog has been extended to take this into account.

Under the "Game Title" the text and the language in which it is to be displayed are input.

Players and Result	Annotator and Teams	Extended Rating	Game title	
English	*	?		
Critical Tactic po	sitions in my games!			
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> anc	el <u>H</u>	lelp

These texts can be used to quickly find certain types of games. The texts that you have created are listed in the game index and player index to reference games.

These texts are displayed when you click on the button "*Special Titles*" in the menu *Player - Games - Tournament Index*. This gives you the possibility to freely classify games however you want without having to access them via the player names. This gives you another way to quickly access games of a specific type.

Text Games Players Tournaments Annotator S	Sources Teams	; Game title
Title	Count	
Positional Motives with Isolani!		
Tactical Games with Isolani!	1	

T .	6		· · · ·				Condertitel	
Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Sondertiter	Openings
Title								Count
Kompl	exes Po	sitions	spiel mit Isola	ani!				3
Matt i	n 2							1
Meine	Lieblin	gsvaria	nte. Führt zu	scharfem	Spiel.			1
Bad po	ositiona	I Play a	gainst isolate	ed Pawn				1
Critica	l Tactic	positio	ns in my gan	nes!				1
Good	Endgar	nes!						1

Double clicking on a text entry opens a game list with the games that have this text description. Typical examples are "Mate in 3" or the difficulty level of training examples.

The new index is excellent for the easy classification and access of games which might be very difficult to filter with other options.

Tip: In the dialog there is a small question mark next to the pull down menu for the language selection. This makes it easy to be consistent in the way you describe the classifications.

Clicking on the question mark opens the dialog "Game Title".



Now choose the appropriate classification text and confirm it with OK. The game is now classified, and you can easily find it in the index because the text has been written consistently.

2.1.4 Dialog Boxes

2.1.4.1 Search mask

2.1.4.1.1 Interactive search mask

A ChessBase database can contain several million games. Our <u>MegaDatabase</u> contains about 10 million games, many played by top players, but also by amateurs. Thus these databases offer an enormous fundus concerning openings, player biographies and in principle a complete overview of tournament chess! In order to evaluate this amount of data in a meaningful way, there is already since the first versions of the program a sophisticated search mask, which allows the user a targeted evaluation of the data material.

Note: the search mask works in its complete functionality in combination with databases, which are stored locally on the hard disk.

The present program version offers with the *Interactive Search Mask* an even easier to use tool for searching within one or more databases. When compiling the available search parameters, we have taken into account the search criteria <u>preferred by most users</u>.

As in the <u>classic search mask</u>, the search criteria can be combined.

Progress			
Good games			
E	veryone	\triangleright	Any Date
Any S	itrength	0	Any Opening
(P) Ar	ny Event		Any Position
Any I	Material	5	Reset
Always advanced dialog			
	Advan	oced	

Note: the functionally <u>extended search mask</u>, which you know from the earlier program versions, can be started by clicking on the "*Advanced*" button. Interactive indicates that information about the expected number of games is already offered before the actual search process. Make sure that the database to be searched is in the <u>current data format</u> *.2cbh.

The important search criteria *player*, *tournament*, *ECO*, *material* and *position* are offered. Let's have a look at some examples how the interactive search mask <u>works</u>.

2.1.4.1.2 Interactive search mask-Everyone

The player search works differently from the old search: If you enter "*Caru*" under player, the classic search mask finds games by "*Carucci*", "*Caruso*" and "*Caruana*".

With the new search mask, a selection list of the players stored in the database appears:

Players	
Player	Caru Opponent
Players	Caruana, Fabiano Caruso, Augusto Scripcaru, George Danie Caruso, Daniele Pla Carulla, Joaquim Caruso, Tomas Caruana Pulpan, Oana Cojocaru, Alexandra Prisacaru, Stefan Emiliar Cojocaru, Bogdan
Result	
□ 1-0	
0-1	
□ 1/2	

If you simply click OK, the first player in the list (the one(s) with the highest number of games) will be taken. Of course, you can also specify the opponent in the search. The procedure is identical.

Player	Caruana, Fabiano Opponent	Carlsen, Magnus
Players	Caruana, Fabiano 🔺 Opponents	Carlsen, Magnus 🔷
- /	Caruso, Augusto	Carlstedt, Jonathan
	Scripcaru, George Danie	Carlsson, Pontus
	Caruso, Daniele	Carlier, Bruno
	Pla Carulla, Joaquim	Carlsson, Ludvig
	Caruso, Tomas	Carlhammar, Magnus
	Caruana Pulpan, Oana	Carls, Carl Johan Margo
	Cojocaru, Alexandra	Carleton, John Joseph
	Prisacaru, Stefan Emiliar	Carlsten, Peter
	Cojocaru, Bogdan 🔻	Carlsen, Ellen Oen 🔻

In addition, you can perform filtering by result in the subdialog.

140	ChessBase 17	
	Search filter	
	Finished searching : 53 found]
	Good games	
	8	Caruana - Carlsen(1/2)

2.1.4.1.3 Interactive search mask-Any Strength

In the dialog you can limit the Elo range for the search.

Set Filter by elo	×
Rating	
🗹 Enable	
From	2400 ÷ 3000 ÷

The example in the figure limits the search to players in the database who have a rating in this range.

2.1.4.1.4 Interactive search mask-Any Opening

With this you search/define games from an interval of opening classifications by $\underline{\text{ECO}}$ code.

Player	Caruana, Fabiano Opponent	Carlsen, Magnus
P <u>l</u> ayers	Caruana, Fabiano 🔺 Opponents	Carlsen, Magnus 🔷 🔺
	Caruso, Augusto	Carlstedt, Jonathan
	Scripcaru, George Danie	Carlsson, Pontus
	Caruso, Daniele	Carlier, Bruno
	Pla Carulla, Joaquim	Carlsson, Ludvig
	Caruso, Tomas	Carlhammar, Magnus
	Caruana Pulpan, Oana	Carls, Carl Johan Margo
	Cojocaru, Alexandra	Carleton, John Joseph
	Prisacaru, Stefan Emiliar	Carlsten, Peter
	Cojocaru, Bogdan 🔻	Carlsen, Ellen Oen 🔻

Either you select the ECO code from the named list or alternatively you type the ECO code directly into the input line.

2.1.4.1.5 Interactive search mask-Any Event

Searching for tournaments works differently.

For example, if you select a tournament specifically, only the games of this tournament will be considered. If you leave the tournament field empty and enter a location, the search will refer to all tournaments played in that location.

Set Filter by tournament						
Tournament	Please start typing	Please start typing				
Place	Hastings					
Title	Place	Year				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 95th	Hastings	2019				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 94th	Hastings	2018				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 93rd	Hastings	2017				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 92nd	Hastings	2016				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 91st	Hastings	2015				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 90th	Hastings	2014				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 89th	Hastings	2013				
Hastings Heroes Day	Hastings	2013				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 88th	Hastings	2012				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 87th	Hastings	2011				
🚺 Umada Cup	Hastings	2011				
🛨 Hastings Masters op 86th	Hastings	2010				

<u>Tip</u>: The column sorting in the dialog can be used to sort by the criteria title, location and year.

2.1.4.1.6 Interactive search mask-Any Position

This powerful search option in combination with the new data format offers an especially easy way to find games with predefined positional motifs. The dialog Build position is started and you can simply enter a certain material constellation by setting the pieces.

Please read also Position Setup



Example heterogeneous castling with bishop sacrifice on h7.

In the right part of the window, all games in the database are listed in which this constellation has occurred.

											User Interface 143
Ï					Ï	Ż			*	Castling White 0-0	723 <u>G</u> ames 1882: Winawer,Sz - Meitner,Ph 1919: Spielmann Ru, Haralds Co
			<u>è</u>		1		(+) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*	w v	Ŵ	Black 0-0	1933: Fartakower,Sa – Lilienthal,An 1937: Raud,II – Schmidt,Pa 1950: Heikinheimo,Ha – Kongshavn,Ha
										Side to move	1950: Richter, Ku - Darga, Kl 1951: Schurter, Th Ethere, Ru 1954: Boleslavsky, Is - Geller, Ef 1956: Ciocaltea VI - Refir, Jo
				2					ģ	 <u>₩</u>hite <u>B</u>lack 	1956: lvkov,Bo - Taimanov,Ma 1956: Lengyel,Le - Liebert,He 1956: Prins,Lo - Cuellar Gacharna,Mi
											1957: Mnatsakanian,Ed - Suetin,Al 1958: Lehmann,He - Nikolic,St 1960: Raisa,Un - Doda,Zb 1963: Eiccher Ro - Benko Pa
		\mathcal{D}				-		8	•		1965: Garcia Martinez, Si - Burgener, F 1967: Chistiakov, Al - Goldin, VI 1968: Wibe, Te - Benitez, Fr
2	2	2				2	2	White -> Pla			1969: Diez del Corral, Je - Parma, Br 1971: Josteinsson, Le - Buason, Gu 1973: Burns Ro - Hill A
		Ż	Ï				Ï	King<->Que	en	Copy <u>E</u> EN	1973: Calvo Minguez, Ri - Gheorghiu, Fl 1973: Wavrenchuk, S - Malbran, Gu 1975: Eretova Ky - Kluss Ch

By clicking on a list entry you can easily extend the search criteria. On the board always the first game constellation is built, in which the search criterion occurred.

On the input board you can further refine or change the search criterion by removing or repositioning the pieces.

2.1.4.1.7 Interactive search mask-Any Material

Here you can search for specific material distributions/constellations.

Simply place the pieces you want to search for on the board.

Set Filter by material			
		¥ 🖄 🛓	2 2
,ĝ,	-	¥ 🆄 🛓	
8 8 8	***	Endgame	Ŧ
-în	-1-	Clear	Take board
16848 Games	≝.	Any number of pawns	

The example below filters all games from the database in which there was a knight-

(black)-bishop(white) endgame and there were three pawns on each side.

Below the input board you will find the number of games with the search criterion.

"*Any number of pawns*" means that only after the piece constellation is performed regardless of the number of pawns per side.

Under "*Endgame*" you can directly select from a list of special eye-catching endgame constellations.

2.1.4.1.8 Interactive search mask-Other Options

Reset

With this you delete previously made search criteria.

Good games

This makes an automated preselection regarding the quality of the displayed games. For example, the function only considers games in which at least one player was the holder of an IM / GM title and no blitz, rapid chess or simultaneous games are considered for the evaluation. Short draws under 20 moves are also not considered.

Always advanced dialog

This option hides the interactive search mask and takes you directly to the extended search mask.

2.1.4.1.9 Search mask

The *search mask* is used to retrieve games that match some specific criteria. It is a filter that allows games which fit the criteria to pass and appear in the list, while others are held back.

There are two different applications of the search mask. One applies to a games list and the other to one or more databases in the database window. Both searches can be started with *Ctrl-F*.

The first step is to start the interactive search mask. You can get to the more detailed view by clicking on "*Advanced*".

If you want to use the advanced mask permanently, put a check mark behind "Always advanced dialog".
		User Interface	145
((<u>)</u>)	Any Event	Any	/ Position
Å A	ny Material	,	Reset
Always advanced dialog			
	Advanced		

This produces a search mask with a number of tabs.

Game data	Annotations	Position	Medals	Material	Manoeuvres	Attacks		
White:							Wins only	
Tournamer Annotator:	nt:				Elo	-	3500 -	
Vear: ECO:	2 A :: 0	A00	2020 E99/	0.11 /99	None Differen Result	nce	0 •	
In Reper No	toire O W	/hite C	Black		1-0 Mate Text	0-1 St	alem.	L 0-0 Check es
Any Text					Not		Reset	
Time Co	ontrol		v		○ Rapid		⊖ Blitz	
🗌 Game da	ata 🛄 /	Annotations nclude lines	in searc	osition h	Material	M	anoeuvres	Medals
		Filter activ Always adva	/ated nced dia	log	l	oad		Save

• Game data

Search for players, tournaments, years, results, etc.

Annotations

Search for different types of commentary contained in games.

Position

Search for positional fragments, themes and sacrifices.

Material

Seach for material distribution and balance.

Manoeuvres

Search for manoeuvres.

Medals

Search for medals.

Attacks

In addition to the search for manoeuvres and material constellations, in any database the program can conduct a targeted search for pre-defined defensive – or attacking – motifs. In the search mask you can define the search criteria you wish via the tab <code>Attacks</code>.

All of these sections are connected with a logical "and". This means that if a number of criteria are defined all of them must be fulfilled in order for a game to be retrieved. When there are definitions present in any section a check box at the bottom of the search mask is switched on. You can unclick it to switch off that section.

🔲 Game data	Annotations	Position	Material	Manoeuvres	Medals	
	🔲 Include lines i	n search	Attacks			

Include lines in search

Causes ChessBase to search not just in the main lines but also in the analysis contained in the games.

Reset

Clears all sections of the search mask completely.

Calling up the search mask

<u>Database window</u>: Click Ribbon Harddisk - Search games in - <u>Reference database</u>.
 Database window: Rightclick - a <u>database symbol</u>, Search.
 <u>List window</u>: Edit - Filter games.
 List window: Right-click list, Edit - Filter games.
 <u>Board window</u>: Rightclick Chess board - Find position in reference database.
 Board window: Rightclick Chess board - Edit - Find position in (selected database).

The program offers the option of permanently saving pre-defined searches and loading them again when required. Above all that saves a lot of time with frequently used searches and speeds up your work with the program.

Either start the games list of the database which is to be searched or right click on a database symbol - > Search. Define your search criteria.

Click in the search dialog on the "Save" button. The file dialog is now brought up via which you can save the settings for your search. The file extension for search files is ***.dbsearch**, the standard pathway to the saving of search criteria can be found in the sub-directory "SearchMask" in the user directory.

Take care than when choosing a <u>name for your search</u> that it is a meaningful one so

that when you have a lot of them it is easy to pick out the one you are looking for.

The program offers the option of permanently <u>saving pre-defined searches</u> and loading them again when required. Above all that saves a lot of time with frequently used searches and speeds up your work with the program.

Either start the games list of the database which is to be searched or right click on a database symbol - > Search. Define your search criteria.

Click in the search dialog on the "Save" button. The file dialog is now brought up via which you can save the settings for your search. The file extension for search files is *.dbsearch, the standard pathway to the saving of search criteria can be found in the sub-directory "SearchMask" in the user directory.

2.1.4.1.10 Search mask - Game data

Search mask, Game data.

Game data Annota	tions Position Medals Materia	l Manoeuvres Attacks
<u>W</u> hite: <u>B</u> lack:		. Wins only . Ignore colours
Tournament:		Ho
<u>A</u> nnotator:		None One Both Avg
□ <u>Y</u> ear:	2022 - 2022.11	Difference 0
<u>M</u> oves:	0 + - 22 +	Result □ <u>1</u> -0 □ <u>0</u> -1 □ ½½ □ 0-0
la Depetaire		Mate Stalemate Check
 No 	○ White ○ Black	☐ Text ☐ Good games ☐ Bea <u>u</u> tiful Games
Any Text		□ Not <u>R</u> eset
Ti <u>m</u> e Control ● All	O Slow	⊖ Rapid ⊖ Blitz
Game data	Annotations Position	Material Manoeuvres Medals Attacks

Search for players (White/Black)

- All games of Kasparov:
 - Type in White: "kasparov" or "kasp", leave Ignore colors on.
- White games by Kasparov:
- Type in "kasparov" or "kasp", switch Ignore colors off
- All games between Kasparov and Kramnik:
 - White = "kasparov", Black = "kramnik", switch Ignore colors on.
- White games of Kasparov against Kramnik:
 - White = "kasparov", Black = "kramnik", switch Ignore colors off.

You can use wildcards in the search, e.g. "H*bner" to retrieve both Hübner and Huebner, or "?ussup" if you are uncertain whether it is Yussupov, Jussupov or Jussupow.

Tournament

The search for tournaments and annotators is similar to the search for players. Here too, the search is case sensitive. If the <u>tournament data</u> contains the search string not in the title but in the place, the games will still be retrieved.

Elo

When you search for the games of players within a certain Elo range (e.g. "2600 - 2875'') you can also determine whether the average rating of both players, that of at least one player or the individual ratings of both players must lie within the given range.

Year

You get games from a particular year or period (e.g. "1997" – "2000").

ECO

This allows you to search for games from a specific $\underline{\text{ECO code}}$ – in conjunction with other criteria, for instance all D20 games played by Vishy Anand.

Moves

You can specify the minimum and maximum lengths of the games you wish to retrieve. This is usually combined with other criteria, e.g. all white games of a certain player that are less than 25 moves long, all short wins or draws.

Any Text

Find this text in any of the game data field, including tournament details, teams, etc.

Result

Click on any of the checkboxes to search for white wins, black wins, draws, games without result, mates, stalemates and games that ended with a check.

Mate, Stalemate, Check

All games in which the final position was mate (or there was a forced mate ahead); all games which ended in stalemate or with a check.

Chess training: Do a mate search on the latest issue of <u>ChessBase Magazine</u> or TWIC. In the <u>search result window</u> switch the <u>notation to training</u>. Use cursor down to put one game after another onto the screen. ChessBase will always jump to the position just before the forced mate, which you must try to find. In this way you can go through dozens or even hundreds of games in quick succession, sharpening your eye

for mating positions.

Difference

In the search mask the program offers the possibility of targeting your search on games played between a particularly strong player and an opponent with a drastically inferior rating.

Such searches can be carried out with the aid of the button "Difference" in the search mask. Let us assume you are interested in those games of Garry Kasparov which he played during his active career against players whose Elo rating was clearly much lower than his.

Text

All <u>database texts</u>.

Good Games

In the dialog for game search Chessbase 10 offers the parameter <u>"Good Games</u>". Using this parameter the results can be greatly be improved by considering the quality of the games in the list. For instance, this function only considers games in which at least one player has an Elo rating above 2350 or one player had an IM or GM title. This function excludes blitz, rapid and simultaneous games. It also excludes games with less than seven moves and drawn games with less than 20 moves.

Not

Find all games not matching the search criteria for game data.

In Repertoire

All games which contain lines from your openings repertoire (as defined in the <u>repertoire database</u>).

Reset

Remove all data from search mask.

One of the innovations of the program is the classification according to the criterion "beauty". The search mask can filter those lots from the database that are classified with this criterion.

Result	
<u> </u>	<u>0</u> -1 <u>½½</u> 0-0
Mate	Stalemate Check
□ Text	Good games
Not	Reset

2.1.4.1.11 Tip Search mask

Suppose you have a collection of games where the same name is spelt or recorded differently in a database, e.g. "Mueller" and "Müller". If you search for Müller's games as White by entering "M" under the first and last names (with "Ignore colours" active), then only the games where the player was recorded as "Mueller" are returned, or in which Black also had a name beginning with M.

This is due to the way that the program has been implemented - it operates on the assumption that players' names can only be composed of letters from A-Z and does not include other characters, such as umlauts other diacritics.

Solution: Use the * wildcard and enter "M*" instead of "M"

2.1.4.1.12 Search mask - Annotations

Game data	Annotations	Position 1	Medals	Material	Manoeuvre	s Attacks	
Text1:							hole word
Text2:							
Symbols				D	eleted		
	🗌 Posi	ion		960:	C)	
		JIS			ariations		
	Train	ing		Ar	ny text		
	Multi	media		A A	ny symbols		
	Paw	n structure		Cr	ritical Opening	Position	
	Piece	e path		🗌 Cr	ritical Middlega	ame Position	
				🗆 C i	ritical Endgam	e Position	

Search mask, Annotations.

Text1, Text2

You can enter two text strings, and ChessBase will retrieve all games in which either is contained. All variations and all languages are considered. "Whole word" will retrieve only games in which the word stands alone, i.e. "dramatic" will not find "dramatically".

Please note: If you only enter a blank character as Text1 ChessBase will retrieve all games that contain a lot of text commentary.

Symbols

Enter <u>commentary symbols</u> like "!!", "??", "+-", etc. and ChessBase will find all games

that contain these symbols. There are special <u>keyboard shortcuts</u> for entering commentary symbols.

Chess training: You can use this function to search for games with "!!". Set <u>Training</u> <u>notation</u> and move the cursor down the list in the <u>search result window</u>. Each game is displayed with the position before the brilliancy on the board. Try to find the brilliant move.

Deleted

Search for games marked for deletion.

Position

Search for games which start from an <u>entered position</u>.

• Other criteria

You can search for other criteria such as games which have coloured squares and arrows ("Colours"), training positions, multimedia elements, graphics commentary for pawn structure, piece paths, critical positions, games with <u>variations</u>, games with any <u>text commentary</u> and games with any <u>commentary symbols</u>.

2.1.4.1.13 Search mask - Manoeuvres

Search mask, Manoeuvres.

Quick-witted spotting of tactics is an important component of practical playing strength. The program offers a plethora of options for filtering out of a database games in which tactical motifs are present.

The program can find games containing all common combination motifs. This is part of the new and extended search. Just open the search mask, click "*Advanced*" and then the *Manoeuvres* tab, click on one of the motifs and hit Enter to start the search.

Game data	Annotations	Position	Medals	Material	Manoeuvres	Attacks	
-----------	-------------	----------	--------	----------	------------	---------	--

For targeted training in clearly defined tactical motifs there is a useful extension to the tab for *Manoeuvres* in the search mask.

Here you simply select by ticking the desired motif and after a click on OK the database is immediately searched for the tactical motif.



Tactics	
Pin	Double Attack
Skewer	Overworked Piece
Discovered Attack	Remove Defender
Deflection	Decoy
Trapped Piece	Zwischenzug
 Back Rank 	Clearance
Promotion	Demolition
X-Ray Attack	
Sacrifice	*

It jumps to the relevant position when you click any of the games. The program lists the relevant games in the window for Search result. A click on an entry in the list and the game is displayed on the board with the program "leaping" directly to the key position in the game with the tactical motif you were looking for.



This function offers above all to chess trainers a simple option for putting together appropriate instructional material. Alternatively it makes it possible for every user to search through his or her own games for these elementary tactical motifs.

The material and manoeuvre parts of the search mask were always a bit difficult to understand. Both have now been enhanced with a long list of samples, containing relevant motifs

153

Cancel

Manoeuvre	Position search
👹 Queen mates on f7	Black king on e8
🌲 Bishop sacrifice on h7	
🌲 Lasker's double bishop sacrifice	
Black sacrifies the exchange on c3	White king on b1 or c1
4 Knight sacrifice on d5	Black king on e8, white rook on e1
🌲 Bishop sacrifice on b5	Black king on e8
Rook sacrifice on g7	
W Queen sacrifice on h8	
Rook double check	
W Queen decoys into fork	
-	

The Manoeuvre search finds specific sequences of moves. Unlike the position search it also looks for the starting squares of the pieces.

On the left of the input mask there is a list in which the moves of the manoeuvre appear. This is where you enter the individual moves (should the move order be respected, activate Check move order; should manoeuvres with pieces of the opposite colour be searched for, then e.g. B??xh7 to also find B??xh2, activate Mirror).

This function offers above all to chess trainers a simple way to compile suitable teaching materials. Alternatively it allows every user to search through his or her own games for these elementary tactical motifs.

The definition of a manoeuvre is not always a trivial matter. The pre-defined motifs in the dialog box cover a great deal of ground and in addition the user is able to modify these.

With a click on the example you can load other pre-defined searches.

After your selection you will see in the dialog box specifically how the manoeuvre you have selected has been defined. This will help in the understanding of how to define search criteria.

Searching for manoeuvres retrieves sequences of moves. This is unlike the <u>position</u> <u>search</u> which provide a static picture and is insufficient when you interested in finding out how a certain position has come about. In addition, the manoeuvre search can be used to find a wide range of tactical motifs.

How to define a manoeuvre

OK

• **Colour:** The boxes W, B and WB select which side makes the move in question.

• Piece: The piece type is selected from the list of pieces that appears when you click the arrow down symbol. Use the question mark to denote an arbitrary piece.

▶ Squares: The start and destination square are given in long notation ("e2e4"). Use the question mark as a joker: For example, "?3?3" means any move along the third rank, "??h7" means from anywhere to h7. You must first delete a question mark before entering a number or a character in its place.

▶ Capture: If the check box between the squares and the destination piece is clicked on, then the move must be a capture. You can specify which piece is to be captured in the pull-down menu on the right. Once again "?" means any piece, and "0" means that the move only counts when it does not capture anything.

Promotion: You can specify whether the move should be a promotion and to what piece.

▶ Sacrifice: Click the "sacrifice" checkbox and give a material value (in pawn units) to find manoeuvres in which material was sacrificed for a certain period of time (this must be specified under "Length"). The program checks whether the moves defined won or lost material to the specified extent.

• Move window: This defines the area of the game in which the program is to search for the manoeuvre in question. The "length" value refers to the maximum number of ply (half-moves) in which the whole manoeuvre must occur.

• Check move order: In a manoeuvre over a number of moves you may or may not want to restrict the search to games in which the moves occurred in a specific order.

• Not: Switching this on will retrieve games in which the defined manoeuvre did not occur. Example: White promotes to a knight and Black does not capture it in the next five moves.

Examples

A. Kingside attack with Qg3/Qg4 and Bh6 wQ??g? wB??h6 Suggested move window settings: 5–40, length 8.

B. Knight manoeuvre f3-e1-c2-e3-d5 wNf3e1 wNe1c2 wNc2e3 wNe3d5 and perhaps also: b???d5xN wP??d5x? Suggested move window settings: 5-50, length 20.

C. Bishop sacrifice on f7 followed by knight check on g5 wB??f7xP bK??f7xB wN??g5 Suggested move window settings: 5-40, length 3. 2.1.4.1.14 Search mask - Material

Search mask, Material.

				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Game data	Annotations	Position	Medals	Material	Manoeuvres	Attacks	

Searching for pre-defined constellations of material has been simplified. In the search mask you define you define your search for specific distributions of material via the tab *Material*.

0 Ξ		● ■ 0	 ▲ - 0 ▲ ▼ - 0 ▲ ▼ - 0 ▲ 	✓ Ignore colours Difference Total
0 ن ا		● 0 ● 0		Opposite bishops <u>Even bishops</u>
<u>گ</u> 0	▲ - 8 ▲ ▼		▲ - 8 ▲ ▼	Good bishop Bad bishop
Minor 0 pieces	• 4 • • 8 •	Minor 0 pieces	▲ - 4 ▲ ▼ - 8 ▲	Blocked
Doubled	<u>D</u> oubled	Doubled	Doubled	Symmetric
Pas <u>s</u> ed	! Pas <u>s</u> ed ! Connected	Pas <u>s</u> ed	☐ ! Pas <u>s</u> ed ☐ ! Connected	☐ <u>B</u> oth wings ☐ One <u>w</u> ing
		Le <u>ng</u> t	th 1 🚔	<u>R</u> eset
Examples	Position	n Setup Las <u>t</u>	999	<u>A</u> ny pieces
				<u>N</u> o pieces

The search for material was and is an efficient tool, but in earlier versions the definition of the search parameters was in no way easy. Here CB 15 offers some functions which help to make this efficient tool simpler to use.

A click on *Examples* in the dialog box offers a selection of typical material constellations, which are frequently the object of searches:

Endgame		Туре
👻 🗒 🛓	- 🐨 🗷	
99 I & &	- 空兰本	Connected, Passed
99 I & &	- 曾王	Not connected
🖕 🎞 🙆 🖄	- 🗁 🗵	Doubled
🚖 🗒	- <u>* * * *</u>	Connected
🖕 🔔 🖄	- 空息	Even bishops
22 <u>2</u> <u>2</u> <u>2</u> <u>2</u>	- 空息	Opposite bishops
🖕 🏩 🖄	- 🗁 🖄	
🚖 🔔 🛆 🖄	- <u>*</u> 24±±±	Blocked,Bad bishop
🚖 🔔 🛆 🖄		Blocked, Good bishop
gg & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &		Both wings, Symmetric, Not blocked
🚖 🕗	- <u>*</u> ± ±	Connected
🚖 🖄		One wing
20 I I	- <u>*</u> 2 2 2 1 1	Both wings
🖕 🎬 🖄	- 🝲 👑	
🖕 🎬	- 空王	
🖕 🎬		
ab A A A		Connected, Passed

Let us take as an example the first entry for the distribution K+R +B – K+R. A double click on the entry and you will see the required parameters transferred into the <u>search</u> <u>mask</u>.



There is an important function for the button "Position setup". With it you start to set



up a position and simply enter the desired material constellation.

After inputting the position and OK you will also see the effects it has in the search dialog.



At any point you can make use of the additional parameters in the search dialog in order to fine-tune your search. The result of the search will be displayed in the window *Search result*. A click on a list or game entry loads the game immediately with the key position according to the search criteria in the board window.

	Search Re	sult					▼ ×
8	Restore	Game	Search Result				
7	Number	White	Black	Year	Result	Moves	Not ^
6	1	Lipschuetz,S	Marshall,F	1900	1-0	54	1.e4
	2	John,W	Exner,V	1902	1/2-1/2	60	1.e4
	3	Lewitt,M	Caro,H	1905	1/2-1/2	60	1.e4
4 🛓 🛛 🥶 🖓 🖓 🖓	4	Creyghton,J	Schapiro,M	1905	1-0	73	1.d4
3	5	Krticka,F	Adamec	1911	1/2-1/2	68	1.e4
	6	Alekhine,A	Manseau,C	1923	1-0	58	1.d4
	7	Marshall,F	Bigelow, H	1923	1-0	57	1.d4
	8	Nimzowitsch,A	Gruenfeld,E	1925	1-0	45	1.e3
ABCDEFGH	9	Banks,N	Marshall,F	1926	1-0	63	1.d4
	10	Maroczy,G	Landau,S	1930	1-0	53	1.d4
	11	Baratz,A	Thomas,G	1931	1/2-1/2	57	1.Sf:
	12	Schwartzman,P	Roodzant,C	1939	1/2-1/2	62	1.d4
	13	Filchev,R	Popov,V	1952	1/2-1/2	44	1.e4
	14	Kahn,M	Franz,J	1955	0-1	56	1.d4
	15	Ajanski, J	Bobekov, R	1955	0-1	53	1.d4 ⊻
	<						>
	Notation	+ Openings Book					▼ ×
		📓 🚺 Alekh	ine, Alexander - Mans	seau,C	1-0		
	50 e6	Sh7 51 Kf4 Kf8	52 Ke5 d4 53 Kyd4 I	Ke7 54	Kes St	f8 5510	5+

How to define material distribution

• The search for material distribution is usually used to look for specific endgame types. You can specify what material should be on the board. For each white or black piece you can set the minimum and maximum numbers that must appear on the board.

• "Any pieces" and "No pieces" are used to switch on or off all pieces without having to do this manually for each.

• If the range for white pawns is set at 0-8'' it does not matter how many white pawns are on the board. If it is set at 3-4'' only positions with at least three and at most four white pawns are retrieved. 1-1'' pieces means that exactly one piece of that kind must be present.

▶ "Ignore colors" allows you to search for material distributions with the colours reversed. If you have entered "Knight: 1-1" for White and "Bishop 1-1" for Black (and all the other piece values are set at zero) the "ignore colors" option means that the program will find endgames with a white knight against a black bishop, but also endgames with a white bishop against a black knight.

▶ You can include criteria like "Black has a pawn for the exchange" or "Queen against three minor pieces" by using the option "Difference". When you switch this on the values given for the black pieces have a different meaning. They denote the difference in material value between the white and black pieces.

Examples

- 1. Search for material imbalance in which Black has two or three pawns less:
 - Click "Any pieces" and then "Difference"

Enter a difference for black pawns: minus three to minus two.

Deactivate the "Ignore colour" option, otherwise you will also get games in which White was down by two or three pawns.

 Search for positions in which one side has a pawn for the exchange: Activate "Difference" White rooks: "1" - "2", difference: "-1" - "-1"

(one side has one or two rooks, the other a rook less).

White Bishops: 0^{\prime} – 2^{\prime} , difference: -1^{\prime} – $2^{\prime\prime}$

White bishops: 0^{-2} , difference: -1^{-2} (these two lines are not

- important and simply set upper limits for each minor piece type).
- White pawns: "0'' "8'', difference "1'' "1''
- (the side with a rook less has an extra pawn).

White minor pieces: "0'' - 4'', difference 1'' - 1''

(the side with a rook less has an extra minor piece).

These last two lines are crucial for defining "pawn for the exchange".

Other criteria

Doubled, passed and connected pawns

Under both the white and black material you can specify whether doubled, passed or connected pawns may or may not be present. "Doubled" means that doubled pawns must be present, "!Doubled" that they may not be present, i.e. a match will only occur if no doubled pawns (for that side) occurred during the game. The same applies for "! Passed" and "!Connect".

Opposite/Even bishops

Both sides have a single piece each on the different or same coloured squares.

Good bishop/Bad bishop

At least one bishop is present with a majority of the opponent's pawns on the same colour and a majority of its own pawns on the opposite colour squares. "Bad bishop" is the opposite. If you click on both the program will retrieve games in which one side had a good and the other a bad bishop.

Blocked/Not blocked

All pawns of one side are blocked. "Not blocked" means that a majority of the pawns are not blocked. If both are clicked on then at least two thirds of the pawns of one side must be blocked.

Symmetric/Not symmetric

Both White and Black have the same number of pawns on each file. "Not symmetric" means there is a difference on at least one file.

Both wings/One wing

There is at least one pawn on the queenside (a to d files) and one on the kingside (e to h). "One wing" means that all pawns are on one side only.

Length

The material balance must be on the board for at least n moves.

The definition of these criteria may not seem easy or immediately intuitive, but it is extremely flexible and allows you formulate a vast number of different kinds of material distribution.

160	ChessBase	17
-----	-----------	----

2.1.4.1.15 Search mask - Attacks

In addition to the search for manoeuvres and material constellations, in any database the program can conduct a targeted search for pre-defined defensive – or attacking – motifs.

In the search mask you can define the search criteria you wish via the tab Attacks .

Game data	Annotations	Position	Medals	Material	Mano	euvres Attacks		
Piec	e under attack	Atta	cked by			Defended by		
	p 🗸	¥	1	0	•	¥	0	•

An example of how to use this: you would like to find games in which the knight on c3 is attacked by a knight and a bishop; the knight which is under attack is to have the queen and a pawn to defend it.

n ∨ W 0 W 1 I 0 I I 0 I I I I 0 quare I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	
quare 0 € 2 0 0 € 2 0 0 € 0 0 € 0 0 € 0 1 € 0 1 € 0 1 € 0 1 € 1	-
uare 0 € 0 € 0 2 1 € 0 2 0 € 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	•
uare 2 1 ▲ 0 2 0 ↓ 1	•
Jare 0 ÷ ▲ 1	•
	•
	▲ ▼
Additional 0 Additional 0	•

The definition of these search criteria appears as follows in the dialog box:

In the box for the piece you specify the type of piece which is specifically "under fire ". In addition you can also determine the square on which that piece stands, in our example that would be c3.

As the next step you specify the types of piece which are attacking and defending and start the search with OK. As in all other searches the program displays all the

games which fulfil the search criteria. A click loads the game with the pre-defined position from the "*Search result*" window.

Hint: Be aware that in the box for selecting the piece the colour is defined by whether you use a capital or a small letter!

Piece	unde	er at	tack	
	n	~		
	p b		1	
	n q			
Square	r P			
	B N			
	Q R			
	N Q R			

Let us take a look at how the setting ``n'' (small letter) works out with our pre-defined example.

	Search Re	ult								▼ ×
	Restore	Game			Search	h Result				
	Number	White		Black		Year	Result	Moves	Notation	^
	10	Tihlarik,K		Lugo San	chez,M	1991	0-1	46	1.e4 c5 2.b4 cxb4 3.a3 S	f6 4.e5
6 🛓	11	Mora Martir	nez,L	Velasco (iarcia,J	1992	1-0	40	1.Sf3 c5 2.c4 Sf6 3.g3 d5	4.cxd
	12	Kaspereit,H		Mettendo	orf,G	1993	¥2-¥2	28	1.e4 c5 2.b4 cxb4 3.d4 d	6 4.Sf:
5	13	Tozer,R		Howell,J		1993	0-1	26	1.d4 d5 2.c4 dxc4 3.Sf3 e	:64.e3
	14	Hellborg,T		Bator, R		1996	0-1	59	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 c5 3.d5 b5	4.a4 C
	15	Finwiller B		Heinl T		1997	0-1	32	1.c4 Sf6 2.Sc3 a6 3.a3 La	17.4.1 e 🎽
3 2 2 3	<						<u> </u>			
	Notation ·	 Openings B 	ook							▼ ×
	Notation	Reference	Replay training	Plan Explo	orer Table	Score she	et Live	Book Oper	nings Book	
			Tibla	arik Kar	ol - Lugo	Sanch	ez May	rimo 0-	1	
A B C D E F G H				820 B	ratislava S	lovan o	n(8) 1	991	•	
	1.e4 c5 2.b4 cxb4 3.a3 Sf6 4.e5 Da5 5.Lb2 Sd5 6.Sf3 e6 7.Sd4 a6 8.Sb3 Dc						4 a6 8.Sb3 Dc7 9.	d4 —		
	Sc3 10.Lxc3 bxc3 11.Dd3 b5 12.Le2 Lb7 13.0-0 b4 14.axb4 Lxb4 15.Sa3 0-0 16.f4						ŧ 🚽			
	f5 17.Lf3 Lxf3 18.Txf3 Sc6 19.Sc4 a5 20.d5 Se7 21.d6 Da7+ 22.Kh1 Sd5 23.Scxa5						5			
	Db6 24	4.Sc4 Txa	a1+ 25.Sxa1	Da6 2	6.Sb3 Tc8	8 27.Sc	a5 Dxo	d3 28.Tx	d3 Lxa5 29.Sxa5	

All the games in the list do meet the chosen search criteria, but only when there is a <u>black knight</u> on c3.

Anyone who plays against the Nimzo-Indian as White will be interested in constellations in which the <u>white knight</u> on c3 is attacked by the black knight from e4/ d5 and the bishop from b4. How can we find those games in which the knight is of the "correct" colour?

In that case in the dialog box you go for the capital letters.

Search Result Search Result Restore Game Number White Black Year Result Move De Saint Amant, P Walker,G 1836 1-0 36 1 2 Evans,W Perigal,G 1839 1-0 32 Ha 4 Harrwitz,D Horwitz,B 1849 0-1 36 5 Von Jaenisch,C Staunton,H 1851 0-1 70 6 Williams, E Loewenthal, J 1851 0-1 71 7 Kieseritzky, L Potier,M 1851 1-0 20 8 1851 1-0 Anderssen,A Horwitz,B 31 9 Anderssen,A Meyerhofer,K 1851 1-0 48 10 Falkbeer,N Bayer,C 1855 ¥2-¥2 56 < l Notation + Openings Book Notation Reference Replay training Plan Explorer Table Score sheet LiveBook (Hamppe,Carl - Loewenthal,Johann Jacob 0-1 🛨 C27 Germany m 1846

<u>Hint</u>: The search criteria from the *Attacks* tab can be combined with any other search criterion, e.g. <u>Game data</u>.

Under Additional one can enter unspecified additional attacking/defending pieces.

 Diece under attack	Attacked by		Defended by	
Piece under attack				
Q ¥	\	1	¥	0
	Ë	0	Ä	0
	ė	0	, Ś.	0
Square	2	0	<i>6</i>	0
Square	1	0	Â	0
* ¥	ģ	0	ġ	0
	Additional	3	Additional	0

The following motif is the object of our search: all games in which the white queen is attacked by the black queen. In addition, three unspecified attacking pieces are entered under *Additional*.

The search finds the relevant games and lists them in the *Search result window*. A click on an entry in the list displays the game directly on the graphical chess board at the relevant position according to the pre-defined search criteria.

1000			AC	10287 M			Search Res	ult						
		1112 -		-	38888 -20		Restore	Game			Search	Result		
8				-	AAA		Number	White		Black	Year	Result	Moves	Notation
7					國際 同時		14	Kanmazalp,O		Rosberg,S	2006	1-0	27	1.e4 c5 2.d4 e6 3.Sc3 Se
							15	Buttell,D		Fathallah,J	2007	0-1	23	1.d4 f5 2.c4 Sf6 3.Sf3 gl
6		16 10 12 10 1		ġ.	REAL PROPERTY		16	Amit,S		Safin,S	2008	0-1	43	1.e4 e5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.Lc4
	-						17	Karpov,A		Caruana,F	2008	¥2-¥2	29	1.d4 d5 2.c4 c6 3.Sf3 Sf
5				1. Self	CONT.		18	Margariti,A		Harmon Vellotti,	L 2009	0-1	19	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.d4 cx
	CALIFORNIA DE LA			-	Contraction of the local division of the loc		19	Rivera,C		Saenz,A	2009	0-1	20	1.e4 e5 2.Sf3 Sf6 3.Sc3 !
4		12			(1995) Star		20	Galdunts,S		David,V	2010	0-1	27	1.e4 e6 2.Sf3 d5 3.Sc3 c
0.3				0			21	Peichel,R		Marjanovic,S	2010	0-1	49	1.e4 e5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.Lc4
3		146 1999		8	ENG VILLE		22	Mastrovasilis,A		Marechal,A	2011	1-0	36	1.c4 e5 2.g3 Sf6 3.Lg2 h
	0				0 0		23	Tapie Amione,P		Martin Del Camp	o C,R 2012	1/2-1/2	30	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.Sc3
2	8		ALC: NOT	L'ALT.	8 8		24	Pozo Vinuesa,A		Rodriguez Redor	ndo,A 2013	0-1	33	1.e4 e5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.Lb5
			NUMBER OF		000		25	Langie,J		Reichardt, M	2013	0-1	26	1.c4 f5 2.b3 Sf6 3.Lb2 e
1				122.2	耳		26	Kasioumis,V		Papadimitrakis,G	2014	1-0	81	1.e4 c5 2.Sc3 g6 3.Sf3 c
	Δ	BC	DE	E	G H		27	Erice Alonso,S		Perez Mitjans,O	2014	0-1	26	1.c4 e5 2.g3 Sc6 3.Lg2 :
and the			P L		9 11		28	Vukotic Jovsic,D		Lopez de Turiso, J	J 2016	¥2-¥2	63	1.d4 f5 2.Lf4 Sf6 3.Sf3 e
		14					<							
					71		Notation +	Openings Book						
									🛛 💳 Kar	pov,Anatoly	2651 - Ca	ruana,I	Fabiano	2640 ½-½ 📕 🚦
						-								
51							88					4		
							1 🔀	1 🗓 🧎		12 21 2 3	?? +- +	± =	∞ ≌	∓ ∓ -+ ≠ 🥔

The entry "*No other attackers or defenders*" defines exactly the relationship between attacking and defending pieces. If this button is deactivated, the number shown for the pieces will be interpreted as a minimum.

2.1.4.1.16 Search mask - Medals

Search mask, Medals.

Game data	Annotations Position	Medals	Material	Manoeuvres		
	Best game			Sacrifice		
	Decided tournam	ent		Defense		
	Model game (ope	ning plan)		Material		
	Novelty			Piece play	/	
	Pawn structure			Endgame		
	Strategy			Tactical b	lunder	
	Tactics			Strategica	l blunder	
	With attack			🔄 User		
					Res	et
Game	lata 🔲 Annotatio	ns 🗖 Pr	sition	Material	Manoeuvres	V Medals
	Include lin	es in search	1			

Searches for <u>medals</u>. If you click more than one medal type then only the games which were awarded all the selected medals will be considered.

2.1.4.1.17 Search mask - Position

Search mask, Position.

	Image: Series of the series	Image: second secon	 'Look for' board 'Or' board 'Exclude' board Mirror Horizontal Vertical First 8 Length 1 Last 12 Reset
] Game data	Annotations V Position	Material 📃 Mano Attacks	Deuvres 🔲 Medals
	Filter activated	Load	Save

This allows you to search for positional fragments, including strategic and tactical manoeuvres based on pawn structures and piece constellations.

There are three definition boards:

- □ The "Look for" board: Here the pieces are set on the squares on which they must be in the positions you are looking for.
- □ The "Or" board: This allows you to define fuzzy positional fragments such as "all positions in which piece x is on square a, b or c".
- □ The "Exclude" board: With this you can establish which pieces should not be on specific squares in the positions you are looking for.

To put a piece on a square, first select a piece type on the right. A click on the square on the board will put the piece there. Clicking with the right mouse key will insert a piece of the opposite colour. The **"joker" symbols** on the bottom mean any white and any black man (pieces or pawns).



On the Exclude board you can place up to four different pieces on a square. To remove any one of them press Crtl and click it. The same also applies to the Or board.

Mirror horizontal/vertical

The "Horizontal mirror" and "Vertical mirror" reflect the board horizontally and vertically. In the above example the horizontal mirror will ensure that games with a black bishop penetration on h2 will also be retrieved.

First, length, last

These options define when and how long the positional fragment should be present during a game. If the positional constellation appears in the game before the "first" or after the "last" move specified than it is ignored. "Length" refers to the minimum number of consecutive ply (half-moves) the pieces must be on the board.

Sacrifice

This specifies if a <u>sacrifice combination</u> must be involved.

Get board

This inserts the position from the last active board window.

Examples of strategic themes

A.Rook on open c-file Search board: wRc1. Exclusion board: White and Black jokers on squares c2-c7 B.White isolated pawn on d4 Search board: wPd4 Exclusion board: wPc2-c7,e2-e7,d5-d7 C.White passed pawn on e5 Search board: wPe5 Exclusion board: bPd6,d7,e6,e7,f6,f7

2.1.4.1.18 Searching for time controls

In recent years many chess tournaments have been played with <u>shortened time</u> <u>controls</u>.

On the chess server the majority of games are played with short thinking times. The games of these Blitz and rapid chess tournaments are also recorded and stored in Mega.

In the search dialog for <u>game data</u> you can also filter out from the database those games which were played in blitz mode.

Zeitkontrolle	(a) pr:-	
Alle	Blitz	

Alternatively the search for blitz games can be initiated via the input box.

Suche		
Text	Blitz	
	Rücksetzen	
	Erweitert	
	Beispiele	
Immer erwe	iterter Dialog	

2.1.4.2 Options

2.1.4.2.1 User name

Menu: Tools	Options	User
User		
Last Name First Name		Schreiner Peter
Find N	/le In Player E	ncyclopedia

At certain points ChessBase uses your name – for instance when you annotate a game or send an email, or when it looks after your repertoire. You should enter your name here.

Find me in player encyclopedia / Update my encyclopedia entry

Check whether your picture is included in the <u>player encyclopedia</u>. If it is missing, or the pictures are too old or not nice, you can click "*Update my encyclopedia entry*" and send us a picture to us through the ChessBase web site.

Your picture will be included in the next update of our player encyclopedia.

2.1.4.2.2 Setting the notation

– Menu: Tools Options Notation	
Menu: Tools Options Notation Notation Notation 1.d4 1.d4 Label 1.d2-d4 Label 1.d2-d4 KQNBRP Figurines View Font Font	Variations ● Structured Variations ● Slightly structured Variations ● Indented Variations Annotations ☑ Training □ Show embedded diagrams ☑ Create game links ☑ Display text annotations
Variation Colour	Evaluation
Text Colour	○ (none)
Text Colour/Variations	○ Win probability ○ Both
✓ Material	

Here you can set the game notation.

▶ d4

Short algebraic notation.

▶ d2-d4

Long algebraic notation.

▶ P-Q4

Anglo-American descriptive notation, which is to be found in old chess books.

KQNBRP

Notation with piece letters. You can type in other letters.

Figurines

Notation with figurines.

▶ .×+

You can choose to include or not to include capture or check signs (x, +) and the period after the move number. If you choose the underline character ("_") instead of the period, ChessBase will insert a period and a blank after the move number (45. Kg3), which is preferred for some typesetting purposes.

Justify

The notation is right justified, with blanks inserted for this purpose.

Paragraphs

For each main line a new paragraph is used. If you switch this off the entire notation, commentary and all, is given as running text.

Alternative Format

A different style of variation numbering and indentation which you might have got used to in version six of the program.

Dye Actual Variation

we have the heading "*Dye Actual Variation*". It is easy to find out for yourself how it works by giving it a try. There follows an example with the setting "Structured variations" but without the present variation being highlighted in colour.

Material

Should the "material balance" be normally displayed below the notation? You can switch this display on or off by right-clicking the notation window.

Beep at end of variation

If you are using the cursor right key to replay a game you will hear a beep when you reach the end of the variation, and the replay will stop. This prevents you from suddenly jumping from a very complex line back into the main line of the game. If this is not a problem you can switch off the beep and the cursor will simply move into the next line.

Text color

Select a colour for the text commentary.

Variation color

Select a colour for variations (second level or deeper).

Font

Select font type and size for the main notation. The fonts for <u>table</u> and <u>training</u> <u>notation</u> can be set separately by right-clicking in the corresponding notation windows.

Colours for text and variations

It is easy to learn about the function of the button "*Text colour/Variations*" by trying it out.

In the colour palette set the colour you wish to be used for textual commentary within variations.

170	ChessBase 17
	You can immediately check the result in the game notation.

```
4. ②xd4 d5 Delaire,H 'Une innovation risquée'

[<u>△4...②f6</u> 5. ②c3 d6]
5. ②b5

[<u>5.exd5</u> 營xd5 6. ②e3 e6 7. ③c3 ②b4 8. ④db5 Rubinstein-Nimzowitsch, Karlsbad, 1923. 營e5!]

[<u>5.②xc6</u> bxc6 6. exd5 營xd5! 7. ③c3

(<u>7.營e2</u> ②f5= Adams,J)

(<u>7. ③d2</u> ④f6 8. ③e2 e6 9.0-0 ③e7 10. ③f3 營d7 Adams,J)

7...營xd1+ 8. ③xd1= (27) Schulz,J-Kostic,B Trencianske Teplice 1926']

[<u>5. ③c3!</u> dxe4 6. ④xc6 營xd1+ 7. 查xd1 bxc6 8. ④xe4 ③f5 9. ③d3 0-0-0 10. 查e2 e6 11. ④f4 查b7

12. Ξad1 ④e7 13. f3 ± Adams,J]
```

2.1.4.2.3 Design Dialog

Menu: Tools Opti	ions Design		
Board Design			
Board Colour schemes	Maple	•	Options ✓ Use new 2D Board
Pieces	Schach	•	✓ Shadows✓ Rounded
Background	Wood	•	🗹 Anti aliasing
Proportion			✓ Coordinates
85	97	110	✓ Evaluation
1	0	1	Replay Arrows Below Board
Margin	2	20	 ○ None ● Buttons
U	5		○ Slider
Animation			
0	5	9	
1	<u>о</u>		

Background

You can set the background of all windows and menu bars. You can use plain colours or any of the textures given. "User BMP" allows you to select your own picture or texture for the windows background. Create a square picture of 64x64 pixels in a drawing program.

Background – Board

Sets the background of the board window.

Board design

This opens the <u>board design</u> dialog.

3D Board Settings

Opens the <u>3D Board Settings</u> dialog.

The following options are available in the dialog:

- Color scheme: Selects preset colors for the light and dark fields of the board. If you want to specify colors yourself, select Uniform color. Then use the White, Black, White fields and Black fields buttons to specify the colors.
- Furthermore, you can also specify the material of the board squares and border yourself: Under Color scheme, select the last entry User BMP, and in the following dialog, specify three image files in BMP format.
- Figures: Different figure sets are available: Fritz is the default, USCF is a figure type often found in American chess publications. Oldstyle are pieces in the old style as

172 ChessBase 17

often seen in antiquarian chess books. Habsburg corresponds to the diagram type often used in books and magazines in this country. Crystals will appeal to lovers of simple, clear shapes.

- The representation of the pieces on the chess board is realized with the help of True Type fonts. You can change the set of pieces at any time.
- In the dialog you will find Figures in the PullDown menu. You can now choose among different sets of figures.
- Proportion: Controls the size of the pieces relative to the field size.
- Border width: The board has a border of variable thickness.
- Animation: Controls the speed at which the figures glide across the board.
- Shadow: Gives the figures a slight shadow, making them stand out vividly.
- Rounded: The figures appear slightly rounded to make the board more visually alive.
- Background: Selects the material of the board background. Again, the unit colors you specify or user bitmaps are available.
- Coordinates: Provides the board with the coordinate labels a-h, 1-8, on which the notation of the chess game is based.
- Evaluation: When replaying and analyzing a game, the chess program provides a useful guide for evaluating the current board position. You will find the display with the sliding bar directly on the graphical chess board. This allows the user to see at a glance whether one side has an advantageous position or whether the position is balanced.
- Post-game arrows under board: places five arrows under the board, which have the meaning from left to right Jump to start, Undo move, Undo move, Execute move, Jump to end.
- Slider: is an intuitive navigation option for games. This allows you to jump to a specific game phase faster than using the notation by selectively clicking or moving the handle. This is especially useful for long and annotated games.
- With a click on the Apply button, you can directly check the settings you have made and firmly apply them.

2.1.4.2.4 Standard engine and Heumas

Menu File	Options	Engines				
Engines						
Default Engine	(1059MP)			Threat	2	6
	Browse					
Heumas				Generate threats		
1	n	3	6	Instant Analysis		
✓ Heumas Ply			I	1	2	6
✓ Assisted Ana ✓ Legal moves	lysis			✓ Enable ✓ Endless		
✓ Single click e	ntry					
✓ Forced move	es entry					

Select your standard engine and the <u>hash table</u> size (ChessBase will suggest a reasonable value for this).

See also <u>Default Engine</u>

Heumas

<u>Heumas</u> is the move input assistant and is itself a small, fast chess engine. You can switch it off if you want. "Heumas Ply" determines how deep Heumas looks into the position. With depth the quality improves, but this also requires more processing power.

- Heumas Ply sets the search depth for the Heumas function.
- Assisted Analysis: switches on or off this analysis function.
- Legal moves carries out a search for legal moves.
- **Singe click-entry:** This corresponds to what in older versions was the version of the Heumas function which was implemented. This works with or without Assisted Analysis. With Assisted Analysis the function can be activated with a right click while holding down the left mouse button. Should Assisted Analysis be deactivated, then instead of it the legal moves of a piece can be shown. In this case all the squares are highlighted alike, in grey. If a piece only has a single move, one-click entry can then be activated immediately.
- Forced Moves entry: Insert the only possible move

Threats

Set a search depth for the <u>threat animation</u> in the board window.

2.1.4.2.5 Limits

Menu File Options Lim	its
-----------------------	-----

Limits	
Maximum Board Windows	8 ‡
Maximum Database Windows	5 🔶

Maximum board windows

This determines how many board windows may be opened at any one time. When you load a new game ChessBase will automatically replace the previous game when the limit is reached. This helps you keep the desktop manageable.

Maximum database windows

Determines how many <u>list windows</u> can be opened simultaneously. Again ChessBase replaces the last one when the maximum is reached.

Number of recent games

This determines how many recently loaded games should be displayed in the *Menu File Recent games*.

Number of recent databases

This determines how many recently loaded databases should be displayed in the *Menu File Recent databases*.

RAM

Displays how much memory is available on your system. It refers to installed, not free memory.

Cache for reference database

ChessBase reacts to repeated searches in the <u>reference database</u> by caching (holding) large chunks of the database in memory, making all operations much faster. If you have a lot of RAM (512 MB or more) most of the reference database will be cached. After the first search you will notice that there is no more hard disk activity, and that the search has speeded up by a factor of more than ten.

2.1.4.2.6 Merging transpositions

From the menu File - Options - Misc there is the function Merge transpositions .

Misc	
Sound	Save
Announce moves	Game History
Speak text annotations	Save Last Game in CloudClip
✓ Board sounds	✓ On 'New Game' open last game
✓ Evaluation sounds	On program start open last database
Engine load sounds	Misc
Move Input	Merge transpositions
Rightclick Retracts	✓ Notifications
✓ Mouse Wheel executes moves	. Notifications
✓ Always Promote To Queen	✓ Register as PGN Reader
- View	Use 'Theme Keys'
Mark Move With Arrow	
✓ Show opening	
Each database has its own list format	

This function has to do with the merging of games. In ChessBase the user can highlight several games in a games list and bring them together in a variation tree.

E.g.

1.e4 d6 2.d4 d5 1.d4 d6 2.e4 d5

You can choose to merge these games with the function, or not; we are dealing with frequently occurring transpositions of moves.

2.1.4.2.7 Tablebase Path

Menu File Options Tablebases

The Endgame Turbo vol I - vol III contain five and six-men endgames for perfect play. You can configure the paths where you have installed your endgame turbo tablebases and the amount of memoy for caching.

2.1.4.2.8 Syzygy Tablebases

ChessBase supports a relatively new endgame database format, the **Syzygy Endgame Tablebases**. Older versions only supported the Nalimov Endgame Tablebases, which are still supported in this version. The new format was designed by **Ronald de Man** from Holland. Most new chess engines already support this format.

You can activate the Syzygy Endgame Tablebases in the program settings, in the menu *File Options TableBases More*.

Enter the path of the folder where the Syzygy tablebases are stored in the "*GUI*" and " *Engine*" tabs. Clicking on the button with the three dots activates the standard Windows dialog to select the folder. Click OK to confirm the settings, and the program will now use the information in the tablebases.

You can check whether the access is working by looking at the output of a chess engine.

Engine: Hou	ıdini 4 x64					
Houdini	4 x64	top 🕂	- 40	CPUs 🚺		
+-	(3.88)	Depth=2	35	i.Rc3 (1/20)	8	521 kN/s
+- (3.88) Depth: 2	25/55 00:00	:12 100MN	tb=281		
35.Rc3 K	b6 36.a4 f5	37.Kc4 Be	3 38.Kd3 B	-л. не <mark>х</mark> д	4 40.hxg4	4 hxg4 41.
+- (3.88) Depth: 2	26/55 00:00	:16 132MN	tb=503		
35.Rc3 K	b6 36.a4 f5	37.Kc4 Be	3 38.Kd3 B	5 39 Re2 g	4 40.hxg4	4 hxg4 41.
+- (3.88) Depth: 2	27/55 00:00	:21 181MN	tb=1379		
•						

In this example you can see entries "tb= xxx", which show how often the Houdini chess engine is accessing the endgame tablebases. A big advantage of the Syzygy Endgame Tablebases is that they are much smaller. The 6-man Syzygy tablebases need 150 GB disc space, whereas the Nalimov tablebases need more than 1 TB.

The Syzygy Endgame Tablebases pay attention to the 50 move stalemate rule. If there are 50 moves without a piece being taken or a pawn being moved, the game is drawn. Since the data can be accessed in RAM very fast and effectively the Syzygy Endgame Tablebases are now used exclusively by many modern chess engines.

For instance, the Komodo chess engine only uses the Syzygy tablebases during the search, but it also uses the Nalimov tablebases when a position is on the board. It is to be expected that the Syzygy tablebases will become increasingly popular with engine developers.

The best way to get the complete Syzygy Endgame Tablebases is to buy the Endgame Turbo 4 from our online shop.

Because of the size of the tablebases it is best to install them outside of the Documents folder, for instance in **C:/Tablebases/**.

There are two different types of Syzygy tablebases.

WDL (Win-Draw-Loss).

In these files only information about the result of the position is stored. This is the only information used in the search. Based on this information the chess engine cannot tell how many moves it will take to win the game. The engine is merely informed whether the position is a Win, a Loss or a Draw.

DTZ (Distance to zero).

These tablebases are used by the GUI to generate a value which states how many moves it will take to win the game. Some engines use this information during the search.

The Syzygy tablebases support bitbases in both WDL and DTZ format. The latter format is only used when an exact position is already on the board. However, only the number of moves to reach another endgame (or sometimes checkmate). Another endgame begins after any move that resets the 50 move rule. By this definition, every time a piece is taken or a pawn moves a new endgame has begun and the count is set to 1. If a pawn keeps advancing, after every move the count is 1 again. That means that the count is reset after every move which changes the position irreversibly.

This means that the Syzygy Endgame Tablebases are different to the tablebases that have been used until now. This means that the moves to mate are not necessarily displayed, but the moves to the transition into another endgame. When sorting the moves pawn, capture and promotion moves are put first, because these are the moves that bring the game forwards.

For example, if you are using the Komodo 8 engine to analyse a 5 or 6 piece endgame that can definitely be won, the Syzygy tableBases might give an evaluation of +250. There is no longer a display of "Mate in x moves".

As in the case of the Nalimov tablebases there are 290 files for the 3/4/5-piece endgames, but they are differently distributed. The Nalimov tablebases have two files per endgame, one for "White To Move", one for "Black To Move". The Syzygy tablebases only need one file, regardless of who is moving, but there are two versions of each tablebase: one contains the WDL (Win-Draw-Loss) result and the other contains the DTZ (Distance-To-Zero) result.

2.1.4.2.9 Gaviota EGTB files

The program integrates the Gaviota EGTB probing code \bigcirc Miguel A. Ballicora + the <u>Nalimov</u> EGTB probing code \bigcirc Eugene Nalimov.

Gaviota EGTB

For the Gaviota EGTB support you'll need to download the Gaviota EGTB files. At the time of writing this text they are available for download at the address <u>http://www.olympuschess.com/egtb/gaviota</u>.

Download all 145 files and save them in a directory on your hard disk. The total disk space required is about 7 GB.

Menu File - Options - TableBases Gaviota

The location of the Gaviota EGTB files is specified in the TbPath option.

2.1.4.2.10 Clipboard PGN Options

Menu: Tools Options tab Clipboard

Configure the format of text and PGN which you put in the Windows Clipboard with Board Window: Edit - Copy - Copy Game.

Game		
Test	0.000	
Text	PGN	
	\bigcirc Old format	
PGN	○ New format	
	 Old format 	
Position		
Text	• FEN	
	\bigcirc Old format	
RTF: With Game I	Data	

2.1.4.2.11 Folders

Menu File Options Folders

The most important conceptual innovation in the now clearer Options dialog is the introduction of two folders: "*Standard*" and "*Custom*".

Folders	Folders					L		
Limits								
Netation	Standard Data Folder			Thematic Databases				
Engines	C:\Users\user\Document	ts\ChessBase		Tournaments	 Standard 	O Custom		
Board Design	and Design Custom Data Folder			Openings	• Standard	⊖ Custom		
Cliphoard	D. (CDDaten(Nedes Form	Temporary Data Folder			Standard	⊖ Custom		
Encyclopedia	– Temporary Data Folder –				Obtandulu	Custom		
Misc	D:\TempTree			Training	 Standard 	O Custom		
Game update				Correspondence	 Standard 	⊖ Custom		
Tablebases	Work Databases							
Nalimov (GUI)	Large database Standard		Custom	System Databases	System Databases			
Survey (GUI)		0	0	Cloud Databases	Standard	Custom		
Svzvav (Engine)	Work	Standard	 Custom 		Jandara	Custom		
Gaviota (Engine)	My games	 Standard 	O Custom	Game History	○ Standard	 Custom 		
	Repertoire	Standard	OCustom					
		() Standard	Custom	Any Other Folders				
	Playchess	 Standard 	 Custom 	Other Databases	 Standard 	 Custom 		
	Downloads	 Standard 	⊖ Custom	Opening Books	○ Standard	Custom		
	Product Databases			Multimedia	○ Standard	Custom		
	Your Products	Standard	 Custom 	Media Files	○ Standard	 Custom 		
	Magazine/Express	○ Standard	Custom	Other Data	 Standard 	 Custom 		

User Interface

179

Default is given by Windows and is located under the path <User>/Documents/ ChessBase. Because Microsoft now mirrors the document folder in OneDrive, this causes problems with large databases.

Therefore, you can user-define your own path, and specify for each typical location whether it should be in the documents directory or elsewhere ("Custom"). For example, you can place the large database on another disk, while all the smaller stuff is managed by Windows and then available, for example, via OneDrive on other computers.

This dialog appears automatically at the first program start.

2.1.4.3 Database file selector

The *file selector* is used to open a database, create a new one or add it to the database window.

	1J 72-72 4J 4
Carlsen.2cbh 🗸 Da	atabases (*.2CBH,*.CBH,*.PGN 🗸 🚺 🙃 1 😽
Da PC Sin - Bc - Ar - Al - Al	atabases (*.2CBH,*.CBH,*.PGN,*.CBV,*.CBZ,*.CBONE,*.CBCLOUD) GN files (*.PGN) ngle file (*.CBONE) loud (*.CBCLOUD) atabases old (*.CBF) poks (*.CTG) rchives (*.CBV, *.CBZ) II Databases (*.2CBH, *.CBH, *.PGN, *.CBV, *.CBZ, *.CTG, *.CBONE, *.CBCLOUD, *.CBF) ledia Files (*.cms;*.wmv;*.mp4)

17 17

Look in: allows you to find a drive and directory. The window displays directories and ChessBase database files. A double-click on a file will open it directly.

Folder Shortcut

Database window: Right-click, Folder shortcut

View	•
Sort Symbols	+
Open Database	Ctrl+0
New Database	Ctrl+X
Database	Strg+O
Add Folder Shortcut	
Windows Explorer	

This is used to add a folder shortcut to your <u>My databases</u> window.

2.1.4.4 Copy games to book

You can copy games into an <u>openings book</u> to extend it. You can <u>drag & drop</u> another database symbol onto the book symbol, or drag & drop a selection of games list or opening keys onto it.

Games		1	* *	- 927	* *
Length					
Absolute length	● ECO-	-relative le	ngth		
Length				20	×
Include variations					

Games

You can set the number of games you want to copy.

Length

Crucial for the size of the resulting tree is the length of the variations which are put into the tree. It is not very meaningful to put entire games into it, so you should truncate them at a specific point.

ChessBase allows you to limit the length of the variations in two different ways.

- 1. You can specify that the absolute length of every variation should be exactly "n" moves.
- 2. It is usually much more sensible to limit the length of the variations relative to the ECO classification. This results in long variations for theoretical main lines (ECO
classification position found late in the game) and short variations for side lines i.e. early deviations.

Obviously, if you choose a shorter length the tree will be compact. But then you are liable to lose some valuable information. If you choose a very large value then the tree will be gigantic, and it will contain a lot of superfluous information. A good practical value for adding games to the tree is the default of ECO + 20.

Variations

You can also include variations, i.e. analysis that might be included in the games. But these are not included in the statistical analysis.

2.1.4.5 Parameters for Reference Search

In the <u>Opening Reference</u> the number of common variation lines can be altered by using the + and - buttons.

N= N= N=	699, 723, 505,	58% 50% 50%	7.f4 Lg7 8.Lb5+ Sfd7 9.a4 0-0 10.Sf3 Sa 7.f4 Lg7 8.Sf3 0-0 9.Le2 7.Sf3 Lg7 8.Le2 0-0 9.0-0 Te8 10.Sd2	.6		€ √
N=. N= N=	1614, 953, 482,	63% 52% 60%	7.8f3 Lg7 8.h3 0-0 9.Ld3 7.Ld3 Lg7 8.Sge2 0-0 9.0-0 7.f3 Lg7 8.Lg5		Ŧ	
•				Þ		

Main Line: 7.h3 Lg7 8.Sf3 0-0 9.Ld3 b5, (513 Games)

Clicking the button next to the list opens the Parameters tor Reference Search dialog.

Minimum %		4	* *
Line length		8	* *
	Font 1]	
	Font 2]	

These values have the following meaning:

The smaller **Minimum%** is, the more variations are displayed. (The buttons + and – alter this value).

The higher the value for the **variation length** is, the longer the displayed lines are. High values for this setting mean a lot of calculation is necessary and the processing will take longer. Font 1 + Font 2 -> Select a Font for the display.

2.1.4.6 Feedback for training positions

ChessBase allows you create chess <u>training material</u> in which the teacher inserts quiz questions into a game.



In such lessons you enter feedback for each correct solution. If you do not ChessBase will provide standard answers.

Clipboard game	Find Position	Engine	ঃ যা	Database	Game History
Cipboard game 1 <	Find Position	Engine raining: Black's move White has neglected his dev How does Black succeed in i Help Max. score this move: Score in game:	s I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Database also awkwardly e of developme	Game History
acline the generation and ends			0:02:5	3	

In the help dialog you can add coloured squares and arrows on the chessboard to demonstrate themes. You can even remove pieces (by dragging them off the board – click the original square to get them back).

You can type in the feedback, which will be displayed, but you can also click the microphone button and record it. You can also use <u>coloured lines and squares</u> by pressing the Alt and drawing on the board.

2.1.4.7 Training questions including those being timed

In ChessBase training questions integrated into a training database are presented somewhat differently from the way they were in previous versions. In order to indicate the thinking time for a task (as, e.g., was customary in earlier versions) you have to do a little preliminary work in preparation.

First of all give to the database which contains the stored training questions the attribute "Training" or alternatively "Tactics". This can be done quite simply with a right click on the database symbol in the database window. -> Right click -> Properties

Unspecific 🔺	Training
Work	
My games	Show Protocol
Large database	
Informant	Reset Deste col
Openings	Reset Protocol
Magazine/Express	
Classical Tournaments	
Recent Tournaments	33 Games
Correspondence	O Keyer O Department
lactics	U Keys, U Positions
Analysis	
Training Fadiana	
Endings	
Dite	Peference DR
Computer chess	Reference-Db
•	Repertoire White
Name	
	Repertoire Black
koenigssicherheit1.cbh	🔲 Always open text
	Din to favoriter

Now when you open a game which contains a training question, you can move forward by clicking on the right arrow key.

The training question is shown in the well-known dialog form including a clock for the thinking time.

2.1.4.8 Database types

You can set the database type by right-clicking the icon in the <u>database window</u> and selecting Properties. The type you select determines which icon is associated with it.

D:\CBDaten\V	/orld	Championship 1886-2	2000.cbh
Unspecific Work	^		Training
My games Large database	I	0	Show Protocol
Informant Openings			Reset Protocol
Magazine/Express			
Classical Tournaments			
Recent Tournaments		926 Games; 28 Pla	ayers; 40 Tournaments
Correspondence			
Tactics			
Analysis		147 Keys, 192 Pos	itions
Training			
Endings			
Studies			
Computer chose		Reference-DB	
	×	Repertoire Wh	nite
Vame			
Turno -		Repertoire Bla	ick
World Championships 1886-20	00	Always open t	text
		 Pin to favorite 	25

You can also set a number of other options for a database in the Properties menu.

Name

The descriptive name under the database icon can be different from the more technical filename.

Training

Makes it a special <u>trainings database</u> where you store lessons, while ChessBase keeps track of the score.

Show protocol

This displays all the databases that were copied into the current one (the "<u>import</u> <u>protocol</u>").

Reset protocol

Clears the import protocol, e.g. before the publication of a database.

Reference database

This makes it a special <u>Reference database</u> which ChessBase consults on all major questions (unless you specify otherwise).

Repertoire database

This is a database in which ChessBase looks after your Repertoire.

Always open text

When the first entry in a database is a text report it is automatically opened when you first start the database. After that you can only open the text manually. You can click this option to make it open every time you start the database.

Pin to Favorites

This entry allows you to determine which database will be offered when you are saving a game.

Whenever the user saves a new game, instead of the file dialog box what is displayed first is the <u>Favourites</u> list. By following the procedure described previously the user can permanently enter a DB so that it can be immediately selected in the dialog box for saving.

See also database formats.

2.1.4.9 Edit player's name

If you select more than one game of a player in the <u>Player Index</u>, this dialog will allow you to edit the name in all games:

Gamuo Fema	Daniei	T	2240	m	6	197 Co	і піе	PB
Garza Castro	Ramon	1 (Edit Player	-	-	x	URS-ch47	Μ
Gasarjan	Aram	1	Cureriayer	-	-		URS-ch46	Tb
Gaspar	Joao	1	Geller		Efim P	?	Moscow	Μ
Gavrikov	Viktor	3					Moscow Inter	Μ
Gazet Van An		1	Set Elo		0			
Gelfand	Boris	21						
Geller	Efim P	4	Team Nam	ie		?		
Geller	Ι	1						
Georgaras	S	1	ОК		Help	Cancel		
•		III						
Search:								

Enter the last and first names of the player. The "?" button allows you to consult the <u>player encyclopedia</u> in order to check the spelling. If you use this function on more than one entry it will unify the spelling of them all. In this case you can also change the Elo rating.

2.1.4.10 Save mask

When you save a game a special save window appears in which you can type in all the relevant data about the game.

Please read also "Saving Games"

Save Games as Analysis ...



You can also call up the save mask and enter all the game data in advance, i.e. long before you actually save the game. In the board window click *Edit Edit game data*. You can also edit the game data in the games list, without actually loading the game. Right-click it and select Edit – Edit game data (or press F2).

Players' names (White/Black)

Type in the last name and first name(s) of the white and black players. Try to use the standardized spellings. To facilitate the standardization of names you can use the <u>players encyclopedia</u> which contains the names of over 100,000 players – practically everyone who has an international rating. Type in a name or part of it and then click the question mark button on the right. A list of names appears from which you can choose the correct one.

Tournament

In the tournament line you normally enter the name and place of the tournament. If you want to do it properly you should click Details. A special <u>tournament data</u> dialog appears where you can add a number of other important details.

ECO code

The <u>ECO code</u> is automatically inserted by ChessBase. You can correct it if you disagree with the program.

Elo ratings

Enter the ratings for White and Black, if available.

Round, subround

Specify the round and, in case of knockouts or Grand Prix, the subround.

Date (year, month, day)

Here you specify the year, month and day on which the game was played. This is not to be confused with the tournament date (see <u>tournament data</u>). If the exact date is not available leave the day or month empty.

Result

Enter 1-0 (White won), $\frac{1}{2}$ - $\frac{1}{2}$ (draw) or 0-1 (Black won). If you haven't entered a complete game, i.e. if the moves merely represents analysis, then you may want to use an evaluation symbol instead of the result. By clicking the arrow in the result box you get the menu shown on the right of evaluation symbols from which you can choose.

Reset

This clears all data from the save mask.

Click the tab <u>Annotator and Teams</u> to enter additional game data.

When a game is saved a description text can be added to it, dependent on the default language. The dialog has been extended to take this into account. Under the "Game Title" the text and the language in which it is to be displayed are input.

Players and Result	Annotator and Tear	ms Rating	Game title	
F rankish				
English	•	?		
My finest Games	1			

These texts can be used to quickly find certain types of games. <u>The texts</u> that you have created are listed in the game index and player index to reference games.

2.1.4.11 Save mask board

If you save a game in a database in the new **<u>2CBH format</u>**, you can indicate in the dialog for the game information on which board the game was played.

In team matches, a consistent distinction is made between board 1, board 2 and so on.

188 ChessBase 17

Save -> D:\CBDaten\Books\a	nalysieren.2cbh				×
Players and Result Annotator and Teams Rating Game Tag	White Black Tournament	Schreiner Mayer Trier Two M	asters	Peter Franz Details	?
	 ✓ ECO code: ─ Elo White: ─ Elo Black: ✓ Round: ─ Subround: ✓ Board: 	C30	Result 1-0 +:- ● 1/2 =:= 0-1 -:+ 0-0	 ✓ Year: ✓ Month: ✓ Day: Today 	1896 + 1 + 4 + Reset

You can set this information in the dialog for the lot characteristics.

Note: this information can be stored only in databases in the new <u>2CBH format</u>. The <u>older data formats</u> do not support this function.

2.1.4.12 Save Mask - Annotator and Teams

.....

You reach the second page of the save mask by clicking the Annotator and Teams tab.

Players and Result	Annotator and	Teams Ra	ating	Game Title	
<u>W</u> hite <u>B</u> lack <u>T</u> ournament	Enter New Ga Sofia m 25'	me	, ,	Details	?
ECO code: ELo White: Elo Blac <u>k</u> : Round: Subround:		Result	+:- =:= -:+ 0-0	 ✓ Year: ✓ Mo<u>n</u>th: ✓ Day: 	1998 - 5 - 2 - <u>R</u> eset

Annotator

If you have entered variations and text annotations you should type in your name

here. ChessBase will automatically offer you the user name that is entered in the menu Tools – Options – User. A list of all annotators appears in the <u>annotators index</u> of a database.

White/Black teams

If a game is part of a team championship you should enter the names of the teams here. They are displayed in the $\underline{\text{teams index}}$ of the database.

Source

You can give a source for the game. If you want to do so properly you should click Details for the <u>source edit dialog</u>. The source is given in the <u>source index</u> of the database.

You can also set the <u>Rating</u> and the Game Title.

2.1.4.13 Save games as analysis

The new <u>data format</u> ***.2cbh** offers a new feature for <u>saving games/analyses</u>. When creating game notations, it is now easily possible to merge thousands of games and save the resulting position tree as an analysis. The resulting deeply nested game notation is still easy to handle. This means that there are no longer any limits to huge variant trees for storage as an <u>analysis</u>.

If you select, e.g. a variant tree - under "*Menu File - Save as New Game*", you will find the following new feature compared to previous program versions:



Activate the entry "Analysis" and the following dialog will appear.

Analysis		×
Analysis English Deutsch	English A small opening overview with White. Early 70s repertoire, coming back	
	Add Language	

190	ChessBase 17

Analysis	English
English	Add Language ×
	English Deutsch Français Español Italiano Nederlands Polskie
	Сеѕтиа Русский 中文
	OK Cancel
ОК	Help
Reference Replay train	ning Table Plan Explorer Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves Surveys
A si	B39 URS U18-ch Tbilisi 01.1976 [Tartakower/du Mont]
බ්ග1-f3 බාග8-f6 2 c	2-c4_e7-e6_3@h1-c3_d7-d5_4_d2-d4_@f8-e7_5@c1-f4_0-0_6_e2-e3_h7-h6_(📮 🕯 🗲

2q1-f3 2q8-f6 2.c2-c4 e7-e6 3.2b1-c3 d7-d5 4.d2-d4 2f8-e7 5.2c1-f4 0-0 6.e2-e3 b7-b6 (16 7.c4-c5 b7-b6 8.b2-b4 a6-a5 9.a2-a3 b6xc5 10.b4xc5 2c8-a6 11.2f1xa6 2b8xa6 12.2f3-e5 3 13.0-0 2f6-d7 14.2e5xd7 We8xd7 15.Za1-b1 Zf8-b8 16.Wd1-d3 Wd7-c6 17.Zb1xb8+ Za8xb8 -b1 Zb8xb1+ 19.Wd3xb1 f7-f6 20.2f4-q3 2e7-d8 21.Wb1-b3 Wc6-a8 22.e3-e4 c7-c6 23.h2-h3 7 24.2c3-a4 2c7-b5 25.e4xd5 e6xd5 26.Wb3-e3 2g8-f7 27.2a4-b6 Wa8-b7 28.a3-a4 2b5-c7 4 2c7-e6 30.f4-f5 2e6-q5 31.2g3-f4 2g5-e4 32.We3-e2 2d8xb6 33.We2-h5+ 2f7-f8 34.c5xb6 6 25 Wb5-b7 Wb5-b7 Wb5-b7 16 20.2f4 a7 27 Wb7 b2 26 Wb2 b5 16 16 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 b5 16 16 16 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vc6 20 Vb2 Vc6 20 Vc6

<u>Tip</u>: We generally recommend saving the generated analyses in one or more separate databases for a better overview.

You can specify additional language versions using the "Add language" button.

ñ?

÷

è

2.1.4.14 Board design

Board Design (right-click the board)

The "Board design" is used to change the appearance of the board.

Board		Ontions	
board		Options	
Colour schemes	Maple	✓ Use new 2D Board	
		✓ Shadows	
Pieces	Fritz	•	
		✓ Rounded	
Background	Wood	✓ Anti aliasing	
		✓ Coordinates	
Proportion			
85	97	110 Evaluation	
1	000	Barday Array Ralay Read	
		Replay Arrows Below Board	
Margin		○ None	
0	3	10 • Buttons	
	-0	○ Slider	
1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Animation			
0	5	9	
1		1	

You can choose different materials (wood, marble, etc.) and colour schemes for the light and dark squares, and also for the background. You can have co-ordinates around the board and replay control buttons below it. There are also a number of different pieces styles. Here are the specifics:

• **Color schemes** selects the colour and texture of the dark and light squares of the chessboard. If you want to mix your own colours click "Plain color" and select the colours you want for the squares and pieces. You can also give a different material by clicking "User BMP" in the colour schemes.

▶ **Pieces:** There are at least three piece sets to choose from. "USCF" is a set in the style of American chess publications, and "Oldstyle" a nostalgic set that was used in books earlier in this century.

Proportion regulates the relative size of the pieces with respect to the board.

Margin width determines how wide the sides of the board should be.

• **Animation** determines how fast the pieces glide over the board.

• **Shadows** gives the pieces a shadow, so they appear to be slightly raised above the board.

• **Rounded** makes the pieces appear slightly rounded.

• **No scaling** switches to fonts with fixed sizes. This switches off background textures and other effects.

Background is used to change the area surrounding the board. Here too you can use your own "User BMP".

• **Coordinates** switches on the board coordinate 1–8 and a–h.

• **Replay arrows** below board puts recorder-style replay and forward buttons below the board.



Functions: Load previous game in <u>game history</u>; jump to beginning of game; take back move; cancel move (take back and overwrite with next move entry); one move forward; jump to end of game; load next game from <u>game history</u>.

2.1.4.15 ID-Card

In the **ID-Card** of a player you can find all the information available in the player encyclopedia.

Player Index - ID Card



For the pictures there is a date and the name of the photographer. Click <- or -> to browse through all the photos available.

If you click on Elo profile you can track the <u>Elo development</u>.

Last Name. First Name.	Kortschnoj Viktor Lvovich	
Birthday.	1931	
Deceased.	06.06.2016 (85)	The same and the
<u>T</u> itle.	GM	
	2499 (05.2016) Trend: 0-0	
Country. Elo Profile Dossier	Switzerland	
		Photo: Benjamin Bartels
		ca. 2000
		<> 1/81>
Close]	

The Dossier function goes through the games of your reference database to create a <u>player dossier</u>.

2.1.4.16 Options in the book window

Right-click the **book window** and select Properties.

Number of positions: 4150377
Unplayed transpositions
<u>R</u> etro moves
✓ Show Elo numbers
🔽 Show next move
_
Result from white side
V Statistics

▶ Np

The number of different positions contained in the book. White and Black are not differentiated, nor are positions mirrored on the middle axis. Try entering the moves 1. e3 e5 2. e4 Nf6 3. Nc3 Bb4 and how this becomes a reverse Ruy Lopez.

Unplayed transpositions

Shows moves that have never been played in the current position but which lead to another position known to the tree.

Retro-moves

Displays all moves that lead from positions in the tree to the current board position.

Statistics

Displays bar graphs of the move statistics, and also gives the exact number of Elo rated games.

Show next move

2.1.4.17 Source edit dialog

The source of a game is entered in the <u>save mask</u>. The details are stored in the <u>source index</u> of a database.

<u>T</u> itle	CBM 001	
Publisher	ChessBase	
Publication	01.12.1987 🗐 🗸 Version	
Date	01.12.1987 💷 🔻 1 🚔	
Quality		
Ilign	O Low	

▶ Title

This is the name that appears in the source index.

Publisher

Who is publishing this game?

Publication/Version dates

This is used for internal records and for the final publication.

Quality

Enter your estimation of the quality of the data (moves, results, names, <u>spellings</u>).

2.1.4.18 Tournament data

The *tournament data* of a game appears in the <u>tournament index</u> of the database.

General	General							
Place Tiebreak	Title	Tatran Cup	26th					
	Date							
	V Year			1978 💠				
	V Monti	1		11 🔹				
	🕅 Day			0 🚖				
	Categ	orv		5 🔶				
	Round	ls		13				
	V Type		Round	rohin •				
	Comp	lete	nounan	ouni -				
	🖂 3 poin	ts for win						
	Team Tour	nament						
	🖂 Team	Tournamen	rt					
	E Board	Board Points						
	Time							
	O Blitz							
	Rapid	al						
	© Corres	pondence						

Title, Place

Type in the official name and place of the tournament. If the tournament has no name (e.g. New York 1924) then enter the place in both lines. Only one will appear in the games list.

Date

The year, month and day are for the tournament, not the individual game (this is entered in the save mask). Usually the day of the opening ceremony or the first round defines the tournament date. If the exact date is not available you can leave the month and day empty and ChessBase will only store the year.

Complete

This should be clicked on if you have all the games of a tournament. A tournament marked as complete will have the (green) check mark shown at the right in the tournament list.

Nation

Click the pull-down button on the right to produce a list of national abbreviations and select the one you want.

Rounds

Enter the number of rounds. In special tournaments (like knockouts and Grand Prix) you can specify "subrounds" in the save mask. This allows the program to sort games properly according to rounds. It can also generate clean progress tables in open tournaments if the rounds are properly entered.

Category

Enter a category between 1 and 25. This is displayed in the tournament list.

Туре

Here you can specify match, tournament, Swiss, team, knockout, simul, etc. This too is displayed in the tournament list.

Time controls

Here you can specify the speed of play (blitz, rapid, normal or correspondence chess).

2.1.4.19 Serial Number

Please type in a <u>serial number</u> after the Program start. They are eligible for <u>updates</u>.

The serial number is needed for the first program start. After entering the serial number the program has unlimited access to the <u>online database</u>.

Some program functions require access to the fast, up to date online database. To do this the program has to be activated online via the Internet.

The Internet activation is carried out with the program's Menu File.

2.1.4.20 Book Window Options

This configures the <u>book window</u>.

This is the menu *Right Click Menu - Properties* In the book window.

Number of positions: 4159377

 Unplayed transpositions

 Retro moves

 Show Elo numbers

 Show next move

 Result from white side

 Statistics

The format of the position tree can be configured by the user. The dialog for this can be started by right clicking in any empty area of the book window, then clicking Properties.

"Number of Positions" is the number of unique positions in the book. White and Black are not differentiated. Left-right mirroring is also ignored. Try it by inputting 1.e3 e5 2. e4 .

"**Unplayed Transpositions**" displays moves which did not occur in the games, but would have led to known positions in the games.

"**Retro Moves**" displays moves which lead from known positions to the position on the board.

"Show Elo numbers" integrates the strength of the players into the statistical data of the games.

"**Show next move**" displays in table form the next moves with statistical data for every possible continuation from this position. See <u>Extended Book Display ...</u>

"**Result from white side**" means that the result of every move is always displayed from White's perspective.

"**Statistics**" displays the win/loss/draw statistics as a graph, with an exact count of the games that were evaluated by Elo.



Retro moves are the moves leading to this position from other positions in the trees. Unplayed transpositions are moves which have not actually been played in the games which were merged into the tree, but which would lead to another known position. Those unplayed moves appear grey. With the checkbox for Show Elo numbers you can toggle the display of the columns Av(erage) and Perf(ormance).

Statistics shows additional statistics at the bottom of the window.

2.1.4.21 Options Player Encyclopedia

Menu File - Options - Encyclopedia



You can automatically update the player encyclopedia that you have installed. We regularly publish an updated version of the encyclopedia with new players and updated Elo ratings. Depending on your settings the program accesses the encyclopedia on the server and updates the enclyclopedia that you have stored locally.

Off = No player encyclopedia

This option is useful for slow computers with very little free disk space.

Local = Use the installed player encyclopedia

This option should be used on a computer that has no Internet connection, or a very slow Internet connection.

Server = The program accesses the data on the server and gradually updates the locally stored encyclopedia.

Path = Where the local player encyclopedia is stored. If the path is left empty an empty encyclopedia is created which will be filled with data from the server.

Note: If you start with an empty player encyclopedia you will only see the data in the main window that has already been received from the server, i.e. the cache. In case of doubt use the locally installed encyclopedia, because it will automatically be improved by the server data.

2.1.5 Tournament tables

Right-click an item in the <u>Player index</u> and select **Cross table** to get a full table of the current tournament.

You can also open a tournament table by clicking on the tournament data of a <u>game</u> <u>header</u> in the notation window.



ChessBase knows the following kinds of tournaments and is able to generate correct tables for them:

- Round robins (cross tables)
- Individual matches (match tables)
- Swiss tournaments (progress tables)
- Team championships (list of individual results)
- Scheveningen system (double cross tables)
- Knockout system (Knockout tree)
- Simultaneous exhibition (list of individual results)
- Incomplete tournaments (simple ranking list)

If the <u>players encyclopedia</u> is available the flags of the players will be displayed.

Tatran Cup 26th 1978

				1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13			Perf.	+/-
1		Ftacnik,Lubomir	2380	*	3/2	3/2	3/2	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1/2	9.0 / 12		2555	+28
2		Plachetka, Jan	2470	3/2	*	0	3/2	3/2	1/2	1	1	1	1	3/2	1	1	8.5 / 12		2511	+7
З	-	Peresipkin, Vladimir	2430	1/2	1	*	1/2	1	1/2	1/2	0	1	1/2	1/2	1/2	1	7.5 / 12		2449	+4
4		Treybal, Dusan	2200	1/2	1/2	1/2	*	1	1	1/2	1/2	1	0	3/2	1/2	1/2	7.0 / 12		2438	+38
5		Djuric, Stefan	2350	1	1/2	0	0	*	1/2	1/2	1/2	1	1/2	1	0	1	6.5 / 12	37.50	2396	+8
6		Joksic, Sinisa	2405	0	1/2	3/2	0	1/2	*	1/2	1/2	0	1	1	1	1	6.5 / 12	33.25	2392	-2
7		Cvetkovic, Srdjan	2390	0	0	3/2	3/2	1/2	1/2	*	1/2	1/2	1	3/2	3/2	1/2	5.5 / 12	30.00	2335	-9
8		Moehring, Guenther	2405	0	0	1	1/2	1/2	1/2	1/2		0	0	1/2	1	1	5.5 / 12	29.25	2334	-12
9		Franzen, Jozef	2290	0	0	0	0	0	1	1/2	1	×	1/2	1	1	1/2	5.5 / 12	27.50	2343	+9
10		Sikora Lerch, Jan	2415	0	0	1/2	1	1/2	0	0	1	1/2	*	3/2	3/2	1/2	5.0 / 12	28.00	2304	-19
11		Banas, Jan	2385	0	3/2	3/2	1/2	0	0	1/2	1/2	0	3/2	*	1	1	5.0 / 12	26.00	2306	-13
12		Ujtelky, Maximilian	2280	0	0	1/2	1/2	1	0	1/2	0	0	3/2	0	*	1	4.0 / 12		2253	-5
13		Novak,Ivan	2355	1/2	0	0	1/2	0	0	1/2	0	1/2	1/2	0	0	*	2.5 / 12		2135	-33

Double-clicking a result will load that game.

(The second seco	🗵 Delete	E Search Result		-		🥜 🕑 Select all		0
	🗌 Сору	Segoe UI 🔹	14	•		🖉 🖂 Goto line		Next
Paste	📔 Clip or Unclip	First	0	÷	List	Data	Table	Tournament

With the buttons on the top right you can:

- browse to the next/previous tournament in the database
- force a round robin display of an incomplete tournament ("RR");
- copy the table into the Windows clipboard (ChessBase will ask whether to format it with table or enables);
- it with tabs or spaces);
- print out the table;
- generate an HTML table;
- set the font size.

Sort Table

In Chessbase tournament tables can be sorted by player. This function is called by *Sort by Player Name*.



5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1/2	9.0 / 12

It is also possible to sort by **player name**.

2.1.6 Rearranging windows

The following is essential for usability of ChessBase software: The individual elements of the windows (the "panes") can be moved and resized. A pane will "dock" when you move it to a place which makes sense. This ensures that you will never "lose" a window or have it partially covered by another one.

Changing the size

Move the cursor onto a horizontal or vertical separation bar. It will turn into a "resize cursor".



You can now press and hold down the left mouse button to resize the window. ChessBase will adjust the other elements correspondingly.

"Docking" windows

If you move the mouse cursor onto the two parallel lines below the separation bar, it will turn into a hand.



Press and hold down the left mouse button. You can now drag the window to some other place on the screen. Watch the window outline – when it snaps into place you have a proper docking place.

Once you have arranged everything the way you want you can save the layout in the menu Window – Layout – Save.

Finally, if you release a menu in a non-docked state, it will be laid over the other windows, until you click the close box in the top left.

Note: The program offer the useful shortcut Ctrl-F6

When you have opened a lot of windows whilst working with ChessBase 14, you can switch between opened ChessBase windows with the key combination (hotkey) Ctrl-F6. That is the same hotkey as in Microsoft Word.

User Interface	201
----------------	-----

The advantage of this solution compared to the task manager is that here you are switching only between the windows opened in the current application (here CB 14). With task manager all open windows are displayed; changed to the desired window there is more laborious.

2.1.7 The Menu Bands

The menu ribbons have different options: Normal, Minimized, Simplified.



This allows you to customize the user interface, or the retrieval of the available functions, according to your own preferences.

2.2 Keyboard Shortcuts

2.2.1 Customize Shortcuts

Menu File - Customize



You can customize ChessBase by assigning a keyboard shortcut to each menu function:

Shortcuts

commands:		Current key:
About - About this program		Alt+F12
Activate - Activate Program		
Add Folder Shortcut - Add a shortcut to a windows folder to your		In part in any sharehouts
Board - Open a new board		input new shortcut:
Board In Database - Open a new board window to be saved into i	•	
Cannibalize - Extract games which are not yet in the reference dat	5	
Check Integrity - Check the technical integrity of all database files		
Chess Media File Open a Chess Media System file		Currently assigned to:
Cloud Databases - Load your cloud databases Cloud Offling - Work on the local convict your cloud databases of		[unassigned]
Collect Openings - Create a new database which merges games h		
Convert to CBH Format - Convert To ChessBase Format		
Copy - Prepare the selected games for copying		
Correspondence Server Games - Login to correspondence chess se	6	Assign
Create Cloud Database - Create a cloud database on cloud server		rongn
Create Search Booster - Create Search Booster (Big index files for f	1	
Customize - Customize Reyboard shortcuts	-	
< >		Defaults

Select the function in the Commands list. Click in the edit field Input new shortcut. Click Assign to link this shortcut to the function.

This is also a useful command reference.

Click the button Copy to copy the list of shortcuts into the windows clipboard so that you can paste it for printing in your text processor.

2.2.2 Keyboard shortcuts for commentary symbols

When you type in text commentary, key names or game data you can use chess figurines and the special symbols used to annotate games. This assumes that the ChessBase <u>fonts</u> have been correctly installed and selected for that purpose. Here are the symbols you can use and the keyboard shortcuts to input them:

Ctrl-K	¢	King
Ctrl-Q	£	Queen
Ctrl-N	¤	Knight
Ctrl-B	¥	Bishop
Ctrl-R		Rook
Ctrl-P	§	Pawn
Ctrl-A	,	Attack
Ctrl-I	f	Initiative
Ctrl-Shift-C	"	Counterplay
Ctrl-Alt-I		With the idea
Ctrl-S	+	Space
Ctrl-Shift-Z	w	Zeitnot (time trouble)
Ctrl-Alt-D	+	Development
Ctrl-L	`	File (line)
Shift-Ctrl-D	'	Diagonal

Ctrl-Alt-Z Ctrl-Alt-C Ctrl-Shift-W	‡ ″ ×	Zugzwang Centre Weak point.
Ctrl-O	тм	Only move
Ctrl-W	а	with
Ctrl-Alt-W	0	without
Ctrl-Alt-Q	«	Queenside
Ctrl-Alt-K	»	Kingside
Ctrl-E	V	Endgame
Ctrl-Alt-P		Pair of bishops
Ctrl-Alt-O	R	Bishops of opposite colour
Ctrl-Alt-E	_	Bishops of same colour
Ctrl-M	0	With compensation for material
Ctrl-1	±	White has the upper hand
Ctrl-2	2	White stands somewhat better
Ctrl-3	÷	Unclear
Ctrl-4	3	Black stands somewhat better
Ctrl-5	μ	Black has the upper hand
Ctrl-Alt-B	1	Better is
Ctrl-Alt-R	1/2	Draw
Ctrl-Shift-P	þ	Passed pawn.

2.2.3 Keyboard shortcuts in games lists

Home/End	Jump to beginning/end of list
Shift-Cursor down / Ctrl-click	Mark games
Shift-Page down	Mark page-full of games
Shift-End	Mark all games to end of list
Ctrl-A	Mark all games
Return	Load/merge marked game(s)
F10 / Ctrl F10	Load next/previous game in list
Ctrl-Cursor left/right	Automatic scrolling
Page up/down	Scroll page up/down
Cursor up/down	Move highlight bar and scroll
Ctrl-G	Go to game number
Alt-Q	Toggle list format, e.g. show notation/ game data
Ctrl-J	Set start move
S	Show statistics for marked/all games
Shift-S	Show piece probability for marked/all games
F5	Copy marked games into <u>clip database</u>
0	Game overview in many diagrams
Т	Generate tournament table
Ctrl-F	Call up <u>search mask</u> to define search
Tab	Switch search mask on/off. If no search mask is defined, next game index

+ (plus key)	Set user <u>medal</u> for game.
Delete	Mark selected games as deleted
Ctrl-C	Mark selected games for copying
Ctrl-V	Paste games marked for copying

2.2.4 Keyboard shortcuts in the board window

Ctrl-F	Flip board
Cursor keys	Play moves forwards and backwards.
*	Replay games automatically
Ctrl-G	Go to move number x.
Ctrl + move (mouse)	Make the move a variation without query
Shift + move (mouse)	Overwrite next move without query
Т	Takeback move, make next move a variation ("T- Note")
Ctrl-Alt-0	Enter null move
Ctrl-Y	Delete variation
Ctrl-Alt-C	Classify game according to opening in reference database
Ctrl-Alt-Shift-C	Classify game according to themes
Shift-F6	Find novelty/compare in reference database
Shift-F7	Show Opening Reference for board position
Tab	Switch notation
М	Close variation
+/-	With the <u>analysis engine</u> on: increase/decrease the number of lines calculated.
Page up/down	Scroll one page up/down in the notation
Home / End	Go to beginning/end of notation
]	Cut remaining moves
[Cut previous moves
Ctrl-Shift-Y	Remove all variations and commentary
Ctrl-A	Enter text commentary after move
Ctrl-Shift-A	Enter text commentary before move
Shift-1 or "!"	Annotate with !, ? etc.
Ctrl-Alt-Y	Delete all graphic commentary
Ctrl-Alt-M	Enter training commentary
Ctrl-Alt-W	Enter correspondence chess header
Ctrl-W	Annotate correspondence chess move
Ctrl-S	Save game

Ctrl-R	Replace game
F10	Load next game in list
Ctrl-F10	Load previous game in list
Alt-F2	Start/stop the default analysis engine
Space	Insert best engine move into notation
Ctrl-Space	Insert best variation of all engines into notation
х	Show threat
у	Calculate next best move(only Fritz engine).
Ctrl-Alt-B	Open/close photos window
Ctrl-Alt-N	Open/close notation window
Esc	Close window
Ctrl-Z	After deleting or reordering variations: Undo

2.2.5 Keyboard shortcuts in the database window

Tab	Switches between window "panes"
F3	Next higher directory level
Ctrl-F12	Go to My databases
Enter	Open selected database/start training.
Ctrl-F	Search for games in selected database.
Ctrl-Alt-L	Switch database preview pane on/off.
Ctrl-0	Open database and add it to <u>My databases</u> .
Ctrl-X	Create a new database in the current directory.
Ctrl-Z	Archive current database.
Ctrl-L	Show games list of the selected database.
Ctrl-P	Show players index of the selected database.
Ctrl-T	Show tournament index of the selected database.
Ctrl-A	Show annotator index of the selected database.
Ctrl-S	Show source index of the selected database.
Ctrl-K	Show openings key of the selected database.
Ctrl-C	Mark all games for copying.
Ctrl-V	Paste all games marked for copying in the selected database.
Ctrl-D	Display databases as detailed list.
Ctrl-I	Display databases as large icons.

2.3 Fonts

ChessBase automatically installs *TrueType fonts* on your system.



For example :

Fonts for notation (including <u>commentary symbols</u>): FigurineCB AriesSP FigurineCB LetterSP FigurineCB TimeSP

Fonts for diagrams: DiagramTTFritz DiagramTTUSCF DiagramTTOldStyle

2.4 Drag & Drop

Drag and drop is the action of clicking something – a database symbol, a game or a piece on the chessboard – holding down the mouse key and letting go somewhere else. ChessBase makes extensive use of Drag & Drop:

• Copy all games from one database into another

Simply drag the symbol of the database onto the destination database and drop it there.



• Copy games from the <u>clipboard</u> into a proper database

In the database window drag the clipboard onto the database symbol.

Copy selected games from a games list into a database

Mark the games in the list (Ctrl-click or Shift-cursor keys). Now move the mouse cursor onto one of the marked games and hold down the mouse key. Drag the games onto a database symbol or into another games list.

Merge selected games into the current game notation

Mark the games in the list and drag them into the game notation of the board window. The games will all be inserted as variations of the current game.

> Copy a variation from one annotated game into another

Use the function Window – Compare notations (or F8) to make both games visible together on the screen. Grab the first move of the variation by clicking with the mouse and drag it into the notation of the other game. It will be inserted as a variation.

Copy a player or tournament

Copy a player from the player index or a tournament from the tournament index to another database.

3 Reference

3.1 Entering and Annotating Games

3.1.1 Analysis engine

An analysis engine or kibitzer is a chess playing program that runs in the background and always analyses the current board position. When you install the program you will normally get Fritz and Crafty to analyse with. You can add more engines, which are available as stand-alone chess playing programs.

Default Engine Fritz 18 Neuronal (1058MB) Browse		Threat 1 	0	6
Heumas		Generate threats		
1 3	6	Instant Analysis		
	1	1	2	6
✓ Heumas Ply				
✓ Assisted Analysis		🗹 Enable		
☑ Legal moves		✓ Endless		
✓ Single click entry				
✓ Forced moves entry				

To start an engine you must open a new "pane" in the <u>board</u> <u>window</u>. This is done with *Home - Default Kibitzer*. You can also press Ctrl-K. Finally there is a Ribbon for the engine in the tool bar (right).

You can add a number of engines and set them to work simultaneously on the position.



But remember they have to all share the processor power and will therefore not be able to analyse so deeply.

Keyboard shortcuts:

Ctrl-K = <u>add new analysis engine</u>. Alt-F2 = start <u>default engine</u>.

Locking an engine to a position

Right-click the engine window and select Lock This will lock the engine to the current position.

You can do this also with a simple Mouse click on the Button in the Engine window.



).g6-g7 罩f8-f3 31.罩d1-d7 鬯a2-e6 32.罩d7xb7 罩f3-f7 33.罩b7-b6 .鬯b3-c4 罩e8-e4 37.鬯c4xf7+ 鬯f3xf7 38.罩b7xf7 ��g8xf7 罩e4-e3 42.罩a1-a2



After that you can move to another position on the board, while the engine continues working on the original position. You can start a second engine and lock it to a different position. The only limit to the number of engines running in parallel is processor power. If you have a multi-processor board each engine can run at 100% speed and use the full power of a processor. If you run two or more engines on a single processor ChessBase will divide the processor power equally amongst the engines.

3.1.2 Enter moves

Move the mouse cursor to the piece you want to move, press and hold down the left mouse key, and place the piece on its destination square. You will notice that when you click the piece ChessBase suggests a destination square. This is done with a "Heuristic move assistant" (Heumas).



If the suggestion is correct simply let go, if not drag the piece to the destination square.

Note:To put games into ChessBase 14 rapidly you can opt for a special <u>input mode</u>. Begin by opening a new board window. Either by clicking on the ribbon "Board" in the database window or with the key combination Ctrl-N. There you will find the ribbon "Input mode".

PLease take also a look to the function Assisted Analysis ...

You can also click the destination square first. Heumas suggests a piece to move there. If it is correct simply let go, if not move the cursor to the correct piece and then let go. In both cases you can also hold down the left mouse key and click the right one to cycle through possible destination squares or pieces. Let go when you hit the correct one.

To cancel the move drop the piece off the board or on an illegal square.

Variations

If you enter a move in the middle of the game and this deviates from the text move ChessBase will ask you what to do with it.

Input new move	×
Old moves	
A) 12Se5	New variation
	New <u>M</u> ain Line
	Overwrite
	Insert
	<u>C</u> ancel

• **New variation** will start a different line of play that will appear parallel to the original moves;

• **New main line** will enter the move as the main line and make the original game a variation;

Overwrite the original moves and replace them with new ones;

• **Insert** the new move into the game, i.e. retain as many of the moves that come after it as possible.

The last function is useful when you have entered a number of moves and discover that one was incorrect (wrong rook or knight, wrong destination square). Instead of entering all moves again use Insert, which will retain as much as possible. Naturally ChessBase will make sure all moves are legal.

Express correction



The express retraction button under the board suppresses

the above query and assumes that the next move you enter

should overwrite the previously entered ones.

Useful keyboard shortcuts

T Take back move and enter new one without query

Ctrl-move Hold down the Ctrl key and enter move to start variation without query

Shift-move Hold down the Shift key and enter move to overwrite without query

See also: How to correct moves during game entry

3.1.3 New input mode for games

To put games into ChessBase rapidly you can opt for a special input mode.

Begin by opening a new <u>board window</u>. Either by clicking on the ribbon "Board" in the database window or with the key combination **Ctrl-N**.

There you will find the ribbon "Input mode".



The function is also available after you have loaded any game from a <u>database</u>.



The differences from the standard input are:

- The analysis function "Assisted Analysis" is switched off.
- Unlike in standard input mode, the variation dialog is logically displayed when there are deviations in the moves.

There is the opportunity to set thinking time.

Move Time	01:40:00	
Move Time (Black)	01:40:00	
Move Time	Rem	aining time
0 min 1 min	2 min	3 min 4 min
5 min 6 min	7 min	8 min 9 min
	Delete	

In this mode the program retains to a great extent tournament information after a new game has been started. So this input mode is ideally suited to those users who, e.g., would like to continue adding games from the same tournament.

212	ChessBase 17
	kasparov
	MyInternetGames
	Mega Database 2016
	CloudClip
	bs2830
	CloudClip

...

3.1.4 Rapid input of games

OK

Within the <u>Mega Database</u> you will find at the moment over 7 million games which you can make use of for the numerous statistical functions on offer in ChessBase. This impressive number of games is only possible because for many years the program has been employed for the entering of tournaments. The input and storing of games has always been very smooth, but with a new input mode the new ChessBase 14 makes things even more easy for tournament organisers who wish to enter and publish the games of a tournament.

Cancel

The decisive difference from the input mode you have known until now is that information contained in the game data is transferred automatically with a consequent saving of time. Let us take a look at how this works with a practical example. You will find the new method for rapid input of games in the board window. First of all start a new board window either by clicking on the ribbon "Board" in the database window or by means of the key combination *Ctrl-N*.

There you will find the ribbon "Input mode" with which you start this special mode.



Moreover, this function is also available after you have loaded any game from a database.

Be aware that in this mode the <u>"Assisted Analysis</u>" function is switched off. Here the focus is on the rapid input of game notation. Another difference from standard game input is that when there is a point at which moves diverge, the variation dialog box is consequently displayed.

In this mode the program retains to a great extent information about the tournament for which a new game has been started. For that reason this input mode is ideally suited to users who, e.g., would like to continue entering games for the same tournament.

3.1.5 Assisted analysis

A new function for ChessBase 14 is "*Assisted Analysis*", which provides valuable hints to the tactical consequences of a possible move by means of coloured highlights on the board.

×.	Assisted Analysis	
Tactical Analysis		
Tactical Analysis	Assisted Analysis	
gs Book	Activate or deactivate Assisted Analysis	
nce Table Training Score sheet Openings Book		
- •	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Board window Analysis menu Assisted Analysis

<u>Tip</u>: Make sure that this function is also activated in the options dialog under <u>Engines</u>! Make

sure that this function is also activated in the options dialog under Engines!

Default Engine	Threat	
Fritz 18 Neuronal (1058MB)	1 3	
Provina		
DIOWSE	✓ Threats	
Heumas	Generate threats	
1 3	6 Instant Analysis	
·	1 2	
✓ Heumas Ply		
Assisted Analysis	☑ Enable	
✓ Legal moves	✓ Endless	
Single click entry		
✓ Forced moves entry		

This function is available to you when you are entering games or when you are analysing games which have already been saved, for example when adding your own variations. When entering moves, if you click on a piece all the squares it can possibly go to are highlighted with different colours.



ChessBase 17

214

The idea behind this analysis function is that in tactically complex situations present day chess engines frequently come up with the best move in mere millisseconds. When you click on a piece, the consequences of a move to all possible target squares are evaluated and each evaluation is highlighted in colour on the board. The sample diagram shows all possible squares to which the black queen could go. Those marked in green are safe and indicate a good move. Squares highlighted in yellow point to a mediocre, but nevertheless playable move, and the squares highlighted in red a clear mistake. The colour blue represents moves from an opening book and black indicates mating moves. Neutral moves are highlighted in orange.

This function is an extension of the classic way an analysis engine has worked until now when a move in entered. The user inputs the move whilst the chess engine is working in the background and displaying the evaluation of the actual position on the board. It is only then that the user has to decide whether to take back the move or to pursue his analysis.

The decisive difference from the new Assisted Analysis is that the evaluation of the move which has been played was only available after it had been played. The new function therefore makes a more efficient use of the analytical capacities of modern engines and shows the user an evaluation before the move has been played on the board. Thus it quickly becomes apparent whether there is a better move than the one which was originally intended.

This procedure is a less laborious way of discovering alternative continuations. An additional positive effect is that the user is continuously being encouraged to hone his or her calculation skills. Whenever you click on a piece and see that what was presumably a plausible target square is outlined in red, this leads to your searching for the refutation of that move and stimulates you in chess terms whereas the classical engine evaluation tends rather to lead to a passive approach to your chess.

Let us sum up the advantages of the Assisted Analysis function:

- You recognise immediately how a move is to be evaluated in terms of quality.
- Whist you are inputting the move, you can focus your whole attention on the chess board without continually looking at what is being displayed in the evaluation window of a running chess engine.
- The function stimulates the calculation of variations and in doing so promotes/trains the user's chess ability.

Tip: Assisted Analysis is not compatible with <u>one-click move entry</u>. If the function is active, it is frequently not the most likely move which is made. The reason for that consists in the fact that Assisted Analysis leads to the user clicking on several pieces one after the other to test how good they are. To avoid such conflicts a <u>new input</u> <u>method</u> has been implemented which is conceived exclusively for the rapid recording of games.

Board window -Start menu Input mode



Alternatively you can set it simply for rapid move input by clicking on the target square.
Reference	217

3.1.6 Trying Out Moves

When you are replaying games it is often interesting to see what reply would have been made if a different move had been made. The <u>board window</u> offers various functions to find this out quickly.

Let us take the following position as an example:



What would happen if White captured the black pawn with his knight on e2? Move the white knight from e2 to d4 without letting go of the mouse button. The following information is displayed on the board with arrows:



In the opinion of the program the most likely continuations would be Na6 or Nb6. This is shown with green arrows on the chess board. These are not necessarily the best continuations, because only a quick search is made, but the information is a useful help while entering or replaying games.

3.1.7 Enter moves with single clicks

The heuristic move assistant "Heumas" is responsible for suggesting plausible moves during game entry.

leumas		
1	3	6
1	0	1
Heumas Ply		
Assisted Analysis		
Legal moves		
Single click entry		

It is an embedded full-fledged chess program. Using Heumas allows you to enter most moves with a single click of the mouse.

Click on a piece (not recommended)

ChessBase will suggest a plausible move. If you accept this suggestion just release the mouse button. If not you can cycle through other alternatives using the right mouse key. Or you can drag the piece onto its destination square.

Click on a square (usually scores best)

Alternatively you can click on a square or an enemy piece and Heumas will highlight the piece which it thinks should move to that square. If the suggestion is correct simply let go, if not move the mouse to the piece you intended while holding down the mouse button. You can also use the right mouse button to cycle through other possibilities.

The quality of Heumas's move suggestions depends on the search depth and can be set in the <u>Options – Engine</u> menu.

How to correct falsely entered moves.

3.1.8 Correcting moves

One wrong move

• Retract the move and enter the correct move. Click Overwrite in the variation window that appears.

• Retract, hold down the Shift key and enter the correct move.



Retract with the express retraction button and enter the correct move.

One wrong move in the middle of the game

Click on the move before the wrong move in the notation, enter the correct move and

click Insert.

Wrong line in the middle of the game

Enter the correct moves as a <u>variation</u>. Click Insert – Variations – Exchange moves. The moves of the variation replace moves in the game. Naturally all the rest of the moves must be legal, otherwise they are cut off.

Missing moves in the game

Click on the position before the missing moves, enter the move pair or pairs (always an even number of moves) as a <u>variation</u>. Click *Insert* Variations Insert into game.

ChessBase will insert the moves and add as much of the rest of the notation to it as makes sense.

3.1.9 How can you insert a possible continuation into a saved game?

There are two ways to do this.

a) You can insert a variation from the last move and repeat the last move in the variation.

b) You can insert a null move (Ctrl-Alt-0) after the last move and then input the analysis as a variation.

3.1.10 Enter position

Menu File New Position Setup ("S").



More information about the interactive position input



Take board

You can take over the current board position into the position input.

Flip board

Rotates the input board, the black pieces are displayed at the bottom of the board.

You can also use Position in... if you know which database you are going to save it in.

• Pieces are selected from the piece bars on the right. Click one or more squares to deposit pieces there.

• The left mouse key gives you the selected colour, the right key the opposite colour.

• Click a second time to remove the piece or drag it off the board.

• You can also drag a piece you have already deposited to another square on the board.

• If you start position entry in a board window then the board position will be offered (which you can modify). The Reset button sets up the starting position, Clear board removes all pieces.

▶ Mirror the position along the x- and y-axis with King <-> Queen, White <-> Black. When you have entered all the pieces you must specify which side it is to move, whether either side can still castle and if an en passant capture is possible in the next move (give the file a - h on which the capture can be made). If the notation shouldn't begin with move number 1 you can enter a different move number.

Copying and inserting ASCII and FEN

In text files you will often find positions described in something like the following form: wKh3, Qh1, Nf2, Pe5, f6, h6, bKd2, Qf4, Ne3, Bd3, Pd4.

Two other diagram formats often used in the chess software community are called FEN (for "Forsyth-Edwards Notation") and EPD (for "Extended Position Description"). Both are very similar and can also be pasted in the ChessBase looks like this:

8/8/5P1P/4P3/3p1q2/3bn2K/3k1N2/7Q w - - 0 1

Here's how transfer these positions into ChessBase: Mark a position description in an editor or Internet browser and press Ctrl-C to copy it into the Windows clipboard. Switch to ChessBase, press "S" for position entry and click the button Paste ASCII or Paste FEN. The position will appear on the board. You can test it in this help file: copy one of the strings given above and paste it in ChessBase. You should get the position shown in the top picture.

To generate position descriptions click Copy ASCII or Copy FEN in the position input window. The description is copied into the Windows clipboard and can be inserted in any word processor by pressing Ctrl-V.

Note:

• ChessBase is pretty flexible in interpreting ASCII diagram descriptions. For instance it ignores text that surrounds the description, unless there is a word that can be interpreted as a piece and square. You can test this by copying all of the above text and pasting it as ASCII.

▶ White and black pieces can alternate. After it finds a "w" ChessBase will switch to white pieces, after "b" to black pieces. The above position will be correctly read even if the pieces are mixed (wKh3, bKd2, wQh1, bQf4, bBd3, wNf2, bNe3, wPe5, f6, h6, bPd4).

• The piece names must be in capitals, the colours in small letters (wK, not WK or wk).

▶ You can put one piece on a number of squares, e.g. wPa2, b2, d4, e5, f2, g2, h2. Actually wPa2b2d4e5f2g2h2 works fine as well.

▶ When you Paste ASCII or FEN the board is first emptied and then the pieces are inserted. This means that you do not have to click Clear board first, but it also means you cannot paste a few additional pieces to an existing position (you can add them with the mouse).

3.1.11 Interactive Position Setup

You can start the dialog for position input at any time in the program by pressing the " \mathbf{S} " key.

If you do this in the start screen, the new interactive position input with parallel display of suitable games from the <u>reference database</u> with <u>similar constellation</u> is started, which is also used for the new interactive search mask.

The display of the matching games (game list) can be seen in the right section of the window. This new function offers numerous advantages in practical use. If you enter a position from a chess book, there is a good chance that you will find the game in the list. Then you can save further input and get the complete position with one click.

Besides, this is an interesting interactive search for position fragments. It is also used in the position input of the new search mask.

In practice, you will click on some of the offered game entries to look at the position. But how do you get back to the originally defined search criterion? Here is an application example.

You define the following constellation via the position input.



This lists games from the database in which <u>heterogeneous castles</u> were executed. After you have clicked on one or more game list entries, the originally defined search criterion is no longer present on the board, but the game position of the selected game.

8	Ï			Ŵ		Ï	Ś				Castling White 0-0	243 Games 1965: Csulits,An - Franz,Jo 1975: Couris Pulsers Could Addition An
7		-Qu			÷	1			¥ ¥		 Black 0-0 Black 0-0-0 	1975: Garcia Paternio, 24 - Cutoko, An 1975: Ondi, Gy - Triller, Ru 1979: Horvath, Ta - Deze, An (2415) 1979: Kagan Sh (2445) - Hushner, Ro (2595)
6					1						Side to move	1981: Nicevski, Ri (2410) - Sahovic, Dr (2470) 1983: Bistrikova, El (2139) - Semina, Sv (2181) 1989: Stabolewski, An - Quelle, He
5				1	2		2				 <u>W</u>hite ● <u>B</u>lack 	1989: Verbaere, Ph - Praud, Je (2265) 1990: Mirovshchikov, Se - Marchenko, I 1990: Romero, J - Garcia Padron, Jo (2420) 1901: Auer Ma (2300) - Rechmann Pa (2355)
4	1			Ø		2		2				1991: Fuk Nun, Pe (2105) - Euler, Ge 1991: Fink Nun, Pe (2105) - Euler, Ge 1992: Hernandez Guerrero, Gi (2495) - Adla, Di (2435) 1992: Kuczynski, Ro (2525) - Luther, Th (2435)
3					÷ , ,			÷.				1993: Brudnova,Ja - Jakubikova,V 1993: Cortes,An (2100) - Maruejols,Cl (1950) 1993: Torok,Jo (2290) - Bachler,Re (2210)
2	°C (°°(2	Ŵ	E)					L	<u>U</u> ndo	1994: Dojkova,Ga (2215) - Roshina, T 1994: Nill,OI - Schmitt,Gu 1994: Owosina,To (2075) - Yahya,H (2150) 1904: Biemeerme Li (2040), Van den Deel Fr
1		Ż	Ï					Ï	King<->Queen		Copy ASCII	1994: Tolnai, Ti (2540) - Danner Ge (2440) 1995: Emunds, Ha (2195) - Hengelbrock, Jo 1995: Emunds, Ha (2195) - Hengelbrock, Jo
1	а	b	с	d	e	f	g	h			Paste <u>A</u> SCII	1995: Sanchez Almeyra, Jo (2430) - Quatrini, AI (2210)
м	we numbe	-	10 +	En	naeeant:				Flip board		Pagte FEN	

You now have two options:

- You can edit the new board position and thus define a new search criterion if necessary.

- In practice, however, the user will want to return to the original search criterion. One or more clicks on the "Undo" button will bring back the original position fragment. This method can be used to view different games!

For more detailed information, please refer to the description of the interactive search mask.



Take board

You can take over the current board position into the position input.

Flip board

Rotates the input board, the black pieces are displayed at the bottom of the board.

3.1.12 Annotating games

There are many different forms of annotation:



- <u>Variations</u> alternative continuations that can be replayed on the board.
- Text commentary embedded in the game (e.g. "This is the critical position.").

• <u>Symbol commentary</u> – in the form of special chess symbols inserted before or after a move.

• <u>Graphic commentary</u> – in the form of coloured arrows and squares on the chessboard.

- <u>Training commentary</u> with training questions, answers, points, times, help, etc.
- <u>Correspondence chess commentary</u> to automate the management of correspondence chess games.
- <u>Critical position</u> critical openings, middlegame and endgame positions.

• <u>Pawn structure and piece path</u> – to highlight the pawn structure or graphically display a piece path.

• <u>Medals</u> – a special award for best game, tournament decider, model game, novelty, repertoire, strategy, tactics, etc.



The <u>annotation palette</u> is a helpful tool for quick entering of symbol commentary and variations.

	16.Ld2 1c8 17.Tad1 L				13
	1/2-1/2	En	ter Variation	т	L
		Pr	omote Variation	Strg+Alt+Nach-Oben	L
Delete Variation	Strg+Y	De	elete	•	
Delete Remaining Moves	1	Te	ext Before Move	Umschalt+Strg+A	L
Delete Previous Moves]	Te	ext After Move	Strg+A	L
Delete All Commentary	Umschalt+Strg+Y	1,3	?,	•	L
Delete Multimedia Commentary		+-	·, =,	= >	L
Delete Correspondence Commentar	у	Se	t Prefix	\$ *	L
Delete Colour Commentary	Strg+Alt+Y	Sp	ecial Annotation	# >	L
Delete Fritz Commentary	Umschalt+Alt+Y	In	sert Diagram		L
		Fo	old	,	Г
		V Sh	ow Material		L

3.1.13 Annotation palette

Board window: Insert (Ctrl-Alt-S)

	Analysis	Training	View			
h rt am	Annotations	ም Set Mark 建 Set Evaluat € Prefix	tion ~ ~	Enter Variation	End Variation	Delete Variatio
nno	otations					v
	🥐 Oper	n a palette with	n annot	ation symb	ols (Strg+/	Alt+S)
		0		📕 La	asker,Em	anuel -

There is a special annotation palette that helps you insert <u>chess commentary symbols</u> with a single click.

$\begin{array}{c c} 1 & ? & 1? & ?1 \\ +- & \pm & = \\ & & \\ & & \\ \end{array} \end{array} \begin{array}{c} & \\ \end{array} \end{array} \begin{array}{c} +- & \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \pm & \\ \end{array} \end{array} \begin{array}{c} = \\ \end{array} \end{array}$!! ?? □ ∞ ∓ ∓ □ ⊕ N △ ▼ None
Text Before Move	After Move
Variation	
Start	End Variation
Promote	Delete

▶ The first line contains move evaluations (good move, blunder, etc.) that appear after a move.

• The next two lines are mainly position evaluations (White is better, unclear). They also appear after a move.

• The symbols in the fourth line (better is, with the idea, etc.) are automatically inserted before the move.

• "None" removes any symbols attached to the current move.

When you move the mouse cursor onto a symbol its meaning is displayed.

• Text before move / after move

Use this to enter <u>text commentary</u> in front of or behind the current move.

Start variation

Takes back the current move and allows you to add an alternate line (equivalent to pressing "T").

Promote variation

The current variation is promoted to the next-higher level, and the variation there becomes the subvariation. Ctrl-Z will undo this action.

Delete variations

Removes the current variation and all subvariations from the game. Ctrl-Z will undo.

End variation

Ends the variation and jumps to the main line, so you can continue entering the moves of the main line.

See also the Information about Notation Toolbar

3.1.14 Text commentary

Board window: Insert Text before/after move

The dialog for text input has been revised. The user can freely define which language settings are to be added.

With "Add Language" you can add languages for your text comments, which you simply select from the available list. If the "**All**" option is activated, the text comments will be displayed in the predefined language setting when the moves are replayed in the notation window.



Annotate with text before move (Umschalt+Strg+A)

You can also right-click a move, press Ctrl-A / Shift-Ctrl-A, or use the <u>annotation</u> <u>palette</u>.

228	Ches	ssBase 17	
	En	A Constant Select All 📄 🧥 📩	
	Rep	All English Deutsch This game contains one of the blueprint for future similar do opponents' kings.	ne beautiful uble bishop
6	benir efere beii Lebe	Add Language × English Deutsch Français Español Italiano Nederlands	
C	fices	Polskie Čeština Русский 中文 ОК Cancel	guage Help

assive Black play in the opening White's army is ready for action, and Lasker bec

Most of the Windows edit commands are available during text annotation. For instance you can use the cursor keys, Ctrl-X to cut, Ctrl-C to copy, Ctrl-V to paste. It is also possible to copy a text from a different source, e.g. a word processor, and paste it into the game. Enter inserts a new paragraph. You leave the editor by clicking Ok or pressing Alt-0.

Reference

229

Notation +	Openings B	ook								▼ ×
Notation	Reference	Replay training	Table	Plan Explorer	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Book	My Moves	Surveys	
		A03 Ams	Lasker, E terdam '	Emanuel - Ba VAS Int-01 N	u er,Johann Aasters (1) 2	Hermann 6.08.1889	1-0 [Kasparov,G]			
This gam blueprint opponen späteren kostete. 6.@q1-f3 11.@f3-e! opening schwarze die entscl [] 14 Ef8-g8 15.@d3xh	e contains for future ts' kings. D Läuferpaar 1.f2-f4 d7 \$c8-b7 5 @d7xe5 White's arm n Spiel in d heidende A 4d5-d4 1 3 18. \$ d3xh 7+!	one of the bear similar double iese Partie beir opfern als Vork -d5 2.e2-e3 & 7.@b1-c3 @b8 12.@b2xe5 @ ny is ready for the Eröffnung st tttacke. 14.@g: 15.@e5xf6 @e7 n7!]	utiful con bishop s haltet ei bild dier 2q8-f6 3-d7 8.0 7c7-c6 1 action, a cehen die 3-h5 20 xf6 16.1	mbinations o acrifices that ine der schör ite und zahln 3.b2-b3 e7-)-0 0-0 9. I3.營d1-e2 a nd Lasker be e weißen Figu f6xh5 暨e2-g4 當g8	f the young destroyed t isten Kombi eiche gegne e6 4.2c1-b 0c3-e2 c7-c 7-a6 A Afte gins the fina uren zum Ar 8-h8 (1	Lasker wh he lives of nationen (rische Kön 2 \$f8-e7 5 10.@e2 er verv par al storm N agriff berei 6e6-e5	nich created a dozens of his des jungen Lask ige das Leben 5.愈f1-d3 b7- ?-q3 凹d8-c7 ssive Black play ach sehr passiv t. Lasker beginn 17.愈d3-e4!) 17	xer, die b6 in the em ht nun 7.≣f1-f3		 ₩ № Aa № ₩
	<mark> </mark> 4 6 8	10 12 1	4 16	18 20 22	24 26	28 30	32 34 36	38 40	42	
† 🔀] 🖺	🚛 👬 !! !	!? ?	! ? ?? +	± ≛	= ∞	≌ ∓ ∓ -+	. ≠ 🥔	合命	×

Language

When adding text commentary you should specify the language you are writing in. This determine whether the commentary is displayed in the notation or not (see Language). The language is set the top of the annotation window: "ALL" is for neutral commentary which will always appear, "Eng" is English, "Deu" German, "Fra" French, "Esp" Spanish", "Ita" Italian, "Ned" Dutch. There are a few more languages to the right (click the arrow button to view them). Hit the Tab key to toggle languages.

See also Language selection by mouse click

Chess commentary symbols

You can use figurines and chess commentary symbols to annotate games. This can be done from the <u>keyboard</u> or in the <u>annotation palette</u>.

Diagrams

Right-click a move and use "Insert Diagram". When you print out the game or generate a text or HTML file a diagram will be inserted in this position. You can mark as many positions as you like for diagrams in a game notation.

3.1.15 Supplementary moves at the end of a game notation

With this program version and the new <u>data format</u> ***.2cbh** you can set an identifier for the end of a game and after the end of the game (result) moves can still follow. This can be useful for example to better illustrate a certain chess fact.

The screenshot shows what this is about:



Within the notation you will see further subsequent moves, gladly also with explanatory text commentary.

You can start this function at any time via the toolbar below the notation view.



By clicking on the button with the black dot you set the identifier, i.e. the end of the game within the notation.

If you now enter moves, variations or, for example, text comments, these will be taken over regardless of the result (game length in the list view). This makes it much easier to enter a final conclusion to a finished game.



3.1.16 Fonts Commentary Box

When annotating games in Chessbase and you open up the commentary box (Enter text after move), how can you increase/decrease the font size within this box?

There is no way to change the font size in the annotation dialogue.

3.1.17 Language selection by mouse click

ChessBase offers the possibility of assigning <u>text commentaries</u> to a paricular language, so commentaries can be made in parallel in <u>different languages</u>.

The program offers a comfortable way of switching between languages.

Next to the notation the languages used for the text commentary are displayed by miniature flags.

You can change to another language by clicking on one of the flags.



3.1.18 Variations

Board window: Insert Variations.



A variation is an <u>alternative</u> to the next text move. Basically you take back a move and enter another one instead. In the game notation the variation is given in brackets and indented.

A variation can be started by simply entering an alternative move, which automatically produces a <u>variation window</u>. You can also use the <u>annotation palette</u> or the actions available in the Insert – Variations menu:

• Enter variation

Takes back the current move and allows you to add an alternate line (equivalent to pressing "T").

End variation

Ends the variation and jumps to the main line, so you can continue entering the moves of the main line.

Delete variations

Removes the current variation and all subvariations from the game. Ctrl-Z will undo.

Promote variation

The current variation is promoted to the next-higher level, and the variation there becomes the subvariation. Ctrl-Z will undo this action.

Exchange moves

The moves of the variation replace moves in the game. Naturally all the rest of the moves must be legal, otherwise they are cut off.

• Insert into game

Allows you to insert a number of moves into the game notation (see $\underline{correcting moves}$).

Reorder variations

The variations will be reorganized on the basis of chess criteria. The most important continuations become the main variations, i.e. all lines that have a large number of subvariations will be promoted at all levels to main variations.

• Cleanup variations

This function merges variations from different parts of the game which go from the same position.

Entering moves has been made much easier. The variation dialog pops up less often. If an alternative move is entered in the notation a variation is usually created without a variation dialog being displayed.

The variation dialog is displayed if an alternative move to the last move is entered, because this is a case in which errors frequently have to be corrected.

Old moves	
7g6	New variation
7d3	New Main Line
	Overwrite
	Insert
	Cancel

3.1.19 Stopping the variation box from appearing

Entering moves just became easier. The <u>variation dialogue</u> is rarely displayed and when entering an alternative move in the notation a new variation is almost always created directly - without displaying a variation box.

Only on the last move does the variation box appear since experience has shown that this is where errors are corrected.

Old moves	
8dxc4? 9.0-0 Le7	New variation
8d4	New <u>M</u> ain Line
	Overwrite
	Insert

 Start - Undo allows you to undo changes. Pressing and holding the CTRL key stops the variation box from appearing.

In the <u>new input mode</u> for games the dialog is always displayed.

3.1.20 Editorial annotation

Board window: (Shift-Ctrl-R)

This causes ChessBase to consult the <u>Online Database</u> and insert game references to the closest matches. This is done in the style of the Chess Informant's "RR" commentary.

3.1.21 Promotion

If you deal intensively with endgame compositions and therefore use intensively the <u>position setup</u> of the program to store the endgame positions in a separate database. In many endgame problems a transformation is mandatory for the solution. If you place the l-pawn on the last row for conversion, it is always converted to a queen. In the options you have switched off the option "*Always convert to queen*".

How can I make the program convert to another piece, for example a knight?

Example: in this position, Black can force mate by converting g2-g1 S to a knight.



When you move the pawn to the last row, is it automatically converted to a queen?

Before you move the pawn to the last row for conversion, press the key combination *CTRL+SHIFT*. Keep the key combination pressed!

Now the following dialog is displayed:



Here you can now simply select the desired figure type that the program is to set by mouse click.

<u>Tip</u>: this procedure also works on our chess server at Playchess.com if you use the Windows client to play the games.

3.1.22 Critical positions

Menu: Insert - Annotations Special annotation

You can also right-click the notation and use Special annotation.

Set Medal	п
Critical Opening Position	
Critical Middlegame Position	
Critical Endgame Position	
Pawn structure	
Piece Path	
Game Quotation	
Enter Weblink	
Training Annotation	Strg+Alt+M
Correspondence Header	Strg+Alt+W
Correspondence Move	Strg+W
Variation Colour	

Label positions according to the following scheme:

Critical position – opening

Marks the current move in blue.

Critical position – middlegame

Marks the current move in red.

• Critical position – endgame

Marks the current move in green.

You can use the <u>search mask</u> to find games which contain critical positions.

3.1.23 Removing critical positions from notation

The coloured marking shows that this is a critical middlegame position. This was set manually by the person who worked on the game notation. It can be removed manually.

A right click on the move highlighted in colour starts a context menu.

From that menu you now choose Delete - "Delete critical position"

	Add to White Repertoire Add to Black Repertoire	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+A Umschalt+Strg+Alt+D			-6- -6- -6-	in the second se	
3	Enter Variation	Т	L .		-a		
-	Promote Variation	Alt+Nach-Oben			-a- -a-		
-	Delete	۱.		Delete Variation		Strg+Y	
+	Text Before Move	Umschalt+Strg+A		Delete Remaining Moves		1	
5	Text After Move	Strg+A		Delete Previous Moves]		
-	l, ?,	- 		Delete All Commentary		Umschalt+Strg+Y	
-	+-, =,	= •		Delete Multimedia Commer	ntary		
	Set Prefix	S +		Delete Correspondence Con	nmentary		
	Special Annotation	# >		Delete Training Commentar	у		
	Move Time	Strg+J		Delete Colour Commentary		Strg+Alt+Y	
	Insert Diagram			Delete Fritz Commentary		Umschalt+Alt+Y	
	Fold	•		Delete Text Commentary			
	Show Material			Delete Critical Position			
\checkmark	Show Tooltips			Delete Path/Structure			
	Choose Font			Delete Quotation			
-	Close			Delete Weblink			

This does away with the coloured highlighting of the move which will then appear in the desired colour, namely black.

3.1.24 Graphic commentary

ChessBase uses <u>coloured arrows</u> and squares to illustrate tactical points and make strategic themes and plans more clear.

The color palette for annotation has been extended with the present program version.

To clarify constellations of forces on the chessboard you can set graphic comments. Graphic comments are squares or arrows marked in different colors on the chessboard. The current version offers an extended color selection compared to previous versions. A total of six different color combinations are now available.

All available options for graphical comments are shown in the screenshot below.

The graphic elements are entered using a combination of mouse and keyboard:



How does the color selection work?

You press one of the key combinations below and set a field marker by clicking or dragging.

Either with the left or the right mouse button.

Alt-Key +	Left Mouse Button	Green
Alt-Ctrl +	Left mouse button	Yellow
Alt-Shift +	Left mouse button	Red
Alt-Key +	Right Mouse Button	Dark Blue
Alt-Ctrl +	Right Mouse Button	Orange
Alt-Shift +	Right Mouse Button	Mangenta

See also

3.1.25 Coloured circle in the notations?

In the notation you now often find a coloured symbol. What does it mean?



This symbol points out that within the notation there is some <u>graphic commentary</u>. After a click on the symbol the relevant graphic commentary is immediately displayed on the chess board.

3.1.26 Medals

Medals are coloured marks that are given to games which have some extraordinary aspect – best game, tournament decider, model game, novelty, repertoire, strategy, tactics, etc. They appear as stripes in the games list and define the character of the game.

Medals	Annotator	*
	Avrukh,B	
	Roiz,M	
	Har Zvi	
	Avrukh,B	

Games from ChessBase Magazine with medals.

The following medals are available in ChessBase:



How to set medals

- ▶ Right-click a move and use Special annotation Set Medal
- ▶ Keyboard: Type quotation mark (")"

You can search for games with medals in the search mask.

You can set the user medal directly in the games list by typing a plus ("+") on selected games.

3.1.27 Removing medals

Many games, e.g. those from *ChessBase Magazine*, have <u>Medals</u> attached to them. Whenever a game stands out in some particular way, it gets a medal. Medals appear in the form of coloured stripes in all game lists so that the relevant games attract one's attention straight away.

Frequently one or several medals can be found at the start of the game notation immediately before the first move.

Best game	□ <u>S</u> acrifice
Decided tournament	
<u>M</u> odel game (opening plan)	Material
✓ Novelty	☑ P <u>i</u> ece play
Pawn structure	<u>E</u> ndgame
St <u>r</u> ategy	Tactical blunder
✓ <u>I</u> actics	✓ Strategical blunder
<u> </u>	✓ User
	Reset

You can now use the mouse to uncheck the boxes which have been ticked in order to remove those medals from the notation.

3.1.28 Bookmark games in ChessBase

_

There is no separate bookmarking feature, but there is a way to do this.

At the point in the game where you want to insert your "**bookmark**", right-click on the move, select "Special annotation" from the popup menu, and select "Set medal" from the submenu.

241



Choose a medal type (I typically select "User") and click "OK".

Best game	Sacrifice
Decided tournament	Defense
Model game (opening plan)	Material
Novelty	Piece play
Pawn structure	Endgame
Strategy	Tactical blunder
Tactics	Strategical blunder
With attack	✓ User
	Reset
ОК	Cancel

Then be sure to use "Replace game" (File/Replace) to save your bookmark.

To find your game later, either look for the medal in the game list (if it's a small database) or use the "Medals" tab in the search mask to look for all games containing the type of medal you use for your bookmarks. When you double-click on the game to load it (after a search), the game will be loaded with that exact position already on the chessboard.

To "unbookmark" a game, just right-click on the move, select "*Special annotation/Set medal*", click on the proper medal box to remove it, and click "OK".

3.1.29 Color bars

In the game list you find sometimes color bars that appear in the information for a game.

19.08.1851	c	
1851	VCS	
1851		
1851		
1051		

What do they mean?

To get more information take a look at the definitions.

1. Open the game for which you want to see what the colors mean.

2.Right Click on any move. Special Annotation -> Select Medal

3. Check or uncheck any box to see what color is associated with it.

3.1.30 Insert a diagram before the first move

Rightclick for example on the 1st move of the game. The hotkey **Ctrl+Shift+A** open the "*Enter Game Text*" window before a move.

Type the text "Diagram" and click OK.

Insert a diagram that appear when the game is printed out

Click on the move that you want the diagram to appear after. *Rightclick -> Insert Diagram*



In the game notation you should see the Diagram.



5.Ld3 c5 6.Sf3 d5 7.0-0 cxd4 8.exd4 dxc4 9.Lxc4 b6 10.Lg5 Lb7 11.Se5 Lxc3 12.bxc3 Dc7 13.Te1 Sbd7 e5 17.Dh5 e4 18.Tae1 Dxc3 19.Lb5 Dxd4 20.Td1 Sf6 21.Txd4 Sxh5 22.Lxe8 Txe8 23.Td7 Lc8 24.Td8 Txc q6 28 Txh5 Lxa2 29 q4 Sq7 30.Lf6 h6 31 Tb8+ Kh7 32 Ta8 Le6 33 Txa7 q5 34 f3 Kq6 35.Ld4 Ld5 36 Kf

Remove a diagram from being printed out

Reference	245
-----------	-----

Click on the move before the word Diagram in the game score and then rightclick -> Insert Diagram. In the game notation you can see that the word Diagram has disappeared.

3.1.31 Pawn structure and piece path

Board window: Insert Annotations Special annotation Pawn structure/Piece path

Pawn structure
Piece Path
Delete Path/Structure

Displays the pawn structure or the path of a piece during the game.



You can display the piece path by simply pressing "&".



Both diagrams disappear when you click anywhere or press a key (e.g. cursor right for the next move).

3.1.32 Commenting functions

One of the essential functions of the database program and our chess programs is the possibility to <u>comment on games</u>. This is not only useful for journalists or blog operators, but every user can benefit from this function when analyzing and commenting on his own games afterwards. There are a variety of extremely useful tools for commenting, within this article we will present the most important functions.

Load a game into the <u>board window</u> displaying board position, notation and game headers. At the bottom of the <u>notation window</u> you will find the comment bar, which allows you to insert the most important comment symbols directly into the notation with a mouse click.

11.	l ■ .≝d1- [■ ∲d6x	101 - c2 a The p xe5	07-b6 a5-a4 previo 14.d4	11.0 12.⊄ usly p we5?!	4xd5 \d2-f blave <i>な</i> \d7	eb) 13 Vis d 12 7- <i>b6</i>	d5 shy c .b3x 15.0	1∠.≘a lecides a4!?al c4xd5	I-сТ <u>§</u> not t so con ебхd5	eco-t o rea nes to 5 16.	の/ 13.e ct to the consid <i>異a1-b1</i>	2-e3 e aqq lerati ේ <i>හිති</i>	t] ressiv on: 4 5-c4‡	/e adva ∆f6-e4 ₹ 0-1 (2	ince c 13.4 9) Go	of Blac Od2xe odanc	:k'sa-r :4 (<mark>■</mark> :v.A (2)	0awn. 13.4 550)-9	∆d2-f3 Sandig	} ban,	*	
414-17/4	, ,		тĝ	1	X	10	12	17 7	1 7	77	; - 20 +- +	+- 22 ±		, - 25 ∞ ∝	-+ 22	20	-+ Z	, 2 2 ⊘		- 	×	

For example, by clicking the button you can insert a diagram.



A largely unknown option: you can also simply enter the preferred keyboard shortcuts using the keyboard! For example, enter an exclamation mark via the keyboard. This allows you to very quickly annotate a game notation using the keyboard shortcuts without clicking the mouse. For decades, the Chess Informator was the indispensable standard for viewing chess games. To ensure that the annotations were understandable to all players, regardless of their native language, a standard for annotations/comments was set by the editors of the Informator over the years. You can access these symbols within ChessBase via the annotation palette.

You start the comments palette via the menu Insert - Comments.

If you work as much as possible with the keyboard, it is even faster with the *Ctrl-Shift-S hotkey*. Now you can see all comment symbols via the palette, if you pause with the mouse over a symbol, the meaning is displayed.

Of course, a text comment is more meaningful than comment symbols. Use our programs to insert your views, assessments and comments via text into the relevant parts of the notation.

Notation Reference Replay training Table Plan Explorer Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves Surveys Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2867 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 - Carlsen, Magnus East Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2867 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 - Carlsen, Magnus East Image: Anand, Viswanathan 2867 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 - Carlsen, Magnus Image: Anand, Viswanathan East Image: Anand			
Anand,Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen,Magnus 2865 0-1 Ago Grenke Chess Classic 3rd Baden-Baden (4) 06.02.2015 [Roiz,M] 1.d2-d4 f7-f5 2.q2-q3 &q8-f6 3.\$f1-q2 e7-e6 4.c2-c4 c7-c6 5.&q1-f3 d7-d5 The Stonewall system must have come as a surprise for Vishy. Magnus prefers to deviate from the main theoretical lines as soon as possible. 6.0-0 \$f8-d6 7.b2-b3 \vert d8-e7 Avoiding the exchange of the dark-squared bishops. 8.&f3-e5 0-0 9.&b1-d2 White goes for a classical plan of occupying the central square with both of his knights. 9a7-a5 A typical useful move for such a structure - Black is getting some space for his q-side pieces and preventing White from advancing the b-pawn. [\equiv 9c6-c5 10.e2-e3 &b8-c6 11.\$c1-b2 c5xd4 12.e3xd4±] [\equiv 9b7-b6 10.c4xd5 e6xd5 (\equiv 10c6xd5 11.\$d2-c4!\$t) 11.\$c1-b2 \$c8-b7 12.\$za1-c1\$t] 10.\$c1-b2 This natural developing move seems most promising. [\equiv 9b7-b6 11.c4xd5 e6xd5 12.\$za1-c1 \$c8-b7 13.e2-e3\$t] 11.\$vd1-c2 a5-a4 12.\$vd2-f3 Vishy decides not to react to the aggressive advance of Black's a-pawn. [\equiv 10b7-b6 11.c4xd5 e6xd5 12.\$za1-c1 \$c8-b7 13.e2-e3\$t] 11.\$vd1-c2 a5-a4 12.\$vd2-f3 Vishy decides not to react to the aggressive advance of Black's a-pawn. [\equiv The previously played 12.b3xa4!? also comes to consideration: \$va6-c4 \$z 01 (29) Goganov.A (2550)-Sandipan. ***********************************	Notation Reference Replay training Table Plan Explorer Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves	s Surveys	
 1.d2-d4 f7-f5 2.q2-q3 @q8-f6 3.≜f1-q2 e7-e6 4.c2-c4 c7-c6 5.@q1-f3 d7-d5 The Stonewall system must have come as a surprise for Vishy. Magnus prefers to deviate from the main theoretical lines as soon as possible. 6.0-0 &£8-d6 7.b2-b3 @d8-e7 Avoiding the exchange of the dark-squared bishops. 8.@f3-e5 0-0 9.@b1-d2 White qoes for a classical plan of occupying the central square with both of his knights. 9a7-a5 A typical useful move for such a structure - Black is getting some space for his q-side pieces and preventing White from advancing the b-pawn. [● 9c6-c5 10.e2-e3 @b8-c6 11.&c1-b2 c5xd4 12.e3xd4±] [● 9c6-c5 10.e2-e3 @b8-c6 11.&c1-b2 c5xd4 12.e3xd4±] [● 9b7-b6 10.c4xd5 e6xd5 (● 10c6xd5 11.&d2-c4!±) 11.&c1-b2 &c8-b7 12.&a1-c1±] 10.&c1-b2 This natural developing move seems most promising. [● Black doesn't experience any problems after 10.@d2-f3 b7-b6 11.@d1-c2 &c8-b7 12.&c1-f4 @f6-e4 13.@e5-d3 &d6xf4 14.@d3xf4 @b8-d7=] 10c2 a5-a4 12.@d2-f3 Vishy decides not to react to the aggressive advance of Black's a-pawn. [● The previously played 12.b3xa4!? also comes to consideration: @f6-e4 13.@d2xe4 (● 13.@d2-f3 & d6xe5 14.d4xe5?! &d7-b6 15.c4xd5 e6xd5 16.Ea1-b1 &b6-c4±0-1(29) Goganov.A (2550)-Sandiban. 	Anand, Viswanathan 2797 - Carlsen, Magnus 2865 0-1 🟪 🎆 🚮 A90 Grenke Chess Classic 3rd Baden-Baden (4) 06.02.2015 [Roiz, M]		
êd6xe5 14.d4xe5?! Ød7-b6 15.c4xd5 e6xd5 16.≅a1-b1 Øb6-c4∓Ω-1 (29) Goαanov.A (2550)-Sandiban. 💌	 Ago Grenke Chess Classic 3rd Baden-Baden (4) 06.02.2015 [Roiz,M] 1.d2-d4 f7-f5 2.q2-q3 @q8-f6 3.ģf1-q2 e7-e6 4.c2-c4 c7-c6 5.@q1-f3 d7-d5 The Stonewall syst must have come as a surprise for Vishy. Magnus prefers to deviate from the main theoretical lines as spossible. 6.0-0 ģf8-d6 7.b2-b3 營d8-e7 Avoiding the exchange of the dark-squared bishops. 8.@f3-e5 0-0 9.@b1-d2 White goes for a classical plan of occupying the central square with both of h knights. 9a7-a5 A typical useful move for such a structure - Black is getting some space for his q-sid and preventing White from advancing the b-pawn. [9c6-c5 10.e2-e3 @b8-c6 11.ġc1-b2 c5xd4 12.e3xd4±] [9c6-c5 10.e2-e3 @b8-c6 11.ġc1-b2 c5xd4 12.e3xd4±] [9cb-c5 10.e2-e3 @b8-c6 11.ġc1-b2 c5xd4 12.e3xd4±] [9b7-b6 10.c4xd5 e6xd5 (10c6xd5 11.@d2-c4!±) 11.ġc1-b2 ģc8-b7 12.≣a1-c1±] 10.ậc1-b2 This natural developing move seems most promising. [Black doesn't experience any problems after 10.@d2-f3 b7-b6 11.營d1-c2 ģc8-b7 12.ġc1-f4 13.@e5-d3 ģd6xf4 14.@d3xf4 @b8-d7=] 10c5-d3 2.63-d2-f3 Vishy decides not to react to the aggressive advance of Black's a-pawn. [The previously played 12.b3xa4!? also comes to consideration: @f6-e4 13.@d2xe4 (13.@d2) 	stem coon as his le pieces 4 ♠f6-e4	 ★ ₹ ₹ € Aa € % ↓
	BUOXED 14.04XED:: 907-D0 13.04X03 E0X03 10.001-D1 900-04±0-11791 G00800V.A (25501-5		

With a double click on a move in the notation you start the input window for the \underline{text} <u>comments</u>. Optionally you can define the language setting.

Notation + Opening	s Book			* *
Enter text after move				
All	English			
English				
Deutsch	A typical useful move for s	such a structure - Black is ge	etting some space for his	q-side piece
	and preventing white iron	n advancing the p-pawn.		
Add Language	×			
English				
Deutsch Francais				
Español				
Italiano Nederlands				
Polskie				
Ceština Decemič	Add	Language		
中文				
				0.1
→ → I		Help		Cancel
ОК	Cancel ewall (withB	d6)		1

You can now add comments in multiple languages and specify which language setting of the text is displayed. If you select the "**All**" option, all text comments - regardless of the language - will be displayed.

Text comments can be added before or after a move. To do this, simply click the red or black pawn icon in the comment bar below the notation, but it also works - as so often within the program - with a right-click on a move.

Besides text, variants are an important part of a well annotated game. There is no good chess book without illustrating variants, of course you can integrate them into the notation within our programs!

If you want to add a new alternative move to an existing variation, the program offers the variation dialog by holding down the CTRL key.

You can specify here whether you want to start a new variant, create a new main line or overwrite the existing move. If you enter the alternative move without pressing the CTRL key, it will be inserted directly into the notation.

Finally, you can change the structure of the variants in a complex variant tree. Here, too, a right-click helps in an uncomplicated way.

Use the presented functions to deal with your own or important games afterwards. You can exchange knowledge with other chess friends, coaches etc. via the extended notations and thus do a lot for the improvement of your own playing strength.

By the way, you can use the <u>text output of a chess engine</u> to annotate a game!

3.1.33 Saving games

When you enter a game it is initially only stored in memory. Use **Save** or **Save Game as** to store it permanently in a database. A save window appears in which you can type in all the relevant data about the game.

Please read carefully Changed coventions



The game (or <u>database text</u>) are stored at the end of the database.

You can also store a Game in the <u>Cloud</u> directly.

File	Home	Insert	Board	Report	Analysis	Training	Vi
Ne	ew	► R	ecent Games				
_		1	Kasparov, G-I	Beliavsky,A, C	andidates qf2	2 1983	
<u> </u>	pen	▶ 2	Kasparov, G-I	Bradbury,N, I	ondon sim 19	983	
H Sa	ve	▶ 3	Kasparov, G-I	Bradbury,N, I	ondon sim 19	83	
		4	Kortschnoj, V	/-Kasparov,G,	Luzern ol (Me	en) 1982	
Sa Sa	ve Game As	5	Kortschnoj, V	-Kasparov, G,	Luzern ol (Me	en) 1982	
Save To CI	oud	6	Ye,J-Tong,Y,	Lee Cup 4th I	Beijing 1997		
Pri Pri	int	▶ 2	Atalik, S-Alte	rman,B, Lee (Cup 4th Beijin	g 1997	
Dia	agram List	•	Anderssen,A	-Dufresne,J,	Berlin 'Evergr	een' 1852	
		9	Stellung für	Suchtiefe-, 3	/92-04 aus PL\	(1992	
Se Se	nd	• 1	<u>0</u> Kasparov, G	-Short,N, PC/	A-World Cham	ipionship 1993	\$
🔏 Pu	ıblish to We	eb					
Go	oto Fritz						
				🐧 Option	s 🔟 Custor	mize 🛛 🕺 Clos	se

If you opened the <u>board window</u> (Ctrl-N) from a <u>database window</u>, the game is already linked to a database and can be saved there without further query. You can save it in a different database by using Save as, which produces a file selector in which you can browse for the database you want. The file selector also appears if you use Save with a game not opened in a database.

The "Board Points" option can be selected for tournament data.

Team Tournament
Board Points

This means that tournament tables are displayed according to board points rather than team points, as is the case at events such as Olympiads.

3.1.34 Changed conventions for the saving and replacing of games!

In all previous versions of the program (up to and including version 13) a difference was made between *Save* and *Replace*. This procedure has been changed with ChessBase 14.!!!!

Reference	251
-----------	-----

 \overline{W} hen you saved in previous programs, the modified version of the game was added <u>to</u> <u>the end of the database list</u>. *Replacing* changed the game notation without duplicating the game. This way of working does not fit in with the Windows standard and with the procedures which users know from other Windows programs.

For that reason a radical step has now been taken starting from version 14 and the routine for the saving of games has been changed.

If you edit and modify a game, then **Menu File Save** (key combination CTRL-S), <u>replaces</u> the game notation/list entry.



Therefore the shortcut CTRL-R which you previously used to replace a game no longer exists and thus does not work.

In order to save a game <u>at the end of the games</u> list as a new game, the following procedure is required: **Menu File Save Game as**.



If you select this option, the program will offer you a choice of databases in a clear dialog. With it you can determine the database into which the game is to be saved.

TT

252	ChessBase 17
	Select Database
	kasparov MyInternetGames Mega Database 2016 Opening Encyclopedia 2016 CloudClip bs2830 CloudClip
	OK Cancel ior

Should the desired database not be in the list, then a click on the button with the three dots starts the Windows file selection dialog.

Here you can select any database on your system into which to save the game.

Along with the changes made to the saving routine, moreover, the database format has been optimised for quicker saving. This is important especially for those databases which keep growing in size and which contain several million games. Saving/replacing within an enormous database such as our Mega now takes up much less time.

Note:

And to help you better understand the new save function here is another practical example. For instance, a user loads a saved position and modifies it by entering moves. Then he would like to replace the existing game/position. This will not work because after the modification the link to the position he has loaded no longer exists. Thus a new game has been generated which in no way has a corresponding link to the database

So in this example the user cannot replace the game! If the user loads the new game/ position and only alters the game data, the original game can be replaced.

To sum up: from CB 14 on Save game means to <u>replace the game</u> and "Save as new game" saves a new game, according to the Windows standard.
3.1.35 Merging games

Select a number of games either by holding down the Ctrl key while clicking on individual games, or by holding down the Shift key and moving the band down the list with the cursor keys. Hit Enter to merge them all into a single variation tree. The first game becomes the main line, the others are given as <u>variations</u>.



You can merge games even more precisely: highlight a game or games in the list and then use <u>Drag & Drop</u> to insert them into the notation of the current game.

Merging a single variation

You can use <u>Drag & Drop</u> to copy individual variations from one game into another. If you have two board windows open you can grab a variation (by its first move) in one notation and drag it into the second. It will be inserted there as a new line. You do not need to worry where you drop it, ChessBase will automatically find the correct place to insert it.

Merging identical games

If a number of people have annotated the same game you may want to merge these analyses into one single annotated game. When you do so there are certain conventions you should stick to:

• Define one game as the parent game. It's commentator is regarded as the main commentator and his name will appear in the games list.

▶ When you merge the analysis of another commentator (by simply dragging the entire game into the first one) you should manually type in the name of its author the first time there is a deviation from the parent game's analysis. The name is entered as <u>text commentary</u> in the game. All other commentators should be listed in the same way, as text the first time their commentary appears.

Reordering the merged variations

You can create very large openings repertoires by merging games and variations. Normally the variations will be inserted in the order in which they were encountered. There is a function with which you can considerably improve the structure of the variations.

Click Insert – Variations – Reorder variations. The variations will be reorganized on the basis of chess criteria. The most important continuations become the main variations, i.e. all lines that have a large number of subvariations will be promoted at

all levels to main variations.

3.1.36 Tipp Merging Games

A user would like to insert comments and variations and then merge multiple games to get an overall variation tree, but unfortunately, the initial moves have been played in many different orders to allow for uniformity.

How can you avoid unwanted variations being shown in the tree when merging games?

You have to return to the initial starting position (i.e. the very start of the game) and input the desired move order as a variation. You can then go to the start of the variation, and select "Replace moves" from the "Insert" -> "Variations" menu.

See also the chapter about <u>Coloured Notation</u>

There are many optimizations: The creation of the game notation has been improved so much that you can now easily merge thousands of games. The resulting deeply nested game notation is still easy to handle. This means that there are no longer any limits to huge variant trees.

3.1.37 Replace game

In all previous versions of the program (up to and including version 13) a difference was made

between "Save" and "Replace".

This procedure has been changed with ChessBase 14.



When you saved in previous programs, the modified version of the game was added to the end of the database list. Replacing changed the game notation without duplicating the game. This way of working does not fit in with the Windows standard and with the procedures which users know from other Windows programs. For that reason a radical step has now been taken starting from version 14 and the routine for

the saving of games has been changed.

Note: Please read carefully the topic "<u>Changed conventions for the saving and replacing of</u> games!"

3.1.38 Input and saving of illegal positions

<u>ChessBase supports the input and saving of illegal positions</u>.

This can be useful for demonstrational purposes or for explaining certain concepts.

The following example shows a position in which neither side has kings.



If you wish to save or enter an illegal position, a dialog box appears notifying you that the position is illegal according to the FIDE rules of chess.



The position is illegal, proceed anyway?

You can, however, setup an illegal position and record moves in that position. Moves can be entered and saved in a database just as for a legal position.

3.1.39 Training

3.1.39.1 Threat Animation

Board window: Training- Threat as Arrow.



Important: Please enable the Thread section in the options!

Threat	
Threats Generate threats	
Conclute threats	

This shows the strongest threat in the position if it exists:



Also interesting is Create Threat as arrow, which suggest a move that creates the strongest threat:



This might not be the best move in the position, but it is meant as a kind of tactical brain storming which highlights tactical possibilities.

3.1.39.2 Chess Media System

ChessBase can replay video streams with embedded chess information (moves and annotations). This is called the *Chess Media System* and provides an excellent way for chess training on your computer.

Normally you open Chess Media lessons by clicking on the media symbol in a <u>database</u> <u>text</u>.

Click Show Contents of DVD.

You can also open the media files directly, they have the file name ending ".wmv": Using the database window, they will appear as icons if you view the contents of a folder. In the board window. Or call menu *Menu File - Open - Chess Media File* either in the database window or in the board window.



Or open the Chess Media pane in the board window and click the Open button.

The Chess Media System requires Window Media Player. You can download this from <u>www.microsoft.com</u>.

At the left you see the current playing time, and underneath it the complete length of the video lecture.



There is a button on the left to start or stop the video.



The two arrows beneath the playing time allow you to jump to a new game (chapter) if more than one game is contained in the video.

You can use the slider below the buttons to jump to any position in the video. The graphical chess board is automatically synchronised with the lecture.

3.1.39.3 Create training lessons

Board window: Insert Annotations Special annotation Training annotation

or easier

Training Annotation	 ✓ Create Threat as Arrow ✓ Threat as Arrow Hints 	Play Out Openings Against Fritz App ChessBase Account		
Insert an training quest	ion (Strg+Alt+M)			

En	De	Fr	Es	It	Ne	Pt			
Which a	nswer sl	hould fo	llow?						4
Defa	ult Wron Help1 Help2	g	300		ove Move Ii Multipl Bxc3 Bxc3	nput le Choice	Score	New Replace Delete Feedback 10	
ОК		Ren	nove	D	<-> E		<u>H</u> elp	Car	icel

You can also right-click a move or press Ctrl-Alt-M.

• In the training definition window you can type in the question and define possible answers. Click one of them and define it as the correct solution.

• In the move list the main continuation (solution) is given at the top. All variations present at that point in the game are also displayed. But you can also type in other moves (and click New) or remove some (and click Delete).

• If you click the microphone button you get the media recorder and can speak in your question. The sound track is played back when the student reaches the critical position.

• Enter a score, which defines the number of points the student gets for a correct solution. Also give scores for the other moves. In some cases you will want to give a negative score for a wrong solution.

Specify the time (in seconds) in which the solution must be found.

• Click on the buttons Help1 or Help2 and input additional instructions or tips. More about this topic in <u>Feedback for training positions</u>

• Default wrong allows you to define (or record) the text and possibly add graphic commentary that should appear if the student chooses the wrong move. There is a standard answer which you can set by clicking Default wrong.

▶ In the help and feedback dialogs you can add coloured squares and arrows on the chessboard to demonstrate themes. You can even remove pieces by dragging them off the board – click the original square to get them back.

• In all of the above remember to set the <u>language</u> tab correctly ("En" for English). The "D < ->E'' button copies commentary from German to English.

3.1.39.4 Solve training lessons

Entering <u>training annotations</u> in a game generates teaching material for chess training. When the game is replayed the rest of the notation is hidden from the student who is required to find the correct move in the position.



The student gets a certain amount of time, and every wrong attempt loses points (a very quick solution earns bonus points). The total number of points is stored in the database and can be monitored in the <u>database properties</u>.

The training database is a special kind of database which directly starts the question

when you double click it. Every training question is beeing displayed in the game annotation with a symbol which looks like this: ***.

When the question is answered correctly, the colour of this symbol changes to green, otherwise to red. When one of the buttons of the dialog has the text Help, you can click it when you have no idea on how to solve the position. However, this will cost points!. When the question is answered, or you have clicked on the button "*Solution*", you can click on the button "continue" to proceed. The program will automatically jump to the next training question until all questions are done. Sometimes, you need to jump to the next game in the database for the next training question. Press F10 to do so.

3.1.39.5 Training notation

Clicking the **Training** tab in the notation window brings up a special kind of notation which is useful for training purposes.

Notation + Openings Book	▼ ×					
Notation Reference Table Training Score sheet Openings Book						
Achileus - Kasparov, Garry 2825 🚃 🛛 🛣						
E42 Internet blitz 5' 26.05.1998 [Schreiner]						
Which move should be played?						
21.Th4						

In this mode only the last move is displayed, so you can try to guess the continuation.

3.1.39.6 Training database

Database window: Edit Properties button "Training"

A database that only contains training material can be defined as a *training database*. In the properties select *Training* in the list of database types.

0	
0/0=0%	
	Reset
Help	Cancel
	0 0 / 0 =0% Help

Clicking on the button Training displays the number of training lessons done and the

points that were earned.

If you switch on the Random training box then you get a random lesson every time you double-click the database icon. ChessBase will actually remember which positions have already been presented and repeat them only after all the games have been loaded at least once. In this way you can spend several weeks working with a collection of tactical or training positions and then repeat the lessons with the positions in a different order (which amounts to a good memory test). Reset deletes all records and starts the database again.

3.1.39.7 Training questions with diagrams

With the help of diagrams pre-prepared training questions can be presented in a more elegant and less complicated form.

One example of this:



A training question now always contains a diagram and links one can click on for any integrated help or for the solution to the task.

11.Rd2 b6 12.Rhd1 Bc7



How can you break open Black's fortress?



3.2 Finding Games

3.2.1 Filtering a games list

Every games list (also every players, tournaments, etc list) can be filtered with the <u>search mask</u>.



Click the button Filter List or hit **Ctrl-F**.

The program offers the option of permanently <u>saving pre-defined searches</u> and loading them again when required. Above all that saves a lot of time with frequently used searches and speeds up your work with the program.

3.2.2 Direct Search in a Database List

It is possible to start a search for players in the database list.

m	C Filter List Filter	Edit (Da	Game ta Edit	ielect All Goto Line	Cro: Tabl	ss le Tou ournan	Next Irrnament	Acti	vate/de Fritztra Activa	ac in ite
٦		Set a	condition t	o filter thi	s list :		Date		VCS	
	1-0	4	7 D00	FRA-cl	h Narb	onne	21.08.1	L997	VCS	
	0-1	4	2 B18	FRA-cl	h Narb	onne	21.08.1	997		
	¥2-¥2	3	7 B08	FRA-cl	h Narb	onne	21.08.1	997		
	1-0	4	4 B66	FRA-cl	h Narb	onne	21.08.1	997	VCs	r
0	S Inline	Hard Disk	Prepare Against	Find Player E	List Pla ncyclog	yer bedia	Log Off	Edit Accou	Logo Pitte	jed in rs
S	earch	games		Players				Che	ssBase	Accour
		2	Find game	es in the re	eferenc	e datal	base (Um	schalt+	-Strg+F	
l.		kasparo	iv I	cschach. (CBH)	cbf	Collec	t Openir	ngs	Eröffn sami	ungen meln

While in a database window use the ribbon *Home Filter List* to start the dialog for filtering games in the current database.

3.2.3 Saving searches

The program offers the option of permanently saving pre-defined searches and loading them again when required.

Above all that saves a lot of time with frequently used <u>searches</u> and speeds up your work with the program.

Either start the <u>games list</u> of the database which is to be searched or right click on a *database symbol - > Search*. Define your search criteria.

NEGL DATABASE 2016	traint knowleddr 201-6	*
	Open	Eingabe
lega Dat	Search	Strg+F
	Opening reference E-Mail Selected Database	Strg+Alt+Eingabe
	Edit	Þ
Internet	Remove	Entf
	Delete All Files	Umschalt+Entf
-	Tools	F
LCT2.CE	Properties	Alt+Eingabe

Click in the search dialog on the Save button.

○ White ○ Black	Text	🕅 Good gar	nes			
	🗖 Not	Reset				
Annotations Position	Material	Manoeuvres	🔲 Medals			
Load Save						

The file dialog is now brought up via which you can save the settings for your search. The file extension for search files is *.*dbsearch*, the standard pathway to the saving of search criteria can be found in the sub-directory "*SearchMask*" in the user directory.

Take care than when choosing a name for your search that it is a meaningful one so that when you have a lot of them it is easy to pick out the one you are looking for.

:	carlsenagainstweakerplayers dbsearch
:	Search mask (*.dbsearch)

With the button marked **Load** in the search mask you can reload the pre-defined search and then use it in the selected database! This works for all possible criteria in the search mask.

The option of saving should above all interest those chess lovers who use the program to frequently search for specific material or positional constellations.

The possibility to save these search criteria permanently and to reload them saves valuable time.

The *file menu* also offers under *Open* the option of directly loading pre-defined search masks.



3.2.4 Tips on searching for a player

Question: In the <u>reference database</u> how can I conduct the search for a player if I do not know exactly how his or her name is spelled? For example, I would like to search for the player "Tomasz Szczepanowski" or "Thomasz Szczepanowski" and have a look at his games. What is the best way to solve this problem?

Answer: When the spelling of a player's name is in doubt help can be found in the player index which is created in every database. The following screenshot shows the display of the player index which provides the solution to the specific problem described.

Szczepankow.	K	2		w		1	Co
Szczepanowski	Tomasz	26	1892	m	-		9
Szczepanska	Anna	9		w			9
Szczepanska	Justyna	8		w	-		7
Szczepanski	Andreas	18		m	-		1
C1;	A	11			•		
Search: Szczepan	D						•

It is obvious why this method should be preferred. You can rapidly find the player you are looking for among similar names and then go on to play through his or her games!

3.2.5 Interactive search for structures

In the Board window under *Report* Similar structures you can filter out from your reference database games in which similar structures, e.g. in the pawn formation, can be found.



In ChessBase 14 the relevant entry from the <u>search mask</u> is now started automatically with the entry <code>Position</code> .

Game data	Annotations	Position	Medals	Material	Manoeuvres
					🔬 🎪 💿 'Look for' board
	MINIOLIZA MINIOLIZA	NINGURS			Still Still
100	100		88	10.11	C 'Exclude' board
		8			Mirror
	100 March 100 Ma				🗘 🖒 🕒 Horizontal
100		100		<u>.</u>	ر حکت ا
MARKE	IN OLD		Q	MAN	
		2	.3	1.100	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
		1.32			Length 2
PHILIP IN	0			0	Last 100
也是	8	10.1	2	8	
11-13					Sacrifice
10000		Contract in		10.31	Copy board Reset
					leopy bound inteset
					Copy board Reset

Unlike in earlier versions you can see in the search mask specifically the positional motifs for which the program is filtering the reference database. In addition, the dialog allows you the possibility of modifying the <u>search criteria for your position</u>.

3.2.6 Search for games between players whose Elo ratings differ greatly

In the search mask the program offers the possibility of targeting your search on games played between a particularly strong player and an opponent with a drastically inferior rating.

Such searches can be carried out with the aid of the button *Difference* in the search mask.

None	One	🔘 Both	🔘 Avg
✓ Difference		600	
Result			
1-0	0-1	1/2-1/2	0-0

Let us assume you are interested in those games of Garry Kasparov which he played during his active career against players whose Elo rating was clearly much lower than his.

Let us take an example:

Game data	Annotations	Position	Medals	Material	Manoeuvres	
<u>W</u> hite:	K	asparov			G	Wins only
<u>B</u> lack:						
		Ignore col	ours			
Toumame	ent:				Elo	
	ant.				2500 🌲	- 3500
<u>A</u> nnotator	:					
					🔘 None 🛛 🔘 Or	ne 🔘 Both 🔘 Avg
Near:	2	016 🍦	- 2016	•	☑ Difference	600
ECO:	A	.00	- E99/	99		
Move			- 22		Result	
110000	0	-	22	-	<u>1</u> -0 <u>0</u> -	-1 1/2_1/2 0-0
					D Mata	Charless Charles

In it we are looking for all the games of Kasparov which he played against opponents whose Elo rating was around 600 points lower than his. The search window in Mega immediately comes up with the relevant games from the database.

Stop Process		mo								
	Search Result									▼ ×
8 🚆 🥨 📋 🧓	Restore Game	•			Sean	ch Result				
7 8 6 6 8 8 8	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Notation		VCS	E(^
	Kasparov,G	2710	Forbes,C	1890	1/2-1/2	1984	1.c4 e6 2.Sf3 b6 3.g	3 Lb7 4.Lg2 Sf6		E1
	Kasparov,G	2790	Cagliero,H	1980	1-0	1992	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.c	3 Sf6 4.Ld3 Lg4		B5
5	Kasparov,G	2790	Diani, J	2100	1-0	1992	1.d4 d5 2.c4 dxc4 3	.e4 c5 4.d5 Sf6		D2
4 8 4 6 4 6 4 6 4 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	Kasparov,G	2790	Garrido Fernan	1905	1-0	1992	1.e4 c5 2.Sc3 Sc6 3.	f4 e6 4.Sf3 d5 5		B2
	Kasparov,G	2790	Gimenez,I	2075	1/2-1/2	1992	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.L	b5+Sd7 4.0-0 S.		B5
	Kasparov,G	2790	Hutt,A	1960	1-0	1992	1.d4 Sf6 2.Sf3 d5 3.d	4 c6 4.Sc3 dxc4		D1
1990 19 2 👌 🕹 🛕 1 🎬 🕹 👌 🛓 🖌 1990 199	Kasparov,G	2790	Maiques,R	1995	1-0	1992	1.d4 Sf6 2.Sf3 e6 3.l	.g5 c5 4.e3 d5 5		D(
	Kasparov,G	2790	Moscovich,F	2095	1-0	1992	1.d4 f5 2.Lg5 Sf6 3.l	.xf6 exf6 4.e3 d.		= 3A
	Kasparov,G	2790	Pereiro, J	1970	1-0	1992	1.e4 e6 2.d4 d5 3.Sc	12 dxe4 4.Sxe4 L.		C1
АВСБЕРЗЯ	Kasparov,G	2790	Pinus,R	2005	1-0	1992	1.d4 d5 2.c4 e6 3.Sc	3 c5 4.cxd5 exd.		DE
Notation + Openings Book	Kasparov,G	2790	Sanchez Lopez,J	2050	1-0	1992	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 e6 3.S	c3 d5 4.cxd5 ex		DE
	Kasparov,G	2805	Bartosik,O	2030	1-0	1993	1.d4 d6 2.e4 Sf6 3.f.	3 g6 4.Le3 Lg7 5		BC
Reference Table Training Score sheet	Kasparov,G	2805	Swol,M	2140	1-0	1993	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.S	c3 d5 4.Sf3 Lg7		D!
Kasparov, Garry 2790 - Pereiro, Jorge 1970 1-	Kasparov,G	2815	Fontaine,R	2150	1-0	1994	1.c4 c6 2.Sf3 Sf6 3.S	c3 d5 4.e3 e6 5		D₄
C10 Cordoba sim 1992	Kasparov,G	2805	Wapner,J	21/5	1-0	1994	1.d4 d5 2.c4 c6 3.Sc	3 Sf6 4.cxd5 cx		D
C10 C010008 3111 1952	Kasparov,G	2805	McShane,L	2145	1-0	1995	1.c4 g6 2.g3 Lg / 3.L	.g2 d6 4.Sc3 c5		A:
c6 9.0-0 Lb7 10.De2 Sd7 11.Lf4 0-0	Kasparov,G	2785	Agistriotis,M	2090	1-0	1996	1.d4 d5 2.c4 eb 3.5c	3 Stb 4.cxd5 ex.		D:
12.Tad1 Le7 13.c4 Sf6 14.Lc2 Dc8	Kasparov,G	2785	Pandis,I	2090	1-0	1996	1.e4 e5 2.5t3 5cb 3.t	LDD ab 4.La4 Sto		50
15 Tfo1 To9 16 Lo5 5d7 17 Do4 5f9	Kasparov,G	2785	Papathanasiou,P	2185	1-0	1990	1.d4 Stb 2.c4 gb 3.S	c3 Lg7 4.e4 db		E6 +
15. Tel 168 10.Les 307 17.De4 318	•					CONCERNENCE				•
18.Dg4 f6 19.Lg3 Dd8 20.h4 Ld6 21.h5	LiveBook									▼ ×
	Move	Games	Result Elo-A	v Date	2	Evaluation	Visits [%]			
🕇 🐱 1 🗓 🛦 👬 !! ! !? ?! ? ??										
							86%		6 sec	d

What is exciting in connection with this function is the question as to whether during his active career Kasparov ever lost to a clearly weaker opponent, possibly even with White? So in the search mask we do not tick "Ignore colours" and set the game result to be 0:1 (a win for Black).

The result is impressive, since Mega can only find a single game from 1996, played of course in a simultaneous and not therefore a genuine tournament game.

Paste Game Clipboard Paste Game Clipboard	ne Hard Disk	Mega Datab A Repertoire V Repertoire B Find Po	ase 2016 /hite lack sition	💌 💆 In t	this Game	Default Kibitzer Add Kibitzer Remove Kibitze Engines	r 🛞	 Edit Game Data Load Previous Game Load Next Game Database 	© © @ Game Histor	y
	Search Resu	lt								▼×
8 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Restore G	iame			Sea	rch Result				
	White	Elo W	Black		Elo B Result	Year	Notat	tion	VCS	ECO
	Kasparov,	G 2785	Lurie,M	2	070 0-1	1996	1.c4 S	f6 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5	4.Sf3	A16
	•				III					Þ
Notation Beforence Table Training Secondary 1	LIVEBOOK	-		-	•					▼ X
Notation Reference Table Training Score sneet	Move	Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date	Evaluation	Visits	[%]		- îl
Kasparov, Garry 2785 - Lurie, Michael 2070 0-	4.g3	1318	63%	2466	2016-Okt-28	=	29867	52		
A16 Jerusalem sim 15.10.1996	4.515	60	4696	2445	2016-Okt-2	-	5440	0 23		≡
1.c4 Sf6 2.Sc3 d5 3.cxd5 Sxd5 4.Sf3 g6 🔺	4.d4	62	61%	2363	2010 OKt 3	-	5826	10		1000
5.e4 Sxc3 6.bxc3 Lg7 7.La3 0-0 8.Lc4	4.Db3	7	86%	2460	2015	=	617	1		1000
c5 9.0-0 Dc7 10.De2 Lq4 11.h3 Lxf3	4.Da4+	3	33%	2368	2015	=	268	0		2000
12.Dxf3 Sc6 13.De2 Da5 14.Lb2 Tfd8	4.e3	2	50%	2248	2015	ŧ	360	1		0.00
	4.Sxd5	1	50%	2380	1982	=	1109	2		
	4.Dc2	1	50%	2352	2002	=	107	0		
	4.a3	0	-	-	2014		27	0		-

So, during his career Kasparov never had a "misfire" in his tournament games against clearly weaker opponents!

3.2.7 Searching for positions

Problem: A further problem has cropped up with ChessBase which was not present in ChessBase 10. Specifically, in ChessBase14 I have set up various databases (Megabase 2017 as my reference database, a correspondence chess database, various databases of my own for other tournaments, etc.). Now, e.g., I would like to search for a position from one of my own games not in the reference database, but in the correspondence chess database or in another database.

How can that option be achieved?

Answer: You can, for example, carry out the desired search as follows.

Start the board window with the desired position on the board. Leave that window open and change to the database window.

Right click on the database which is to be searched. Now choose from the context menu "Search".

In the search mask change to the tab $\ \textit{Position}$. There you will find the entry $\ \textit{Copy}$ board .

	 ・ 			Image: Sacrifice	 'Look for' board 'Or' board 'Exclude' board Mirror Horizontal Vertical First 11 Length 1 Last 15 Reset
Game data	Annotations Include lines	✓ Position n search	🗖 Ma	aterial 📃 Mano	peuvres 🔲 Medals
	Filter activ	ated ced dialog	(Load	Save

After this has been activated, you will see that the program calls up the actual board position and considers it as the search criterion. A click on OK and the search is then executed.

3.2.8 Searching for annotated games

How can I find annotated games which correspond to a specific ECO key?

In the <u>database window</u> mark the database which contains the annotated games. A right click on the database symbol starts a context menu which gives you the possibility to start the search mask immediately.

In the <u>search mask</u> you have to enter the required criteria. As a first step start the tab *Game data* and fill in the ECO code which applies to the games, here we have chosen B01.

As a second step you can determine in the search mask which comments are to be taken into account. For that click on the tab $\ \ Annotations$,

The parameters chosen in our example will search only for variations, textual commentary and training questions.

So you highlight the game entry directly in the games list and play through the games with the desired search criteria.

<u>Tip</u>: With Chessbase you can save the pre-defined search criteria permanently for future use!

3.2.9 Sorting games in the list

To sort games in a games list, click on the *column title* which should be the sorting field:

White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Notation
Achileus		Kasparov,G	2825	0-1	1998	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 e6 3.Sc3 Lb
Adams,M	2630	Kasparov,G	2805	1-0	1993	1.d4 Sf6 2.Lg5 d6 3.Lxf6
Adams,M	2715	Kasparov,G	2851	1/2-1/2	2000	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.d4 cxd
Adams,M	2620	Kasparov,G	2780	0-1	1992	1.d4 d5 2.c4 e6 3.Sc3 c6
Adams,M	2741	Kasparov,G	2804	0-1	2005	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.d4 cxd
Adams,M	2715	Kasparov,G	2851	1/2-1/2	2000	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.d4 cxd
Adams,M	2716	Kasparov,G	2812	0-1	1999	1.e4 c5 2.Sc3 d6 3.g3 Sc6
Adams,M	2680	Kasparov,G	2820	1/2-1/2	1997	1.e4 c5 2.Sc3 e6 3.Sf3 a6
Adams,M	2655	Kasparov,G	2805	0-1	1995	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.Lc4 Sft
Adams,M	2715	Kasparov,G	2851	1/2-1/2	2000	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.c3 Sf6
Adams,M	2742	Kasparov,G	2838	1/2-1/2	2002	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 d6 3.d4 cxd
Adianto,U	2598	Kasparov,G	2838	0-1	2001	1.d4 Sf6 2.Sf3 g6 3.g3 Lg
Adorjan,A	2525	Kasparov,G		1/2-1/2	1979	1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 e6 3.d4 cxd 👻
•						•
LiveBook						▼ ×

This sort is virtual. If you close the window, it will be lost. To fix the sort order, call Menu: **Tools Fix Sort Order**.



Arrange games in database according to current sort mode

Sample applications

<u>Search</u> for games that are less than 25 moves long. Right-click the <u>search result list</u> and sort according to Elo average. You will get short games by strong player at the top.

Search for the games of your next opponent and sort them according to ECO.

Search for annotated games and sort them according to annotator.

<u>Hint</u>: You can change the order of games manually: Drag & Drop a selection of games (Ctrl-Click) to the new position. This is useful also for changing the order of printing and merging games. To move games in the list over longer distances, use Edit-Copy and Edit-Paste on the list.

3.2.10 Online database

On the server <u>www.chesslive.de</u> there is a newly designed online database of unannotated games that is kept updated with new and historic games on a weekly basis. ChessBase (in the activated version) can access this database directly and extract material from there.

There are several ways to access data in the online database.

1. Click on the Ribbon *Online* in the database window.



2. Board Window - Ribbon Online

In contrast to previous versions of the online database the access is practically without delay, depending on the Internet connection, thanks to inbuilt accelorators and the fast Server. This makes it a powerful tool for a player to prepare himself or to examine tournaments.

Search in www.chesslive	.de	×
Player/Tournament		
Text	Kasparov Linares	
	Advanced	
	Reset	
ОК	Help	Cancel

Just like Google the program interprets what the search text means.

Example: Enter "Kasparov Linares" in the search box.

The program interprets the input correctly and filters the games from the online database that match this search criterion.

Klick "Advanced"

The search criteria are entered in the dialog box.

ChessBase 17			
Discos			
Player			
Player			
Elo >=		0	×
White	📝 Black		
Wins 🛛	Draws	Losses	
Opponent			
Opponent			
Opponent			
Elo>=		0	▲
Tournament			
Tournament			
Year			
Year	0	- 2012	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Reset		

There are many practical ways to search. For instance, you can filter all the recent games of a player with White from the online database. By right clicking in the game list you see under the heading <u>Opening Reference</u> a summary of the opening repertoire of the selected player.

In the reference display you can see the most commonly played variations. By pressing the buttons + and – you can change the number of variations displayed.

By double clicking in a line you enter the moves in the board window up to the move you have clicked on (fast forward). Critical Line shows the moves which are statistically the strongest for both sides..

<u>Please note</u>: To prevent server overload the search results from the ChessBase Online database <u>are restricted to 1000 games</u>. If that is the number of games retrieved you should narrow down your search to make sure you are getting all matches.

See also <u>troubleshooting</u> section if you are unable to connect to the ChessBase server.

3.2.11 Annotated games Online database

I want simply know if search in online database for annotated games is already avaible in chessbase 15 with premium subscription with chessbase account. I read in your online help chessbase 15 that will be or it working , does it already avaible and if yes how to search for annotated game in online database.

Enter a position at the board and call the online database. Then sort the search result by clicking one or two times on VCS.

3.2.12 Annotated games

A ChessBase Account is linked directly with ChessBase. Many functions of the web apps complement this intelligently and provide a maximum amount of chess information. A novelty for all users of the web apps: all annotated games from the <u>Mega database</u> are now available online to every premium user. It will in the future be possible to load these annotated games directly both from CB 14 and from the web apps, e.g. the Live database.

Like that, Premium subscribers have direct access to the annotated games and are no longer obliged to access them only from their copy of Mega on their local computer. Therefore you can now look at, play through or analyse the annotated games wherever you may be with your smartphone, tablet or any computer with internet access!

3.2.13 Browse Positions

Is it possible to browse positions by interactively moving the pieces instead of filtering by a position set up by the user. This would greatly speed up and simplify my searching of positions, instead of having to set up all the pieces in the Filter tool or go through the opening keys. Please let me know if it is possible to do this with ChessBase.

This is possible. Just open ChessBase, start with the initial position, click on "Online" and use the opening moves tree to go through the game.

NAMES OF TAXABLE PARTY OF TAXABLE PARTY.	Notation + Openings Book 🛛 🗸 🗙	Online Database					-
H A 1117 cho A H	Notation Reference Table Training Sco · ·	Restore Game		1000 Game	es (15869)	
	Kasparov, Garry 2775 - Vaganian, Rafael	Moves	Games	Trans S	Score	Last pla	
	A33 World Cup (12) 08.1989 [Bulletin]	4.g2-g3	7548	428 5	8.7%	2016	
	1 c4 c5 2 Sf3 Sf6 3 Sc3 Sc6	4.d2-d4	5869	20 6	2.3%	2016	
		4.e2-e3	1902	256 6	0.2%	2016	
	4.d4 cxd4 5.Sxd4 e6 6.g3 Db6	4.e2-e4	336	375 4	5.1%	2016	
8	7.Sdb5 '!' Bulletin. Bulletin: 'am	4.d2-d3	132	39 4	6.2%	2016	
	schärfsten; Ribli in der	4.DZ-D3	30	0 4	2 29/	2016	
	'Sonntagszeitung Zürich' Rubiger	4.az-a5	8	0 6	8.8%	2014	
	ist 7 Øb2 oder 7 Øc2 ' dE			1	0.010		
A 3888 - A 5	Ist 7.41b3 oder 7.41c2. as	White	Elo W	Black	Elo	B Result	Year
	'!?' Bulletin. Bulletin: 'N'	So,W	2794	Eljanov,P	2741	1/2-1/2	2016-0
BCDEFGH	[7Se5 Euwe 8.Lg2 a6 9.Sa3	Aronian,L	2795	Anand,V	2776	1/2-1/2	2016-S
	Lxa3 10.bxa3 Sxc4 11.Db3 Dxb3	Aronian,L	2795	Gelfand,B	2743	1/2-1/2	2016-S
	12 avb3 Sa5 13 Tb1 d5	Giri,A	2755	Navara,D	2742	1/2-1/2	2016-S
	14 C-4N1	Giri,A	2769	Anand,V	2770	1/2-1/2	2016-A
	14.5a4iN j	Ding,L	2/55	Anand,V	2//0	1 0	2016-A
	8.Lg2 '!' Bulletin.	Hou V	2/42	Inarkiev F	2090 2732	1-0	2010-36
	[8.cxd5? Sxd5 9.Sxd5 exd5	So.W	2000	Caruana.F	2804	1-0	2010-3e
	10.Dxd5 Le6∓1	Wang,Y	2730	Leko,P	2712	1/2-1/2	2016-Ju
	,	Kovalyov,A	2617	Nakamura,	2789	1/2-1/2	2016-Se
		Vachier Lagra	2798	Bok,B	2613	1/2-1/2	2016-Jul

3.2.14 Intelligent Searches in the Online Database

Database Window - Online

0	b nline	Hard Disk	Prepare Against	Find Player	List Player Encyclopedia	Log Off	Edit Account	Logged in Pitters		
S	earch	games		Playe	rs		Chess	Base Accour	nt	
	5	Find ga	imes in the	ChessBa	ase Online Data	abase (Int	ternet) (Ur	mschalt+Str	g+Alt+O)	

Just like Google the program interprets what the search text means.

Example:

Enter "Kasparov Linares" in the search box.

Player/Tournament		
Text	Kasparov Linares	
	Advanced	
	Reset	

The program interprets the input correctly and filters the games from the online

database that match this search criterion.

	Search Result									▼ ×
	Restore Game				168 Ga	mes found				
	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Notation		VCS	E ^
	Kasparov,G	2804	Anand,V	2786	1/2-1/2	2005	1.e4 e5 2.5	f3 Sf6 3.Sxe5 d6 4.Sf3 Sx.		C
	Anand,V	2786	Kasparov,G	2804	1/2-1/2	2005	1.e4 c5 2.S	f3 Sc6 3.d4 cxd4 4.Sxd4		В
	Topalov,V	2757	Kasparov,G	2804	1-0	2005	1.e4 c5 2.S	f3 Sc6 3.Sc3 e5 4.Lc4 d6		В
	Kasparov,G	2804	Topalov,V	2757	1/2-1/2	2005	1.e4 e5 2.S	f3 Sc6 3.Lb5 a6 4.La4 Sf6.		С
	Kasparov,G	2804	Leko,P	2749	¥2-¥2	2005	1.e4 c5 2.S	f3 Sc6 3.Sc3 e5 4.Lc4 d6		В
ABCULFCH	Adams, M	2741	Kasparov,G	2804	0-1	2005	1.e4 c5 2.5	f3 d6 3.d4 cxd4 4.Sxd4 S.		В
	Leko,P	2749	Kasparov,G	2804	¥2-¥2	2005	1.e4 c5 2.5	f3 d6 3.d4 cxd4 4.Sxd4 S.		В
	Kasparov,G	2804	Adams, M	2741	1-0	2005	1.d4 Sf6 2.	c4 e6 3.Sc3 Lb4 4.Dc2 d5.		E
	Kasparov,G	2804	Vallejo Pons,F	2686	1-0	2005	1.d4 d5 2.d	4 c6 3.Sf3 Sf6 4.e3 Lf5 5		D
	Vallejo Pons,F	2686	Kasparov,G	2804	0-1	2005	1.Sf3 d5 2.	d4 e6 3.c4 dxc4 4.e4 b5		D
Notation + Openings Book 🔹 👻	Kasimdzhanov	. 2678	Kasparov,G	2804	0-1	2005	1.d4 d5 2.d	:4 c6 3.Sc3 Sf6 4.e3 e6 5		D
📲 💻 Kasparov,Garry 2804 - Leko,Peter 2749 1/2-1/2 💳 🌆	Kasparov,G	2804	Kasimdzhanov, R	2678	1/2-1/2	2005	1.e4 e5 2.5	f3 Sf6 3.Sxe5 d6 4.Sf3 Sx.		С
	Kramnik,V	2777	Kasparov,G	2831	1/2-1/2	2004	1.d4 d5 2.d	:4 dxc4 3.Sf3 e6 4.e3 a6 5.		۳.
1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.Sc3 e5 4.Lc4 d6 5.d3 Le7 6.Sd2	•			1	"					F
Lq5 7.h4 Lxd2 + 8.Lxd2 Sf6 9.0-0 Le6 10.f4 Lxc4	LiveBook									▼ ×
	Maur		Decult Fig. 6	Det		Further the second	Minite	19/1		
	Nove	oames	Result EIO-A	v Date	:	Evaluation	VISIts	[70]		-
	7Lxd2+ @	1	63% 2509	2010	5-Nov-9	=	1559	58		
	1 7Lh6 4	6	70% 2425	2016	5-Okt-20	=	886	33		
							100%			1.1

3.2.15 Position search in the online database

Chessbase allows access to a newly developed enormous online database which uses optimised search accelerators to give almost immediate replies to searches. For this to be effective it is necessary to have a fast Internet connection.

In the board window a position search in the online database can be started at any time by hitting the enter key. The search can also be started by using the menu *Window - Panes - Online Database.*

Rightclick on the Chess board is also possible.

Strg+F	Flip Board
Umschalt+F7	Find Position in Mega Database 2016
	Find Position in kasparov
	Online
Umschalt+Strg+Alt+F	Find Position in Repertoire White
Umschalt+Strg+Alt+A	Add to White Repertoire
Umschalt+Strg+Alt+L	Find Position in Repertoire Black
Umschalt+Strg+Alt+D	Add to Black Repertoire
	Opening Report
Strg+Alt+C	Opening Classification
Umschalt+F6	Find Novelty
Umschalt+Strg+R	Novelty Annotation

The search result displays information in two windows:

1. List window

In the list window there is a list of the games in which this board position occurred. It is possible to sort the columns to adapt this display. For instance, clicking on the header ELO W sorts the list by the white player's Elo. All the games in which White had a high Elo rating are moved to the top of the list.

Online Databa	ise								- 🕶 🗙
Restore G	ame		1000 0	iames (.	3836)			Search	1
Moves	Games	Scor	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Nota *
5Nd5-b6	2795	60.39	Rojano Cano,F	2127	Fier,A	2570	1/2-1/2	2010	5St
5c7-c6	992	59.69	Movileanu,D		Damia, A	2315	0-1	2010	5St
5d6xe5	48	72.99	Milliet,S	2367	Bissieres,M	2344	1-0	2010	5c6
5Bc8-e6	14	64.39	Penner,M	1921	Elsing, J	2140	1/2-1/2	2010	5c6
5e7-e6	9	77.89	Petersen,S	2262	Elsing, J	2140	1/2-1/2	2010	5сб
5Bf8-g7	2	100.0	Elez,S	2136	Radovanovic,M	2116	1-0	2010	5St
5Nb8-c6	1	100.0	Benderac,S	2323	Bozovic,N	2246	1/2-1/2	2010	5St
5Nd5-b4	1	100.0	Rudolf,A	2393	Alvarado Diaz, A	2068	1-0	2010	5SŁ
		8	Dgebuadze,A	2537	Sadkowsky,D	2255	1-0	2010	5St
		1	Zepeda,L	2169	Sadkowsky,D	2255	0-1	2010	5St
			Rundgren,A	1940	Skovgaard,I	2059	1/2-1/2	2010	5Sb
			Corrales Jimen.	2590	Nogueiras Santi.	2570	1-0	2010	5St
			Cano,L	2214	Castro Rojas,O	2367	0-1	2010	5St =

2. Reference display

Below the board window a list of all the continuations is displayed which were used in the games found in the database. Moves can be selected by using the arrow keys. The program displays the following information about the selected move almost immediately:

- Number of games
- Success rate
- Year in which the move was last played

<u>Tip</u>: It is also possible to search in the online database while kibitzing at Playchess. com.

3.2.16 Updating the search window of the online database

When playing through a game it is useful to switch on access to the online database.

Right click chess board - Online

	1	~		A) 8.1	<u>el</u> Sc6
	1	<u> </u>	X	Δ1)	<u>9.Lf1</u> Oll,L b4?!N 1(
	e		Flip Board	Strg+F	kb4 Tc8 16.Lg5 a5 :
			Find Position in Mega Database 2016	Umschalt+F7	13 Le7 18.Se5±);
			Find in selected Database		<u>9.Sxc6</u> dxc6 10.e5
-			Online		g4 0-0 16.axb5 cxb
1			Find Position in Repertoire White	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+F	3 Td8 (110-0-0

Whenever the search window of the online database is opened in the board window, then every action or change on the board is immediately brought up to date and you

	Notation + O	penings Boo	k				▼ ×	Online Database					▼ ×
8 🗑 🏡 🧆 🕹 🍐 🗑	Notation Reference Table Training Score sheet Openings Book								Restore Game 27 Games found				
	Ka	sparov,G	arry 282	25 - Top	alov, Veseli	n 2740 1-0		Moves	Games	Trans S	core	Last	pla
	B4	13 Sofia n	n 25' rap	oid (4) 0	3.05.1998 <i>[K</i>	ostakiev,D]		9.Be2-f3	10	15 6	6.0%	2014	ļ.
		(, ,,,,,,,,						9.c2-c3	6	0 9	1.7%	2016	5
5	E	<u>32b)</u> 9l	<u>.xc6</u> 10.	Sd5 Lxc	15 11.exd5	Tc8 1-0 Baru	a	9.Rf1-e1	5	8 7	3.1%	2016	j
4 Ø 🛓 Ø Å	0	Dibvendu	Bischoff	Klaus/I	t (open), Cal	cutta (India)		9.Qd1-d3	2	2 2	5.0%	2013	3
	1	007 (16)	1		- (- F 3/	,		9.f2-f4	1	9 2	0.0%	2011	Ĺ
	1	.997 (10)]					9.Bc1-e3	1	4 8	0.0%	2014	4
2 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 1	8.Sa4	9.c3						9.f2-f3	1	0 0	.0%	2001	Ĺ
1 📋 🛕 🎬 🗒 🥁	[9.Lf3=	1						9.Be2-d3	1	0 0	.0%	2011	i.
ABCDEFGH	9Sf6?!							White	Elo W	Black	E	lo B	Res ^
	[9Lxe	4!? ∆ 10.¢	xb4 Lxb	4 11.Le	e3 Sc6 12.f3	Ld5 13.Sxc	6 🖵	Ffimenko 7	2624	Volokitin A	26	81	1/1-1
	-							Oparin G	2488	Van Kamper	NR 25	65	1-0
[2] · 金、墨、金、加、加利用用用。 金子								Asrian K	2597	Agrest F	26	07	1/2-1 ≡
	† 🔀	1 1 1	X	?	?! ? ??	+- ± ±	= ∞	Kasparov.G	2825	Topalov.V	27	40	1-0
								Petrov,M	2449	Bojkovic,S	22	33	1-0
	LiveBook		1				▼ X	Perez Garcia,R	2315	Morales Gar	cia 22	59	1-0
	Move	Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date	Evaluation	Visit: 📩	Wieczorek,0	2374	Kanovsky,D	24	78	0-1
	9.Lf3	13	77%	2437	2015-Dez-9	= 4	196 ≡	Brenjo,S	2505	Zivkovic,V	24	29	1-0
	9.Tel	5	70%	2381	2016-Sep-17	=	501	Xu,Y	2478	Koneru,H	25	08	1/2-1
	9.c3	4	88%	2544	2016-Aug-12	±	342	Munguntuul,B	2261	Koneru,H	26	22	1-0
的 和國 管 國法 而同時的 第三	9 f4	3	096	2314	2006	Ŧ	230	Brenjo,S	2484	Zivkovic,V	24	07	1-0
192 张 唐 书 《新闻》《书书》 [193] [193] [193]	9 Dd2	2	096	2257	2012		15 -	Puranik,A	2257	Karthikeyan	,M 24	44	0-1 🛫
	<	2	111	2231	2013		*	C 14 NI	1101	W11	75	71	10

get a list of the games which contain the present position on your board.

In earlier versions it was necessary to explicitly click on "Search"; this step is now done away with and the search for information about games is made even simpler.

3.2.17 Game History

The *game history* stores every game you load and enter. This helps you to find material you looked at a couple of days before. Furthermore the game history creates an automatic backup of your analysis work.

In the left hand Explorer panel you will find a new entry for the month in progress. A click gives you access to the games you have looked at and worked on previously in that month.

In the right hand panel a database is listed with the games which were loaded and worked on during that day. Using it you can have access to games you have recently looked at without cumbersome searching. You open a games list with a double click on its symbol.



When you work on a big analysis, ChessBase automatically saves your work every ten minutes into the game history to limit the damage by e.g. a sudden power failure.

There is one database for <u>every day</u>. Click on Game History in the folders pane of the database window, then open the year and month folder. You can search in all databases of the selected folder. Click on the search button at the bottom of the folder pane:

To delete all databases in a path, right-click on the path and select *Delete*. This will send all files to the recycle bin.

Game History Board window ...

Apart from the database window it is also possible to access the games that you have loaded during the current sitting in the <u>board window</u>. This is possible by using the Game History section of the Home ribbon.



The two arrows, Back and Forward, allow you to scroll through the games you have loaded in this session. They are loaded directly into the game notation.

If you click on the small arrow next to "Game History" the program opens a game list containing all the games loaded during this session.

Question: For a few days now I have kept getting the problem of a message box appearing to state that CB cannot access a history database.

I can of course confirm this with OK, but the message then promptly reappears. At this point the only way to stop ChessBase is now via Task manager. If ChessBase is then restarted and, e.g., I wish to input a new game with Ctrl + N, the same thing starts all over again.

Answer: The program applies a protocol to the user's chess activities. All games which are saved and loaded are clearly stored according to year, month and day. This protocol can be found in the left-hand window pane under "*Game History*".

The error message tells us that the database is damaged. The simplest way to solve the problem is to delete the database that is to be found in the pathway described in the error message.



Alternatively you can simply deactivate the "Game History" in the options dialog under Misc .

3.2.18 Clever game handling

In ChessBase whenever you load several games at the same time, it is nevertheless possible to keep an eye on the various windows you have opened. You either switch between the individual windows with the standard hotkey combination **ALT-TAB** or you look down to the Windows taskbar.

Every window you have opened there is represented by a small button.

The program offers you some useful functions which help you to customise the way it works to suit yourself. Let us assume that you have loaded a game into the board window. In that board window there exists on the menu underneath the tab File the heading *Recent games*.

ChessBase 17		
File		
New		Recent Games
	,	1 Kasparov, G-Sokolov, A, URS-ch U18 Vilnius 1975
- Onen		2 Kasparov, G-Averbakh, Y, Moscow clock sim 1974
<u>open</u>	,	3 Sarkisov, R-Kasparov, G, AZE Spartakiad 1974
E Sava		4 Kasparov, G-Kantsler, B, Leningrad 1975
, Save	ŕ	5 Styazhkina, A-Tomilova, E, RUS-chT rapid (Women) 2
Save Game As		<u>6</u> Queen's Pawn various-3.¥g5 h6 4.¥f6 £f6, Survey 2
Save Game As		7 Katalanisch-
Save To Cloud		8 Travkina, A-Belenkaya, D, RUS-chT rapid (Women) 20
		9 Kasparov, G-Muratkuliev, S, Baku tt U18 1973
Print		10 Badrinarayan, S-Xu, R, ACT-ch Canberra 2016
	,	

There you will find links to the latest games you have loaded and played through. A click enables you to immediately load again any one of these games in the short list.

In addition you will find under <u>Game history</u> the last games you have loaded and worked on. You will find a chronological listing of these in the left-hand pane of the database window, the database explorer.

3.2.19 Search for sacrifices

Search mask: Position - Sacrifice

A sacrifice is a sequence of moves in which one side gives up material and then gains an advantage. The ChessBase sacrifice search does a look-ahead in all tactical situations and for this reason takes somewhat longer than the other searches. The algorithms were written by Dr. Christian Donninger, the author of Nimzo.

Simple sacrifice search

In the search mask click the Position tab and switch on the "Sacrifice" checkbox.

Sacrifice

All white combinations of David Bronstein

Open your Big or Mega database by double clicking it.

Click on the button Filter below the games list to get the <u>search mask</u>.

Enter the name Bronstein for the family name and David for the first name of the white player.

Remove the check in the box Ignore colours.

Choose 1-0 for the result in the Game Data and check the box Sacrifice in the Postion tab.

3.2.20 Search in the Online database

Board window: Ribbon Online



The online position search has its own pane in the board window. When you click the Search button on the top right the program will use your Internet connection to log into the <u>ChessBase online database</u> and display all the games in which the current board position occurred. This should normally take only a few seconds.

• If you click any game in the search result list it will be automatically displayed in the notation window. Click the *Restore game button* to return to your original game.

Online Database									
Restore Gar	me								
Moves	Games	Scor							
8d6xe5	159	51.39							
80-0	14	71.49							
8h7-h6	10	75.09							

Click on a *column title* to sort the list by this column.

The search result from the ChessBase Online database is restricted to 1000 games.

3.2.21 Search in the reference database

Board window: Click Ribbon Harddisk (Shift-R)

• Click on the Search button to list all games in which the position on your main board occurred.

• If you click any game in the search result list it will be automatically displayed on the main board and in the notation window. Click on the appropriate board button in the task bar to return to your original game.

• You can click on the header Elo W or Elo B to get the games of the strongest players to the top of the list.

• Repeated searches in the <u>reference database</u> will increase the speed due to a special <u>turbo cache</u>. The speed depends on the amount of RAM installed in your computer.

• You can hold down the Alt key to <u>drag and drop</u> one or more games from the search result window into your current game. The moves are <u>merged</u> into the game notation.

Fast Switch of the Search Database for the "Reference" in the Board Window

It is possible to switch the search database for the reference display in the board window with a single click.



By doing this you can check what games have the current board position in another large database.

3.2.22 Reference database

The **reference database** is the standard database used for searches, classification, opening reports, novelty detection, etc. Usually it is your biggest database with the best annotations and opening keys (e.g. Big or Mega Database).

This is how to define your reference database in the <u>database window</u>:

- 1. Right-click the database symbol.
- 2. Click Properties.
- 3. Activate Reference database.

C:\ChessBase Dat	en\Datenbanken\Me	ega Database 2016.cbh
Studios		
Blitz		Iraining
Computer chess Problems		Show Protocol
Patzer Gambit BdF		Reset Protocol
Match		
Biography	6466288	Games
Important	106707 K	Kevs 100339 Positions
Text		
Download		
E-Mail		
Opening book Chess Media	Defer	ence-DB
Reference	- Keren	ence-DD
	Reper	rtoire White
lame	Repe	rtoire Black
Mega Database 2016		
	📃 Alwa	ys open text

The reference database will always be found in <u>My databases</u>. If you right-click the database window and select View – Details you will see that it is listed as your "Reference database".

ChessBase automatically installs a big database of more than 7 Million games in the standard installation.

If you want to install a recent database from DVD, insert the DVD into your drive.with ChessBase running. The program will then automatically display the contents of the DVD. Right-click on the icon of the big database and select **Install Database**.

Fast Switch of the Search Database for the "Reference" in the Board Window

It is possible to switch the search database for the reference display in the board window with a single click.



By doing this you can check what games have the current board position in another large database.

3.2.23 Search for similar endgames

Board window: Report - Similar Endgames



If you have an interesting endgame in the <u>board window</u> you can load all the games with similar <u>endgames</u> from the database with a single click.

File	Home	Insert	Board	Report	Analysis	Training View								
Novelty Annotatio	Same Same On Players	Opening Report Repo	Soverviev (1997) (19977) (19977) (19977) (1997) (19977) (1977) (1977) (1977) (1	v 9 Classificati 1assifificatio	on Similar Endgame S	Similar Structures Moves milar Games	Re	d to White Reperto d to Black Reperto irk Move Blue pertoire Database	ire Cr	Show rosstable oss Table	Corresponde Move	nce Correspondence Header orr chess		
A CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER			A CARGO			Notation + Open	ings Boo	k						▼ 🖂
No.			ROBACLAS			Notation Refer	ence T	able Training	Score sh	eet Live	Book Openin	as Book		
8				00		increa	MI (2)		1-200			- 2000 1/ 1/	•	
7							<u>.</u>	Gelfand,Bo D35	inares	35 - Kas s 12th (6	5) 1994 [Ge	ry 2800 4₂-4₂ ≡ [fand,B]	-	
		NUMBER OF				140 T.F.								~
6	a state					[421e5 4	.3.5gZ≟	£]						
						43.Sg2 Te2								~
5	a section of		Contractor	Å E		A								_
					-	<u> </u>								
4			and the second	6.36		1 🕺 1	1 1	!! ! !? 1	?!?	?? +-	±	∞ ≌ ∓ ∓	-+	
	0					Search Result					r			▼ 🖂
3	8			I		Restore Game]			Search	Result			
0	and the owner where the	CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER												
2 6	1 755	1012126		No.		White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Notation		VC: ^
2 2	1.12					White Ristic,N	Elo W 2380	Black Kovacevic,P	Elo B 2400	Result 0-1	Year 1994	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5	VC! ^
2						White Ristic,N Bologan,V	Elo W 2380 2520	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J	Elo B 2400 2580	Result 0-1 0-1	Year 1994 1993	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.1 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.S	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 3c3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5	VC: ^
2 <u>2</u> 1					2	White Ristic,N Bologan,V Ponyi,A	Elo W 2380 2520	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J Kaposztas,M	Elo B 2400 2580 2290	Result 0-1 0-1 1-0	Year 1994 1993 1980	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.I 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.S 1.d4 Sf6 2.Sc3 e6 3.	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 Sc3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5 Lg5 d5 4.e3 c5	VC:
2 2 1 A	B	СП) E	F G	н Н	White Ristic,N Bologan,V Ponyi,A Parfenova,O	Elo W 2380 2520 2135	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J Kaposztas,M Repkova,E	Elo B 2400 2580 2290 2340	Result 0-1 0-1 1-0 1-0	Year 1994 1993 1980 1993	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3. 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.S 1.d4 Sf6 2.Sc3 e6 3. 1.Sf3 Sf6 2.g3 d5 3.	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 Sc3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5 Lg5 d5 4.e3 c5 Lg2 Lf5 4.c4 c6	VC: ^
2 2 1 A	в	C E	D E	FG	e H 3	White Ristic,N Bologan,V Ponyi,A Parfenova,O Di Paolo,R	Elo W 2380 2520 2135 2260	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J Kaposztas,M Repkova,E Meier,R	Elo B 2400 2580 2290 2340	Result 0-1 0-1 1-0 1-0 1-0	Year 1994 1993 1980 1993 1995	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.1 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.S 1.d4 Sf6 2.Sc3 e6 3.3 1.Sf3 Sf6 2.g3 d5 3.1 1.e4 d5 2.exd5 Sf6 3	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 Sc3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5 Lg5 d5 4.e3 c5 Lg2 Lf5 4.c4 c6 3.c4 e6 4.dxe6 L.	VC: ^
2 2 1 A	в	СЕ) E	F G	н	White Ristic,N Bologan,V Ponyi,A Parfenova,O Di Paolo,R Burgess,G	Elo W 2380 2520 2135 2260 2335	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J Kaposztas,M Repkova,E Meier,R Perovic,D	Elo B 2400 2580 2290 2340 2390	Result 0-1 1-0 1-0 1-0 ¹ / ₂ - ¹ / ₂	Year 1994 1993 1980 1993 1995 1990	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 Sc6 3.1 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.S 1.d4 Sf6 2.Sc3 e6 3. 1.Sf3 Sf6 2.g3 d5 3.1 1.e4 d5 2.exd5 Sf6 3 1.d4 d5 2.c4 Sc6 3.S	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 Sc3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5 Lg5 d5 4.e3 c5 Lg2 Lf5 4.c4 c6 3.c4 e6 4.dxe6 L Sc3 Sf6 4.Sf3 e6	VC: ^
2 2 1 A	В	C [) E	FG	н	White Ristic,N Bologan,V Ponyi,A Parfenova,O Di Paolo,R Burgess,G Daniilidis,A	Elo W 2380 2520 2135 2260 2335	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J Kaposztas,M Repkova,E Meier,R Perovic,D Adorjan,A	Elo B 2400 2580 2290 2340 2390 2515	Result 0-1 1-0 1-0 1-0 ½-½ 0-1	Year 1994 1993 1980 1993 1995 1990 1988	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.5f3 Sc6 3.1 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.5 1.d4 Sf6 2.Sc3 e6 3. 1.sf3 Sf6 2.g3 d5 3.1 1.e4 d5 2.exd5 Sf6 3. 1.d4 d5 2.c4 Sc6 3.2 1.e4 c5 2.Sf3 e6 3.d	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 ic3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5 Lg5 d5 4.e3 c5 Lg2 Lf5 4.c4 c6. ic3 Sf6 4.Sf3 e6 4 cxd4 4.Sxd4 Sf.	VC:
2 <u>2</u> 1 A	в	C [D E	F G	Н	White Ristic, N Bologan, V Ponyi, A Parfenova, O Di Paolo, R Burgess, G Daniilidis, A Tuominen, R	Elo W 2380 2520 2135 2260 2335	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J Kaposztas,M Repkova,E Meier,R Perovic,D Adorjan,A Jaracz,P	Elo B 2400 2580 2290 2340 2390 2515 2265	Result 0-1 1-0 1-0 ½-½ 0-1 ½-½	Year 1994 1993 1980 1993 1995 1995 1990 1988 1990	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.5f3 Sc6 3.1 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.5 1.d4 Sf6 2.Sc3 e6 3. 1.sf3 Sf6 2.g3 d5 3.1 1.e4 d5 2.exd5 Sf6 3 1.d4 d5 2.c4 Sc6 3.5 1.e4 c5 2.c4 g6 3.5 1.e4 c5 2.c4 g6 3.5	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 :c3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5 Lg5 d5 4.e3 c5 Lg2 Lf5 4.c4 c6. 3.c4 e6 4.dxe6 L. :c3 Sf6 4.Sr3 e6 4 cxd4 4.Sxd4 Sf. :c3 Lg7 4.e4 d6.	VC:
2 🖄 1 A	в	C E	D E	F G	н	White Ristic, N Bologan, V Ponyi, A Parfenova, O Di Paolo, R Burgess, G Daniildis, A Tuominen, R	Elo W 2380 2520 2135 2260 2335	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J Kaposztas,M Repkova,E Meier,R Perovic,D Adorjan,A Jaracz,P	Elo B 2400 2580 2290 2340 2390 2515 2265 "	Result 0-1 1-0 1-0 1-0 ½-½ 0-1 ½2-½	Year 1994 1993 1980 1993 1995 1990 1988 1990	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.5f3 Sc6 3.1 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.5 1.e4 d5 2.e3 e5 3. 1.5f3 Sf6 2.g3 d5 3.1 1.e4 d5 2.exd5 Sf6 3. 1.e4 c5 2.c5f3 e6 3.c 1.e4 c5 2.c5f3 e6 3.c 1.e4 c5 2.c5f3 e6 3.c	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 :c3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5 Lg5 d5 4.e3 c5 Lg2 Lf5 4.c4 c6 3.c4 e6 4.dxe6 L Sc3 Sf6 4.Sf3 e6 4 cxd4 4.Sxd4 Sf :c3 Lg7 4.e4 d6	VC: ^
2 2 1 A	В	C I	D E	F	2	White Ristic, N Bologan, V Ponyi, A Parfenova, O Di Paolo, R Burgess, G Daniilidis, A Tuominen, R <	Elo W 2380 2520 2135 2260 2335	Black Kovacevic,P Nunn,J Kaposztas,M Repkova,E Meier,R Perovic,D Adorjan,A Jaracz,P	Elo B 2400 2580 2290 2340 2390 2515 2265 III	Result 0-1 0-1 1-0 1-0 1-0 1/2-1/2 0-1 1/2-1/2	Year 1994 1993 1980 1993 1995 1990 1988 1990	Notation 1.e4 c5 2.5f3 Sc6 3.1 1.e4 d6 2.d4 Sf6 3.5 1.e4 d5 6 2.5c3 e6 3. 1.Sf3 Sf6 2.g3 d5 3.1 1.e4 d5 2.exd5 Sf6 3. 1.e4 d5 2.c4 Sc6 3.3 1.e4 c5 2.5f3 e6 3.d 1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.5	Lb5 Sf6 4.Sc3 e5 ic3 g6 4.f4 Lg7 5 Lg5 d5 4.e3 c5 Lg2 Lf5 4.c4 c6 i.c4 e6 4.dxe6 L ic3 Sf6 4.Sf3 e6 4 cxd4 4.Sxd4 Sf ic3 Lg7 4.e4 d6	VC: ^

The games are sorted by similarity. The program takes account of pawn structures
Reference 289	
---------------	--

(passed pawns, blocked pawns, connected pawns, chains, isolanis, backward pawns) and the relevant positioning of the pieces (rooks behind passed pawns, rook is cutting the king off, king in a square, wrong bishop, etc). The search is very fast on 64 bit multiprocessor systems because the search can be distributed among the processors.

3.2.24 Search for similar middle game structures

Board window: Report - Similar Structures



Unlike in earlier versions you can see in the search mask specifically the positional motifs for which the program is filtering the reference database. In addition, the dialog allows you the possibility of modifying the search criteria for your position.

With one click the program loads all the games with similar pawn structures from the <u>database</u> and sorts them by similarity to the current game.

					R. C.	Rest.		-	Notation + Openi	ngs Bool	k					▼ 🛛
	-	a the	4	1112		-	ato		Notation Refere	ence Ta	able Training	Score sh	eet Live	Book Oper	nings Book	
•		The .	-							3	Kasparov,	Garry	2815 - S	hort,Nig	gel D 2665 1-0 🕂 🌋	
-			144		*				-	#	 D	46 l o	ndon ra	pid m (3)	1993	
1		—	18		-		—		4.66 15.0	138	-	2				
		1.53				the		No.	1.St3 d5 2.c4	4 e6 :	3.d4 St6 4.Sc	3 dxc4	1 5.Da4	+ Sbd/	6.e4 a6 /.Lxc4 c6 8.Dd1 Le/	
0						6/1	S. C.		9.0-0 0-0 10	.a4 b6	5 11.Ld3 Lb7	12.es	5 Sd5 1	3.Sxd5 c	xd5 14.Ld2 a5 15.Tc1 Sb8	
		11111	100	CONTRACT,	AF LET	Sec.	Mar at		16.Lb5 Sa6 1	L7.Db3	3 Tc8 18.Tc3	Sc7 1	9.Ld3 I	.b4 20.L	xh7+ Kxh7 21.Sg5+ Kg8	
5			ALC: N						22 Th3 Te8	23 Df3	Dd7 24 Db5	Kf8	25 Sh7+	Ke7 26	1 a5+ f6 27 Sxf6	
	0		8		0	1	COMB THE		1.0		2110113			1007 20	lego lo znaklo	
4	8		÷	8	8				1-0							
	1.2.1	90825	200	RACING.	1000	DO	1000									
3			9	197		3)	8. 10									-
	MOLEN		_				0									
2		2	and a			Ä	8	<u> Ż</u>					22			
			•	0.9.0		000			1 🕺]	1 1	11 1 17	((?? +-	± ±	= ∞ ≌ ∓ ∓ -+	
1	Ï			W		Ï	3		Search Result							▼ 🖂
		R	~~~~ [0	F		G	H	Restore Game	1			Search	Result		
		NO DAMA HAR	IN INCOME	PUCKAR		SHE LL	ALL CALLER	200	14/1 2		DL L	F1 D	D 11	V	NL 1. 1	NCI A
									white	EIO W	васк	EIO B	Result	Year	Notation	VC: -
									Kasparov,G	2815	Short,N	2665	1-0	1993	1.Sf3 d5 2.c4 e6 3.d4 Sf6 4.Sc3 dxc	
									Schouwerwou.	2151	Keizers,P		1-0	2004	1.d4 d5 2.c4 c6 3.Sf3 Sf6 4.Sc3 e6 5	
									Samusenko,A	2308	Kirpichnikov,V	2380	1-0	2007	1.d4 d5 2.c4 c6 3.Sf3 Sf6 4.e3 g6 5	_
									Marchio,E	2284	Idrizaj,A		1-0	2000	1.Sf3 d5 2.c4 c6 3.d4 dxc4 4.a4 Sf6	
									Hiel,L	1741	Matton,E	1441	1-0	2002	1.d4 d5 2.c4 e6 3.Sf3 Sf6 4.Lg5 Le7	
									Lindemann,N		Ehrhardt,E		1-0	2000	1.c4 d5 2.cxd5 Dxd5 3.Sc3 Dd8 4.d4	
									Behm,S	1770	Iljins,A	1747	1-0	2002	1.d4 d5 2.c4 e6 3.Sf3 c6 4.Sc3 Sf6 5	
								1013 Store	Farias,S	2220	Bjoerklund,T		1-0	2004	1.d4 d5 2.c4 dxc4 3.e4 c6 4.Lxc4 e6	-
									•							P.

The program also takes account of the positioning of the pieces (rooks on open rows, queen and bishop on the same diagonal, the position of the kings).

290	ChessBase	17
-----	-----------	----

The search is very fast on 64 bit multiprocessor systems because the search can be distributed among the processors.

3.2.25 Search for similar moves

Board window: Report - Similar Moves



With one click the program finds games with similar pawn structures where similar moves were made.



Search Manoeuvres: Bg5xf6, Be7xf6

The games are sorted by their similarity with the current game.

Unlike in earlier versions you can see in the search mask specifically the positional motifs for which the program is filtering the reference database. In addition, the dialog allows you the possibility of modifying the search criteria for your position.

NOTE OF CALL O	Notation + Op	enings Boo	k											▼ ×
Contraction of the second				💻 Karp	ov,Ana	toly 2755 -	Kaspard	ov,Garry	2775 1/2-1/2	2 💻	10			
	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6	3.Sc3 Lg7	7 4.e4 d	6 5.Sf3	3 0-0 6.Le	2 e5 7.0	0-0 Sc6	8.d5 Se7	9.Sd2	a5 :	10.a	3 Sd7 11.Tb1	L
	King's India	ai Classica	Main Line (6 05 7 0	0 Nc6)+8	Ro3 and 8 d	15 No7 no	+ 9 No1					-	_
ė lini	1 × 1	1. Classica		!? ?!	? ??	+- ± ±	= ∞	≌ ∓ :	∓ -+ ₹ (Ø				
	Search Result													▼ X
	Restore Gam	e				Sec	wch Result							
	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Notation			VCS	ECO	Т	Annotator	-
	Karpov,A	2755	Kasparov,G	2775	1/2-1/2	1989	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 d6	VCS	E97		Bulletin	
	Umezinwa,G		Griego,D	2335	0-1	1990	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E97			
	Johnsen,K		Hermansson,	E 2295	0-1	1992	1.d4 Sf6 2	.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 0-0		E97			
	Hammes,M	2305	Prescha,F		1-0	1996	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E97			
	Kobylkin,E		Smirnov,P		0-1	1993	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E97			
	Amura,C	2405	Dolmatov,S	2620	0-1	1991	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 d6	vcs	E97		Wahls	
	Peralta,E	2210	Watanabe,R	2275	0-1	1991	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.Sf3 g6 3.c4	Lg7 4.Sc3 0-0.		E97			
	Mirovshchiko	. 2395	Gulkov,I	2355	¥2-¥2	2003	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E97			
	Hammes,M	2220	Simon,H	2100	1-0	1994	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E97			
	Arlandi,E	2445	Van Wely,L	2605	0-1	1996	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.c4 g6 3.Sc3	3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E97			
	Farago,I	2475	Vogt,L	2500	0-1	1990	1.d4 d6 2	.Sf3 g6 3.c4	Lg7 4.Sc3 Sf6	VCS	E97		Knaak, R	
	Bogdanovski,	V 2440	Maksimovic,	B 2380	¥2-¥2	1991	1.d4 Sf6 2	2.Sf3 q6 3.c4	Lq7 4.Sc3 d6		E97			*
	LiveBook													▼ ×
	Move	Games	Result El	o-Av Date	2	Evaluation	Visits	[%]						<u>^</u>
	12.b4		56% 24	76 201			11596	96						
	12.f3	6	33% 23	353 200	2	=	291	2						22

3.2.26 Typical tactical positions in an opening variation

Important for the handling of an opening is a solid feeling for the tactical motifs in the typical structures. You can set up a targeted search for tactical motifs in selected opening systems Sie.

The function is started in the board window -> Report -> Similar Tactics



The program first of all starts a long list of all games which are close to the current pawn structure and fit the extended **ECO sector**.

The search mask is started: in the *game data* there is already the defined ECO sector,

Game data	Annotations	Position	Medals	Material	Manoeuvres	Attacks	
White: Black:							 Wins only ✓ Ignore colours
Tourname Annotator:	nt:				Elo 2500	• -	3500
Vear:	2	020.11	- 2020).11	Differer	ice	
Moves	s: 0		- 22	▲ ▼	Result 1-0 Mate	0-1	☐ ½-½ ☐ 0-0 alem. ☐ Check
In Repe No	rtoire O W	/hite (Black		Text		Good games

under Position you will find the pawn structure.



R

Ä

R

Ä

As a rule you will want to refine the search, e.g. by limiting to one specific player, etc. You can do that via the various tabs in the search mask.

Take care that you also define the pawn structure by means of the **Or/and Exclude** board in the position search!

You can further limit the search cleverly by in the game data requiring, e.g., short wins by White. But that means missing out on all combinations played by Black.

In these games then tactics are searched for up to a pre-determined move. After the conclusion (or the stopping) of the search the material which has been found is written into a database as training positions. In doing so the program automatically starts the file dialog in which you can determine a name for the database into which the games which have been found are saved.

A search for tactics is relatively slow because the function necessarily <u>requires an</u> <u>engine to check the solutions</u>.

Vertical

-1 📮

2

23

Reset

+

* •

First

Length

Last

Sacrifice

Copy board

3.2.27 Same players

Board window: Report - Same Players

🧞 Fin	nd gam	nes from Ref	erence	Databa	ase pla	yed by the same people with s	imila	r ope	ning	js .	
f5 12.b4 K	h8										-
King's Indian:	Classica	al Main Line (6	.e5 7 0-	0 Nc6): 8	Be3 and	d 8 d5 Ne7, not 9 Ne1					
t 🔀]	1 1.		!? ?!	? ??	+- ±	± = ∞ ≌ ∓ ∓ -+ ≠	2				
Search Result											▼ ×
Restore Game						Search Result					
White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Notation	VCS	ECO	Т	Annotator	
Karpov,A	2730	Kasparov,G	2770	1/2-1/2	1991	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E97	0		
Karpov,A	2730	Kasparov,G	2800	1/2-1/2	1990	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E92	0		=
Karpov,A	2730	Kasparov,G	2800	1/2-1/2	1990	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E92			
Karpov,A	2730	Kasparov,G	2770	1/2-1/2	1992	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E88			
Karpov,A	2730	Kasparov,G	2800	1/2-1/2	1990	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E87			
Karpov,A	2725	Kasparov,G	2805	0-1	1993	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E86			
Karpov,A	2730	Kasparov,G	2800	1-0	1990	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E87			
Karpov,A	2688	Kasparov,G	2838	1-0	2002	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 d5 4.Sf3 Lg7		D92			
Karpov,A	2730	Kasparov,G	2800	1/2-1/2	1990	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 d5 4.cxd5 Sx.		D85			
Karpov,A	2730	Kasparov,G	2800	1-0	1990	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 d5 4.cxd5 Sx.		D85			
Karpov,A	2616	Ivanchuk,V	2771	1-0	2012	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.e4 d6		E90			
Karpov,A	2628	Morovic Ferna.	Daublas	1 A	2015	1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 q6 3.Sc3 Lq7 4.e4 d6		E90			*
LiveBook			Doublet	nek to ope							▼ ×

This function loads games played by the same players, whether against one another or against other opponents. The results are sorted by similarity to the current game.

This function uses up to date information from the online database, so an Internet connection is needed to use it.

294 ChessBase 17

3.2.28 Final Material

The <u>games list</u> has a column which displays the material in the final position of the game. If this column is not visible, rightclick on the column header to switch it on.



Click on the column header to sort the games list by final material. The games with naked kings will come on top, the early draws with full material at the bottom of the list.

This information might have to be generated for existing databases.

3.2.29 Searching for game tags

The program supports the search for Game tags.

Game tags are displayed in the games list and also within the notation. When you save a game, you can set a game tag.

Players and Result Annotator and Teams	English Y	
Rating	Genial	
Game Tag		

As seen in the notation:



As seen in the games list:



You can target to be filtered from the database games which have been provided with a specific game tag

To do so start the Search mask - Annotations - Game data - "Any text":

Enter the game tag in the input box:

Any Text	Genial	
Time Control	00	

The program then lists games with that tag.

3.2.30 Piece probability

List window: Statistics - Ribbon Piece probability (or right-click, or Shift-S)



For any group of games, e.g. an openings system, this function generates statistics of the movements of each piece on the board.



Piece probability graphically displays the squares on which a piece tends to move or stay. This is particularly useful in opening training, where there are important conclusions to be drawn. For instance, if you discover that in a set of games from the Ruy Lopez Marshall Attack (C89), in which Black was successful, he tended to move his queen to h4, h5 and h3, his king's rook to the e-file and especially e6 (to support the attack with the queen) and his pawns to f5, f4 and g5, then this may give you a completely new insight into the ideas behind the opening system.

Piece symbols

The probability display is always for an individual piece, which you click on the right. You must differentiate between the queen- and kingside pieces, i.e. the dark and light-squared bishop, the king- and queenside knight and rook. Below the board there are some control buttons with which you can change the perspective of the board and the scale of the columns (click "+" or "-" if they are too large or small).

Time on square/Moves to square

The size of the columns signify the relative frequency with which a piece was on a given square. You can switch between the amount of time it spent on that square and how often it was moved to the square (i.e. ignoring how much time it spent there).

Moves from ... to

This allows you to display statistics for only a certain phase of the game.

+ / −

Changes the scale of the graphics.

Logarithmic

The logarithmic display makes it easier to display larger fluctuations.

3.2.31 Statistics

List window: Tools Statistics

Select a set of games in the list (e.g. <u>search</u> for all the white games of a player). If only one game is selected the entire list is used. Click *Statistics* in the list window menu. You can also right-click or press 'S').



You can click on Result, Length (of games), Years and ECO codes to get a statistic display in each of these categories. If you enter a player name you get the statistics of that player only. These are given from the point of view of the player, i.e. "1-0" is for the number of games the player won, even if it was with black, and "0-1" for the number he or she lost. "White" and "Black" considers only games of one colour.

3.3 Finding Players

3.3.1 Player encyclopedia

The ChessBase DVD contains a player encyclopedia with pictures and data for more than 120,000 international tournament players.

The encyclopedia is also online!

You can <u>automatically update</u> the player encyclopedia that you have installed. We regularly publish an updated version of the encyclopedia with new players and updated Elo ratings. Depending on your settings the program accesses the encyclopedia on the

server and updates the enclyclopedia that you have stored locally.



It is installed automatically with the program.

Search in the player encyclopedia

You can browse directly in the encyclopedia for players, ranking lists, etc.

Photo pane in the <u>board window</u>

Call Menu Window – Panes – Photos in the board window to display pictures and flags of the players in a loaded game. If you click on one of the photos the <u>ID-Card</u> of that player appears.

	Notation + C	pening	s Bool	¢																	▼ ×
-	1.d4 Sf6	2.c4	g6	3.Sc3	Lg7	4.e4	d6	5.Sf3	0-0	6.Le2	e5	7.0-0	Sc6	8.d5	Se7	9.Sd2	a5	10.a3	Sd7	11.Tb1	▲ ▼
	+ ×	1 🕯	1.	XR		12 7	21 7	· ??	+	+ ±	=	∞ 8	Ŧ	-	- ⊉	0					
È I	Players		-						-				1	·		•					▼ ×
						-										-	-				
				•	The second	RL	JS									S		RUS			
				L.	M											1	22				
				Karp	ov, Ana	toly (3	8)								K	asparov, (Sarry	(26)			
	LiveBook																				• ×
	Mayo	Gam		Popult	Elo.	A., D	Into		Evolue	tion	Visite	r	9/1								

▶ The <u>Player dossier</u>

In this function ChessBase uses the encyclopedia to display pictures and the data of the player.

Additional information in the <u>Player index</u>

In the player index, the flags, elo numbers, titles, etc. come from the Player Encyclopedia. You can switch this off with View – Use Encyclopedia in the player index menu.

Entry help in the <u>Save mask</u>

When you are entering the names of players you can type in part of it and then click the question mark button to the right of the entry line. A list of names appears from which you can choose the correct one.

Entry help in the <u>Player index</u>

When you are editing players' names in the player index you can use the question mark button to consult the player encyclopedia, making it easier to get the spelling right. This is useful to standardize spellings.

See also <u>Player Encyclopedia as List ...</u>....

3.3.2 Player Encyclopedia online

You can <u>automatically update</u> the player encyclopedia that you have installed. We regularly publish an updated version of the encyclopedia with new players and updated Elo ratings. Depending on your settings the program accesses the encyclopedia on the server and updates the enclyclopedia that you have stored locally.

These settings can be selected in the program's options menu.

Menu File - Options - Encyclopedia:

Encyclopedia	
- Select path C:\Users\user\Documents\ChessBase\Playbase\	
Options	
Player Encyclopedia From Server	
O Player Encyclopedia Local Only	
O Disable Player Encyclonedia	

Off = No player encyclopedia

This option is useful for slow computers with very little free disk space.

Local = Use the installed player encyclopedia

This option should be used on a computer that has no Internet connection, or a very slow Internet connection.

Server = The program accesses the data on the server and gradually updates the locally stored encyclopedia.

Select Path = Where the local player encyclopedia is stored. If the path is left empty an empty encyclopedia is created which will be filled with data from the server.

Note: If you start with an empty player encyclopedia you will only see the data in the main window that has already been received from the server, i.e. the cache. In case of doubt use the locally installed encyclopedia, because it will automatically be improved by the server data.

3.3.3 No information from the player encyclopaedia?

No information from the player encyclopaedia, e.g. photos in the <u>notation window</u>, are displayed although use of the menu File-Options-<u>Player Encyclopaedia</u> is activated?

Select path	
C:\Users\user\Documents\ChessBase\Playbase\	
Options	
Player Encyclopedia From Server	
O Player Encyclopedia Local Only	

Start ChessBase and select a GM game from one of the database lists between two well-known players. Under the menu "*View*" click on "Players Photos" so that a tick is displayed.

Instead of a small picture a large photo will immediately be displayed (including I.D. card and a series of other photos) e.g. Carlsen at various stages of his career (from childhood to world champion).

With a chess game loaded you will find under "*View*" many interesting options e.g. direct activation of the reference display or book analysis.

3.3.4 ID-Card

In the **ID-Card** of a player you can find all the information available in the player encyclopedia.

Player Index - ID Card



For the pictures there is a date and the name of the photographer. Click $\langle - \text{ or } - \rangle$ to browse through all the photos available. If you click on Elo profile you can track the <u>Elo development</u>.

Last Name.	Kortschnoj		State 2	-	and the
First Name.	Viktor Lvovich			all the second	-
Birthday.	1931		- 1		Section 2
Deceased.	06.06.2016 (85)			al and	
<u>T</u> itle.	GM			ne	
	2499 (05.2016) Trend: 0-0		-	and !!	KA.
Country.	Switzerland		1	EVI	
Elo Profile Dossier		•			K
			Ph	oto: Benjamin Bartels	5
				ca. 2006	
			<	1/81	>
Close					

The Dossier function goes through the games of your reference database to create a <u>player dossier</u>.

3.3.5 Player index

List window: Click **Player** tab

The players index is sorted alphabetically.

Text Gam	es Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sou	irces Tea	ms Game Tag	g Text ti	tles Ar	nalysis World	Openi	ngs					
Last name			First Name	^	Games											
Kramnik			Vladimir		Number	White		Elo W	Black		Elo B	Result	Moves	ECO	Tournament	Da 1
Krasenkow			Michal		2777	Kramnik,V		2753	Carlsen,M		2863	0-1	24	B87	Legends of Chess Preli	. 29
Kristianssor	h		Stefan		2776	Carlsen,M		2863	Kramnik,V		2753	1-0	62	D35	Legends of Chess Preli	. 29
Krivoborod			Egor		2775	Kramnik,V		2753	Carlsen,M	_	2863	1/2-1/2	76	B92	Legends of Chess Preli	. 29
Kriveshav	01		Canadi		2774	Carlsen,M		2863	Kramnik.V		2753	1/2-1/2	42	C54	Legends of Chess Preli	. 29
Krivosney			Sergel		2459	Carlsen,M		2872	Kramnik,V		2753	1-0	41	D02	Wch Blitz Moscow	30
Krsnik Coha	ar 🔤		Ivan Vihor	~	1870	Carlsen.M		2835	Kramnik.V		2777	1/,-1/,	56	C00	Tata Steel-A 81st	15
<			>	_	<											>
Search: Kran	nnik				Tourname	ents										▼ ×
													100%			

Type the first letters of a player into Search below the list to find a player.

Right-click a player to get the following menu:

Text Games	Tourna	aments	Annotator	Jources	reams	Game
Last name	First Name	Total	Elo	Title	m/w	Cou.
Kortschnoj	\ /:1-+	A-1	2400	CM	 Ci V	
Korzubov	Prepare aga	inst White			Strg+V	¥
Kostayiolas	Prepare aga	inst Black			Strg+	В
Kouatly	Search white	e games	L L	Jmschalt+Sti	g+Alt+V	v
Kozul	Search black	c games		Umschalt+St	rg+Alt+	В
Krabbe	ID-Card			St	rg+Alt+	в
Kramnik	Dossier				Strg+l	D 🛓
Krasenkow	Player statis	tic				
•	Improve Pla	yer Name	5			
Search:	E JOA					, [
	Ealt					4
g Search for St	Delete				Ent	tf 📘
Search for si	Choose Fon	t				
Search for si	Close				Alt+F	4
] Same players		_	This o	ives vou d	only the	e whit

Text | Games | Players | Tournaments | Annotator | Sources | Teams | Game

Search White/Black

This gives you only the white or black games of the player.

ID-Card, Dossier

This calls up the <u>ID-Card</u> or generates a <u>Dossier</u> of the player.

Player statistic

This shows <u>statistics</u> of the player's games in the current database (opponents, results, openings).

Edit

This allows you to edit the <u>player's name</u>. If there are a number of entries of the same player with different spellings mark them all with Crtl-click and use Edit to unify them. But be careful: if you include a different player by mistake you will not be able to find him again after you have changed the names.

Most of the above functions are also in the Tools and Edit menus.

See Player preparation by mouse click

You can close the games list or tournaments list panes by right-click close. To reopen them, use menu Window -> Panes. You can rearrange the window panes in the usual fashion with the splitter bars.

3.3.6 Player dossier

List window: Player Index button "Dossier"

	Create a o	dossier about a	a play	er (S	Strg+I	D)
 		10.5%		-		-

or Player encyclopedia - Dossier

This generates a report with the complete personal and chess profile of a player. The report contains biographical data and pictures, statistics on the player's games, his or her openings, career, results against individual opponents and a selection of spectacular positions for training purposes. Generating the report presupposes that a reference database is defined and ChessBase has access to the player encyclopedia.

See <u>Player preparation by mouse click</u>

When you generate a dossier you can set some parameters, mainly to determine how detailed the report will be.

Repertoire	From year 1800
 (none) Coarse 	First Name Length 99
ormal	Max. Photographs
	Career
	Games with mate

Repertoire

Select the level of detail for repertoire analysis from coarse (only a few lines, terminating early) to fine (many lines, terminating late). In the report the player's repertoire with white and black is given, with the best and the worst lines highlighted. You can click each line that is given to retrieve the games.

From year

You can limit the investigation to only the recent games of a player by setting this value.

First name length

This determines how many letters of the first name will be given to uniquely identify players. Using just a few letters (e.g. one) will produce neater columns on low resolution displays.

Max. photographs

This limits the number of photos that will be included - otherwise in the case of

celebrities like Kasparov and Anand there may be pages and pages of portraits.

• Career highlights

Retrieves the best tournament results of the player and his most spectacular games.

You can save the report into the database, just like any <u>database text</u>, but it is not really necessary to do so. Regenerating it in exactly the same form takes just a minute or two.

3.3.7 Search in the player encyclopedia

Database window: List Player Encyclopedia (Ctrl-F2)



You can also search for individual players or generate lists, as in the following example:

Players			
#	Last name	First Name	Elo
105311	Kaspar	Boris	
105312	Kaspar	J	
105313	Kaspar	Jonas	
105314	Kaspar	Ladislav	
105315	Kaspar	Michal	
105316	Kaspar	Reinhold	
105317	Kaspar	Ric	1859
105318	Kaspar	Rudolf	
105319	Kaspar	Willi	2053
105320	Kasparavicius	Laimutis	2134
105321	Kasparek	Ivo	
105322	Kasparek	R	
105323	Kasparek	Vit	
105324	Kaspari	Michael	
•			
Search:	Kaspar		

Last Name	Kasparov	
First Name		
# Games	· ·	×
Both	Male	Female
Title	Ignore 🔹	WCH
Elo	0 -	3000 ×
Country	(none) 🔻	Pictures
Native	(none) 🔻	
Birthday	01.01.1900 🗐 🗸 -	10.11.2016
Death Day	01.01.1900 🗐 🔻 -	10.11.2016
	Reset	
	Activate	

> Search for an individual player

If you start typing in the name of a player, after five characters (or earlier if you click the Search button) a list of players will appear. All other options are automatically switched off. A "P" in front of the name in the list means there are pictures available.

List all players of a country

Select or type in the three-letter code of a country.

List female players under 20 with photos in the encyclopedia

Uncheck Male, set Age = 1 - 20, check Photo.

List all FIDE title holders over 70

Title, Alive, 70 – 120.

• Find all players who have risen sharply in the last four lists Activate Riser.

You can combine any of the search criteria. Click Search when you have finished defining what you want.

Clicking a player in the list and then Details will bring up the <u>ID-Card</u> of the player. There you can get a more detailed <u>player dossier</u>.

3.3.8 Player Encyclopedia as List

The contents of the <u>player encyclopedia</u> can also be displayed as a list.

The list view can be displayed by using the ribbon List Player Encyclopedia in the <u>database window</u>.

This window offers the same possibilities as the windows for the <u>tournament index</u> and <u>player index</u>.

If you type the first letters of a player's name in the input box ("Search") all the matching names are listed.

Players			
#	Last name	First Name	Elo
105311	Kaspar	Boris	
105312	Kaspar	J	
105313	Kaspar	Jonas	
105314	Kaspar	Ladislav	
105315	Kaspar	Michal	
105316	Kaspar	Reinhold	
105317	Kaspar	Ric	1859
105318	Kaspar	Rudolf	
105319	Kaspar	Willi	2053
105320	Kasparavicius	Laimutis	2134
105321	Kasparek	Ivo	
105322	Kasparek	R	
105323	Kasparek	Vit	
105324	Kaspari	Michael	
•			
Search:	Kaspar		

Example: Let us assume you want a list of all German grandmasters. Enter the following data in the search dialog:

Last Name		
First Name # Partien		-
Both	🔘 Male	Female
<u>T</u> itle	GM 👻	WCH
Flo	0 -	3000

<u>Title</u>: Select from the pulldown menu the title GM. <u>**Country**</u>: Select GER for Germany.

The program then filters all German grandmasters who are listed in the player encyclopedia. The list can be adapted to your needs by using the column sorting.

Using filters

The filter dialog of the player encyclopedia offers the following search criteria:

Family Name: Search criteria player's name

First Name: Player's first name

Games: The search only considers players who have played at least this number of games.

Both / Man / Woman: This is used to decide by sex if the name is the same. Both lists all players with this name whatever their sex is.

<u>Title</u>: Select from the pulldown menu the title which the selected players must have. **<u>Elo</u>**: This narrows down the selected players by their strength.

Country: What country does the player play for?

<u>Country of Birth</u>: The country where the player was born, which is not necessarily the same country that the player plays for.

Date of Birth / Death: This narrows down the selection by when the player was born or died. By clicking on the small arrow you can pick a date from the small calendar.

3.3.9 Spelling of players' names

Standardizing the spelling of players' names is very important for the practical usefulness of a database. All functions which refer to players rely on the standardized spelling. The large databases offered by ChessBase – the Big and <u>Mega Databases</u> – have been meticulously edited and all the players's names are correct.

The best way to standardize names is to make use of the <u>player encyclopedia</u>. You can do this very easily when <u>saving games</u>: simply type in a few letter of the name and then click the "?" button.

308	ChessBase 1	7		
	J			
		- "		
	White	Gralka	Przemyslaw	?

ChessBase will retrieve the player you want from the <u>encyclopedia</u>.

3.4 Database Management

3.4.1 Databases

What is a database? A database is a collection of chess games. A database is a single collection – you may have a number of separate "databases". You talk of the "Kasparov database" or "My King's Indian database". Databases contain the moves of games and information on the players, the tournament, result, etc. They can also contain text reports. The games may contain analysis and commentary, including videos and sound tracks, which will be displayed when you replay the games with ChessBase.

ChessBase displays these in its <u>database window</u>, where each database is given as an icon and can be opened with a double click. Opening a database will list the contents of that database.



All games you enter in ChessBase are saved in Databases. If you save a new game it is added to the end of the database.

There are two kinds of databases: Normal games databases and <u>openings books</u>. These contain openings positions, not games.

New data format 2cbh!!!!

The CBH format, existing since ChessBase 6.0, reached its limits in terms of functionality. The current <u>*.2CBH</u> format, newly introduced with CB17, removes these limits. There are e.g. no limits for player names, tournament identifiers etc. anymore. The "2CBH" format gets along with less files and uses modern caching methods of the operating system. Furthermore, it no longer needs search accelerators, whose update always brought comprehension and performance problems.

<u>2CBH is conceptually simpler</u> and thus more robust. Functions such as reorganizing therefore sometimes run twice as fast as in the old CBH format. The new format needs more space on the disk, which is relatively unimportant with today's disk sizes. With the new format comes new functionality.

See also File names and extensions

Which databases are useful?

With ChessBase you have access to the online-database. This is a database with appr. 7 Mio. games, which will be regularly updated. In order to use it you have to be connected to the internet. If you want to work offline and do some searches for chess material, you need a database with a lot of chessmaterial. We recommend to use Mega Database with the same Mio. games, 68000 of them annotated.

Creating own databases

When you start ChessBase there is only one database available, which you may never delete: The Clip database. It will be helpful when collecting games and copying them from one database to the next one. We recommend to install in addition the MegaBase as a source for the search for chess-material.

Start either with the shortkey "ctrl+x" or with the feature File *New Database*. You will see a well-known window like the one beside. Choose the directory were you want to store your database and then enter a name for the database. In our example it is "My Work". Take some time in the beginning and think about a clear structure in your chess-directories and databases.

It is up to you which databases you will create. It is, in the first lane, a matter of personal taste. Keep an eye to get the balance between databases with a readable amount of games on the one side and the number of databases on the other side.

However, from experience we know two useful databases:

- My Games A database to store your own games
- My Work A database like a desktop. The database to save working copies of all games you intend to analyse and change the notation or variation. Later on you might copy them in theme databases you have created

In order to make it easier for you to work with your different databases you are able to set properties for each database. Just mark the database and choose the right mouse button and the feature properties- The window on the left side will be opened. According to the theme you might choose from the selection. Scroll down as you have a wide choice. The database will receive an icon which make it easier to remember the database. In the example we have added the analysis icon to our work database "My Work".

We recommend to use the Mega Database as <u>reference</u> database. It is the most reliable source of chess information available. Just mark the MegaBase and use the way described above.

310 ChessBase 17

3.4.2 Database types

You can set the database type by right-clicking the icon in the <u>database window</u> and selecting Properties. The type you select determines which icon is associated with it.

D:\CBDaten\W	orld	I Championship 1886-2000.cbh	
Unspecific	^	Training	
Work My games		C II	
Large database		Show Protocol	
Informant			
Openings		Reset Protocol	
Magazine/Express			
Classical Lournaments		020 Camera 20 Planars 40 Taurana Ia	
Correspondence		926 Games; 28 Players; 40 Tournaments	
Tactics			
Analysis		147 Keys 192 Positions	
Training		147 1030, 152 1 080010	
Endings			
Studies			
Blitz Computer chose		Keference-DB	
Computer criess	×	Repertoire White	
Name		Repertoire Black	
World Championships 1886-200	0	Always open text	
		✓ Pin to favorites	

You can also set a number of other options for a database in the Properties menu.

Name

The descriptive name under the database icon can be different from the more technical filename.

Training

Makes it a special <u>trainings database</u> where you store lessons, while ChessBase keeps track of the score.

Show protocol

This displays all the databases that were copied into the current one (the "import protocol").

Reset protocol

Clears the import protocol, e.g. before the publication of a database.

Reference database

This makes it a special Reference database which ChessBase consults on all major

questions (unless you specify otherwise).

Repertoire database

This is a database in which ChessBase looks after your <u>Repertoire</u>.

Always open text

When the first entry in a database is a text report it is automatically opened when you first start the database. After that you can only open the text manually. You can click this option to make it open every time you start the database.

> Pin to Favorites

This entry allows you to determine which database will be offered when you are saving a game.

Whenever the user saves a new game, instead of the file dialog box what is displayed first is the <u>Favourites</u> list. By following the procedure described previously the user can permanently enter a DB so that it can be immediately selected in the dialog box for saving.

See also database formats.

3.4.3 My databases

In the folder window you will always find the entry "**My databases**". This is the place where you collect links to your favourite databases and directories. It is your "home" database window.



Ctrl-F12 always takes you to the "*My databases*" window.

How to get a database into your "My databases" window

Click *Menu File Open Open Database* (or press Ctrl-O, or right-click the database window and select Add/open database). Select a database in the file selector that appears (it only displays files that ChessBase can read). All databases you open this way are automatically inserted as links into the "My databases" window.

Alternatively you can drag any database symbol from another folder onto "*My Databases*" in the folder view.

Alternatively you could drag a database from Windows Explorer onto "My Databases" in the folder view or in the icon view.

How to get a directory into your "My databases" window

You can also right-click the window and select Add Folder Shortcut. The directory is not copied, but is only inserted as a link into *My databases*.

How to remove a database symbol

Click the database symbol and then *Edit Remove Database Symbol*. You can also right-click the database symbol or press *Delete*. This removes the link but leaves the database intact. Click *Edit Delete All Files* or press Shift-Delete and the database files will be physically deleted.

Open	Eingabe
Search	Strg+F
Opening reference	Strg+Alt+Eingabe
E-Mail Selected Database	
Edit	+
Remove	Entf
Remove Delete All Files	Entf Umschalt+Entf

How to remove a directory symbol

Click the directory symbol and then *Edit Remove Database Symbol.* You can also right-click the directory or press Delete. This will always remove only the link to the directory. You can not delete an entire directory physically from within ChessBase.

See also <u>Directly deleting databases</u>

3.4.4 Database symbols

The database symbols show you what type of database each games collection is.

trainingsst	referenz22	playchess	neuereserv	کت ausprobie	Analysieren	Testmorph	Noomen	Morphy.2	Carlsen.2cbh	A51-A52 Strategy	Clip Database	^
Database Pre	Details	Tile xaz S	Small Icons 🔹	* Medium lo	ons ×64 Big I	cons ×128 Hug	je Icons x254	Giant Icons				✓✓

Single-click a symbol to see the games in the database preview window.

Double-click a symbol to open the list window.

Large database symbols for high resolutions

This can be selected using the buttons underneath the database explorer.

It is also possible to view a DVD's contents with a single click.

```
•
```

Show all database symbols on the current DVD

Right-click a symbol to open a menu of functions working on this database.

Backup Database Strg+Z Remove Deleted Games		. •
Check Integrity Find Double Games Sort Database Unannotate DR Camibalize	Open Search Opening reference E-Mail Selected Database	Eingabe Strg+F Strg+Alt+Eingabe
Improve	Edit	,
Editorial Annotation (RR) Umschalt+Strg+R Rename Files	Remove Delete All Files	Entf Umschalt+Entf
Create Search Booster Delete Search Booster	Rename Tools	F2 ,

Open (Enter) Opens the list window with the games of the database. Search (Ctrl-F) Brings up a <u>search mask</u> which allows you to search for specific games. E-Mail Selected Database Sends the database as E-Mail. Remove Database Symbol (Delete) Remove the link to the database or directory (but leave the files intact). **Delete All Files** Physically deletes the files. Rename Change the name below the icon. Tools Opens a submenu with database maintenance tools. **Properties (Alt-Enter)** Allows you to set the properties of a database.

All of these functions are also to be found in the menus (File, Edit, Tools). There are a few additional menu and keyboard functions that work on databases:

Edit – Copy (Ctrl-C)

Remembers the marked database for copying.

Edit – Paste (Ctrl-V)

Inserts the "copied" games into the currently highlighted database.

Select several databases

This can be done by clicking one database, by Ctrl-clicking a number of databases, by clicking one and Shift-clicking the last, or by dragging a box around a set of icons. After that you can right-click or press Ctrl-F to start a search across all the marked databases.

3.4.5 Creation date of a Database

There are different ways to display the databases in the database window. This is how they look using the large symbols.

trainingsst	referenz22	playchess	neuereserv	کر ausprobie	analysieren	Testmorph	Noomen	Morphy.2	Carlsen.2cbh	A51-A52 Strategy	Clip Database	^
												~
🗟 Open	📰 Details	Tile x32	Small Icons ×	48 Medium Io	ons ×64 Big l	lcons ×128 Hug	ge Icons x250	Giant Icons				
Database Pre	eview: Carlsen											▼ X

Title	Games	Format	Path	Date	Usag 🖍
🧰 Mega Database 2	7187893	Refere	C:\ChessBase Daten\Datenbanken\Mega Database 2018.cbh	11.11.2018	32 _
Opening Encyclo	5629050	CBH	C:\\ChessBase\Ency\Bases\2016\Opening Encyclopedia 2016	11.11.2018	52
😤 Fritz13.ctg	270198	CTG	C:\ChessBase Daten\Books\Fritz13.ctg	10.11.2018	8
🖄 kasparov	2549	CBH	C:\ChessBase Daten\Bases\kasparov.cbh	11.11.2018	171
Pcschach.cbf (CB	851	CBH	C:\ChessBase Daten\Datenbanken\Testsets\Pcschach.cbh	10.11.2018	48
🛆 Eröffnungen sam	357	CBH	\ChessBase\MyWork\sammeln.cbh	10.11.2018	2
Collect Openings	357	CBH	C:\ChessBase Daten\collect openings.cbh	10.11.2018	3
🔮 MyInternetGame	306	CBH	\ChessBase\MyInternetGames.cbh	11.11.2018	35
🔮 MyInternetKibitzi	185	CBH	\ChessBase\MyInternetKibitzing.cbh	10.11.2018	11

You are shown more information if you display the databases in the Details view.

The column **Usage** shows how often you have opened the database. The column **Created** shows the creation date of the databases, which you might want to use for sorting the list.

Date	Usage	Created
1.10.2010	5	30.9.2010
1.10.2010	382	2.9.2010
28.9.2010	11	19.11.2009

Note: The program removes database symbols if a database has not been used for a long time. The database is still available on your hard drive and will be displayed if you load it again.

3.4.6 Directly deleting databases

It is possible to <u>completely delete</u> <u>databases</u> in the database window.

You need to follow these steps:

Select the database in the database window by clicking on the database icon.

Click on the ribbon Maintenance Delete all files.



It is also possible to right click on a <u>database symbol</u> and select Delete all files in the context menu.

e	-		n\(
ar i	Open	Eingabe	bri
:0	Search	Strg+F	er
f	Opening reference	Strg+Alt+Eingabe	T
:K	E-Mail Selected Database		er
-	Edit	۱.	}ig
eı	Remove	Entf	P
h	Delete All Files	Umschalt+Entf]v
re In	Tools	Þ	-
	Properties	Alt+Eingabe	

This opens a dialog box with the following options:

O Delete Physically
O Move To Waste Basket

3.4.7 Tip for a new installation

You would like to or have to install ChessBase on another machine. On the old computer you have <u>many databases</u> with icons in the main window "<u>My Databases</u>" and these should now be imported as they are.

If you have imported exactly the same file paths to the same data entries then it is not necessary to import these databases "by hand".

In the **DBItems.ini file** under the index "My Documents\Chessbase" this information is saved.

Naturally, this is only possible when the paths on the new computer are identical to those installed on the previous computer!

3.4.8 Default book

The default book is an <u>openings book</u> which is automatically updated whenever you add games to your <u>reference database</u>.

This is how to define your default book:

Create an openings book (Database window: **Menu File New Database**, select the database type Books with the extension *.CTG).

Click the openings book and select *Edit Properties* (in the normal or right-click menu).

Switch on the Default book checkbox.

D:\CB-Datenbanken\Books\Fritz13.ctg										
E-Mail Opening book Chess Media Reference	^	÷2	Training Show Protocol							
Repertoire Update Strategy Playchess			Reset Protocol							
Tutorial Top Chess Brilliancies Women Chess		270198 Games 0 Keys, 0 Positior	ıs							

When you copy a set of new games into your reference database then you should click on Update default book in the <u>copy games mask</u> that appears.

This will cause all the games to be copied into your default book as well.

Note: There is no openings book on the ChessBase program DVD. You can generate one from the Big Database 2004. Simply drag & drop the database icon on the book icon.

See also: <u>Copy games to book</u>

3.4.9 Advanced Database Management

Database window: Maintenance (or right-click, Tools).



Backup Database (Ctrl-Z)

This creates a backup or <u>archive copy</u> of a database in a single compressed file.

Remove Deleted Games

Games marked for deletion are permanently remove from the database

Check Integrity

This conducts an integrity test on a database to identify and correct errors.

Find double games

Identifies <u>doubles</u> and marks them for deletion.

Sort database

<u>Sort the games</u> of a database according on year and tournament only and fixes this sort order. You have the choice between ascending or descending. This function is maintained from the CB 8 program because some users do not like to see that some functions are disappeared.

Unannotate DB

Removes all commentary and variations from a database.

Cannibalize

Extracts all games from the selected database which are not already contained in your <u>reference database</u>. When you execute this function you will be prompted to create a new database in which the cannibalised games are stored. There you can examine them and copy the ones you consider interesting into your reference database.

Improve

Automatically completes tournament data like category and number of rounds if they are missing.

Rename files

This renames all the files belonging to the database, including multimedia directories.

Create/delete search booster

The <u>search booster</u> increases the speed of game retrieval by a factor of up to 100.

3.4.10 Search booster

For ChessBase we have developed a new and more efficient format for the search booster. This optimises especially searches for positions within large databases.

You can create new search boosters for every installed database via the menu item *Maintenance* Create Search Booster.



The Search Boosteris stored in a separate sub-folder of the target folder in which the database is located.

3.4.11 Clip database

The "*Clip database*" stores references to games from different databases. It is a virtual database that behaves just like a normal one, except that it is not stored permanently. Typically, in the clip database you collect games you encounter when browsing through or searching in other databases. Since the clip database only stores references, changes like marking games for deletion or unannotating will happen on the original games.



This is the symbol of the clip database. You will always find it in the "<u>My databases</u> " window.

See also <u>Clip Database</u>

How to get games into the clip database

In the <u>database window</u> drag a database icon onto the clip database.

▶ In a <u>list window</u> mark one or more games (Ctrl-click, Shift-cursor keys or Ctrl-A for all games), right-click and use *Edit Clip or Unclip*. You can also mark the games and press F5.

▶ In a <u>list window</u> mark one or more games and press Ctrl-C (copy). Switch to the database window, click the clip database and press Ctrl-V (paste). You can also use Copy and Paste in the Edit or in the right-click menu.

▶ In the <u>players index</u>, the <u>tournament index</u>, <u>annotators index</u> or <u>source index</u> you can mark one or more entries and press F5 (or right-click) to copy the games into the clip database. The clip database is stored to disk when you leave the program and is available the next time you start. Again, it does not store the games, only references to them.

How to remove games from the clip database

▶ Open the clip database (double-click), mark games using Ctrl-click, Shift-cursor keys or Ctrl-A for all games, right-click the selection and use Remove Selected (or press F5). You can also use Edit – Remove unselected games to remove all the others.

• List window: Click Remove Selected in the Edit menu to remove the marked games.

▶ List window: Click Erase Clipboard in the Edit menu (or press Ctrl-Alt-V) to remove all games.

▶ Right-click the clip database symbol and use Erase Clipboard (or press Ctrl-Alt-V). Erasing games from the clipboard does not remove or delete them from the databases.

How to copy games from the clip database to a different location

• Mark games in the clip database list and use <u>Drag & Drop</u> to move them into another list or onto a database symbol.

> Drag the clip database symbol onto another database symbol.

• Mark games in the clip database list, or click the clip database icon, and press Ctrl-C. Click a destination list or database symbol and press Ctrl-V.

3.4.12 Clip database for web-based use

There exists a fixed and new cloud database: the "*Cloud Clip*". All the games you have played or played through with any of the web apps are <u>automatically stored</u> in it.



In the "*Cloud Clip*" you will find for example games which you have played through on our news website with the PGN replayer or games/positions against the web version of Fritz or in tactical training.

It is called up in CB 14 via the Cloud menu.



If, for example, you click on Playchess.com, you will see your games on the server.

A click on Tactics shows the tactical positions you have worked on up until then, whereas clicking on "Website" displays all the games which have played through on our news pages with the PGN replayer.

For this to work it is absolutely necessary to log in with a valid ChessBase account. This is the case both for the login via CB14 and for the web app you have selected.

Should no contents be displayed, games have to be saved there first of all.

Here is how: Be logged in to the news page and click on a game in the replay board.

Play a game against fritz.chessbase.com.

Solve tactical positions on tactics.chessbase.com.

This function is particularly useful when playing through games with the PGN replayer on our news site. A mouse click and the game is immediately available to work on in CB 14. By means of ALT-TAB you can switch between the two uses, meaning that no further downloads are necessary to make use of the games in CB 14. Now a practical example.

Log on under ChessBase 14, if you have not already done so, with your access data. *Start menu Login*.

Start in parallel your internet browser and with your access data log on to your ChessBase Account and open the news page with the latest news from the world of chess.

For the moment there is a report about the match Anatoly Karpov - Jan Timman with a lot of games. The games can be played through in the PGN replayer.

Now you change with Alt-Tab to the database program which is opened in parallel and click on the database *Cloud Clip*. The game can now be found in the database list of Cloud Clip, and can thus be loaded directly into the program and worked upon.

🕒 🖂 (CI	loudClip	31 Gam	es						- 0	×					
File	Home S	tatistics	Games Players	Openii	ng Keys	View			T K		P	0		1111	- 11	0
Paste	Delete	Full Gi Segoe Ul First	ame Header	Board	Filter List	Edit Game Data	🐓 Sel e 🔁 Go	lect All to Line	Cross Table Tou	Next urnament	Activa Fr	te/deactivate				
	lipboard	P	roperties	Board	Filter		Edit		Tournar	nents	/	Activate				
Text	Games Opening	s									_					
Number	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Mo	ECO	Tourna	iment	Date	^	**	0 A X			
1	Vidit,S	2686	Lalith,B	2586	1-0			chess.c	om IoM M	05.10.20	16		AAA	-		
2	Karpov, A		Timman,J		0-1			4th Ba	samro Mat	08.10.20	16					
3	Kramnik, V	2808	Vocaturo, D	2583	1-0			42nd (Olympiad B	13.09.20)1 (
4	Berescu, A	2454	Kuzubov, Y	2635	0-1			36th B	enasque O	10.07.20	16					
5	Ruether, M	1793	Ferster, F	2170	0-1			Werne	r-Ott-Open	16.07.20)1E 🗸 🗄	*****				-
<											>					
												100	%		-	

Thus you no longer need to do any downloading to extend your own game collections with CB 14!

3.4.13 Database file selector

The *file selector* is used to open a database, create a new one or add it to the database window.

: Carlsen.2cbh	✓ Databases (*.2CBH,*.CBH,*.PGN ∨ ✓
	Databases (*.2CBH,*.CBH,*.PGN,*.CBV,*.CBZ,*.CBONE,*.CBCLOUD) PGN files (*.PGN) Single file (*.CBONE) Cloud (*.CBCLOUD) Databases old (*.CBF) Books (*.CTG) Archives (*.CBV, *.CBZ) All Databases (*.2CBH, *.CBH, *.PGN, *.CBV, *.CBZ, *.CTG, *.CBONE, *.CBCLOUD, *.CBF) Media Files (*.cms;*.wmv;*.mp4)

Look in: allows you to find a drive and directory. The window displays directories and ChessBase database files. A double-click on a file will open it directly.

Folder Shortcut

Database window: Right-click, Folder shortcut

View	۲
Sort Symbols	۱.
Open Database	Ctrl+O
New Database	Ctrl+X
Database	Strg+O
Add Folder Shortcut	
Windows Explorer	

This is used to add a folder shortcut to your <u>My databases</u> window.

3.4.14 Copy games

The simplest way of copying games is to use the "<u>Drag & Drop</u>" function in the <u>database window</u> (i.e. drag one database symbol onto another). When you do so the following dialog appears:

The Copy games dialog also appears when you drag games from one list to another or onto a database icon. You can also use the right-click menu in the <u>games list</u> or on a database symbol. Use *Edit Copy* to copy the games and *Edit Paste* to paste them into a different database.

The Copy games dialog shows you the source and destination databases. The games are copied (appended) to the end of the latter. If you have already copied them, or some of them, you will generally be warned. You also have the following options:

Games

The program offers to copy all games. Naturally you can change the number of the first and last game in order to copy only a selection.

• Opening classification

If the destination database has an openings key installed ChessBase will offer to sort the games into the key while they are being copied. You can deactivate this option if for some reason you want the games to remain unclassified.

• Theme classification

The same applies to the theme key. If one is present in the destination database ChessBase will classify the games into it while it copies them.

Don't copy single doubles

This option is used to prevent more than one copy of a game from entering the database. It is only available if the destination database has an openings key installed. Naturally the function is very much slower than normal copying, since for each game the program has to check whether it is already present in the database. The speed depends on the quality of the openings key of the destination database.

Always Import Annotations

If you are copying games and instruct ChessBase to skip doubles, you can in addition specify whether annotated games should be copied or not. If you tell ChessBase to "Always Import Annotations" (i.e. games with variations and commentary) then it will copy annotated games even if they are already present in the destination database.

Copy multi media files

This option is normally switched on, audio and picture files are copied as well when copying games (e.g. those from a ChessBase Magazine DVD). If you do want the multimedia files you can switch the option off.

Update Default Book

If the destination database is your <u>reference database</u> and you have installed a <u>default book</u> then it is advisable to have the book updated when you are copying the games.

Copying games with a right click

The program makes it possible for you to <u>copy into a new database</u> games which you have selected (highlighted) from the games list.

To do so you proceed as follows.

In the games list of the database, highlight the games you wish to copy into a separate database. You are able to highlight games with Ctrl+mouse click or SHIFT+mouse click.

Then right click – Output – Datenbank starts the Windows file selection dialog, from where you can select the target database into which you want to copy the new games.

After the choice of the target database the game(s) are immediately copied.

3.4.15 Choosing good games

Chessbase makes it possible to put predefined values in the <u>search dialog</u> or the list views to make sure that only good games are displayed.

In order to do this the program must first set up the necessary data in the database.

Load a database. The setup is carried out in the <u>game list</u> using the menu *Games* - *Bad Game Set*.



This can improve the quality of the data displayed by only referencing good games. This function only takes into account games in which at least one player has an Elo rating above 2350 or at least one of the players has an IM or GM title. The function excludes blitz, rapid and simultaneous games. Games are excluded that are shorter than seven moves, and drawn games less than 20 moves long are also excluded.

3.4.16 Import protocol

The import protocol of a database keeps trach of all the databases that were copyied into it. ChessBase uses this to warn you if you try to copy the games of a database twice.

You can view the import protocol by clicking Show protocol in the <u>databases</u> <u>properties</u> (right-click a database icon, select Properties – Show protocol).



Clicking Reset protocol will erase the records.

The information about which games have been imported is stored in the "INI'' file of the database.

3.4.17 Delete game

324

Game list: Edit Delete

.

Or right-click selected game(s), or press Delete. Or click the button Delete below the games list.

Text	Games Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources Team	is Game	Title Op	enings				
Number	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Mo	ECO	Tournament	Date	VCS	A
682	Zueger, B	2400	Kasparov, G	2735	0-1	41	D34	SUI-Kasparov	1987		
683	Kasparov, G	2735	Short, N	2615	1-0	60	A90	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		
684	Short, N	2615	Kasparov,G	2735	0-1	52	B80	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		
685	Kasparov, G	2735	Short, N	2615	0-1	50	D02	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		
686	Short, N	2615	Kasparov,G	2735	0-1	56	<u>852</u>	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		
687	Kasparov, G	2735	Short, N	2615	1-0	52	A41	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		Zueger Beat 2400 - Kasparov Garry 2
688	Short, N	2615	Kasparov, G	2735	1-0	45	B80	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		
689	Huebner, R	2615	Kasparov,G	2735	0-1	36	<u>A21</u>	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		4 SF3 d5 5 cvd5 evd5 6 d4 Sc6
690	Karpov, A	2710	Kasparov, G	2735	¹ / ₂ - ¹ / ₂	42	E60	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		7.La2 Le7 8.0-0 0-0 9.La5
691	Kasparov, G	2735	Huebner, R	2615	1/2-1/2	48	D20	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		cxd4 10.Sxd4 h6 11.Le3 Te8 💌
602	Karnarov G	1715	Karnay A	0710	10	50	E10	CIMIET Chose Mor	1097		Tarrasch Defence: 6 g3 Nf6 7 Bg2 Be7
· [10	00%
Copy o	ames to book		-								

The games are marked for deletion. You can repeat the operation to unmark them.

To physically remove the games from a database click it in the <u>database window</u> and use *Maintenance Remove deleted games* (see <u>database tools</u>).



This operation is irreversible!!!

3.4.18 Tip Deleting Games

When you delete the game using either the delete key or the right click menu option, it appears as faded and a line drawn through it but the games are marked only for deletion.

Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Game Title	Оре	enings				
Number	Whit	e	Elo W	Black	(Elo B F	Result N	Ло	ECO	Tournament	Date	VCS	*
682	Zueg	ger, B	2400	Kasparov, G	i 21	735 0	-1 4	1	D34	SUI-Kasparov	1987		
683	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Short,N	20	615 1	-0 6	0	A90	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		
684	Shor	t,N	2615	Kasparov, G	2	735 0	- <u>1</u> 5	2	<u>880</u>	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		
685	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Short, N	26	615 0	-1 5	0	D02	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		_
686	Shor	t,N	2615	Kasparov, G	i 2	735 0	-1 5	6	B52	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		
687	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Short,N	26	615 🛛 🕮	-0. 5	2	A41	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		
688	Shor	t,N	2615	Kasparov, G	i 21	735 1	0 4	5	B80	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		
689	Hue	bner, R	2615	Kasparov, G	i 2	735 0	- 1 3	6	A21	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
690	Karp	ov,A	2710	Kasparov, G	2	735 🗦	<u>/2-1/2</u> 4	2	E60	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
691	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Huebner, R	26	615 ³	1/2-1/2 4	8	D20	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
692	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Karpov, A	2	710 1	-0 5	9	E12	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
693	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Kortschnoj	V 26	625 ¹	√2-1/2 5	1	A13	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
694	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Larsen, B	2	565 1	-0 2	4	D40	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
695	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Ljubojevic,	L 20	620 1	-0 3	8	B06	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
	17	-			-	4	• •			owner of the	1007		

You can repeat the operation to unmark them.
Here a description how it works.

Open the database that has the game you want to delete.

Click on the game you want to delete.

Press the delete key on your keyboard or Rightclick - Edit - Delete



The game should now have a line through the information.

Go to the database window. And select the database with the marked games.

For the <u>database</u> you want to finish deleting games from select Menu Maintenance Remove Deleted Games.

3.4.19 Deleting a Database

You can delete every database displayed in your database window with ChessBase.

You must be shure that you want to do this. After deleting the database you can't recover it!

In the start screen, the <u>database window</u>, are all the databases listed.

Select (mark) the database you want to delete in the database window.

ίΪ.	Delete all fi	les of selected	database	(Umschalt+Entf)
-----	---------------	-----------------	----------	-----------------

A new dialog appears.



Select the option "Delete Physically" the delete all files of the database from the harddisc.

3.4.20 Rename a Database

Question: Can I change the name of the actual database, not just how the name appears in the database window?

Go to the <u>database window</u>. Here you should see all the your databases listed. When you Start your ChessBase, the first screen you'll see is the database window. In many ways this screen is your "desktop" for using your ChessBase program.

In ChessBase select -> Tools -> Database -> Rename Files.



This open the dialog window which will let you enter the new name of the database.

3.4.21 Install database from DVD

Database window: Menu File Install Database from DVD



The function automatically copies a large database from DVD. It is the best way to install the Mega or Big databases on your hard disk. You will find the installed database on your <u>My databases</u> window

If you have a database DVD in your drive it will be automatically offered for installation. If the contents of the DVD don't automatically appear, click on the Find DVD Path button and give the right path.

It is also possible to view a DVD's contents with a single click.



3.4.22 Install database on hard disk

Database window: Menu File Install Install Database



This copies the selected database with all attached files onto your hard disk. The database can either be added to a database of the same type in <u>My databases</u>, or it can be copied as a separate database.

Typically you will want to add an installment of <u>ChessBase Magazine</u> to your <u>reference</u> <u>database</u>. The program will suggest an appropriate directory in your ChessBase <u>data</u> <u>directory</u> (My Documents / ChessBase / Bases) on your hard disk. Once it is installed the database icon will appear in your My database window.

3.4.23 Update of the Reference Database

The program makes it possible to automatically keep the <u>reference database</u> up to date. The program includes a serial number for this purpose.

Note: This download service is only available for one year.

The update is started in the database window with the button "New games"



The program starts the Login dialog.

Click "Activate subscription!.

In order to use the update service you have to register with the button *Create new account*.

To register you need to enter a valid email address and a password. The program will tell you if the registration was successful.

After registering log in with your account details (email address and password). The program now offers various sets of downloads.

In the window on the left you can see a list of the <u>available downloads</u>. You can see the number of games and information about the status of each download.

In the window on the right there is a text with detailed information about the selected download.



After selecting a download the window on the bottom right lists all the databases included in this download. This list also includes detailed information such as the number of games in the database, the date, etc.

After selecting a download in the left window you must enter a serial number so that the download can be approved. Click on "Register download" to open a dialog box to enter the serial number.

After entering the serial number the download status changes to *subscribed* .

Now the download can be started by clicking the button Download games .

After downloading the games the user can decide what to do with them.

Add to..." is the usual method. The new games are automatically added to the reference database and classified. This is done automatically for the user.

Note: Please make sure that you have already defined a <u>reference database</u> in the program.

Users who prefer to examine the games first before adding them to the reference database should select **"Save as separate database**". The database is copied onto the user's hard drive and a new database symbol is created in the database window. You can now examine the database yourself before adding it.

The downloaded material is usually a collection of games from current tournaments, but there may also be historical games. Updates are offered frequently, as soon as they have been edited and prepared for download. The games are the ones that will be used by the editors of future versions of the Megabase and Big Database.

3.4.24 Games subscriptions

The login is automatic. If you have already registered your weekly games updates under your ChessBase account, there is no more you need to do.

Everything works as previously.



Start the Download in the database window the button "New Games ".

P	Search 🔂 Big Icons	
	New Games	
	Playchess.com	

If, however, you still have an old access method (email + password) for games updates, there are now two possibilities:

a. To login in the old access manner, you must first log off from your CB access. You will find in the panel another button "*Use Old Login Data*". In the dialog box, enter your old access data.



Logging in then continues as it did previously.

b. But you can also transfer your previous update subscriptions on to your CB access. You will find a button in the panel for this too. For that you must be logged in with your CB account to which you wish to transfer the subscriptions. Enter your old data into the dialog box.



After confirmation, all subscriptions will be transferred to CB access.

If you no longer remember your password, you can request that a new one for your old access be sent to your email address.

Please note that in order to call up this dialog you must first log off from CB access. (see a) $% \left(\left({{{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{x}}}} \right) \right)$

3.4.25 Downloads Reference Database

Question: By mistake I've deleted the reference base with the downloaded games. I have subsequently re-installed the Megabase. However, it won't update (with new games...) because I had already downloaded them before deleting the Megabase (Status "downloaded"). Can I somehow reset the status and download the data again?

Answer: Games can be downloaded more than once.

- 1. Simply mark the games to be downloaded and then click on "Load selected entries".
- 2. The downloading of games can be carried out using the following steps:
- 3. After logging onto the Update-Server mark the game updates which you wish to download (clicking the left mouse key or shift key to make a multiple selection).
- 4. The next step is to click on the "Load Selected Entries" in the upper menu.
- 5. The program now collects all of the selected updates. Depending on the speed of the computer this can take a few minutes. Wait until this is completed before carrying out the next action.
- 6. Finally the dialogue box appears "Select database" where you can select whether the games should be attached to the reference database (in this case Mega2015) or whether the games should remain as individual databases. You can, if you wish, also call up another database by click on the three points and specifying this in the Windows-Selection box.
- 7. Click OK to start importing the games.

Important: Adding updates to a large database such as the Mega Database can, depending on the speed of your computer, take a long time to update due to the classification.

Tip: It is recommended to carry out both procedures - add the data to Mega as well as keeping a copy of the individual databases. The advantage of this is that you then have an overview of the database updates on your hard drive.

These are automatically stored in the folder *Download* - *Subscription*.

3.4.26 Simplified update of the reference database

In the program options you can specify how the program should proceed when downloading new games.

Notation	Select Database
Engines	Browse
Folders	
Limits	✓ Download in Background
Tablebases	✓ Create novelity report
Clipboard	
Encyclopedia	Classical view
Misc	
User	
Design	
Language	
Game update	

Menu File Options Game Update

With the *Classical view* you can download your updates as you are familiar with the previous versions. New and alternative you can set the program to run the game updates discretely in the background while you continue working. The procedure is similar to the Windows updates that are performed over and over again.

Under "*Select database*" you enter the reference database. Click "*Browse*" to start the file dialog and navigate to the target directory of the reference database.

Updates are downloaded in the background, but not <u>yet imported into the Mega</u>! The import of the data must/should be done by the user himself.

If updates have already been downloaded, you will get an information about already executed downloads by calling "*New games*" in the <u>database window</u>.

If there are no updates available and you go to new games, you go directly to the

classical view.

The classical view is the procedure known from earlier versions. You can see the individual items and download the updates individually.

You can also force this view via the setting in the global settings.

The report about the novelties is generated when you have imported an update into your reference database.

If the update contains games with special new opening lines, these games will be listed in the clipboard.

The most important new features are: direct import of updates into the mega without opening the old window, download in the background and the display of games with new features.

3.4.27 Copy games to book

You can copy games into an <u>openings book</u> to extend it. You can <u>drag & drop</u> another database symbol onto the book symbol, or drag & drop a selection of games list or opening keys onto it.

Games	1	- 927	* *
Length			
O Absolute length	ECO-relative length		
Length		20	* *
Include variations			

Games

You can set the number of games you want to copy.

Length

Crucial for the size of the resulting tree is the length of the variations which are put into the tree. It is not very meaningful to put entire games into it, so you should truncate them at a specific point.

ChessBase allows you to limit the length of the variations in two different ways.

- 1. You can specify that the absolute length of every variation should be exactly "n" moves.
- 2. It is usually much more sensible to limit the length of the variations relative to the ECO classification. This results in long variations for theoretical main lines (ECO classification position found late in the game) and short variations for side lines i.e. early deviations.

Obviously, if you choose a shorter length the tree will be compact. But then you are liable to lose some valuable information. If you choose a very large value then the tree will be gigantic, and it will contain a lot of superfluous information. A good practical value for adding games to the tree is the default of ECO + 20.

Variations

You can also include variations, i.e. analysis that might be included in the games. But these are not included in the statistical analysis.

3.4.28 Manage Databases

ChessBase stores games in <u>databases</u> The <u>database window</u> is your control center to access, copy, delete, edit, merge and backup databases.

1	File Hon	e Report	Maint	tenance C	loud View	v Help	0				YY	۳ X 4	山嵐				Style 🗡 🄇
	Paste	ove <u>N</u> ew	 Open	My Databases Dat	Cloud Show tabases of	Contents DVD	Board	D nline	Hard Disk	Prepare Against	Find Player	Player Encyclopedia	Log Off	Edit Account	Logged DerAma	in teur	
1	Сору			Database	£		Board	Search	games		Playe	ers		Ches	sBase Ac	count	
	Folders Database p Database p Database p Database p Dives Dives	ath ath - Custom : Dokumente	▼ ×	trainingsst	referenz22	playches	is neue	reserv	ausprobi	e analys	ieren	Testmorph	Noomer	Mor	D bhy.2	Carlsen.2cbh	A51-A52 Strategy
	Arrow Netzwerk Game Hist D:\CBDate O:\CBDate O:\CBD	ory h\Neues Form bases ses ndischer Ang	nat\History riff	Clipdaten	Königsindi Angriff												
1	Live			🗟 Open	🗮 Details	🔡 Tile >	az Small I	cons x4	Mediun	n Icons 🛛 🛪	🛯 Big lo	cons ×128 Huge	e Icons 👒	256 Giant	lcons		

• Open a database for browsing in a <u>list window</u> by double-clicking on its symbol in the database window.

- Copy games by <u>Drag & Drop</u> or by menu Edit Copy and menu Edit Paste.
- Edit type and title of a database by right-clicking on the symbol Properties.

• Call <u>advanced database management</u> functions by right-clicking on the symbol – Tools.

• The most important tool is to <u>backup</u> a database into a single compressed file: *Right-click, Tools Backup Database.*

J=Test 2	Eult		,	ign conzion (com)	-	Elo B
ls 📷	Remove		Entf	Huge Icons *256 Giant Icon	h,Y	
parov	Delete All Files	Umsch	nalt+Entf		▼ × v.G	
	Tools		۱.	Backup Database	Strg+Z	
	Properties	Alt+	Eingabe	Remove Deleted Game	5	
_	Kasparov G	0-1	56	Check Integrity		
	Kasparov,G	0-1	39	Find Double Games		e da
				Sort Database		
				Unannotate DB		
	 Edit type and 	title of a dat	abase by	Cannibalize		

3.4.29 Database path

The database path for ChessBase is the place where it will automatically install or create new databases. Also your games played on the chess server playchess.com are store here.

4 🍌 ChessBase	*	Name	Änderungsdatum	Тур	Größe
퉬 Analysis		MyInternetGames.cbc	18.10.2014 00:03	ChessBase Datenb	1 KB
Bases		MyInternetGames.cbe	04.04.2010 13:05	ChessBase Datenb	1 KB
🌗 Books		MyInternetGames.cbg	18.10.2014 00:03	ChessBase Datenb	23 KB
Description of the second s		MyInternetGames.cbh	18.10.2014 00:03	ChessBase Datenb	13 KB
🌗 CompBase		MyInternetGames.cbj	18.10.2014 00:03	ChessBase Datenb	22 KB
History		MyInternetGames.cbl	05.11.2014 14:01	ChessBase Datenb	1 KB
퉬 LetsCheck	-	MyInternetGames.cbm	04.04.2010 13:05	ChessBase Datenb	1 KB

The default database directory is *My Documents* (*ChessBase*). This is consistent with the Windows standard and should not be changed.

My documents\ChessBase\Bases

This is where your Mega Database and all other large databases will be installed.

- My documents\ChessBase\Books This is for the openings books.
- My documents\ChessBase\CompBase

Here you will find the databases that our chess playing programs generate, e.g. for engine matches and when they automatically save games.

My documents\ChessBase\Internet

For games automatically downloaded from the Internet.

- My documents\ChessBase\Repertoire
- For repertoire databases
- My documents\ChessBase\NoGames

All ChessBase-generated files which are not game databases.

If you play on the chess server, the database path will contain the databases

> MyInternetGames Games you played.

- > MyInternetKibitzing
- Games you watched.
- > MyInternetTournaments
- Games of tournaments you organized on the server.
- > MyInternetMachineGames
 - Games you played in the machine room.

3.4.30 Archive database

Database window: Maintenance Backup database

Compress all files of a database into a single archive file. (Strg+Z)

The selected database is compressed into a single file. The degree of compression depends on the contents of the database, but you should achieve a space saving of about 30% to 50% (considerably more if there is a great deal of text commentary). It is the best way to create and maintain backup copies of your databases. This is especially true of games collections with numerous commentary and multimedia files. ChessBase will find them all and include them in the archive file.

The archive file has the ending **"CBV"**. The <u>database window</u> will show such archive files. If you double-click them, ChessBase unpacks and opens the original database.

Encrypting databases

For strong players the opening preparation they carry around to tournaments in a notebook computer may represent a security problem. ChessBase offers an encryption function to protect your work.

To encrypt a database, click it and then press Ctrl-Z (or click Backup database) as described above.

In the dialog that appears click "Crypted"

• Type in a <u>password</u>, twice to avoid spelling errors. You can use spaces. The password is case sensitive, so you must type in capital letters exactly like you did originally.

• ChessBase stores the database in an encrypted archive with the <u>file extension</u> CBZ. It then offers to delete the original database, which is usually appropriate.

Important notes

After you create an encrypted archive, the original database files are physically deleted! ChessBase asks you to confirm this, because the files can never be recovered. The program overwrites them with random characters before deleting them, to ensure that they cannot be reconstructed with disk utilities. So make sure you type in and remember the password correctly. Otherwise your database will be irrevocably lost.

ChessBase encrypts files using a *DES algorithm*. There is no back door so we cannot help you to retrieve files if anything goes wrong. If you forget the password, your work is gone forever.

3.4.31 Edit menu in games list

In ChessBase you can copy games freely from one place to another. In the games list you can do this with the right-click menu "Edit

Edit	+
Opening reference on selection	Strg+Alt+Eingabe
Selection to Book	Umschalt+Eingabe
Replay games automatically	
Output	•
Cross Table	т
Statistics	S
Piece Probability	Umschalt+S
Overview	0
Create game title	
Tactical Analysis	
List Format	•
Close	

Copy

Remembers the selected games which can then be copied (pasted) to another list or database. You can also mark the games and press Ctrl-C.

Paste

After you have "copied" games you can use "paste" to insert them in the current database or list. You can also press Ctrl-V.

Delete

Marks the selected games as deleted (grey and struck out). You can do the same with the Delete key. Repeating will "undelete" the games. There is a special function to <u>physically delete the games</u>.

Select all

Selects all the games in the current list (Ctrl-A does it too). This is often used in connection with "Copy" to copy all the games in the list.

• Copy or Unclip

The selected games are put into the <u>Clip database</u>. You can also press F5.

Replace with ...

If a game is loaded in a board window, you can replace the selected game in the database physically with this loaded game.

Filter games

This calls up the <u>search mask</u> (as does Ctrl-F). In the search result list you can keep adding criteria to narrow down the search until enough games are filtered out to make

the list managable.

Edit game data

Allows you to edit the game data (players names, tournament, etc.) of the selected game. If more than one game is highlighed, ChessBase will check if one player is present in all the games. If this is the case you can edit the name and Elo rating of that player.

More...

Several special editing functions, e.g. for setting a common <u>source</u> or tournament for the selected games.

Tactical Analysis...

The program offers in the form of "Tactical analysis" an extra function for automatically checking games for mistakes and tactical inaccuracies.

3.4.32 File names and extensions

2CBH Format

The **CBH format**, which has existed since ChessBase 6.0, is reaching its limits everywhere. The new format removes these limits. For example, there are no more limits for player names, tournament identifiers, etc.

The format **"2CBH**" gets along with less files and uses modern caching procedures of the operating system. Furthermore, it <u>no longer needs search accelerators</u>, whose updating always brought comprehension and performance problems.

2CBH is conceptually simpler and thus more robust. Functions such as reorganizing therefore sometimes run twice as fast as in the old CBH format. The new format needs more space on the disk, which is relatively unimportant with today's disk sizes.

<u> </u>	rona champio	nanip	1000j	SPIL	-
× Ca	arlsen	2cba	4	.436.	528
× Ca	arlsen	2cbg	1	.841.	304
Ca	arlsen	2cbh		837.	888
× Ca	arlsen	2lcd		147.	456
× Ca	arlsen	2lgd		694.	796
× Ca	arlsen	2lid	3	.544.	122
Ca	arlsen	ini		3.	174
		-		-	

All files which belong to an individual database have the same name, but their suffixes are different:

NAME.CBH	= Game data ("H" is for game "header").
NAME.CBG	= Game moves and variations ("game").
NAME.CBA	= Annotations (text commentary).

NAME.CBP	= Players index.
NAME.CBT	= Tournament index.
NAME.CBC	= Commentators index.
NAME.CBS	= Source index.

These files contain the minimal game information in a database. If you delete the CBA file all commentary will be removed from the games – but not the moves and the variations, which are stored in the CBG file. If you delete the CBG file the database can still be opened and many operations carried out (e.g. openings, players, tournament indexes, statistics). You can even load individual games, but of course there are no moves to play through. It is not recommended to delete files of a database, if necessary, please be sure to have a backup before doing so.

NAME.CBE= Team index.NAME.CBJ= Second header file, team information, final material.NAME.CBM= Multimedia baggage in HTML database text files.

Those files contain additional information to the games. If they are lost, information is irrevocably lost, but the games will still be fine.

NAME.CBB = Search booster. NAME.CBGI = A second smaller search booster. NAME.CIT = Index file for fast player/tournament/team access, automatically generated, if lost. NAME.CIP = Index file for fast player/tournament/team access, automatically generated, if lost. The first two contain hashed information on the games in a database. It increases the

The first two contain hashed information on the games in a database. It increases the speed of retrieval by a factor of 100. These files are generated by the program and they are not critical.

NAME.CKO = ChessBase key, openings.

NAME.CPO = ChessBase positions, openings.

These files contain the openings keys for a database. The CKO file contains the names of the keys and the record numbers of the games for each key. The CPO file contains the positions which ChessBase uses to classify a game and determine which openings variation it contains.

NAME.CKN + .CPN = General theme key, theme definitions.

NAME.CK1 + .CP1 = Tactical theme key and definitions.

NAME.CK2 + .CP2 = Strategic theme key and definitions.

NAME.CK3 + .CP3 = Endgame theme key and definitions.

These keys make use of definitions created with the help of the search mask to classify games according to various themes.

NAME.CTB NAME.CTG NAME.CTO These three files make up an <u>openings book</u>.

NAME.CBV = Archived ChessBase database. NAME.CBZ = Encrypted archived ChessBase database. This is used to store all of the database components in a single, compressed file. You can use it to backup your work or send databases by email. The .CBZ file is protected by a password which you enter when you archive the database and need when you open it again.

NAME.INI = Database initialisation file.

The name and type of the database are recorded in this text file. In addition, this is where ChessBase saves the import protocol and the type of database.

\NAME.BMP = Multimedia subdirectory for picture files.

\NAME.AVI = Multimedia subdirectory for video files.

\NAME.WAV = Multimedia subdirectory for sound files.

When you record or copy a multimedia file the corresponding directory is automatically created in the directory where the database is located.

NAME.CBF = Old ChessBase games file.

NAME.CBI = Old ChessBase index file.

NAME.PGN = Commonly used ASCII textfile format.

ChessBase 7.0 can read and write files in the old ChessBase format and the ASCII format known as PGN which is widely used on the Internet.

NAME.PGI = ChessBase (redundant) index into a PGN file, not essential.

11.2014 13:03
11.2014 20:30
11.2014 20:30
11.2014 13:03
11.2014 13:03
11.2014 13:03

Files of the CB Cloud Databases.

3.4.33 Check integrity

Database window: Maintenance Check Integrity



Databases can sometimes become corrupted. The files can be damaged by viruses, a damaged disk surface, power surges or failures during a write operation, etc. Also, file operations outside of ChessBase may cause problems.

The integrity test <u>checks a database for errors</u>. It will also attempt to repair any damage it finds. Since this is a delicate operation you should definitely make a <u>backup</u> of the files before you use the integrity check.

3.4.34 Search booster

The "*search booster* is a file which is used to increase the speed (by a factor of about 100!) at which ChessBase can find positions, material and manoeuvres. The search booster consists of a file which has the extension ".CBB". It can be generated by the program for any database. The file uses 52 bytes per game. You get greater speed in return for using more space on your hard disk, and must decide whether the trade-off is desirable on your system.

Create Search Booster

When you search for a position in a database without a search booster ChessBase asks you whether you want to create one to speed things up. You can interrupt the process at any stage and even work with a partially completed search booster. In that case the first part of the search will be very fast, the second much slower. You can always complete the process at a later time – in fact the program will remind you when you copy new games into the database.

You can also manually create or delete a search booster: right-click a database symbol and select Tools – Create search booster.

If you want to get rid of it use Delete search booster.

For ChessBase 15 we have developed <u>a new and more efficient format</u> for the search booster. This optimises especially searches for positions within large databases.

The search boosters are stored in a separate sub-folder of the target folder in which the database is located.

▲ []	<dir></dir>
🗀 [Books]	<dir></dir>
🛅 [Eröffnungen]	<dir></dir>
🗀 [Mega2013]	<dir></dir>
Megabase]	<dir></dir>
[pittersbackup.accelerators]	<dir></dir>
pittersbackup.patterns]	<dir></dir>
问 [Playbase]	<dir></dir>
🗀 [TB3]	<dir></dir>
🗀 [TB4]	<dir></dir>
🗀 [TB5]	<dir></dir>

Example:

When I do a search of a certain position in Chessbase of my Mega Database, I only get up to 2006 (and I know there were more games in the following years up to 2016).

It helps when you delete the Search Booster and create a new one!

Highlight the Database in your Database window. Use "Tools – Database – Delete Search Booster" to delete the current booster, and then "Tools – Database – Create Search Booster" to create a new one. The whole process will take a couple of minutes.

Now run "Create Search Booster". This should also take a few minutes.

After that you are fine to go.

3.4.35 Automatic Correction of Player Names

To have any statistical relevance the names of the players must be spelt consistently. For instance, Gary Kasparov, Garry Kasparov and G. Kasparov would be treated as three different players.

ChessBase allows you to automatically correct spelling variations of player names in the <u>player index</u>.

Load the <u>player index</u> of a database. Click on the heading "Player" in the list.

The function can be found in the menu *Players - Improve Playernames*.



After completion the program tells you what it has changed in a small information box.

3.4.36 Filter – Good Games

Open the <u>game list</u> of a database. The option - *Create good/bad game* set decides whether these flags are set for the database and used while searching



In the dialog for game search Chessbase offers the parameter "Good Games".

Cood games

Using this parameter the results can be greatly be improved by considering the quality of the games in the list. For instance, this function only considers games in which at least one player has an Elo rating above 2350 or one player had an IM or GM title. This function excludes blitz, rapid and simultaneous games. It also excludes games with less than seven moves and drawn games with less than 20 moves.

ChessBase 17

3.4.37 Live databases

342

Are you interested in games, innovations or tactical moments from present-day, live tournament practice? If so, the software offers you a simple way to get at interesting games immediately.

In directory listings displayed on the left of the ChessBase database window there is the new entry $\ \textit{Live}$.

Folders × X G Dieser PC G Offentliche Dokumente G Netzwerk 2020 - November G Jourd Databases	Tac	tics Nov	elties Tr	egernsee Masters 2020	Gaprindashvili (Open II Stage 2	Cup XII 020 Me	Lublin Uni emorial 20	on Gi 20 W	aprindastivili Cup Nomen II Stage			
Shared With Me	🗟 Op	en 🔚 Details 🏢	Tile xa2 Sr	mall Icons 🔤 N	ledium Icons 🛛 »	⊧+ Big Ico	ns ×128 H	uge lco	ons x236 Giant Icons			
	Database	Preview: Novelty										▼ ×
🚰 Live	Numb	White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Mo	ECO	Tournament	Date	VCS ^	
	31	Nguyen,T	2571	Mendonca, L	2499	1-0	31	D45	Tegernsee Masters 2020	08.11.2020		
	40	Nguyen,T	2571	Mendonca, L	2499	1-0	31	D45	Tegernsee Masters 2020	08.11.2020		
	39	Parvanyan,A	2451	Donchenko,A	2658	0-1	67	A13	Tegernsee Masters 2020	08.11.2020		
Search 🚔 Big Icons	36	Parvanyan,A	2451	Donchenko,A	2658	0-1	67	A13	Tegernsee Masters 2020	08.11.2020		
- Search Calong realis	53	Donghvani,N	1985	Tsotsonava,E	1805	1-0	31	B48	Gaprindashvili Cup Women II Stage.	08.11.2020		MINAR Commencement and 1810 II
MEGA	49	Abdusattorov, N	2662	So,W	2816	0-1	28	C48	Speed Chess Championship 2020	08.11.2020		
VPDATE New Games	48	Abdusattorov,N	2662	So,W	2816	1-0	34	C48	Speed Chess Championship 2020	08.11.2020		·
	45	So,W	2816	Abdusattorov,	V 2662	0-1	25	B12	Speed Chess Championship 2020	08.11.2020		1

Here you can see at a glance <u>all the live tournaments</u> which are taking place at the moment and which are being broadcast on our server and thus you can gain direct access to the games. A double click on the relevant database symbol immediately starts the list view with the games which can be loaded with a double click just like from any other database.

In addition, you will find under **Tactics** and **Novelties** two special databases:

Novelties contains all up-to-date theoretical trends which have been discovered in the live games from recent days.

Tactics provides simple tactical exercises from the current live games, often soon after the game has finished.



3.4.38 Live opening comments/notifications

The program supports <u>new comments on opening theory</u>.

Each game by definition contains a novelty.

The question is of course whether it is <u>significant from the point of view of opening</u> <u>theory</u>.

So ChessBase now comments on "important" innovations.

Often the innovation is not at all relevant because a strong player chooses a variation which by chance follows a single weaker game and then deviates at some point. Then it is interesting to know at what point the strong GM enters this side line. Also exciting are new evaluations of variations which set new trends. A main variation which has been played for years is suddenly replaced in top games by a continuation which has till then been rarer.

ChessBase can now recognise and comment on all these developments.

This can be seen in the following places, or supported by the following program functions:

Tactical Analysis

Board window -> Report -> Novelty annotation

Games list -> Analysis -> Novelty annotation



Example: board window

You have loaded a game and now choose *Report -> Novelty annotation*. The program reacts immediately and copies to the notation relevant comparable games including the annotation with the novelty.



Within the notation you will find <u>directly clickable links</u> to comparable games.

Such comments are particularly exciting when derived in real time to games which have just been played.

While you are working with the program it sends <u>direct notifications</u> to opening trends if these are being played live.

Thus, ChessBase sends notifications to opening trends if these are being played live. In order for the notifications to work take care that the option is switched on within the program.

		Reference	345
w		L	
Notation	Always Promote To Queen	 Mark Move With Arrow 	
Engines	Pightclick Petracts	Mouse Wheel executes moves	
Folders		✓ Notifications	
Limits			
Tablebases	✓ Board sounds		
Clipboard	✓ Evaluation sounds		
Encyclopedia	Engine load sounds		
Misc	Show opening		
User	✓ Game History	Save Last Game in CloudClip	
Design	Use 'Theme Keys'		
Language	Merge transpositions		
Game update			

Whenever the program is switched on you can jump directly to the novelties by double-clicking on the relevant entries in the notifications window.

The settings for notifications from the program can be found in the Windows *Settings* under *Notifications and actions*.

Click on such a notification and then a list of <u>all recent theoretical events</u> in ChessBase will be opened.

3.4.39 Database formats

ChessBase can read and write databases in different formats:

Note: This program version works <u>with a new data format</u>. The file extension is ***.2cbh**.

The 2CBH Format

The "2CBH" format gets along with less files and uses modern caching methods of the operating system. Furthermore, it no longer needs search accelerators, whose update always brought comprehension and performance problems. **2CBH** is conceptually simpler and thus more robust. Functions such as reorganizing therefore sometimes run twice as fast as in the old CBH format. The new format needs more space on the disk, which is relatively unimportant with today's disk sizes.

The CBH format (extension CBH)

This is the native format, with powerful indexes and fast searches across multiple databases. It also supports a large number of annotation features, including graphic and spoken commentary, videos, text reports, and many other functions described in

this reference. Double-clicking a file with this symbol will automatically start ChessBase and open the database.

The book format (extension CTG)

This is the database format for <u>openings books</u>.

The PGN format (extension PGN)

"<u>Portable game notation</u>" is a text format that is very popular for E-mail and on the Internet. Most chess playing programs can handle PGN.

This is how to create a PGN file:

In the <u>database window</u> click Application *Menu New Database*. In the <u>database file</u> <u>manager</u> select "PGN" as the file type. Use <u>Drag & Drop</u> to copy games into the new database. They are automatically converted into the PGN format.

CBF format

This is the file format of earlier versions of ChessBase. You can right-click a CBF database and use "Convert to new format" to make it a CBH file.

CBONE format

ChessBase now supports a new database format with the extension ***.cbone**. This format is listed in the dialogs for opening and saving files. The advantage of this format is that in contrast to the CBH format the whole database is stored in one file. This makes the format suitable for backups and for sending to other people. If you use a large number of small files you should consider using this format. It is possible to exchange games between CBH, CBF and PGN databases. You can create databases in any of these formats and copy games into it.

CBCloud Format

The CBCloud format is made up of only four files. There are no index files for the players, tournaments, etc. The same data can be stored as in the CBH format, but due to the lack of index files there are less functions to access the data. Sorting and two-level deleting is possible.

See also List of all filenames.

3.4.40 New data format 2cbh

The <u>CBH</u> format, existing since ChessBase 6.0, reached its limits in terms of functionality. The current ***.2CBH** format, newly introduced with CB17, removes these limits. There are e.g. no limits for player names, tournament identifiers etc. anymore.

The "**2CBH**" format gets along with less files and uses modern caching methods of the operating system.

i d ∨ [daten] 226.395.856 k von 334.784.508 k frei										
★d:\CBDaten\Neues Format*.*										
↑ Name	Erw.	Größe	Datum							
🗀 [History]		<dir></dir>	08.11.202							
[NoGames]		<dir></dir>	17.11.202							
ireferenz22.html]		<dir></dir>	03.11.202							
World Champions	hip 1886-2	2001 <dir></dir>	15.11.202							
Carlsen	2cba	4.436.528	16.11.202							
Carlsen	2cbg	1.841.304	16.11.202							
Carlsen	2cbh	837.888	16.11.202							
Carlsen	2lcd	147.456	09.11.202							
Carlsen	2lgd	694.796	09.11.202							
Carlsen	2lid	3.544.122	09.11.202							
Carlsen	ini	1.338	16.11.202							
DBitems	cbini	1.001	17.11.202							
🕒 Meine Analysen	2cba	238.208	03.11.202							

Furthermore, it no <u>longer needs search accelerators</u>, whose update always brought comprehension and performance problems.

2CBH is conceptually simpler and thus more robust. Functions such as reorganizing therefore sometimes run twice as fast as in the old CBH format. The new format needs more space on the disk, which is relatively unimportant with today's disk sizes.

With the new format comes new functionality. First, CB17 brings an identifier for the end of a game. After the end of the game (result), moves can still follow. Another thing is the determination of the beauty of games. The beauty value is written in the new format in the game identifiers, in the old format there was no space left.

Many of the new functions introduced with CB 17 are only feasible with the new 2CBH format. The introduction of a new data format is always seen with somewhat mixed feelings by many users, we are aware of that.

The present program version is completely downward compatible and you can continue to use all previously supported data formats such as CBF,CBH,PGN,etc. for the purpose of forwarding, data backups, etc..

3.4.41 Conversion from older file formats to the new 2CBH format

Here many "*ways lead to Rome*", we describe here the simplest method. Add the icon of the database in the old data format to the database window.

Right click database icon

Che	essBase 17		
			_
			1
	Convert to 2CBH Format		
51-4	Open	Eingabe	
	Search	Strg+F	
	Opening reference	Strg+Alt+Eingabe	
	E-Mail Selected Database		
	Edit	۱.	
	Remove	Entf	
	Delete All Files	Umschalt+Entf	
	Show in Windows Explorer		-
	Tools	•	K
ent	Properties	Alt+Eingabe	3
26th	01.03.	2009 vCS 📃 🛄	8

"Convert to 2CBH format" converts the DB to the new format.

Alternatively, create a new database in 2CBH format and drag the icon of the database to be converted to the icon of the new database. The conversion will be performed automatically during the copy process.

3.4.42 Conversion from 2CBH to older file formats

_

The conversion to older file formats works in principle exactly as <u>described before</u>.

You can perform the conversion either via *right-click* and *function* selection via *context* menu on the DB symbol.

		9	
	Convert to CBH Format		
Carl	Open	Eingabe	L
	Search	Strg+F	L
	Opening reference	Strg+Alt+Eingabe	L
	E-Mail Selected Database		
	Edit	•	L
	Remove	Entf	L
	Delete All Files	Umschalt+Entf	L
ons	Show in Windows Explorer		L
	Tools	•	
To	Properties	Alt+Eingabe	L
LOhaver	oussieren osmeleon in	-	1

Alternatively, create a <u>new database in the old CBH/PGN-etc format</u> and drag the icon of the database to be converted onto the icon of the new database. The conversion will be performed automatically during the copy process.

3.4.43 FAQ 2CBH Format

Can I use my older databases in the old data format with the new version?

Yes you can continue to use and edit databases in the older database formats. Since the new data format does not support some of the new features, you should generally work with the new data format ***.2cbh**. The conversion works in both directions (new and older data formats without any problems).

Can I use my backup copies in CBV format with the new program version?

Yes it works. In the file selection dialog, open the CBV backup copy you want to open. If you archive a database in the new **2CBH format**, you cannot open this archive file with older program versions or our chess programs. The new data format is not supported by the older program versions at the time of this documentation!

So if you want to pass on a backup copy in CBV format, first convert to the <u>older CBH</u> format and make a backup copy of the CBH database in CBV format.

3.4.44 *.cbone

ChessBase supports <u>a new database format</u> with the extension ***.cbone**.

This format is listed in the dialogs for opening and saving files.

The advantage of this format is that in contrast to the CBH format the whole database is stored in one file. This makes the format suitable for backups and for sending to other people. If you use a large number of small files you should consider using this format.

3.4.45 Register File Types

Ribbon Maintenance Register file types



In Windows different file types are associated for different programs, based on their extensions. For instance, double clicking on a file with the extension *.jpg will automatically open a graphics program.

This is also the case <u>for the file types used by ChessBase</u>. Databases and position trees have their own extensions. If the file types were not automatically registered during the installation of the program it can be done later with:

The program now asks you if you want to register all the file types used by the program.

3.4.46 Database Indexes

List window: Click tabs at top of games list

	Clipboard	1	Pro	perties	Во	ard	Filter		Edit	lournam	ients	Activa	te
Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Game Title	Оре	enings				
Number	Whit	e	Elo W	Black	E	lo B 🛛	Result N	No	ECO	Tournament	Date	VCS	*
682	Zueg	jer, B	2400	Kasparov, G	27	35 ()-1 4	1	D34	SUI-Kasparov	1987		
683	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Short, N	26	15 1	L- O 6	0	A90	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		
684	Shor	t,N	2615	Kasparov, G	i 27	35 ()- 1 5	2	B80	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		
685	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Short,N	26	15 ()- 1 5	0	D02	London m 25' rap.	04.02.1987		
686	Shor	t,N	2615	Kasparov, G	i 27	35 ()- 1 5	6	B52	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		
687	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Short,N	26	15 1	L- O 5	2	A41	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		
688	Shor	t,N	2615	Kasparov, G	i 27	35 1	L- O 4	5	B80	London m 25' rap.	05.02.1987		
689	Huel	oner, R	2615	Kasparov, G	i 27	35 ()-1 3	6	A21	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
690	Karp	ov,A	2710	Kasparov, G	i 27	35 3	/2- ¹ /2 4	2	E60	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
691	Kasp	arov,G	2735	Huebner, R	26	15	/2-1/2 4	8	D20	SWIFT-Chess Wor	1987		
€ <u>0</u> 2	Karn	aray G	זרדר	Karnav A III	77	10 1	I N 5	n	E17	CU Doubleclick to op	oen! 7	÷	Ŧ
												10	0%

This displays the games sorted by different indexes or "keys":

Player index Tournament index Annotator index Source index Team index Openings index General themes Tactics Strategy Endgame Final material (subkey in the gameslist)

If any of the keys are not present ChessBase will generate them for you.

3.4.47 Folders

Menu File Options Folders

The most important conceptual innovation in the now clearer Options dialog is the introduction of two folders: "*Standard*" and "*Custom*".

Folders	Folders					
User	- Standard Data Folder			Thematic Databases		
Notation Engines	C:\Users\user\Documents	\ChessBase		Tournaments	 Standard 	○ Custom
Board Design	Custom Data Folder			Openings	 Standard 	O Custom
Language Clipboard	D:\CBDaten\Neues Forma	t		Endings	Standard	⊖ Custom
Encyclopedia	 Temporary Data Folder D:\TempTree 			Training	Standard	⊖ Custom
Misc Game update	bittemprice			Correspondence	© Standard	Custom
Tablebases	Work Databases				() Standard	Custom
Nalimov (GUI) Nalimov (Engine)	Large database	○ Standard	 Custom 	System Databases		
Syzygy (GUI)	Work	◯ Standard	 Custom 	Cloud Databases	 Standard 	⊖ Custom
Gaviota (Engine)	My games	 Standard 	O Custom	Game History	○ Standard	 Custom
	Repertoire	Standard	○ Custom	Any Other Folders		
	Playchess	○ Standard	Custom	Other Databases	○ Standard	Custom
	Downloads	Standard	⊖ Custom	Opening Books	 Standard 	Custom
		() Standard	Castoni	Multimedia	⊖ Standard	Custom
	Product Databases			Media Filer	O Standard	Custom
	Your Products	○ Standard	 Custom 	out D t	O Standard	 Custom
	Magazine/Express	⊖ Standard	Custom	Other Data	 Standard 	 Custom

Default is given by Windows and is located under the path <User>/Documents/ ChessBase. Because Microsoft now mirrors the document folder in OneDrive, this causes problems with large databases.

Therefore, you can user-define your own path, and specify for each typical location whether it should be in the documents directory or elsewhere ("Custom"). For example, you can place the large database on another disk, while all the smaller stuff is managed by Windows and then available, for example, via OneDrive on other computers.

This dialog appears automatically at the first program start.

3.4.48 Find double games

Database window: Maintenance Find double games (also in right-click menu)

Detect double games and mark one of each pair as deleted

When you put together a database from different sources you often have the problem that more than one copy of some of the games are present. ChessBase provides you with a powerful tool to identify and eliminate doubles. Select a database in the <u>database window</u> and click Find double games. You will get a <u>dialog box</u> in which you can specify the criteria which define the doubles and tell the program what to do with them.

First game		Decisio	n				
1		Always delete first game					
		Alv	vays delete second ga	me			
Number of moves		Kee	ep 'better' game				
0		Keep different annotators					
Clip doubles		Delete annotated games					
🔽 Ignore Result		Merge annotated games					
Ignore year		🔳 Rej	place annotated game	:S			
Names	Tourname	nts	Moves	Similar moves			
Exact	Exact		Exact	© Slow			
Similar	Similar		Similar	Fast			
Ignore	○ Ignore ○ Ignore ○ Faster						
	Remo	e Delete	d Gamer				

First game

If you have added a few games to a large database you can start from the game number of the first imported game. This will save a lot of time, since ChessBase does not have to check all the original games against each other.

Number of moves

Checking very short games (especially those with zero moves) wastes time and is usually pointless. You can avoid it by selecting a minimum game length.

Clip doubles

This copies all identified doubles to the <u>clip database</u>. You can browse through them there if you want to manually check the doubles ChessBase wants to remove.

Ignore result

If the quality of the games is very low the same game can be given with a different result. You can make ChessBase identify them anyway. It takes longer for the program to process the database, but more doubles are found.

Ignore year

Sometimes even the year might be incorrect, and you will want to make ChessBase find doubles with different dates attached to them. This slows down the process but produces more hits.

Names exact / similar / ignore

If you select Similar then similar spellings will be accepted as belonging to the same player, e.g. Müller = Muller, Yussupov = Jussupow, Kortschnoj = Korchnoi, etc. Capitals and small letters will also be ignored.

• Tournaments exact / similar / ignore

Similar spellings will be considered as being identical.

Moves exact / similar / ignore

Once again you can determine how exact a match must be for ChessBase to consider the games identical. If you want to be radical and mark anything that smells like a double, use Ignore. ChessBase will then compare games not by moves but by <u>ECO</u> <u>classification</u> only. It will probably find quite a few games which look similar but aren't really doubles at all.

Always delete first/second game

Normally ChessBase will remove the first game when it finds doubles, on the assumption that the second will be more recent and the more correct of the two. If you have a very good database and add games to it you may want to switch to deleting the second game instead. It also keeps the tournaments intact (i.e. they will remain together in the database).

• Keep 'better' game

The better game is the game with more header details like Elo ratings, publisher source, first names, etc.

> Delete annotated games

Annotated games are treated specially. Normally the program does not want to delete double games which contain annotations, since information could be lost in the process. If you click on Delete annotated games, they will be deleted just like any other double.

• Merge annotated games

If you choose this option the game with the lower game number in the database will be loaded and merged with the other one. The contributors of the annotations will be get be noted in the game. Then the lower number game will then be replaced by the merged version.

Replace annotated game

If you import a batch of annotated games, removing the original entries with a doubles search will ruin the tournaments. Replace annotated game causes ChessBase to replace the original game with the new annotated version.

Remove doubles does not physically remove the games from the database, it marks

354 ChessBase 17

<u>them for deletion</u>. If you want them removed you must click the database and use *Maintenance Remove deleted games* (see <u>database tools</u>). This operation is irreversible.

3.4.49 A tip on searching for doubles

When in ChessBase the dialog for the <u>search for doubles</u> is started, there is in the dialog box the section "*Similar moves*".

Similar moves	
Slow	
Fast	
Faster	

What exactly is the effect of the options "Slow, Fast, Faster"?

This parameter allows the user to stipulate the procedure for the checking for doubles. The setting "Slow" brings the most precise results and the greatest number of matches, but requires more time to do so.

3.4.50 PGN format

The PGN or Portable Game Notation format is an internationally recognized standard for recording games in ASCII notation. It is especially popular on the Internet because the games are stored as plain textfiles and can be edited – or theoretically even typed in completely – with a simple text editor. On the other hand, the use of storage space is much less efficient than in the ChessBase format – you need about seven times as much space to store the same games in PGN.

ChessBase can read and write PGN games files. As a user you do not need to worry about conversions. You simply address the PGN database directly, like any other database file. In order for ChessBase to read a PGN file it must have the extension ". PGN". You may have to rename a textfile first if it doesn't have the correct extension.

Once the PGN file is in the <u>database window</u> you can list out the games, load any of them and replay them in the board window. You can even add games to the database, by entering them or copying games from another database. Naturally they will be saved in PGN format, appended to the end of the file. You can copy individual games from the PGN file, or in fact the whole PGN database, into a standard ChessBase database. During the process they will be automatically converted.

In order to load a PGN file you need to set the "Files of type" field in the <u>Database file</u> <u>selector</u> to "PGN".

PGN Downloads from the Internet

Databases from the Windows TEMP folder are no longer added as symbols to "My

<u>Databases</u>". Such databases can come about from doing something like opening an email.

If only one game is loaded a board window automatically opens.

3.4.51 FEN Format

(FEN) is a standard notation for describing a particular board position of a chess game. The purpose of FEN is to provide all the necessary information to restart a game from a particular position.

FEN is based on a system developed by Scottish newspaper journalist David Forsyth. Forsyth's system became popular in the 19th century; Steven J. Edwards extended it to support use by computers. FEN is defined[2] in the "Portable Game Notation Specification and Implementation Guide".[1] In the Portable Game Notation for chess games, FEN is used to define initial positions other than the standard one.[3] FEN does not provide sufficient information to decide whether a draw by threefold repetition may be legally claimed or a draw offer may be accepted; for that, a different format such as Extended Position Description is needed.

A FEN record defines a particular game position, all in one text line and using only the ASCII character set. A text file with only FEN data records should use the filename extension ***.fen**

3.4.52 Automatically paste PGN and FEN

The program constantly checks or monitors the contents of the *Windows clipboard*. With the key combination **CTRL-C** you can copy a <u>chess position</u> (FEN) or a <u>complete</u> <u>game notation</u>(PGN) from a mail, a website or a text editor. Since these formats are based on pure ASCII text and are therefore universally used by many programs, you can quickly and efficiently pro-cess the data with the program.

For example, if you select a PGN game from a mail or a text editor by pressing **Ctrl-C**, a board window with this game will open automatically in ChessBase. If you copy a FEN position by Ctrl-C, the position input dialog opens in ChessBase with this position.

Just try it yourself. Select and copy the <u>FEN string below</u> and copy it to the Windows clipboard.

8/5k2/4p3/6P1/5P2/5K1R/8/1r6 b - - 0 99

The dialog for the position input is started with the position, a click on OK transfers the position to the board window.

You can edit and analyze the position.

356	ChessBase 17	
	8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 a b c d e f g h 0	Notation + Openings Book ▼ × Notation Reference Replay training Table Plan Explorer Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves Surveys ▲ ▼ × ↑ ×] * * ** ★ • * Kibitzer: Fritz 18 Neuronal • * ● 2 CPUS • * ● 2 CPUS • * ● 2 CPUS • * ● 2 0.70 Depth=30 99
		Disconnect Settings

If you copy a<u>PGN file</u> to the clipboard, the game notation incl. the characteristic data - if available - will be taken over directly into a new board window.

3.4.53 Recognising PGN downloads

Working with PGN databases has been simplified.

Open the ChessBase program.

Reference

357

OPENINGS A-Z CHESSBASE MAGAZINE SUPPORT - MOST READ SHOP DERAMATEUR 231 Karpov attacks WILLIAMS, SIMON KIM-HILL, JONATHAN Williams, Simon Hill, Jonathan 0 1-0 Kim 2494 🛓 👑 🏟 GM Milton Keynes op ġ Newport Pagnel [Fischer] 1.d4 d5 2.c4 e6 3.Nc3 Nf6 4.Nf3 Be7 5.Bf4 0-0 6.e3 c5 7.dxc5 Bxc5 8.Qc2 Qa5 9.a3 Nc6 10.0-0-0 Be7 11.h4 a6 12.Ng5 dxc4 13.Bxc4 b5 14.Ba2 b4 15.Nce4 Nxe4 16.Qxe4 Qc5+ 17.Kd2 f5 18.Bxe6+ Kh8 19.Qc4 Qxc4 20.Bxc4 h6 21 axb4 Bxb4+ 22 Ke2 Ra7 23 Ne6 Re8 24 Nd4 Na5 25 Ba2 Be7 26 Bf7 Rf8 27.Bd5 Bb7 28.Nf3 Nc6 29.h5 Bf6 30.Nh4 Ne7 31.Be6 Bxh4 32.Rxh4 Bxg2 33.f3 Rb7 34.b3 Rf6 35.Bc4 g5 36.hxg6 Nxg6 37.Rd8+ Rf8 38.Rxh6+ 1-0 4 X Do oad PGN + Hello Deramateur -. Use the four cursor keys and Enter to replay the game. • Try maximizing the board: 💱 .16, The position is equal · Make moves to analyse yourself. Press Ctrl-B to rotate the board. · Press F11 to load the next game of a database 🔁 💾 🔶 🖉 🥔 🖄 😋 FEN 🏭 🚵 Ť \bigcirc × 🍈 🎧 🌒 Games viewed here will automatically be stored in your <u>cloud clipboard</u> (if you are logged in). Move Elo Play Result 1.e4 929.405 54% 2423

After a successful download the $\underline{\mathsf{PGN}\ \mathsf{database}}$ is opened directly in ChessBase without further ado.

1.d4

764,328

55% 2437



This works with common browsers only if the software has already been opened/ started.

ChessBase 17

358

3.4.54 **PGN Downloads from the Internet**

Databases from the Windows TEMP folder are no longer added as symbols to "My Databases". Such databases can come about from doing something like opening an email.

If only one game is loaded a board window automatically opens.

See also <u>Cloud Clip</u>

3.4.55 Saving Games in PGN

The PGN or **Portable Game Notation** format is an internationally recognized standard for recording games in ASCII notation. It is especially popular on the Internet because the games are stored as plain textfiles and can be edited – or theoretically even typed in completely – with a simple text editor. On the other hand, the use of storage space is much less efficient than in the ChessBase format – you need about seven times as much space to store the same games in PGN. ChessBase can read and write PGN games files. As a user you do not need to worry about conversions. You simply address the PGN database directly, like any other database file. In order for ChessBase to read a PGN file it must have the extension ".PGN". You may have to rename a textfile first if it doesn't have the correct extension.

Once the <u>PGN file</u> is in the Database window you can list out the games, load any of them and replay them in the board window. You can even add games to the database, by entering them or copying games from another database. Naturally they will be saved in PGN format, appended to the end of the file. You can copy individual games from the PGN file, or in fact the whole PGN database, into a standard ChessBase database. During the process they will be automatically converted.

Start the Software and create a new PGN file: File New Database



Here you must first select the File format $``\mathbf{PGN''}$ on the very bottom of that dialog box.

New Database.	ogn								
PGN files (*.PGN	1)								
Databases (*.CB	H)								
PGN files (*.PGN	I)								
Single file (*.CB	ONE)								
Cloud (*.CBCLC	UD)								
Databases old (*	CBF)								
Books (*.CTG)									
All Databases (*.CBH, *.PGN, *.CTG, *.CBONE, *.CBF)									
Collins,S	2490	1-0	A00	NOR-chT 1415	02.11.2014	3.5			

When you have successfully created that new and empty PGN database you can copy games from other databases into it.

3.4.56 Password

When you compress a database to an <u>archive file</u> you have the option of encrypting it with a password. You have to enter your password twice to avoid typos. The filename has the ending **CBZ**.

Important note

After you create an encrypted archive, the original database files are physically deleted! ChessBase asks you to confirm this, because the files can never be recovered. The program overwrites them with random characters before deleting them, to ensures that they cannot be reconstructed with disk utilities. So make sure you type in and remember the password correctly. Otherwise your database will be irrevocably lost.

ChessBase encrypts files using a powerful DES algorithm. There is also no secret master password or back door, and we cannot help you to retrieve files if anything goes wrong. **So if you forget the password, your work is gone forever**.

3.4.57 Network capability

ChessBase has a certain degree of networking capability. A database in a network can be read and probed by a number of users simultaneously. But writing to the database is only possible when nobody else is accessing it.

The same applies to Fritz. For instance, if an engine match or tournament is running on a computer, another computer can access the files over the network and load games or generate a tournament table.

3.5 General

3.5.1 Elo ratings

Elo ratings, invented by the Hungarian statistician Professor Arpad Elö, express the playing strength of chess players. Strong club players may reach 2000 points, International Masters are usually 2300 to 2500, Grandmasters up to 2700, with a very small number of players exceeding event that (Garry Kasparov is the only player in history to exceed 2800). Twice a year the world chess federation issues an Elo rating list with ratings for tens of thousands of players.

Here's a list of rating categories

Playing strength Player category

1000-1600	Average club player
1600-2100	Strong club player
2100-2300	International league player

2300-2450	International Master (IM)
2450-2650	Grandmaster (GM)
2650-2850	Supergrandmaster, world champion

3.5.2 ECO classification

The abbreviation ECO stands for "*Encyclopedia of Chess Openings*", a standard reference for openings that is published by the Chess Informant. Individual variations of an opening are denoted by abbreviations like "C43" (Petroff with 3.d4) or "D89" (Grunfeld Indian Exchange – main line). The system has become universally accepted and is also used by ChessBase.

In the <u>search mask</u> you can specify a range of openings (and combine this with players, length, result, etc.). Click on the ECO checkbox and enter ECO codes, e.g.

"C43″	and	"C45″	for all games from C43 to C45
"C″	and	"C45″	for all games from C00 to C45
"C45″	and	nothing	for all games from C45

The number behind the slash in the code ("/99") denotes the subvariations. The ECO code is embedded in all games supplied by ChessBase and displayed in the <u>games list</u>. If a set of game you get from somewhere else does not contain or has incorrect ECO codes you can have them inserted by ChessBase.

Use Games list: Games Set ECO codes



This will insert or correct the ECO codes in all the games.

- 1. Volume C covers the French Defense and all double King pawn openings.
- 2. Volume B covers all 1.e4 openings in which Black replies with something other than 1.e6 or 1.e5.
- 3. Volume D contains all of the double Queen pawn openings and all openings in which 3.Nc7 Bg7 doesn't follow the opening moves 1.d4 Nf6 2.c4 g6 (that's what the parentheses mean in the list above: that those moves are not played -- so, in other words, it's the 1.d4 Nf6 2.c4 openings in which 2...g6 is played, but 3.Nc3 Bg7 doesn't follow).
- 4. Volume E has the openings in which either 2...e6 or 2...g6 3.Nc3 Bg7 follow 1.d4 Nf6 2.c4.
- 5. Volume A contains everything that doesn't fall into the categories of the other four volumes (stuff like the English and the various flank openings).
3.5.3 ChessBase Magazine

Every two months a unique electronic chess magazine is published: ChessBase Magazine contains over 1000 games from the best tournaments throughout the world. A majority of them are extensively annotated, often by world class players and often with easy-to-understand text commentary. There are special sections for opening surveys, gambits, tactics, middle and endgames, blunders. ChessBase Magazine presents the ultimate training material for ambitious players.



ChessBase Magazine also contains multimedia reports from current tournaments, private interviews with top players, video commentary of their games. Listen to Kasparov explaining his games against Deep Blue, Kramnik bemoaning a loss, Anand telling a hilarious chess aneDVDote.

If you want to try out ChessBase Magazine you can order it from your national ChessBase distributor or order directly from our web site: <u>www.chessbase.com</u>.

3.5.4 Commentary symbols

When annotating chess games you can make use of a set of well-known languageindependent commentary symbols. These consist of chess figurines (little piece symbols instead of letters) and evaluation symbols, all of which are given below. In ChessBase you can enter the symbols by right-clicking the notation, with the help of the <u>annotation palette</u> or with special <u>keyboard shortcuts</u>.

Hear is a list of the commentary symbols and what they mean:

!	Good move	\odot	Zugzwang
!!	Excellent move	\blacksquare	Centre
!?	Interesting move	Х	Weak point.
?!	Dubious move		Only move

362	Ch	nessBase 17		
	?	Mistake	I	with
	??	Blunder	-	without
	ф	King	<u> </u>	Queenside
	Ŵ	Queen	»	Kingside
	E)	Knight	v	Endgame
	Ê	Bishop		Pair of bishops
	Ë	Rook		Bishops of opposite colour
	Å	Pawn		Bishops of same colour
	\rightarrow	Attack	8	With compensation for material
	↑	Initiative	±	White has the upper hand
	₹	Counterplay	ŧ	White stands somewhat better
	Δ	With the idea	œ	Unclear
	Ο	Space	₹	Black stands somewhat better
	\oplus	Zeitnot (time trouble)	Ŧ	Black has the upper hand
	Ο	Development	\Box	Better is
	\Leftrightarrow	File (line)	1⁄2	Draw
	$\overline{\mathcal{P}}$	Diagonal	ð	Passed pawn.

3.5.5 Chess notation

One of the most important factors in the advancement of chess knowledge was the invention of a efficient notation to describe moves. It is done with the help of piece names, eight file letters (a - h) and eight rank numbers (1 - 8).



In long algebraic notation you use the piece letter, followed by the start and destination squares. Example: **1.Ng1-f3**.

In short algebraic notation you use only the destination square whenever possible. Example: 1.Nf3, because only the knight on g1 can move to f3. If there is an ambiguity you have to supply an additional letter or number. Example: 5.Nbd2 if two knights can move to d2, one from b1 and one from f3. If the knights are on b1 and b3 you would write N1d2.

Pawn moves are given without a letter for the pawn. Example: 1.d2-d4 or 1.d4 Captures are denoted with an "x". Example: 3.Nf3xd4 or 3.Nxd4. Checks are marked with a "+", checkmate is "#".

You can switch between long and short algebraic notation in the *Menu File* Options Notation.

K	D	S	L	Т	В		x	+	
	K	QNBR	P		Fig	Jurir	nes		

To switch on the coordinates right-click the chessboard and select <u>Board design</u>. *Click coordinates* on or off.

3.5.6 Mega Database

The exclusive annotated database.



A ChessBase Account is linked directly with ChessBase. Many functions of the web apps complement this intelligently and provide a maximum amount of chess information.

A novelty for all users of the web apps: <u>all annotated games from the Mega</u> <u>database are now available online</u> to every premium user. It will in the future be possible to load these annotated games directly both from CB 14 and from the web apps, e.g. the Live database.

Like that, Premium subscribers have direct access to the annotated games and are no longer obliged to access them only from their copy of Mega on their local computer. Therefore you can now look at, play through or analyse the annotated games wherever you may be with your smartphone, tablet or any computer with internet access!

Some noteworthy points about the Mega Database:

Carefully corrected gamescores

A large percentage of the games originally appeared in annotated form in ChessBase Magazine. In the process of annotating the games many errors in the game notation were discovered. They were also screened by other experts and went through numerous other quality controls before they were included in the Mega Database.

• Unified spelling of players' and tournament names

Without <u>standardized spelling</u> of players' names a number of database functions would become less reliable or useless (<u>player dossier</u>, preparation for specific opponents). ChessBase invests a lot of effort into correctly identifying all the players in a tournament and making sure all spellings are standardized.

• Careful editing of Elo ratings

All statistical analyses in a database rely on complete and accurate rating information. This is especially true of openings statistics, the success rates and evaluation of variations, repertoire suggestions, <u>sorting</u> of games and many other functions that use information on the relative strengths of different players. So ChessBase takes great pains to insure that <u>Elo ratings</u> are included correctly for every player in every game.

3.6 Openings

3.6.1 Define reference database

You are trying to execute a function that requires a <u>reference database</u>. ChessBase needs to know which database it should use for reference purposes and will usually suggest the largest one it finds in <u>My databases</u>.



If that is the right one simply click OK. If you want to make another database your reference database click Browse.

Fast Switch of the Search Database for the "Reference" in the

Board Window

It is possible to switch the search database for the reference display in the board window with a single click.



By doing this you can check what games have the current board position in another large database.

3.6.2 Opening Reference

Click the tab *Reference* in the notation window to get an opening reference to the current position:

Notation + (Openings B	ook					•	×
Notation Reference Re		Replay train	ning Survey	s Plan E	xplorer	Table	Score sh 4	F
Moves	Game	s Score	Last pla	Hot	Bes	t players	;	^
6f7-f6	1201	51.8%	2018		Gris	chuk;Ma	amedyarov;De	2
6e5xd4	690	57.6%	2018		Mar	medyaro	v;lvanchuk;Sł	h
7.d4xe5	348	89.1%	2018					
6âc8-g4	115	63.9%	2016					
6∛⊇g8-f6	47	46.8%	2016		Mal	laniuk;lbi	ragimov;Aren	c
							_	

The opening reference is based on a fast background search in the Online Database.

	notation - op	enings Bo	ok						•)
6 ···· 6 ··· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Notation Re	ference	Replay traini	ng	Surveys P	lan Explorer	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Ŀ
	Moves	Games	Score	^	Numb	White		Elo W	Black	
	6f7-f6	1201	51.8%		2404	Yu		2751	Mamedyarov	1
	6e5xd4	690	57.6%		2409	Indjic		2612 I	Demchenko	
6.6	7.d4xe5	348	89.1%		2359	Naroditsky		2646	Gareyev	
	6âc8-g4	115	63.9%		2370	Perunovic		2603 I	Demchenko	
	6∕⊇g8-f6	47	46.8%		2294	Bartel		2622	vanchuk	
	6f7-f5	12	87.5%		2339	Hansen		2582 5	Short	
	7.0-0	9	55.6%		2324	Burke		2584	Bachmann	
DEFGH	7.h2-h3	2	25.0%		2379	Bogdanovid	:h	2574 1	Delchev	
			,	s í	<				3	
	Variations P 6f7-f6 6f7-f6 6f7-f6 6f7-f6 6e5xd4 6e5xd4	opularity 7.全c1-e3 7.全b1-c 7.0-0 7.c2-c4 7.営d1xd 7.全f3xd	Endgames 3 42gt 3 g7- 42g8- 4 Click a mo 4 co	e to	jump to the	position!				

Clicking on the Reference tab in the <u>board window</u> starts the automatic opening reference. In the background the program performs a fast search in the Online Database for the current board position. The information is displayed much faster than in previous versions.

There is useful information in the different columns.

Moves	Games	Score	Last played	Hot	Best players
5.Bf1-d3	629	62.7%	2010		Kramnik, Bareev, Lautier, Sokolov
5.Nb1-c3	470	49.4%	2010		Nakamura, Zvjaginsev, Ehlvest, Kr
5.Bf1-e2	257	61.1%	2010		Gelfand, Lautier, Gurevich, Speelm
5.Nf3-e5	147	50.0%	2009		Leitao, Savchenko, Zhao
5.Nb1-d2	80	37.5%	2009		Li Shilong, Pushkov
5.g2-g3	71	53.9%	2009		Nikolic, Iturrizaga Bonelli
5.g2-g4	37	48.2%	2005		Volkov, Rotstein
5.Qd1-c2	35	44.4%	2003		
5.b2-b3	29	54.5%	2009		Schneider
5.c4xd5	26	22.5%			Jakubowski
5.a2-a3	18	46.2%			
5.h2-h3	6	25.0%			

Moves

This lists all the moves played in this position.

Games

This is the number of games in which the move being displayed was played.

Score

This is the points scored by continuing with this move.

Last Played

When was this continuation most recently played?

Hot

The "Hot" column shows the continuations at top level.

Finally there is a list of the **best players** who used this continuation, the average Elo rating, or which players used this continuation most often.

Tip: Clicking on one of the displayed continuations enters this move on the chess board. By using the <u>arrows</u> you can navigate in the list, playing and undoing moves.

Below the move list there is a summary of the most commonly played lines.



See Parameters for Reference Search ...

This summary gives the following information:

N = Number of games
 % = Success rate as a percentage from White's perspective
 The line as played

By using the buttons +/- and the keys +/- you can change the number of lines being displayed. Double clicking on a line carries out the moves up to the move that was clicked on in the notation (fast forwarding).

Main Line shows the moves that were statistically the strongest for both sides.

The <u>game list</u> being displayed lists the games that were played with this continuation. Right clicking on a game and selecting Copy into Notation simplifies commenting the opening of the original game. It is possible to refine the information by sorting the columns and using the filter options.

3.6.3 Opening surveys

For any position in the opening it is possible to create opening surveys, i.e. Repertoire suggestions.

That represents a massive simplification of opening preparation. In previous versions the user could get information about possible continuations via Reference or via <u>LiveBook</u>. The disadvantage was that you had to work through the possible continuations one move at a time.

Now the program offers the possibility to generate for any opening position a fully

structured variation tree. With this view it is now significantly easier to study an opening variation and to memorise it.

The function **Surveys** is available above the <u>notation</u> window.



The tab *Surveys* has its own game notation, which works independently from the main game. That provides the possibility to jump there directly from a game (or an opening analysis of your own) and to cast an eye over the variation tree generated by the program.



With the key combination **CRTL-C** you copy the overview to the Windows clipboard.

Select the game notation. CTRL-V inserts the overview into the notation.



The surveys derive from two possible sources:

1. For any position at all they are created from the <u>reference database</u>.

2. Should a survey on the selected variation <u>already exist on the server</u> that opening survey is immediately made available.

The surveys represent repertoire suggestions from the point of view of a single colour. The program chooses an optimal move for that colour and thereafter the program executes all plausible replies.

An important aspect in the selection of an opening variation is what the user's personal preferences are. This aspect is taken into account by the program and offers the opportunity to define the style of the repertoire suggestions according to criteria which you set.

THE REPORT OF TH	Notation + Openings	Book										▼ ×
· <u><u> </u></u>	Notation Reference	Replay training	Surveys	Plan Explorer	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Bo	ok My Moves			
	Tradition*	OFashion	0	Side Lines	⊖Ga	mbit	Attack	. (Positional	Simplify	OEngine	
	Easy*	Club	0	fournament	⊖Ма	ster		opedia				
	White*	Black					With E	valuations				
	1.e2-e4 e7-e5 2.Ng1-f3 Nb8-c6 3.Bf1-b5 a7-a6 4.Bb5-a4 Ng8-f6											
$i \leftarrow \leftarrow \frown \rightarrow \rightarrow i$	Build Survey		Check Sen	rer			Offlin	e		✓ Merge		
		Build Survey White/Main Lines/Easy 10.11.2020 /Main Lines/										

- The *Traditional* style filters / takes into account from the reference database those main variations which are played at GM level and which as a rule also offer the deepest ramifications.
- For players interested in recent opening practice the style *Fashion* should be more interesting. Here the moves chosen are above all are those which dominate in modern practice. In this mode that frequently results in considerable deviations from traditional main lines and thus this setting provides the theoretically most well founded and most interesting survey.
- The setting *Side Lines* is there for the amateur who is short of time and has little for the thorough study of the main variations in an opening. Just as in a Google search most people click on the hits at the top of the list, in opening preparation the frequently played moves at the top of the list exercise a magnetic attraction on many. This means that many very playable secondary systems are overlooked, in which decent, very playable positions can be achieved with very little expenditure of time preparing.
- There is a somewhat dubious opening survey in *Gambit* style, which considers every half-way playable sacrifice. Almost every one of the known gambits in chess theory certainly appears in this survey. And if it doesn't that is only because the alternative main variation also contains sacrifices.
- The setting *Attack* searches in respectable recent games for the sharpest possible continuations. That leads in part to very aggressive side lines, e.g. often with an early h2-h4. If you then look for: "Who plays something like that?" then the answer

is not infrequently "Magnus Carlsen".

- The *Positional* style on the other hand is clearly more solid. Clear setups, a safe king, quiet play, play on the queenside, undermining of pawn chains and advantages in space are the most important criteria here for the building of the variation survey.
- Under *Simplify* exchanges on open files and symmetrical pawn structures are aimed for in order to get on the board the least complex positions possible.
- The setting for *Engine* offers concrete checking of the continuations with what is defined as the Default engine. Otherwise the selection conforms to the *Fashion* mode. The setting for the definition of the <u>default engine</u> is done via *File Options Engine*.

The depth of variations can be set by the user via the tabs: *Easy* Club Tournament Master Encyclopedia.

Notatio	n Reference	Replay training	Surveys	Plan Explorer	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Book	My Moves			
● Tra	dition	Fashion	0	Side Lines	⊖Ga	mbit	Attack	P	ositional	OSimplify	OEngine	
⊖Ea	5y	Club	01	Fournament	⊖Ma	ister	OEncycl	opedia				
٥w	nite	OBlack	Black				With Evaluations			N/A		
1.d2	1.d2-d4 e7-e6 2.c2-c4 Ng8-f6 3.Nb1-c3 b7-b6 4.e2-e4 Bc8-b7											
	Build Survey Check Server							e		✓ Merge		

The representation of a simple repertoire with the depths **Easy** or **Club** shows a compact variation tree. These settings make sense above all for amateurs who are as it are in "time trouble": the short summary makes rapid memorising easy and gives a direct overview of the main variations!

The status during the creation of the survey is displayed in the window. E.g. Complete, Loaded, etc.



If you click on the buttons for style and that creates a request to the server and the survey is loaded insofar as one is available. This means that analysis which has already been carried out is loaded immediately, if it has already been executed and stored on the server. This information is displayed within the notation after your request.



The description refers to the work being carried out with a game loaded from a database. With manual input of moves that does not happen so that notation remains unchanged. Then you click on the button *Check server*.

Build Survey	y
White/Main Lines/Easy 10.1	1.2020 [Main Lines]
-a6 4.Bb5-a4 d7-d6 5.Ba4xc6+	b7xc6 6.d2-d4 Not on server. Click 'Build Survey'

If you are creating for yourself a repertoire which does not yet exist on the server, it will be stored there. If it already exists on the server, it can be over-written there if your own reference database is more up-to-date and better.

When called up from the server the variation is overwritten from the position of the query. Opening surveys can, however, also be nested as you wish. To do so you activate in the settings dialog the option "Merge". Then the survey is inserted at the current place without over-writing existing moves.

If for any position surveys are present on the server, style, depth and colour are marked with a "*".

Local analyses

If you wish to switch off the link to the server in order to protect the <u>privacy of your</u> <u>opening preparation</u>, simply activate the option *Offline* and work in this mode only with your locally installed reference database.

	Casy				
	White* OBlack				With Evaluations
F G H	1.e2-e4 e7-e5	2.Ng1-f3 Nb8-c6 3.Bf	f1-b5 a7-a6 4.Bb	5-a4 Ng8-f6	
→ → 1	Build Sun	vey Check	Server		Offline
					Puild Suprov
				White/Main Line	s/Fasy 10.11.2020 [Main Lines]

3.6.4 Tips Opening surveys

If a repertoire is already saved on the server for the variation selected and at the appropriate setting (Easy/Club/Tournament/etc.) this is displayed in the dialog box with an asterisk (*).

Example:

1. d4 Nf6 2. Bg5 d5 3. Nf3 e6 4. Nbd2 Nbd7 5. e4 dxe4 6. Nxe4 Be7 7. Nxf6+ leads by transposition of moves to the Rubinstein System in the French Defence.

The dialog for the creation of an opening survey looks like this:

Notation Reference	e Replay training	Surveys Plan Explorer	Table Score sheet	LiveBook Openings Boo	ok My Moves					
Tradition*	OFashion	◯ Side Lines	◯Gambit	Attack	OPositional		OEngine			
◯ Easy*	Club	Tournament*	⊖Master	OEncyclopedia						
⊖White*	Black*			With Evaluations						
1.d4 Nf6 2.Bg5 d5	1.d4 Nf6 2.Bg5 d5 3.Nf3 e6 4.Nbd2 Nbd7 5.e4 dxe4 6.Nxe4 Be7 7.Nxf6+									
Build Survey Check Server Copy Offline										

Highlighted in green in the dialog is the variation selected.

Right next to the options "Easy" and "Tournament" (highlighted in red) the asterisk shows that there is already an appropriate repertoire saved on the server. In addition this information is displayed in the notation to the survey.

	Build Survey		
Black/Main Lines/	Tournament 12.11.2020 (Main	Lines]	
1.d4	7.largeter (Today)	7Bxf6 8.h4	÷
[😑 <u>8.Qd2</u> Bxg5 9.Nxg5 Nf6 10.0-0-0 (📄 <u>10.Be2</u> 0-0±) 100-0 11	Bez		20
(<u>11.Bd3</u> b6 12.h4 Bb7=)			1

Using the button *Copy* you can move the opening survey into the game notation.

<u>Tip</u>: If you have not copied the survey into the notation, there also exists an offline version of it. During the course of the game each opening survey which is created is saved and thus the option is available to look at the survey later without accessing the server.

3.6.5 Name of the opening

After you have loaded a complete game into the board window, the opening is displayed by name.



You will find the information immediately above the toolbar along with the functions needed to edit the notation. In this line you will also find information concerning differences in the distribution of material in the game in question.

3.6.6 Searching in the online shop

You are playing through a game in the <u>board window</u> and would like to know whether there are in our online shop materials which delve more deeply into the selected opening variation?

This question is easily answered.

In the menu bar you will find the entry "Home - Find in Shop".



A click immediately launches the browser and a search for materials dealing with the chosen opening system is initiated.

recommandations



<u>Tip</u>: In the shop window you can refine the search for relevant material by clicking on the appropriate move in the notation.

3.6.7 Direct installation from the shop

🛉 👑

Installation of products which you have purchased as download versions from our shop can be found under *My Downloads* in our online shop. With ChessBase installation directly from the program is possible.

The condition for that is that you are logged in to ChessBase with your account name.



In the program's directory view on the left of the screen you will find the entries New Products, Recommendations, Bestsellers under the entry here Shop.

As a rule, the programs which are relevant are those which are saved for the user in his or her shop account.

								Re	ference	375	
*							-				_
Folders × X	et	et.	e	er			01	et		et	Î
Offentliche Dokumente Au Netzwerk	Sicilian Dragon: The Real Deal! P	How to play the Ruy Lopez wit	Understanding Middlegame S	Understanding Middlegame S	The Exciting Budapest Gambit	Komodo Chess 14	How to slay the Sicilian Vol.3	How to slay the Sicilian Vol.2	How to slay the Sicilian Vol.1	Tactic Toolbox Open Sicilian	
Game History C:\Users\user\Documents\ChessBase\F		≈ ‡	5						e i	et S	
	Fundamentals of Chess Openings	Fundamentals of Chess Tactics	Opening Encyclopaed	The Benoni is back in business	The White Sniper	The Benko Gambit Explained	An Attacking Repertoire wi	A modern approach again	A modern approach again	A nightmare for the Najdorf	
	5.	5.	5.		2.				S.	a i p	
Wy Databases	Fritz Powerbook 2020	CORR Database 2020	Big Database 2020	Mastering Pattern Recognition in t	Mega Database 2020	Fritz 17 - The giant PC chess progra	Navigating the Ruy Lopez Vol.3	Navigating the Ruy Lopez Vol.2	Navigating the Ruy Lopez Vol.1	Typical Mistakes by 1000-1600	
a. CBDATEN				1.0			-				
	Queen's Indian Defence - The M	Komodo Chess 13	Strategy Training: How to Make a	A Sicilian Stunner - The Kalashnikov	The Shining Sveshnikov Sicilian	Tactic Toolbox London System	The London System with 2.B	The Colle-Koltanows	The Torre Attack	Attacking Repertoire wi	
	-1-0			E.	15	1	1	-1-0			
	Attacking	The Bombastic	Extreme	Fritz Powerbook	ChessBase 15 -	Rin Database 2019	Mega Database	The Anaressive	The Baffling 2 h3	King's Indian	~
🔎 Search 🔄 Big Icons 🗹 Erweitert	🗟 Open 📰 D	etails 🎬 Tile 🗤	Small Icons X48 M	ledium Icons 🛛 🚧 B	ig Icons x128 Huge	Icons x236 Giant Ico	ons				

Highlight/double click on one or more products which you wish to install.

A new dialog box is displayed.

In it you can make your selection:

Product	Product
Setup D'Costa Murphy A repertoire against the Si	
	Download All
	✓ Install after download
<	
ОК	Cancel

When the button **Install after download** is activated – this is after all the aim of the function –the software is installed immediately after the download. If you simply want to download the software without installing it, then deactivate *Install after download*".

The download is now carried out; in the window displayed you will see the progress made and the estimated length of the download.

After the download you can install the purchased software directly from ChessBase.

Note: If you do not wish to install from ChessBase, you will find the downloads in the user directory under Documents/ChessBase/Shop.

3.6.8 Show Hot Variations

If you activate the <u>reference</u> view in the <u>notation window</u> the program continually carries out a search in the background based on the current board position. It uses the games it finds to show useful information about the variation line being played.

There is a new column called Hot.

Hot	Best players
	Morozevich, Granda Zuniga, Vaga.
	Ponomariov, Gulko, Berkes, Jussup
	Gutman, Todorcevic
	Blatny, Motwani

The board shows a standard position in the Spanish opening.



The main continuation is 8...d7-d6. However, the **Hot** column shows that at top level the continuation 8...d7-d5 is preferred. In the game list the games of the strongest players are displayed first.

8d7-d6	5073	55.4%	2009	Ivanchuk
8d7-d5	4531	48.1%	2009	Anand, Iv
8Lc8-b7	134	67.9%	2008	WoDra, (
8Sc6-a5	92	73.9%	2009	Fernando
8Tf8-e8	38	65.8%	2000	Smagin
8h7-h6	17	67.6%		

The complete line of the fashionable jot line is shown as the main line. The number of games is displayed in which the hot variation was played.

The criteria for the classification as "hot" are the date when the games were played and the average Elo of the players.

3.6.9 Opening reference for databases

Opening references can be created for any databases.

Report - Opening reference

Right clicking on a database icon in the <u>database window</u> opens the context menu.

20		**	P-	
	Оре	n	E	ingabe
Op Encyclo	Sear	ch		Strg+F H)
P	Оре	ning reference	Strg+Alt+E	ingabe
	E-M	ail Selected Databa	ase	I
bugg.c	Edit			► ne.cbf
	Rem	nove		Entf
_	Dele	te All Files	Umscha	alt+Entf
bs2830.	Тоо	ls		► if (CBH)
	Prop	perties	Alt+E	ingabe
				74
New Da	atabase	illegal.cbh	Repertoire Black	Repertoire White

Enter your moves on the chess board. The <u>opening reference</u> uses the position on the board to give you information from the database.

Note: The statistics displayed are based on the games in the selected database.

3.6.10 Opening reference for groups of games

The <u>opening reference</u> can also be used for groups of games.

First select the <u>games in the list</u> which are to be used to create the opening reference.

Menu Statistics - Opening reference on selection



Or right click on the game list to start the context menu.

Short, N	2615	Kasparov, G	2735	1-0	45
Hue Carr	Edit			•	36
Kası	Opening referen	ce on selection	Strg+Alt	+Eingabe	48
Kas	Merge Selected (Games		Eingabe	59
(as	Selection to Boo	k	Umschalt	+Eingabe	51
(asj	Replay games au	tomatically			24
Kasj	Output			•	38
Kasj	Cross Table			т	24
(asj				_	34

Note: Opening reference on selection generates the statistics view based <u>on the</u> games that have been selected.

3.6.11 Marking variations with Reference

With its rapid interpretation of the statistics for any given position, the reference search in the program offers indispensable help in the study of new opening systems. At a glance the user can gain a concrete impression of the value of any specific continuation.

The moves played so far from the current position on the board are displayed. In the columns for *Games*, *Points*, *Last played*, *Hot*, etc. you will find an evaluation by the program, always from the point of view of White. This window provides you with a first overview of the existing possibilities and how reliable these are.

Click on one of the moves and it will be executed on the board (and included in the notation) and the statistics will be brought up to date.

If you keep your <u>reference database</u>, i.e. the Mega database, bang up-to-date with the latest games downloads, then the program marks new and above all very successful variations with an "!" after the move.

Reference

379

		CARDING TO A	1. 2. 30	000000	ALC: OR AL		Notation +	Openings B	ook								• ×
8	1	1	W ala	4	1		Notation	Reference	Replay training	Surve	ys Pla	in Explo	rer Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings B	• •
7					*		Moves	Games		Score	Las	Hot	Best playe	White	Elo W	/ Black	^
					-		11Sd5	51		61.8%	2020			Aronian	2767	Firouzja	
6	1000			$\langle \gamma \rangle$	-		11Le7	50		49.0%	2020		Firouzja;R	Aronian	2767	Firouzja	
5	ales.				30		11Da5	24		70.8%	2014	- I	Kacheishv	Maghsoodl	oo 2676	Jobava	
	1000	100	1 100	à.			11Db6!	6		58.3%	2020		Jobava	Tabatabaei	2629	Jobava	
	122						11500			100.0%	1965			Makarian	2442	Jobava	
3	100	No. 1	M.	2	2		12.Ng3-e4	1		100.0%	2011			Lagno	2546	Gunina	
2	å	å å	10月1日		â		11 _0	4		E 0 00/	2020		. ×	Renet	2497	Riazantsev	× .
			22										/	<			>
1	1 Acres		4	Sec.	A		Variations	Popularity	Endgames					NUMBER OF STREET, STRE	-	LEFERE	
	▲ ←		DE	F	GH	1	11Sd5 11Sd5 11Sd5	12.Ld2 I 12.Ld2 I 12.Ld2 S)c7 13.c4 S5f d6 13.Se4 3b4	6 14.B	361 1	N = N = N =		54070.4 1949-14			A V
		·清·清代					Main Line:	11Le7 12	.Sf1, (2 Games	3)				Filter 🗄	🖹 Copy 🛛	🚰 Edit 📲	Clip
													Г	100%			

Note: This information can be found exclusively with an updated <u>Mega</u>! For the marking of a variation the trend in recent months is evaluated.

Tip: Are there clearly too few games shown in the reference display although there are clearly more games available in the <u>reference database</u>?

Highlight the reference database in the Database window.

Under *Maintenance* select *Delete search booster*. After you have deleted it set up a new file with *Maintenance* - *Create search booster*.

3.6.12 Openings report

Board window: Right-click the chessboard

Menu Report - Opening report



This is one of the most powerful instruments for openings study available today – and it is very easy to use. Before trying it out you must make sure that a <u>reference</u> <u>database</u> has been defined, so that ChessBase will know which material to use for its openings report.

Now let us assume you are interested in a particular openings line. With the critical position on the board click Openings report. With no pre-stored information ChessBase will go through the million or so games in your reference database and generates a comprehensive report on what it finds (this is known as "data mining").

380

Opening report

1.d4 Sf6 2.c4 e6 3.Sf3 b6 4.Sc3 Lb7 5.a3 d5 6.cxd5 Sxd5 7.e3



1174 Games in 'Mega Database 2014'

This is what it contains:

The *historical development* of the variation

This includes the earliest and latest games. Click any of the entries on the top to load the game. The "fashion index" gives the percentage of games relative to the entire database.

Notable players

Lists the players who have used the line, and their success rates. You can click the game links, or on any of the players' namesfor information on the player.

Statistics

This shows you how each side is scoring, the percentage of decisive games, the average length, etc.



Best moves

Tells you which moves which are scoring best. This is computed on the basis of the number of games, success rates, Elo performance, Elo average of the opponents, number of players with Elo > 2550, results in recent games and the popularity of each move in recent years. The most interesting games are listed, and you can click them to load and study.

Main and critical lines, repertoire and plans

ChessBase shows you the main lines and the critical line. The latter is the one in which both White and Black make the statistically most promising moves. Once again you can click the games to load and replay. ChessBase also tells you what you should play and shows which plans are involved.

4. Moves and Plans

<u>a) 7...Le7</u>

Black scores averagely (44%)

played by: Ivanchuk, 2729, 0.5/1; Vallejo Pons, 2697, 0.5/1; Karpov, 2694, 1.5/3; Bareev, 2670, 0.5/1; Akopian, 2660, 1/1;

You should play: 8.Lb5+ Click for games



Jobava, B - Naiditsch, A 1-0; Karpov, A - Najdorf, M 1-0; Bareev, E - Lutz, C 1-0; Polugaevsky, L - Petrosian, T 1-0; Kramnik, V - Bareev, E ½-½; Kasparov, G - Najdorf, M 1-0

The openings report is a <u>database text</u> in HTML format.

In addition to the report ChessBase also generates an <u>Opening Reference</u> for the variation you are studying.



3.6.13 Export opening report

You have the possibility to save the result of the opening report permanently to retrieve the information quickly without having to regenerate the report every time.

To do this, proceed as described below:

Create a new database in which you want to save the contents of the opening report BEFORE the opening report.

Execute the opening report with the required notation/board position.

After the report has been executed, do the following:

Go to the database text and select "**Save as ...**" and select the new database you have created in the file dialog.

1.e4 c6 2.d4 d5 3.e5 Lf5 4.Sf3 e6 5.Le2

	A A B
Choose Exports	×
Export games	
Export keys	
<u> </u>	Abbrechen

If you want to include the games in the new database, select "Export Games".

"Export Keys" is supposed to copy the opening key of the selected system, but it is not necessarily needed here in the limited selection.

In the last step the program gives you the possibility to define a title for the database text.

Now a little patience is required until all necessary information is transferred and the database is permanently available with the report.

3.6.14 Openings classification

Openings classification in ChessBase refers to the identification of the openings variation in the <u>openings key</u>.

Text Games	Players	Tournaments A	nnotator So	ources Te	ams Game T	itle Openings						
A11: 1.c4 c6 2	.Da4											
A11: English (Opening:	1c6										
	- 2	-							808	-		
- 2	-2(2.b4 - A00;2.e4 - B10;2.d4 - A40) 54											
- 2	-2.d3 d5 36											
- 2	-2. ₩a4 63											
-2	.b3 (e5	- A20)							14			
- 2	d5	3							43			
_		3. <u>ĝ</u> b2	-						43	-		
Games									•	▼ ×		
White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Notation	*		Dolge,Heinz - Feibert,F	red 2		
Dolge,H		Feibert, F	2225	1-0	1989	2Sf6 3.Sc3 e6 4.d3 Le7 5.e3 0-	0		A11 RLPF-ch Seniors (3)) 1989		
Kuffer, J		Wuerth,M		1-0	1993	2Sf6 3.Sc3 d5 4.cxd5 Sxd5 5.e4	. ŝ		1.c4 c6 2.Da4 Sf6			
Skembris, S	2525	Wells, P	2490	0-1	1994	2g6 3.Sf3 Lg7 4.g3 e5 5.Sc3 Se	. ŝ		3.Sc3 e6 4.d3 Le7			
Fiorito,F	2435	Sorokin, M	2535	0-1	1995	2g6 3.Sc3 Lg7 4.g3 f5 5.Lg2 Sf	6		5.e3 U-U 0.b4 d5 /.d4	•		
Williams,S	2250	Levitt, J	2420	1/2-1/2	1995	2g6 3.g3 Lg7 4.Lg2 d6 5.Sc3 e	5		10.Dc2 a5 11.a3 Dc7	-		
lehmann 7	2225	Acs P	2320	1-0	1995	2 65 3 Sr3 Sf6 4 n3 1 c5 5 1 n2 0	- *		English Opening: 1 cf.			
•							•		chighter opening. 1.00			
								100%				

This is how it works:

The program plays through each game backwards and compares every position it encounters with all the positions contained in the classification positions of the openings key. As soon as a match is encountered it knows under which key it must classify the game. The reason for playing through the game backwards is that we are interested in the deepest position, i.e. the one that identifies the most detailed variation.

When you install a new key (Tools – Classification) in the <u>list window</u> or click the Openings tab) all the games of the database are classified into the key in the same way.



Classifying the current game In the board window click *Report*

In the board window click *Report* Openings classification (or press Ctrl-Alt-C).

🏷 Opening Classification

ChessBase will use the <u>openings key</u> of the <u>reference database</u> to retrieve all games from the <u>same opening</u>.

3.6.15 Collect Openings

384

The function *Collect Openings* is very useful for viewing openings in the database window. The function always applies to the database selected in the <u>database window</u>



The program generates a new database that contains all the games that start with the same moves (openings variant) gathered together. This gives you a good overview of the openings in the database, just like the openings encyclopedia.





kaufm1.cbf (CBH)



Text	Games	Players	Tour	naments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Game	e title	Openings	Themes	Tactics	Strategy	Endgames				
Number	r White Elo W		Elo W	Black		Elo	o B	Result	Moves	ECO	<u>•</u>		A 102 W -					
1	Irregular Openi								Line	28	A00							
2	Nimzowitsch-La				Opening Line 22 A01							1						
3	Unus	ual line:	s af		King's Indi	ian Attac	k	I	Line	34	A04							
4	Réti	Opening	g: N.,		Capablanc	a System	S	I	Line	52	A07							
5	King	's Indian	1 I		Attack			I	Line	25	A08	815						
6	Engli	ish Oper	ning		Replies for	r Black			Line	42	A10							
7	Engli	sh Oper	ning		b3 by Whi	te		I	Line	28	A12							
8	Engli	sh Oper	ning:		1еб	I	Line	22	A13									
9	Engli	sh Open	ning		b3 by Whi	I	Line	36	A14		AND AND A MARK STREET, S							
10	Engli	sh Oper	ning:		1Nf6			I	Line	48	A15	Engli	ish Opening: Unusual - Replies for I					
11	Engli	sh Oper	ning		d5			I	Line	17	A16			A10				
12	Engli	sh Oper	ning		Bb4			I	Line	36	A17	1.c4	еб			<u> </u>		
13	Engli	sh Oper	ning:		Flohr-Mike	enas Syst	e	I	Line	24	A18	[1	f5 2.Sf3	Sf6 3.g3 e6	4.Lg2			
14	Engli	sh Oper	ning:		Flohr-Mike	enas Syst	e		Line	42	A19	Lei	7 <u>5.0-0</u> 0-	0 6.Sc3 d5	7.cxd5			
15	Engli	sh Oper	ning:		1e5			I	Line	44	A20	exe	d5 8.e3 Kl	h8 9.b3 Sc6	10.Lb2			
16	Engli	sh Oper	ning		2 Nc3			I	Line	36	A21	Let	b 11.Se2 l	Lg8 12.d3 D 2800)-Short N	d/ 13.a3			
17	Engli	sh Oper	ning		Indian: Lin	es witho	ut.	I	Line	48	A24	Pa	ris 1990 1-	0 (59) 1	4 (2033)	-		

There is an overview of the openings system in the database list. The function generates notation for a variation tree with suitable games being shown as examples.

385



This function is especially useful if you apply it to databases that contain your own games. You are given an overview of the openings theory that is <u>relevant to your own</u> <u>playing</u>.

3.6.16 Openings book

Board window: Notation – Book tab produces the book window.

The openings book contains positions and full information on all the moves played in them. ChessBase has fast access to this information.

There are two types of trees:

Book databases: Here you collect games in a database which is stored permanently on your hard disk.

On-the-fly trees: It is possible to generate a tree very quickly from any selection of games, e.g. all the white games of a particular player. Right-click the games and select Game to Book (or press Shift-Enter).

How to create a new openings book

Database window: *Menu File New Database*. In the <u>file selector</u> select Books (*. CTG) in the field "Files of type:"

How to <u>copy games into an openings book</u> Select games, press Ctrl-C to copy, click the database symbol of the tree and press

Ctrl-V to paste.

You can also Drag & Drop games or an entire database into the tree.



The ChessBase openings book recognizes all transpositions, even those that were not played in the games from which the book was compiled. Positions with reversed colours are also not differentiated – everything is considered from the point of view of White. After the moves 1.d3 d5 2.d4, for instance, the 2...c5! is given and you get a perfect Queen's Gambit with reversed colours.

The ChessBase openings books (with the CTG extension) can be directly read by the chess programs Fritz, Shredder, etc. as well as a number of other chess engines. With an openings book they can play the moves in the initial stages of the game instantly, without calculating anything themselves. So it is very easy to use ChessBase to create, edit or extend an openings book for Fritz and friends.

3.6.17 Classify whole database

List window: Openings - Opening Keys Classification

This reclassifies the entire database into all keys (openings, themes, strategy, tactics, endgames).



If you interrupt the process ChessBase will remember how far the classification had proceeded, and you can continue the process again. The program will offer to continue where it left off (game number x). If you enter game number "1" it will reclassify the entire database.

If no key is installed, four buttons appear, please read on at: Install new key.

3.6.18 Find novelty/compare

Board window: Rightclick – Find Novelty (Shift-F6)

			_
-	Flip Board	Strg+F	0.1.54
	Find Position in Mega Database 2016 Find Position in Mega Database 2016 Online	Umschalt+F7	9.L14 14.dxc
2	Find Position in Repertoire White Add to White Repertoire Find Position in Repertoire Black Add to Black Repertoire	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+F Umschalt+Strg+Alt+A Umschalt+Strg+Alt+L Umschalt+Strg+Alt+D	<u>8</u> 2 !
C	Opening Report Opening Classification Find Novelty Novelty Annotation	Strg+Alt+C Umschalt+F6 Umschalt+Strg+R	Result 50% 100% 75% 50% 100%
	Board Design	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+O	
	1697685 Chabanon J 2455	Vaisser A 2575	1/2-1/2

ChessBase lists the games in the <u>reference database</u> which are closest to the current game.

The games appear in a <u>search result window</u> and are sorted according to the degree of similarity to the original game.

				1					Notation + O	penings Boo	k			25.40			2215	10	→ ×
	-	Ko			ato	*	H	-		S De	egraeve	,Jean N	/larc	2540 - I	veiman,Er	nmanue	2315	1-0 🚺 🦷	1
°	4	1			Y	-			8.c4 Lb4+	-?!N									
7	1	1				1	2	1		1 TO 0	X 10	1 12	1 21	2 22			~ =	- · -	
	1117	111						THE PERSON	j I 🦄 .	A		! !!	- []	{ { { { { { { { { { { { { { { { { { { {	+- ± =	= ∞	≌ ∓	+ -+ ₹	<u>z</u> 🤣
•		58 (š	-		-				Search Result										▼ ×
5			131			朝の死亡	÷		Restore Gar	ne				Search	Result				
						11/11/17	2		White	Elo W	Black		Elo B	Result	Year	Notation			VCS ^
4			8	8					Degraeve,J	2540	Neiman,	E 2	2315	1-0	1997	8Lb4+9	9.Sbd2 Sd	710.0-0 f511	.a3 VCS
			\square		194-4-6	No.			Mojzis,M		Nemec,T			1-0	1996	8Sd7 9.	0-0 Sgf6 1	LO.Sbd2 Lb4 1	1.e.
2		8		88888	8	pn	1 10		Ostojic,N	2416	Damjano	vic,D 2	273	1-0	2006	8Sd7 9.	0-0 Le7 1	0.Lxe7 Sxe7 1	1.Sc
1		2		W	4	2			Meduna,E	2445	Krivoshe	y,S 2	2420	1-0	1995	8f5 9.0-	0 Sd7 10.	Sbd2 Sgf6 11	Lxf 🛫
	8	1 756	Sur-		1.4	2	8			0550		• •		••	4007				4
2	8			Sad 1		8	8		LiveBook										- X
	644	pa	SER. S		. *.	10000	ALC: NO	200	LIVEDOOK	C	D. II	FI A			E. L. C.	10-20-	10/1		• ^
1	Д	6)			3	f Maart			iviove	Games	Result	EIO-AV	Date		Evaluation	VISITS	[76]		
	Δ	B	C	D	F	E	G	H	8Sd7	1	100%	2273	2006	5		18	6		
J. Control						0.511 - 111/2/3	BOTHING		8f5	1	100%	2420	1995	5		12	4		
									8Lb4+										
					1 188	16 - 5	ing at the												
						S. 19													
																100%			

• In the original game the board jumps to the position in which the novelty was played (i.e. where it branches away from existing games).

• You can click on a game in the list to view the moves. Click the Restore game button to get back to the original game.

▶ Right-click the search results list and use Edit – Select all. Then drag the games into the original game. They will be merged into the notation and make it easy to see where the deviations occurred. Naturally this all happens in memory and leaves the game in the database intact.

• You can Ctrl-click only some of the games to mark them, then click Restore game to get back to the original game, and drag the selection into the game notation.

▶ You can save the search results in the <u>clip database</u> by marking the games (as described above), then right-clicking and using Edit – Clip or Unclip. You can also press F5.

• The Find novelty function only works properly if there is a <u>reference database</u> present and it is <u>sorted in an openings key</u>. The openings key should also be of the very highest quality.

3.6.19 Novelty Annotation

Board Window - Report - Novelty Annotation



There is an easy way to display novelties in openings systems in the board window.

In the board window there is a ribbon *Report* Novelty Annotation. This searches the <u>online database</u> if there is an active Internet connection.

In contrast to previous versions ChessBase no longer uses the installed <u>reference</u> <u>database</u> but the online database, because it is always up to date. This guarantees that the current trends in the openings system are accurately displayed.



The program inserts the relevant games into the notation as variations. The novelty is marked in the notation with a capital \mathbf{N} .

Halkias,S (2526)/Mallorca 2004/CBM 104] 13.h4 Se5 14.Ld3N [Predecessor: 14.Dg2 b4 15.Sce2 Lb7 16.g5

3.6.20 Notation – Remove Novelty

Within the notation I find the entry "N". This letter is used in the notation to highlight a novelty (innovation) within an opening variation. How can this mark or label be removed from the notation?

Notation +	Openings B	ook												
Notation	Reference	Replay training	Surveys	Plan Explorer	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Opening	gs Book	M				
	Richter,Kurt Paul - Naegeli,Oskar 1-0													
C73 Mun	ich Schach	n-Olympia (No	FIDE eve	nt) [Germany	-Switze	rland] (14) 2	6.08.1936	[ChessB	ase/Vo	nН				
<u>ĝ</u> e3-d	êe3-d4 33.≝e1xe8 햡f7xe8 34.c2-c3 倉d4-q1 35.햡b1-c2 햡e8-d7 36.햡c2-d3 h7-h6 37.b2-b3													
Richter	Richter,K-Schoenmann,W Aachen 1935 1-0 (64)]													
8.h2-h4!						(none)								
11 d 1	12 - 6 JA 12 1					+-								
						+/-								
	18 1					+=								
8 1 8						=								
ĨØ.≗	2 II	I				Unclear								
8h/-h	Add to	White Repertoire		mschalt+Stra+/	\I++ A	=+								
	Add to	Plack Persetaire	0	machalt - Strg - /		-/+			h5 e5x0	-14				
13.h5	Add to	black Repertoire.	. 0	mschalt+strg+7	AIL+D	-+			g6 🖄 gi	7xg				
18.營(Enter V	ariation			Т	Comper	nsation		8xe6					
23.4	Promo	te Variation		Alt+Nach-	Oben	With att	ack		nter,K-					
Saem	Delete				+	Initiative			h 4					
5.∞001-0 14.a2-a	Test De	fare Maria		Lineach alt - Ct		Counter	-		04 e5					
مة. الم	Text be	tore wove		Umschalt+St	rg+A	Counter	ріау							
- <u>-</u>	Text Af	ter Move		St	rg+A	Zeitnot								
4 37	!, ?,				1	Develop	ment adv.			-				
3	+-,=,.				= >	Novelty			10	-				
÷ 🖌	Set Pre	fix			S.⊁	+ - ~	∞ ≓	T -+	→ ⊿	34 8				

After a right-click with the mouse in the notation the said function becomes available. Choosing "None" enables you to remove the label from the notation.

3.6.21 Openings Key

3.6.21.1 What are classification keys?

In the games list you see the following tabs:

Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Game title	Openings
------	-------	---------	-------------	-----------	---------	-------	------------	----------

These are classification systems in which the games are automatically sorted by the program.

<u>Openings keys</u> are defined by positions. The deepest <u>classification position</u> decides into which key the game goes.

<u>Theme keys</u> are defined by the <u>search mask</u>. All games that match the criteria are sorted into the key associated with the definition.

As part of the ChessBase package you get pre-defined keys for large and small databases. If you are technically minded you can modify them or develop your own keys and classification systems. This is especially rewarding in the area of theme keys.

3.6.21.2 Show classification positions

List window / Openings tab: Right-click an opening and select Show positions



A key can contain more than one classification position, which may be needed to increase the accuracy of classification. If you right-click a key and click "Show positions" the classification positions are displayed. The window has a board and two

important buttons:

Delete

This will remove the displayed position from the classification system. Keys with no classification position will never have games sorted into them. But they can serve as root keys for deeper subkeys.

Link

This links the position on the board to the key in the key memo. Games in which the position occurs will in future be sorted into the other key.

3.6.21.3 Openings key

List window: Click Openings tab

File	н	ome	Stat	tistics	Gam	es	Player	s Ope	ning Key	s Vie	w					0
Ē	x	58	Search	Result		+				6		- 6		- 22		
		Fig	urineCB	LetterS 🝷	15	•			-	IA						
Paste		First			0		Board	List	Edit Ga	ame a	Cross Table	Tourn	ament A	ctivate/de Fritztra	activate iiner	
Clipbo	ard		Pr	operties			Board	Filter	E	dit	Τοι	urnamer	nts	Activa	ate	
Text	Gam	nes	Players	Tournar	nents	Ar	nnotator	Sources	Teams	Game ti	tle Ope	enings	Themes	Tactics	Strategy	/ + +

A20: English Opening: 1...e5

AZU, English Ope	annig, i							
⊨ A20 – A2	29	1 e5 2.				English	135569	*
⊕ . A20 -	2						1489	_
⊞- <mark>A20 -</mark>	2.Øf	3					589	Ξ
⊞-A20 -	2.g3						1624	
⊞-A20 -	2	c6 3					1015	
⊞-A20 -	2	@f6(3.@c3	- A22)			4265	
⊕ A21 -	2.Øc	3					4302	
⊕ A21 -	2	ģb4 3					3429	
⊕ A21 -	2	d6 (3.e4 -	в07)				3900	-
<								Þ.
Games								- 💌
White	Elo W	Black	Elo B	Result	Year	Notation	VCS	EC
•			111					•
						100%		

Openings keys are indexes to games based on the opening variations – you have instant access to the games through the openings moves or variation.

The openings keys have two main properties:

- The games in a database are automatically classified by the program into the correct openings keys and subkeys.
- An openings key can be expanded. It is therefore easy to modify an existing key and make it include the most detailed variations of your repertoire.

ChessBase databases come with presorted openings keys. But the program will also install a big or small openings key in any database and sort all games into it.

Functions in the openings key window

The openings key is displayed in a special key window, which works very similarly to the normal <u>games list</u> window. On the right you can see the number of games. Use the cursor keys to navigate to the openings hierarchy, like you do in the folder pane of the Windows File Explorer. Cursor right openes a sub tree, cursor left closes it. If a key contains games, they will be shown automatically in the <u>games list</u> below the keys.

Note that you can <u>rearrange</u> the game window in relation to the keys.

3.6.21.4 Key functions

ChessBase can classify games into keys. These keys define openings, general themes, strategy, tactics and endgames.

Normally you will simply use the keys that are included with the databases you purchase. Experienced users may want to modify these keys or create entirely new ones. For them there are a number of functions that are best accessed by right-clicking a key in the index.

Classification => This key	
Insert key memo	Umschalt+Einfg
Show Positions	
Define New Position	
Define key memo	Strg+M
Transfer Key	
Assign Manually	Umschalt+Strg+A

Insert new key

This inserts a new key at the highligh bar. In the case of the openings keys a board window must be open and the classification position must on the board.

▶ Edit...

You can change the name of the key. In <u>theme keys</u> this also allows you to change the definition of the search mask.

Classification

All the games of the highlighted key will be reclassified. This is generally used when you have created new subkeys and want the games to be sorted into them.

Delete

Removes the highlighed key.

Insert key memo

This allows you to move a key.

Define New Position

An openings key can (and usually should) have more than one classification position.

This is the command to attach a new position to the key. It must be on the board of the last board window you opened.

Transfer Key

The selected key and all its subkeys are copied to the selected database (in the <u>database window</u>). It is added to the the main level of the original key. Use the <u>key</u> <u>memo</u> to move it to its correct place.

Assign manually

Assigns the game in the board window manually to the highlighted key. This is an old function that is seldom used, since the automatic classification has become much more accurate than in previous years.

3.6.21.5 Insert new key

Inserting a new openings key (Insert)

- 1. Make sure that the classification position is on the board in a board window.
- 2. Click Openings in the list window and right-click an openings key. Select Insert new key.
- If there is no key to click, use the Insert key.
- 3. The classification position is displayed. Click OK and type in a name for the key.

Inserting a new theme key

1. Click Themes, Strategy, Tactics, or Endgame in the list window.

- 2. Right-click and select Insert new key.
- If there is no key to click, use the Insert key.
- 3. The search mask appears. Fill out the criteria for the theme key.
- 4. Type in the name of the key in the entry line that appears.

3.6.21.6 Install new key

List window: Click Openings, Theme, Strategy, Tactics or Endgame



If there is no key present you will get the above buttons. Click Install big or small key. In the first case you will get a detailed ECO-style key, in the second a small descriptive key. You can also click Select a key to browse for a key that is attached to another database. This will be copied to the current database and all games will be sorted into it. Finally you can install an empty key and start defining classification positions or criteria yourself.

Empty

The new key will not contain any entries, you must define all of them yourself. **Small**

Install a small key with general classification. For the opening this is a descriptive key. **Big**

Install a big key for a large games collection. For the opening this is a giant key based on the <u>ECO classification system</u> and containing around 55,000 classification positions. **Browse**

Allows you to search for and install a key that is being used with another database.

3.6.21.7 Define/Insert key memo

List window: Click Openings, Theme, Strategy, Tactics or Endgame

If you decide that you want to move a key up or down in your list, right-click on the key you want to move. A popup menu will appear; select "Define key memo" in this menu (or press Ctrl-M). You've just told ChessBase that this is the key you want to move. Click once on the key that appears immediately above the position where you want the moving key to appear. Right-click on it and select "Insert key memo" from the popup menu (or press Shift-Insert). ChessBase will then move the first key to the new spot on the list. Once in a while, particularly when you try moving a key to the very top or bottom of a list, ChessBase will insert it above the key you've highlighted, so it may take a bit of tweaking on your part to get the list just right -- but it's certainly "doable".

You cannot use these functions to move an entry from one database key to another. Use <u>transfer key</u> to do that. But you can use Define and Insert key memo to move a subkey up or down in the list.

3.6.21.8 Transfer key

This is how to transfer a key from one database to another:

- 1. Open a database and in the <u>list window</u> click the key tab (e.g. Openings).
- 2. Switch to the database window and select a database (click it).
- 3. Return to the key and right-click the key you want to transfer. Select Transfer in the menu that appears.

The key (not the games it contains) will be copied to the other database and inserted at the end of the key that is present there.

I want to transfer a thematic classification key that I have created myself to another database.

Unfortunately, this only works with opening keys. The "Transfer" option cannot be selected from the thematic key context menu. Transfers don't work for any other keys (other than opening keys). The program does not support the transfer of thematic keys.

3.6.21.9 Sorting Keys

How do you go about changing the order of an existing opening key e.g. the order (sorting) of sub-keys?

Deleting and creating a new key is possible (when creating a new one this comes at the end) but rather time-consuming.

Changing how an opening key is sorted can be done as follows:

- First open the opening index and select the various keys.
- Right-clicking starts the context menu.

Edit	•
Opening reference on selection	Strg+Alt+Eingabe
Load/Merge selected games	Eingabe
Selection to Book	Umschalt+Eingabe
Output	•
Classification => This key	
Insert key memo	Umschalt+Einfg
Show Positions	
Define New Position	
Define key memo	Strg+M
Transfer Key	
Assign Manually	Umschalt+Strg+A
Statistics	S
Show Map	М
Piece Probability	Umschalt+S
Font	

Start the function "Define key memo" (Strg-M).

Now change to the key which should be added before this key.

Petroff	Output	+
Ruy Lopez	Classification => This key	
1.e4 e5 ot	Insert key memo	Umschalt+Einfg
l.e4 other Queen's Ga	Show Positions	

Here you will find the function in the context menu = "Add Key Memo" (Shift. + Insert Key).

Then delete the original key and the desired sort will be carried out.

3.6.22 Repertoire

3.6.22.1 Repertoire database

The repertoire database is a collection of annotated games or variations in which you look after your repertoire. In it you collect all information on the openings systems you like to play. To make a database your repertoire database right-click the icon in the <u>database window</u> and select Properties. In the dialog that appears click the "Repertoire database" checkbox.

Please take also a closer look to the <u>Repertoire Training</u> in the <u>Board window</u>.

ChessBase has a number of functions that will help you look after and even automatically update your repertoire.

In ChessBase you can manage your <u>opening repertoire</u> in two databases, one for White and one for Black.



You can create the repertoire databases at any time by selecting *Report -> Create Repertoire* in the database window and accessing a database with your own games.

If you already have a single repertoire database that you created without separating colours in ChessBase 12, the function Report -> Create Repertoire offers the possibility to divide it into White and Black. ChessBase uses the moves that you have marked Blue. It is strongly recommended to divide your repertoire into White and Black.

In the board window, use the function Report -> Repertoire -> Mark Move Blue.

This marks the moves in your games which should be added to your repertoire. This builds a repertoire report for new game collections or searching in the repertoire database. There is no sense in marking all your games with 1.e4 in the repertoire report just because 1.e4 leads to a line in your repertoire database with Ruy Lopez.

How to add games to the repertoire database

First of all you can save or copy games into your repertoire database, just like any other database. With a game in the board window right-click the board and select Add to repertoire. There is also the same command in the Tools menu, and you can press Shift-Ctrl-Alt-A.

ChessBase will save your game with the variations which are already stored in the repertoire database. If the game is very similar to an existing repertoire game, ChessBase will suggest merging the two games in the repertoire database. You can let it do so or overrule it and save the game as a separate entry. If your game contains a completely new line the program will save it as a new game. It will even suggest a suitable name for it (e.g. "Sicilian Four Knights").
If no repertoire database exists, ChessBase will automatically create one and add an icon to your database window.

Defining the repertoire

You can load games from your repertoire database and add analysis or commentary. When you manually add a game to your repertoire there are two way of determining from which move on the game represents your repertoire.

- 1. In the repertoire database a game is only considered from the first branching point onwards. For instance if you have entered the moves 1.e4 e5 2.Nf3 Nc6 3.Bb5 a6 (3... Nf6), then the first position of your repertoire is the one after 3.Bb5. Games beginning with 1.e4 e5 2.Nf3 Nc6 3.Bc4 are ignored, as are, of course, games beginning with 1.e4 c5.
- If you have a single game or variation without branching lines in your repertoire database, you can specify the first relevant position by annotating it as Critical opening position: right-click on the move, chose Special annotation – critical opening position.

Compare game to repertoire

With a game loaded in the board window right-click a position and use Search in Repertoire. ChessBase will open a search result window and list all games from your repertoire database in which the position occurred. The same command is to be found in the Tools menu, and you can press Shift-Ctrl-Alt-F to execute it.

Searching for repertoire games

With a repertoire database it is easy to search for games that match this repertoire. Simply call up the <u>search mask</u> (Ctrl-F) and click In repertoire. This will retrieve all games in a database which are relevant to your repertoire. Remember that you can also click a directory with many databases or in fact an entire partition of your hard disk and use the search mask to find all repertoire games there.

The repertoire scan

This function is a quick and elegant way to find out what's new in your openings systems. Let us assume you have just received a delivery of new games, e.g. an Internet download or the latest issue of ChessBase Magazine. Click File – New – Repertoire scan. ChessBase will generate a report of all games which are important for your repertoire. The report is a <u>database text</u> with separate sections for each of the repertoire lines. The games are given as links and can be clicked for instant load and replay. They are sorted by player Elo and degree of annotation.

Note that you can best view very dense repertoire games by switching to <u>table</u> notation, and you can print them out nicely using the <u>print repertoire</u> option.

3.6.22.2 MyMoves

The program offers numerous possible ways of looking at openings and then, after thorough checking, integrating them into your <u>own repertoire</u>. From our present chess programs you are already aware of the possibility of saving your own repertoire online and working on it via WebApp or Chess program. This option is now also available in modified form with this version of the program.

Hint: the program logically <u>distinguishes between White and Black repertoire</u> and the data is <u>stored online on our servers</u>. That guarantees that with a ChessBase Account

and a browser you have access to your repertoire at any time and can edit or take a look at it.

This way of handling it is also possible with a smartphone or tablet.

3.6.22.3 Immediate Access to the Repertoire Database

There are other useful ways to access games you have processed in the board window.

Next to the <u>Game History</u> button there is a button called *Database*.

This allows the user access to the currently selected database directly from the board window.

It is also possible to access the repertoire database directly from the board window.

Clicking on the command *Repertoire Database* in the Find Position section searches for the current position in the repertoire database.

A game can easily be saved in the repertoire database. Just right click on the board, and then select *Add to repertoire*.

3.6.22.4 Add game to repertoire

Board window: Rightclick Add to repertoire

Online	
Find Position in Repertoire White	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+F
Add to White Repertoire	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+A
Find Position in Repertoire Black	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+L
Add to Black Repertoire	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+D
Opening Report	
Opening Report Opening Classification	Strg+Alt+C
Opening Report Opening Classification Find Novelty	Strg+Alt+C Umschalt+F6
Opening Report Opening Classification Find Novelty Novelty Annotation	Strg+Alt+C Umschalt+F6 Umschalt+Strg+R

This adds the current game to your repertoire database.

ChessBase offers you two alternatives:

Add the game as a new entry

The game is saved at the end of the repertoire database

Insert in

The current game becomes a variation of a game in the repertoire database.

After saving or inserting the game you can open the <u>repertoire database</u> in the <u>database window</u> and enter remarks to the game if necessary.

3.6.22.5 Creating a Repertoire Database

ChessBase makes it easy for the user to create a <u>repertoire database</u>. This is a collection of annotated games or variations that are used as the basis of a personal opening repertoire. The systematic upkeep of your own repertoire is an essential part of your preparation.

First you must create a repertoire database manually. To do this you must have a database that only contains games and variations that are part of your repertoire. To define a database as a repertoire database right click on a database and select Properties. Then tick the box Repertoire Database.

C:\Users\Pitter\Documents\ChessBase\Repertoire.cbh								
Gambit BdF	^ 📡	Training						
Match Biography Multimedia		Show Protocol						
Important Text Download		Reset Protocol						
E-Mail Opening book	9 Games							
Chess Media Reference	0 Keys, 0 Posi	tions						
Repertoire	-							
Name	Reference	e-DB						
Repertone	✓ Repertoir	re Database						

The program can also support users who <u>do not yet have their own repertoire</u> <u>database</u>.

Let us assume that you are replaying a game that is significant for your repertoire.

Right click anywhere in the board window and select Add to repertoire.

You can also use the ribbon *Report* Add to repertoire.



If no repertoire database has been defined yet the program will offer to create a <u>new</u> repertoire database.



You can choose between the options:

Build from my Playchess.com games: This creates a database using your games on the server. In the following dialog you can choose the player's name.

Select database with my games: This is when you already have games stored in a separate database.

Create empty database: This puts the game into a new database, which you can later add to.

There are differences to earlier versions of the program. The user can add games to the repertoire database <u>directly from the board window</u>.



Clicking on the small arrow next to the Repertoire database button opens the repertoire database.

Mark move blue sets this search position for the repertoire report. In earlier program versions all the alternate variations were also added, which was sometimes imprecise.



If you add a game to the repertoire database by this method the position is shown that is used as search criterion for the repertoire functions.

Reference	401

3.6.22.6 Repertoire print

Board window: Menu File Print Print Repertoire.



If you have a richly annotated game, or if you have merged a number of games from one variation into a large variation tree, then it is advisable to print it out in the form of an ECO-type repertoire table.

You can try it out quite easily. Go into the <u>openings index</u> and search for your favourite line. Mark all the games and press Enter to <u>merge</u> them into a (temporary) game tree. Click *Menu File Print Repertoire*.

In the print preview you can see what your page will look like:



3.7 My moves

3.7.1 My Moves

Many openings require a detailed knowledge of complexes of variations. The program offers numerous possible ways of looking at openings and then, after thorough checking, integrating them into your own repertoire. From our present chess programs you are already aware of the possibility of saving your own repertoire online and working on it via WebApp or Chess program. This option is now also available in modified form with this version of the program.

Hint: the program logically <u>distinguishes between White and Black repertoire</u> and the data is <u>stored online on our servers</u>. That guarantees that with a ChessBase Account and a browser you have access to your repertoire at any time and can edit or take a look at it.

This way of handling it is also possible with a smartphone or tablet.

3.7.2 Access

Start an empty board window -> Click Start - Board

At the top of the notation window you will find the tab $My \ moves$. This opens a new pane with at the bottom all the important functions, e.g. for loading the repertoires and the functions for working with it.

Referen	ice 40	3
u		
Notation + Openings Book		×
Notation Reference Replay training Surveys Plan Explorer Table Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book	My Moves	
		-

Load your White or Black opening moves

You can enter moves here and mark them as 'My Move' for your repertoire. Lines leading to marked moves are automatically stored. Or you mark moves in the live book or in the normal game notation.

Click on 'Load White' or 'Load Black' below to load your repertoire.

Hint: Make sure that you are logged in with a valid account.

Click on 'Load White' or 'Load Black' below to load your repertoire.

ChessBase Account: DerAmateur



Clicking on **Load White**" loads the variation tree which the repertoire contains for White. If you have not yet set up a repertoire you will find in the next text a description of how you can quickly start a repertoire, add to it and edit it.

The following screenshot shows an example of a personal, edited repertoire for White.

	3	
		Notation + Openings Book 🔹 🗸 🗙
. 💾 🗤		Notation Reference Replay training Surveys Plan Explorer Table Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves
		My Moves - White
7 2 2 2		Private - DerAmateur
6 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		1.e2-e4** [1.2c1-13*] 1e7-e5 [■ 1c7-c5 2.d2-d4 & Q8-f6 3.f2-f3*] [■ 1c7-c5 2.d21-f3 & Q8-c6 3.≜f1-b5** q7-q6 4.≜b5xc6** d7xc6 5.d2-d3 ≜f8-q7 6.h2-h3** & Q8-f6 7.&b1-c3 0-0 8.≜c1-e3 b7-b6 9.@d1-d2**] 2.&Q1-f3* & D8-c6 3.≜f1-c4**
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		[■ 3.±1-b5 A) = 3.±1-b5 A) = 3.±07-b6 4.d2-d4* e5xd4 5.½d1xd4* &c8-d7 (= 52q8-e7 6.½d5-d7 7.0-0 0.27-g6 8.5f1-e1*) 6.±55xc6 (±d7xc6 7.0±1-c3* 2q8-f6 8.±c1-q5 h7-h6 9.½q5xt6* 2d8-d7 7.0-0 0.27-g6 8.5f1-e1*) 6.±55xc6 (±d7xc6 7.0±1-c3* 2q8-f6 8.±c1-q5 h7-h6 9.½q5xt6* 2d8-d7 7.0-0 0.27-g6 8.5f1-e1*) B1) = 3.z7-a6 4.±55xc6* (= 4.±55z-d4** 2q8-f6 5.d2-d3* 4.d7xc6 (= 4b7xc6 5.0-0* d7-d6 6.d2-d4*) B1) = 5.0±1-c3 7.1-f6 6.d2-d4 7.₩d1xd4** ±f8-d6 (= 7\nother d8xd4 8.2f3xd4 ±c8-d7 9.±c1-e3 0-0-0 10.0-0-0* 0.±c1-e3 2q8-c7 9.0-0* 2e1-c6 10.104-c4**; ±d8-d7 8.b2-h3*± 6.±c1-e3* £q8-c7 7.0-b1-d2* c6-c5 8.\nd*d1-e2 2e7-c6 9.c2-c3** 3.±f8-c6 9.c2-c3** 3.±f8-c5 4.c2-c3** *
		2
		🛓 Load White 🛓 Load Black 🆙 My Move 🎲 Important For Me 🏋 Unmark 🔆 Delete Variation 📘 Delete Rest 👗 Text 🥪 Standard Repertoires

Now, for example, you can edit the variations in it with the help of the editing bar, e. g. mark specific moves as particularly relevant for your repertoire.

3.7.3 Extending the repertoire

Whenever you play through or analyse games, various options are available to you for extending the existing repertoire. If, for example, you wish to integrate complete variations you can do so easily by highlighting a move in the board window as My *Move*.

You will find the tools for this at the bottom of the notation window.



This takes into the repertoire the complete sequence of moves up to the move highlighted. That saves you the painstaking manual input of complete variation trees.

Highlighted in red are the three relevant function buttons.

If you hover over a button with the mouse the tool tip shows you the function in text form.

k	😭 My Move	🏫 Important For Me	🟋 Unmarl
	M	ark selected move as 'M	y Move'

3.7.4 Other options for working on the repertoire

Furthermore, there are other options for designating specific moves or variations as relevant for your repertoire.

You will also find these options in the program's other modes.

• Right click menu in the notation -> My moves .

.e2-e4 .≜c4-	4 e7 .h3	'-e5 2.@g1-f3 @b8-c6 3. ≝f6-a6 9.0-0 d7-d5 10 \$.d2-d4 e5xd4 4.�f3xd4 ≜e3-f4_≜c8-o4_11⊠d1-c	≜
[🔳		Add to White Repertoire	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+A	
4.f2-1 0 ຝ∖h		Add to Black Repertoire	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+D	ໄ\$tf4xc7 ອ້e8-d7 18.\$c7-g3 €d4xb3 19.a. ເບີc3-e2 ⊑d8-d5 24 ⊑a1-d1 ⊑a8-d8 25 ຄໍດ
0.⊴b 6.≊d1 2.⊴)q 8.≅a7 4.≅a7 0.≅e7 6.≅f4 4-b3 -0		Enter Variation Promote Variation Delete	T Alt+Nach-Oben ▶	29.ġg1-f1 ġb5-a6 30.≣c4-c7 ≣d8-f8 31.b 35.≣d4-d3 ≣f5-f4 36.≣d3-b3 ġa6-b5 3 1.b2-b3 ġb5-c6 42.≝b7-a7 h7-h5 43.≣e3 gg2-h3 ≣g5-f5 48.≣e7-b7 ġb5-a6 49.≣b7
		Text Before Move Text After Move I, ?,	Umschalt+Strg+A Strg+A ! •	53.필e5xd5+ 필f5xd5 54.필c3-c4 필d5-d3 5! -d7+ 햪d5-e4 60.f5-f6 필b3-f3 61.f6-f7 b5
		+-,=,	= >	
		Set Prefix	S +	
4		Special Annotation	# •	
2		My Moves	+	Mark as 'My Move'
т 29		Move Time Insert Diagram	Strg+J	Mark as 'My Important Move'
43		Fold	•	vs 2 -

• Right click menu in LiveBook

Notation +	Open	ings B	ook						
Notation	Refer	rence	ce Replay training		Surveys	Plan Explorer Table			Sc
Move				Games	Result	Elo-Av	Dat	Date	
8≝f6-g	6			^	E.CO/	2520	202	0.000	7
8d7-d6		Mar	k as 'l	My Move'					
8≝f6-a	5	Mark as 'My Important Move'							
8b7-b6		Clea	r Mar	k					
8d7-d5									
8∕⊡e7-g	6	Delete all white 'iviy ivioves' after 8i€¥fb-gb							
8a7-a5		Dele	te all	black 'My N	loves' afte	er 8f6-g	g6		
8a7-a6		Rese	et Lea	rn Values					
8 <u>\$</u> c5xd	4	Fon							
8c7-c6									

• Bar at the bottom of LiveBook

406	ChessBase	17
-----	-----------	----

		ind Position				Engine	•		Ddta	ibase	Game hist	ory
Notation +	Openings B	ook										▼ ×
Notation	Reference	Replay training	Surveys	Plan Explo	orer Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Boo	k My	Moves		
Move		Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date		Evalua	tion Visits	^	Welcome	, DerAmateur!	
8曾f6-g6	j	9	56%	2530	2020-Sep-7		=	14234		Deep Ani		us 🛛
8d7-d6		4	88%	2492	2018		=	6260		= 0.09p Clare disc	overed a	
8曾f6-a6		3	50%	2433	2018		=	2309		position	overeu a	
8b7-b6		1	100%	2460	2019		±	141	~	Deep An		us 🚽
< 1									>	•		
😭 Mark a	as 'My Mov	e' 🏫 Important	For Me	🔀 Clear N	1ark							
									0%			
				elete all bla	ack 'My Move	s' atter 8…t	h-ap					

The repertoire trees for White and Black which gradually form are saved online. You can not only view or edit the repertoire from ChessBase. This function is available from any computer with an activated ChessBase Account. So, with this procedure you have access to your openings from any computer linked to the internet.

The information is available for registered users from any platform. If, for example, you are following games from our news pages or live broadcasts you will find the relevant opening moves from your repertoire highlighted in colour. That means that when you still playing through a game you can spot at a glance just how relevant the move played in the game is for your repertoire!

3.7.5 Use of colours in the repertoire

By means of different coloured highlights and special symbols you can directly designate whether a move belongs in your repertoire for White or for Black.

The following indicators help you with the classification of a move which is displayed, e.g. in <u>LiveBook</u>.

					-					-
Notation + Openings Book										
Notation Reference Rep	lay training	Surveys	Plan Expl	orer Table	Score sheet	LiveBook Ope	nings Book	My Moves		
Disconnect	1	Settings	<u>"</u>	Find in Shop		Novelty Mining				
Move	Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date		Evaluation	Visits	[%]	My N 🛆	
<u>1c7-c5*</u>	422814	52%	2431	2020-Nov-1	0	=	22728121	30 1	Му К	2322322 2322
1e7-e5	204218	55%	2443	2020-Nov-1	0	=	24089656	32 \	White	
1e7-e6	118008	55%	2415	2020-Nov-1	0	=	9095584	12		
<u>1c7-c6*</u>	75009	54%	2435	2020-Nov-1	0	±	6184276	8 1	Му К	
1d7-d6	36642	56%	2413	2020-Nov-1	0	=	3042606	4 \	White	** ********************************
1g7-g6	28986	52%	2421	2020-Nov-1	0	±	1856927	2		Hot Position
1d7-d5	20073	57%	2398	2020-Nov-9		±	3170076	4		
1@g8-f6	16782	56%	2402	2020-Nov-1			1983522			
1@b8-c6	4844	56%	2394	2020-Nov-1	0	=	1231536	2		position
										position

- Blue = the move belongs to your White repertoire
- Green = the move belongs to your Black repertoire
- Turquoise = the move is played with both colours.
- "*" = highlighted as 'My move'.

• "**" = highlighted as 'important move'

In general, the display of LiveBook in the various web applications in the browser follows the same principle! Here too the coloured highlights allow you to recognise the relevance for <u>your own repertoire</u>.

3.7.6 Hints for working on your repertoire

With a click on *Load White* your White repertoire is loaded into the notation window. Moves with "*" are highlighted as relevant, moves with "**" as important.

The structure of the <u>notation</u> is managed automatically. A variation becomes a main variation the more moves, highlighted moves and important moves it contains. Highlighted moves count for more than simple moves and important moves are even more significant. So it can happen that after the highlighting of a move the hierarchy of variations changes.

The notation under *My Moves* is independent of the game which has just been loaded. Using the key combination **Ctrl-C / Ctrl-V** you can copy a game from the main notation under *My Moves*.

<u>Hint</u>: Nothing is saved if you do not then highlight moves in variations. In order to get the moves into the repertoire and saved it is absolutely necessary to highlight the appropriate relevant moves!

Tip: At any time when the tab *My Moves* is open you can secure the repertoire which has been loaded in a database via *File -> Save*.

3.7.7 Standard repertoires

It is possible to get access from the server pre-prepared, up-to-date repertoires. That makes available another easy option for extending existing repertoires.



This option is also available in the bar at the bottom of the screen when you have loaded your repertoire. The program thus offers you for the most important opening systems access to complete opening surveys, which you can include in your existing repertoire with a few clicks.

Each of the repertoires on offer can be tailored or the view can be made to fit your requirements. This setting can be found in the left-hand window. With the settings *Easy* and *Club* the repertoires are clearly laid out; these settings are appropriate if you want to get a quick overview of an opening system.





With the settings *Tournament* or *Professional* the representation of the variation tree becomes correspondingly more detailed and complex.

The form of presentation is guided by the rankings chosen when creating opening surveys.

3.8 Organising repertoires

3.8.1 Organising repertoires

The program offers you the option of storing your <u>opening repertoire online</u>. This means that from any computer with an internet link and a browser you can have access to your personal opening repertoire. The White and Black repertoires are managed separately and saved on our servers.

At many places in the program you will find functions with which you can mark moves as relevant for your repertoire (My moves).

The "central hub" for the administration of the repertoire saved under *My moves* can be found in the board window under the heading *Training*.

<u></u>								
Т	raining	View		- 1				
þ.	٩	2	1			5		
out Fri	Openings tz App	Load White	Load Black	Standard Repertoire	Upload s to MyM	surve oves	Replay	
Bas	e Account			My Mo	ves			
	Notation +	Openings E	Book					
	Notation	Reference	Replay training Surveys Plan				Explorer	Tal
		-			MI 7595		trov lao	rΛ

In the <u>board window</u> the functions *Load White* and *Load Black* load the repertoire which has been saved online.

Included with the program is access to standard up-to-date repertoires.

That makes available to you another easy option for building on your existing repertoires.

We offer prep-prepared opening repertoires divided into White and Black and further subdivided into different levels from "Easy" up to very complex variation trees.

Click on Training Standard Repertoires:

Standard Repertoires	Tournament
🖕 White	
Easy	⊳ 🖕 Closed Games
Club	🖡 🖡 Flank Openings
Tournament	🕨 🔓 Half Closed Games
Professional	a 🔓 Half Open Games - Sicilian
🖶 - Black	Dragon
Easy	⊳ 🥪 Najdorf
Club	Richter-Rauzer
Tournament	Scheveningen
Professional	Survey
	🔊 🥪 Sveshnikov
	🔉 🖣 Half Open Games
	a 🖕 Open Games
	a 🥪 Italian
	🖄 Giuco Piano
	🖄 Survey
	- 🖄 Two Knights 4.Ng5
	🛄 🔬 Two Knights
	Petrov
	Spanish
	🔈 🕪 Vienna Game

In this way the program offers you access to <u>complete opening surveys</u> of the most

important opening systems! A few clicks will clarify what is on offer here.

These surveys are excellently suited to the learning of new openings; for the club player as a rule knowledge of the most important main variations is enough. Each of the repertoires on offer or the way it is viewed can be tailored to your needs.

We choose these settings in the pane on the left. The settings *Easy* and *Club* present the repertoires in very clear fashion; they are the settings you need whenever you are seeking a quick overview of an opening system. With the settings *Tournament* and *Professional* the representation of the variation tree becomes correspondingly more detailed and more complex.

You can work on these repertoire surveys, extending them and tailoring them to your needs! The function *Upload to My Moves* integrates the survey into your own opening repertoire on the server.



3.8.2 FAQ on "My Moves"

You can load into the notation window the two repertoires under My Moves with the buttons Load White or Load Black.

If you are already working with a board window open, you can also load the repertoires by means of the button *My Moves* above the notation.

3.8.3 Working on or extending a repertoire

With a click on *Load White* your White repertoire is loaded into the <u>notation window</u>. Moves with "*" are being highlighted as relevant, moves with "**" as important.

The structure of the notation is managed automatically. A variation becomes a main variation the more moves, highlighted moves and important moves it contains. Highlighted moves are more important than simple moves, important moves are even more significant. So, it can happen that the highlighting of a move changes the hierarchy of variations.

The notation under "My moves" is independent of that of the newly loaded game. The key combinations Ctrl-C / Ctrl-V allow you to copy a game from the main notation into $My \ moves$.

You will find additional functions for dealing with the data in the toolbar below the notation or in the notation window with a right click on *LiveBook* or via *Training*.

Note: Nothing is saved if you do not highlight any moves in the variations. For the moves to be taken over into the repertoire and saved, it is absolutely necessary for you to highlight the appropriate relevant moves!

Whenever you play through or analyse games you have available to you various options for extending your existing repertoires.

If, for example, you wish to integrate complete variations, you can manage that by simply highlighting a move as "My Move". That moves into the repertoire the complete sequence of moves leading up to the move highlighted. That saves you the tiresome manual inputting of complete variation trees.

Over and above that, there are further options for highlighting specific moves or variations as relevant for your repertoire. These options can also be found in the other modes of the program.

• Right click menu in the notation -> My Moves".

412

ChessBase 17

G	н С	9.@h4xf6 13.@c3xd5 & Ea8-c8 17.☆c 20.Ed5-d4 E Ec8-f8? 24.E [= 24.Ed1 26.Eg1xg7 24Ec4-c7 2 [= 26.@ff 26Ec7-e7 26Ec7-e7 2 2 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 4 1 2 4 2 4 1 4 1 3 2 4 4 1 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		Add to White Repertoire Add to White Repertoire Enter Variation Promote Variation Delete Text Before Move Text After Move !, ?, +-, =, Set Prefix Special Appostation My Moves Move Time	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+A Umschalt+Strg+Alt+D T Alt+Nach-Oben Umschalt+Strg+A Umschalt+Strg+A ! • = • S • *	-17 -d5 3-f	5 J Mark z Mark z	Aa Bog Wy Wy Sis 'My M sis 'My In	4 3 7 8 2 ove' portant Move'	
305	Zifroni,D	2370		Insert Diagram			Clear I	Mark		
300	Ziglio,R			Fold		10.	09.1991			
785	Ziogas,H			Chau Matarial	,	04.	10.1996			
	Getman,T	1603	Υ.	Show Material		04.0	08.2015		2	

• Right click menu in *LiveBook*

Find Posit		Engines Dat			tabase	Game H	
	Notation +	Openings Boo	k				
atta	Reference	Replay traini	ng Surveys	Plan Explor	er Table	Score sheet	LiveBo
	Move		Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date	
	10.0	Mark as 'My N	love'			02 -Nov-8	
*	10.0	Mark as 'My Ir	nportant Mov	02u-Jun-13			
	10.3	Clear Mark	01				
	10.1	Delete all whit	e 'My Moves'	after 10.c4xd	5	01	
	10.	Delete all blac	02 -Nov-6				
	10.	Reset Learn Va	020-Aug-28				
	10.	Font				020-Jan-6	

- Toolbar at the bottom in *LiveBook*
- Toolbar below notation in the tab *My Moves* .

The gradually growing repertoire trees for White and Black are saved online. You can look at or edit the repertoire not just from the program. This is available from any computer with an activated ChessBase Account.

So, with this procedure you have access to all of your openings from any computer linked to the internet. The information is active for registered users no matter which platform they are using. If, for example, you are playing through games on our news pages or in a live broadcast, you will find the relevant opening moves in your repertoire highlighted in colour. Like that, when playing through a game you can spot at a glance to what extent the move played in the game is relevant for your repertoire.

3.8.4 Coloured highlights

By means of different <u>coloured</u> highlights and special symbols you can immediately assign a move either to your White or Black repertoire.

The following indications help you in the classification of moves displayed, e.g. LiveBook.

- Blue = the move belongs to your White repertoire
- Green = the move belongs to your Black repertoire
- Turquoise = the move is played with both colours.
- "*" = Highlighted as 'My Move'.
- "**" = highlighted as 'important move'

3.8.5 Backup copies of your repertoire

Safety first is of course the watch word when you work on a repertoire. A rash click can lead to parts of a repertoire being unintentionally deleted. So, make good use of the possibility of regularly saving backup copies!

When the repertoire tree has been loaded you can save it to any database you wish.

Click on *File* Save game as and then select the database you wish. The repertoire is then saved within the database like any other game notation.

Via the menu item *Training* Upload to My Moves you can transfer the backup copy back on to the server!

3.8.6 Deleting variations in the repertoire

Highlight the move at the start of the variation which is to be deleted. In the toolbar below the notation click on "Delete *variation*" and the variation highlighted, including possible sub-variations, will be deleted.

When setting up a repertoire quickly, many users will above all integrate parts of the pre-defined standard repertoire or games. In principle that is a very practical function, but it also has its disadvantages. It could happen, for example, that at a later point you would no longer wish to have specific variations in your repertoire and that for the sake of clarity you want to "prune" the variation tree.

For this purpose the program provides simple editing help for removing from your repertoire specific branches of the tree. To do so, simply load the view in LiveBook in which you will find your repertoire moves highlighted in colour. The key functions for

deleting specific variations can be found with a right click.

Mark as 'My Move'
Mark as 'My Important Move'
Clear Mark
Delete all white 'My Moves' after 10.c4xd5
Delete all white 'My Moves' after 10.c4xd5 Delete all black 'My Moves' after 10.c4xd5

3.8.7 Completely delete a repertoire

If you want to start building up a <u>repertoire</u> from scratch, that can be done simply. Load, for example, your White repertoire and highlight the first move.

In the toolbar you will find the entry "*Delete Rest*". With the help of the button "Upload to my moves", you now load the empty notation and your opening repertoire is finally deleted. See the notes in the section on *Backup copies*.

3.9 **Printing and Publishing**

3.9.1 Output menu in games list

List window: Rightclick Output

Kasnarov G	0-1 25	884	Baku
Edit	+	:84	Baku tt U18
Opening reference on selection	Strg+Alt+Eingabe	:04	Kiev Young Pioneers
Selection to Book	Umschalt+Eingabe	189	Vilnius
Replay games automatically		:68	Moscow clock sim
Output	•		Print Selection
Cross Table	Т		Print multiple training
Statistics	S		Page Setup
Piece Probability	Umschalt+S		Drinter Setun
Overview	0		r miter octop
Create game title			E-Mail Selected Games
Testical Analysis			Selection To Text file
Tactical Analysis			Database
List Format	+		Publish to Web
Class		67	UDC ob U10 Villeius

Selected games can be printed, sent by E-mail or published as HTML pages directly in the <u>games list</u>. To do this mark the games and right-click in the games list. You can

select games with Ctrl-click or Shift-cursor keys, or use Ctrl-A to select all.

Page setup

This opens a dialog box in which you can set all the print parameters of ChessBase.

Print selection

This brings up a print preview before printing the selected games (click Print to actually start printing).

• Print multiple training

Use this to print out <u>training material</u>. ChessBase will produce two sheets, the first containing all the positions of the selected games which have a training commentary, the second with the solutions. You get a print preview.

Email

The selected games are sent as a <u>compressed archive file</u> (CBV) by email. Your default e-mail client is automatically started with an empty email form and with the correct attachment. You can set the default e-mail program in the Windows Control Panel – Internet Options – tab Programs.

Selection To Textfile

Creates a text file of the selected games in different formats.

Database

The program makes it possible for you to copy into a new database games which you have selected (highlighted) from the games list. In the games list of the database, highlight the games you wish to copy into a separate database. You are able to highlight games with Ctrl+mouse click or SHIFT+mouse click.

Then right click – Output – Datenbank starts the Windows file selection dialog, from where you can select the target database into which you want to copy the new games.

Publish Games

It is possible to create <u>EBooks</u> with ChessBase. An EBook is an electronic version of a classic book. There are different formats available. Some formats need a reading device, whereas others can be read on a computer with Reader software.

Publish to Web

It is possible to <u>publish one or more games</u> on the Web. This is also possible using Facebook's "Share link".

Board Window - File - Publish to Web

This publishes the game in the current board window to the web.

3.9.2 Page setup

Board window: Menu File Print Page Setup

٢	Page Setup
1	Printer Setup

Following options are available:

Print Dia	gram		Diag	ram title	Fonts			
Repertoir	e	-	Correspon	dence		Coordinates		
Layout	Pa	ge nu	mbers	Title		Print games		
🔲 Game nui	mber		V T	ournament				
V ECO code		V E	📝 Elo numbers					
Annotations				Annotator				
Justify columns				Paragraphs				
📝 Diagrams				Diagrams directly				
🔲 Analysis diagrams small				Use colour				
Up to mo	ve		25	* *				

▶ **Layout:** Defines the page layout. The borders are set in points. Each point corresponds to 1/72 inch which is appr. 0,35mm, so in this example the borders are 12,6mm. The game can be divided over more colums and you can set the gap between the colums. Seperator will insert a vertical line between the colums.

• **Numbers**: You can switch on/off the page numbers, have it centred, left or right aligned and select top or bottom. If the first page should start with a different number, you can enter the number in the First page field.

▶ **Title:** You can select the head and/or footline for the title(s). There are special symbols which can be used in the textfield. @N will insert the user name which is entered in menu: Tools - Options - tab user. @D inserts the date of the printout.

Print games

• **Repertoire:** This tab is used for the function menu: File – Print – Repertoire only. Print Diagram inserts the diagram of the position which is achieved before the deviations in the table start. ECO code inserts the ECO code before the game notation. Line evaluation inserts a chess evaluation symbol at the end of a line.

• **Correspondence:** There's a choice between letter or card format. The latter should be selected in the printer setup and have a landscape printing position. Letters can be folded into two or three pieces in order to form a card-like appearance. When you offer a proposal, check the proposal checkbox. Repeat more moves includes the

moves previous played in the game. The position of the addresses is given in x/y coördinates, where you need to consider the margins set in the layout and where each point equals 1/72 Inch. Example: My address 10 / 20 means that the x coördinate is 36 (border) + 10 = 46 from the left side of the paper. This corresponds to 46 x 1/72 = 0,64Inch or 16mm.

• **Coordinates:** For setting the coordinates around the diagram if any.

• **Print Diagram**: Here you can set the size for the Diagram. It should however be noted that the largest possible size is determined by the size of a column. When there are two columns, the maximum size is appr. 180 points, corresponding to 180x0.35=63mm. Printing a game will ignore the indent setting, but this value is used when the Print Diagram is used. Flipped will put the board upsite down, mark side to move adds a white or black circle on the right side of the board and diagram numbers inserts the number of the diagram. When the Style has been set to board on screen, the option colours and arrows will be available. The coloured fields and arrows can be made by using graphical commentary.

• **Diagram title:** You can select or enter text which will be printed above or under the diagram.

▶ **Fonts:** Select the fonts for the notation (selecting a figurine font secures a good printing of the chess commentary symbols as well, not only for the figurine notation), the diagram (modern, old or USCF pieces, as long as it is a Diagram Font) and for printing your own and opponent address for the correspondence move. When you encounter problems with printing the diagrams, especially with the empty white fields, select the *ChessBase - Alternate font type*.

3.9.3 Page setup - Print games

Board window: Menu File Print Page Setup tab Print games.

Game number	✓ Tournament
ECO code	V Elo numbers
Annotations	Annotator
Justify columns	Paragraphs
Diagrams	Diagrams directly
🔲 Analysis diagrams small	Use colour
Up to move	25

- Game number: inserts the record number from the gameslist.
- **ECO code:** inserts the ECO code of the game.

• **Annotations:** works only after searches when printing several games from a list. Example: You want to print an overview of a repertoire by someone. You search for "Player" and print the games and print Up to move 15 to get the opening. You do not want the analysis of the games, but the openings played. Here you can switch the

418 ChessBase 17

annotations off.

Justify colums: will fill up the the text with spaces in order to get two straight "newspaper-like" margins.

• **Diagrams:** enables the diagrams to be printed which are inserted in the game by using a rightclick on a move and insert diagram.

• **Analysis diagrams small:** is used for diagrams which are inserted in variations and it will print the diagram smaller than normal to indicate the difference between the game and annotations.

• **Up to move:** See Annotations, works only after searches when printing several games from a list.

Tournament: inserts the name of the tournament.

• **Elo numbers:** inserts the Elo ratings of the players.

• **Annotator:** inserts the annotator of the game.

> **Paragraphs:** forces the program to start a variation on a new line.

• **Diagrams directly:** the diagram is inserted at exactly the same point as entered in the annotation. When this option is off and the diagram does not fit in the remainder of a column, the game notation continues and the diagram is inserted at the top of the next column.

• **Use color:** will set the font color for the commentary in blue, which can be used with color printers.

Back to Page setup

3.9.4 Publishing of Games in the Internet

ChessBase can export games as HTML. This allows the replaying of games in a web browser. This code can be integrated into web pages.

It is possible to publish one or more games on the Web. This is also possible using *Facebook's "Share link*".

Board Window - File - Publish to Web

Publish to Web

This publishes the game in the current board window to the web.

To publish several games at once you have to do the following:

In the database list *select several games*. Right click the selection, then select

419

5, IVI	2400	KUULIII,S	2040	72-72	51	D/U	LUNUUN NVV TM	1300	
5,M	2460	Wasterinen II	2205	1 0	22	C96	London NWYM	1988	
en, N	Edit				•	B14	London NWYM	1988	
en, N	Opening	reference on selecti	on 🤅	Strg+Alt+Ei	ngabe	E15	London NWYM	1988	
en, N	Merge Se	lected Games		Ei	ngabe	B06	London NWYM	1988	
en, N	Selection	to Book	U	mschalt+Ei	ngabe	D38	London NWYM	1988	<u> </u>
son,	Replay ga	mes automatically			-	D58	London NWYM	1988	: 10 11 11 15
son,	Output	-			•		Print Selection		
son,	Cross Tal	ble			Т		Print multiple training	j	Hebden, Mark
)	Statistics				S		Dage Setup		E1
>	Piece Pro	bability		Umsc	halt+S		Drinter Setun	1.d4 Sf6 2.Sf3	
>	Overview				0		Finiter Setup		Lb4+ 6.Ld2 Le
)							E-Mail Selected Game	s	9.Lg2 0-0 10.0
>	List Form	at			•		Selection To Text file.		h6 13.Db2 Te8
n,A	Close						Publish to Web		16.Se5 Dd5 17
n, A 🖵	2010	KIIIY, P	2320	V 1	41	074	LONGON NYWYIN	1200	
n,A	2510	McNab,C	2410	1-0	36	B08	London NWYM	1988	1xd4 23.1xb7
n,A	2510	Norwood,D	2470	¥2-¥2	8	A37	London NWYM	1988	26.Txa7 Txd2
	0040	- -	05.40					4000	29.Lxd7 T8xd7

The result looks like this:



The program generates a game notation which can be replayed comfortably in a board. Clicking anywhere in the notation opens the position in the board. If more than one game has been published, the user has a dropdown menu to decide which game he wants to replay.

f

Adams, Michael-Hebden, Mark	A
Adams, Michael-Hebden, Mark Adams, Michael-Kosten, Anthony C	
Adams, Michael-Westerinen, Heikki MJ	
Hebden, Mark-Kudrin, Sergey	1.e4 e
	④d7 8
	b5 14.1
	19.ĝxe

Note: After accessing the website the link is in the Windows clipboard. The link can now be used for announcements on the Web or the publication of games.

This makes it easy for webmasters to present chess related information to their readers. The necessary HTML code can be copied from the Windows clipboard and integrated into the HTML page.

3.9.5 Creating EBooks

It is possible to create *EBooks* with ChessBase. An EBook is an <u>electronic version</u> of a classic book. There are different formats available. Some formats need a reading device, whereas others can be read on a computer with Reader software.

ChessBase exports EBooks <u>only for chess positions and tactics puzzles</u>. At this moment the output of complete chess notation is not considered useful and has not been implemented.

ChessBase exports EBooks in two formats, the open format **Epub** and the **Mobi** format that is used by Amazon for publishing EBooks.

The following example shows how to export an EBook:

First we load a database with chess positions. Then we select the positions that are to be exported in the game list.

Right click Output Selection to text file starts the following dialog:

Format	Fonts	RTF	HTML
Text	PG	N	EBook
EPub Mobi			
7za Internet	C:\Program	n Files\7za.	exe
KindleGen Internet	C:\Program	n Files\kino	dlegen.exe

Select the **EBook tab** and the format *Epub* for the first attempt. It is only possible to export files in this format after installing the <u>external software 7za.exe</u>.

Clicking on the button Internet opens a web page to download this software.

Datei Bearbeiten Ansicht Chronik Lesezeichen Egtras Hilfe								
🔇 🕗 · C 🗙 🏠	- 👻 🜔 🖸	http://www	.7-zip.org/down	load.html 😭 - 🞯 - Yahoo	Q			
🖉 Meistbesuchte Seiten 🗭 Erste Schritte 🙀 Aktuelle Nachrichten								
Download	+				-			
] 🗆								
	Download 7-Zip	for Window	IS :	Download				
Home	7-Zip 4.65 2009-02-03	Туре	Windows	Description				
7z Format	Download	.exe	22.63					
LZMA SDK	Download		32*Dit					
FAQ	Download	.msi	x64	7-Zip				
Support	Download		IA-64					
Links	Download	.zip	32-bit	7-Zip Command Line Version				
source forge	Download	.tar.bz2	Any	7-Zip Source code				
Forum	Download	.7z	32-bit	7z Library, SFXs for installers, Plugin for FAR Manager				
	Download	.tar.bz2	Any	LZMA SDK (C, C++, C#, Java)				
English Download links redirect to a download page on SourceForge.net. Christe Simpl. Download 7-Zip 9.15 beta (2010-06-20): Christe Trad. Download 7-Zip 9.15 beta (2010-06-20): French 7-Zip files at Source Forge Japanese Other versions can be found at the Source Forge site: Portuguese Brazil 7-Zip at Source Forge Spanish Download nZin for Posis/Linux (v86 binaries and source code):								
Fertig	Download 07710	TOP POSIX/1	INTX 1X85 BIN	ATES ADD SOURCE CODE I:				

Download the command line version of the program and install the file.

Download .zip 32-bit 7-Zip Command Line Version

Start the program in ChessBase by clicking the button **7za**, which opens a dialog to select the path of the command line interpreter.

🔄 Organisieren 👻 🏭 Ansichten	 Neu 	er Ordner		_	_	C
Linkfavoriten	N	ame	Änderungsdatum	Тур	Größe	
 Zuletzt besuchte Orte Desktop Computer Weitere >> 		Lang 7z.exe 7za.exe 7zFM.exe 7zFM.exe		Dateibeschr	eibung: 7-Zip Sta	andalo
Ordner	(🕖 Uninstall.e	xe	Dateiversion	1.4.65.0.0	
Program Files 7-Zip Lang AllDun				Erstelldatun Größe: 523 I	n: 04.09.2010 11:0 KB	12
7za.exe Anwendung Änderu	ngsdatum: (3.02.2009 12	21 Größe: S	523 KB		
Dateiname: 725 eve				Programm	e ("ere)	•

After this you can directly export the EBook.

Ordner		×		
🎉 PlayBas	e	*		
PocketF	Fritz3Converter			
ServerT	ournament			
🍌 Stats				
📕 Temp				
Jextfile		-		
Dateiname:	game.epub			
Datei <u>t</u> yp:	EBook files (*.EPUB, *.MOBI)			

Amazon's Mobi format is installed in the same way.

Select the format *Mobi* in the dialog box. Clicking the button Internet opens up Amazon's download page. Download the program **kindlegen.exe** and install it on your computer.

azon Kindle's Pu	blishing Program	*		
ownload Kindl	Gen v1.1			
ndleGen is a co blishers and inc urce into a Kind	nmand line tool use ividuals who are far le Book.	d to build eBooks that can b niliar with HTML and want to	be sold through Amazon's Kindle o convert their HTML, XHTML, XM	platform. This tool is best for L (OPF/IDPF format), or ePub
		🕅 I agree to	terms of use	
	KindleGen for Win	dows (2003, XP, Vista, 7)	Download Now	
	Kin	dleGen for Linux 2.4 i386	Download Now	
	Kin	dleGen for Linux 2.6 i386	Download Now	
	KindleGen for Mac	: OS 10.5 and above i386	Download Now	

Clicking on the button **KindleGen** opens a dialog to select the path where you installed the program. You can now export positions in the **Mobi format**.

The Mobi file can now be distributed to be read with Amazon's free Kindle-Previewer.

3.9.6 E-Mails from ChessBase

ChessBase can send E-Mails with positions, games or databases. This needs a Default E-Mail Client (like Outlook) installed on your system. If that is the case, sending messages from ChessBase is simple.

b Database window: Menu File – E-Mail Selected Database



This dispatches the selected database. You can also right-click the database and click *E-Mail Selected Database* in the menu.

▶ <u>List window</u>: Select games, right-click and use Output – E-Mail Selected Games Dispatches the selected games.



In both cases the mail client pops up and allows you to type in the recipient.

Board window: Menu File Send Send game/position



Dispatches the current game or position. The following dialog appears:

Game CBV PGN TXT HTML RTF	OK Cancel
Position bit	map

You can specify in what format the message is sent. If you include CBV or PGN ChessBase will create the required databases on the fly and attach them to the message. It will also send the game in plain text or RTF. If <u>diagram positions are marked</u> in the game, a bitmap diagram will be added if you wish.

3.9.7 Diagram List

To print several diagrams in one go, formatted on one or more pages, use the diagram list.

Board Window: Menu File - Diagram List.



A diagram list can be copied via the Windows clipboard directly into a word processing program, e.g. Microsoft Word.

The interface used by the program is the universal RTF format, which is recognised by all the usual word processing programs.

Boards window Menu File Diagram list Copy diagram list .



This enables you to rapidly put together training sheets and later edit them with your word processor.

3.10 Program Configuration

3.10.1 DirectX

ChessBase uses the **DirectX graphics library** for the Windows operating system.

The minimum version required is DirectX 9. Please visit www.microsoft.com to download the latest version.

ChessBase will run without DirectX if you do not use the real 3D board.

For the 3D board you also need a graphics adapter which supports $\ensuremath{\mathsf{DirectX}}$ functionality.

3.10.2 DGT Board

Board window: Board DGT Board

The DGT board is a wooden sensor board.



You can connect it to ChessBase for move entry.

The connection of the DGT board and the operation of the driver is described in the DGT manual.

There are different drivers available for the <u>32-bit and 64-bit versions</u> of our programs. You can download the appropriate driver from the <u>support pages</u> of the DGT website.

3.10.3 Language

- -

Options Language	2				
Notation					
Engines	Program Lang	uage			
Folders	English	*			
Limits	Alternative An	notation Language	•		
Tablebases	Francais	¥			
Clipboard	0.1	0	0		
Encyclopedia	One	Both			
Misc	Transcript				
User	🔘 (none)	Orillic	🔘 Greek		
Design					
Language					
Game update					
		ОК	Cancel	Apply	Help

In this dialog you select which language you want the program to run in, which is also the first language for the game commentary. You can select a second language for the commentary and specify whether one, both or all languages should be displayed in annotated games (ChessBase supports <u>text commentary</u> in different languages).

If a game contains no commentary in the languages you have selected then all languages will be displayed, so that you do not miss anything.

3.10.4 Limits

Menu File Options Limits

Limits	
Maximum Board Windows	8 +
Maximum Database Windows	5 🛟

Maximum board windows

This determines how many board windows may be opened at any one time. When you load a new game ChessBase will automatically replace the previous game when the limit is reached. This helps you keep the desktop manageable.

Maximum database windows

Determines how many <u>list windows</u> can be opened simultaneously. Again ChessBase replaces the last one when the maximum is reached.

> Number of recent games

This determines how many recently loaded games should be displayed in the *Menu File Recent games*.

Number of recent databases

This determines how many recently loaded databases should be displayed in the *Menu File Recent databases*.

► RAM

Displays how much memory is available on your system. It refers to installed, not free memory.

Cache for reference database

ChessBase reacts to repeated searches in the <u>reference database</u> by caching (holding) large chunks of the database in memory, making all operations much faster. If you have a lot of RAM (512 MB or more) most of the reference database will be cached. After the first search you will notice that there is no more hard disk activity, and that the search has speeded up by a factor of more than ten.

3.10.5 Miscellaneous options

Menu File Options Misc

Game History
Save Last Game in CloudClip
🗹 On 'New Game' open last game
On program start open last database
Misc
Merge transpositions
✓ Notifications
(Notifications
Register as PGN Reader
Use 'Theme Keys'

Right click retracts

Right-clicking the board normally produces a search menu. But when you are entering large numbers of games you might want to use it to retract moves. The right-click retract allows you to enter an alternative move which overwrites the original one without a query.

Register as PGN reader

ChessBase registers it own <u>database formats</u> in the Windows Explorer. This means that double-clicking a database file will open it with ChessBase. You can also have it do the same for PGN files files if you want.

Announce moves

Read out entered or replayed moves loudly.

Speak text annotations

The user can have the moves and text comments read aloud while replaying a game. For this to work it is necessary to activate the function.

Board sounds

Sounds for setting up the board, the ticking of the clock and the moves are played during a game.

Evaluation sounds

A sudden rise/drop in the evaluation of an <u>analysis engine</u> is accompanied by a warning sound.

Show Opening

Shows the name of the current opening in the status line.

Game History

Enables automatical saving of all your work in the daily history database.

• Use Theme Keys

Theme keys are only available optionally. Searching for <u>similar endgames</u> or <u>similar</u> <u>structures</u> is more precise and delivers much more exact results. Here you activate or deactivate them.

Mouse Wheel execute Moves

If you would like to navigate quickly through the notation of a game, you can do so very quickly with the mouse wheel.

Save last Game in Cloud Clip

In the options you can specify whether the most recently opened game should be saved in the Cloud Clip database.

Yellow Arrow

When you load a game from a database and play through it the move which was last played (as in the case of our chess programs) is highlighted on the chess board with transparent yellow arrow. That allows you t see at a glance which was the last move played in the game which is in our view helpful. If you do not wish to see this move highlighted you can deactivate the display.

Mark Move with Arrow

When you load a game from a database and play through it the move which was last played (as in the case of our chess programs) is highlighted on the chess board with transparent yellow arrow.

Merge transpositions

This function refers to the merging of games. Within ChessBase the user can select several games in the games list and merge them into a variant tree.

Example:

1.e4 d6 2.d4 d5 1.d4 d6 2.e4 d5

These variants can be optionally combined or not with the function, these are frequently occurring move changes.

ChessBase 17

3.10.6 Favourites list

430

A right click on a database symbol displays the dialog with the properties for that database.



This entry allows you to determine which database will be offered when you are saving a game.

Title	Pinned
koenigssicherheit1	Yes
pittersbackup	Yes
Mega Database 2017	Yes
meinsystem	Yes
MyInternetKibitzing	Yes
MyInternetGames	No
World Championship 1886-2000	No
World Championship 1886-2000	No
schwarzrepertoire1e4	No
French Advance	No
Repertoire-Black Database	No
BackupMyMoves	No
WhiteRepertoire	No
murks	No
schachcomputertest	No
remise	No
mygames	No
Caro-Kann	No
yazgac	No
test	No
CloudClip	No

Whenever the user <u>saves a new game</u>, instead of the file dialog box what is displayed first is the Favourites list.

By following the procedure described previously the user can permanently enter a DB so that it can be immediately selected in the dialog box for saving.

...

A click on **Other** .starts the file selection dialog with which you can choose any database stored on your hard disk to which to save the game.

3.10.7 Optimize Real 3D Board

To use the real 3D Board, you need a fast graphics adapter which supports 3D rendering in hardware. It should be compatible with <u>DirectX</u> 9 or better. If there are any problems, please try to download recent driver software for your graphics adapter. Check the Microsoft Windows Update page or the web site of the hardware manufacturer.



Important: Usually only the latest drivers of a graphics adapter bring optimal performance.

If you do not use the real 3D board, you <u>do not need DirectX</u>.

432

3.11 Correspondence Chess

3.11.1 ICCF Correspondence Chess Server

Playing on a <u>correspondence chess</u> server allows games with very long time controls (several days per move). Usually the players only log into the server when they want to make a move.

ChessBase offers an interface to the *ICCF correspondence chess server*. The **International Correspondence Chess Federation** (**ICCF**) ist the world's correspondence chess organisation, and it organises several international correspondence chess tournaments.

The principle is very simple and uncomplicated. After entering a move the playing time of the opponent is activated. The opponent is informed that a move has been made, and it is also possible to send personal messages.

This is how games are played on the ICCF correspondence chess server with Chessbase:

1. Menu File - Open - ICCF-Games



This opens the connection with the ICCF server.

2. Then you have to log on to the server with the username and password that you have been given by ICCF.

3. After logging in there is a game list containing the games you are currently playing.

- 4. Load a game and call the function to make the move.
- 5. The program presents a dialog box to input the move

You can use the text field to send personal messages to your opponent.

6. After clicking on OK the move is sent to the opponent.

3.11.2 Correspondence chess management

See also ICCF Chess Server

ChessBase has extensive management functions for correspondence chess players. It will look after correspondence games, keep track of progress, present them in the best way possible, print out cards, and send email to your opponents.
												Re	eterence	4	33
Ī	-	Open	Þ	2	Database		nts	Bo	ard Online ard Search	Hard Disk games	Prepare Against	Find Player Playe	List Player Encyclopedia rrs	Log Off	Edit Accour Che
Save		Þ	7	리 Open Clipboard		For	mat	Path						Date	
				2 mm			Refe	ere	C:\ChessBas	e Daten\[Datenbanke	en\Mega	Database 2016	.cbh	5.11.2
1.2	- 27	Activation	•		Chess Media File		CBH	ł	C:\\ChessE	lase\Ency	r\Bases\201	6\Open	ing Encycloped	ia 2016	5.11.2
							CTG	6	C:\ChessBas	e Daten\{	Books\Fritz	13.ctg			7.11.2
		Install	F				CBH	ł	C:\ChessBas	e Daten\B	Bases\kaspa	arov.cbh	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		5.11.2
	-0			•	\square	Correspondence Server Comer		CBH	ł –	C:\ChessBas	e Daten\[Datenbanke	en\Tests	ets\Pcschach.c	bh
				***	concipondence	e server oumes	CDI		CVCL P	D · · ·		·			_ 11.10
	1	E-Mail Selected Database				Login	to co	rresp	ondence che	s server (ICCE et al.)	and disp	lay the list of m	v games	11.10
	-		Sear		Search Mask	earch Mask					,		,	,	5.11.2
		🔟 Customize 🛛 💈	About				CBH	4	C:\\Datent	anken\T	estsets\Big	Book of	Combinations	.cbh	5.11.2

These are the available functions:

• To start a correspondence game you must first fill out the <u>correspondence header</u> for the game:

Board window: Insert – Annotations – Special annotation – Correspondence chess header (Ctrl-Alt-W)

• For each move you are going to send you must enter a <u>correspondence move</u> commentary:

Board window: Insert – Annotations – Special annotation – Correspondence move (Ctrl-W)

▶ To send a correspondence chess move click: Board window: Menu File – Print Print Correspondence card.

▶ To get a report on the status of the game click: Board window: File - Print - Print Correspondence report.

• To e-mail a correspondence move or report click: Board window: *Menu File Send Send correspondence move/report*.

Note: The correspondence header only needs to be entered once for a game, but every move of the game must get a "correspondence move" commentary. This keeps track of the time spent by each side. When you have executed a move for yourself and inserted the correspondence move commentary you can print out the letter or postcard you send to your opponent.

How to play a correspondence game

This is basically how you start and maintain a correspondence game:

Click the New game button or press Ctrl-N.

Press Ctrl-Alt-W to get the header mask. Fill out the header form as explained in the next sections.

Enter your opponent's first move (e.g. 1.e4) Press Ctrl-W and fill out the <u>commentary form</u>. <u>Save the game</u> (Ctrl-S) and ponder your reply. Load the game and enter your move (e.g. 1...e5). Press Ctrl-W and fill out the commentary form.

Click File – Print – Print Correspondence card. Mail the card to your opponent. [Alternately click File – Send – Send correspondence move if you are playing by E-mail] Replace the game (Ctrl-R) in the database.

Special games list for correspondence games

In the <u>games list</u> of your correspondence database you find special correspondence columns: Last Move, Move sent, Time White, Time Black. On the games list use *right-click List Format Correspondence Info* to make those columns visible.

Correspondence Notation

ChessBase supports entering games and printing in correspondence notation. Just type 5254 in the starting position. To switch to correspondence notation, call Menu Tools – Options – Notation – 1.4244.

Question: Why is there no shortcut for the option "Send correspondence chess move by E-Mail"?

Answer: You can create a keyboard shortcut yourself via Customize .

🔋 🖳 Customize keyboard shortcuts

You can find this on the programme's file menu.

3.11.3 Correspondence header

Board window: Insert Annotations Special annotation Correspondence chess header (Ctrl-Alt-W)

Time control

Start: the day on which the tournament begins. The date is important for the time controls, since all moves played before this date do not use up any of the allotted time.

Time control 1 up to move... In recent time it has become normal to accelerate the game after a given number of moves. Enter this number here if that is the case in your game.

Time control 1: Specify how many moves must be played in how many days during the first period. 10 moves in 30 days is the most common time control in correspondence chess.

Time control 2: Specify how many days there are in the second period. The rate of play is the same as the first period.

Colour: Specify which colour you have in the game.

Game info

This just gives you information on the current status of the game: time used, time left, average postal time for each side, days left until the next time control, etc.

Email

Maximum days: In correspondence chess by E-mail or fax the maximum remaining days are restricted. After every time control all the left-over days are cancelled.

Use time: There is a special rule which specifies that any move that arrives within 24 hours has used zero days. This can lead to a problem. If a move is received at 23:59 hours the time spent until 23:28 hours on the next day is zero, until 23:59 it is one day and until 00:00 it is two days. This is not a programming bug, it is required by the rules.

Use stamp: If you use time and are playing an E-mail game you can deactivate the time stamp in the dialog of the correspondence chess move.

ICCF: The ICCF (International Correspondence Chess Federation) demands a special format for the email, which looks like a table. When you activate this box, this format is generated.

Append PGN: The game is attached to the email in PGN format.

Attach Diagram: A diagram in the JPG format is attached to the email.

Subject: The text in this entry will be copied to the subject line in the email program. You can use this to easily manage your emails when you play more correspondence games simultaneously.

Notation

Standard notation: Normally people tend to use the numeric correspondence chess notation. Here you can switch to standard algebraic.

Address

Type in your own address and the address of your opponent. Include the E-mail addresses if you are playing by E-mail. This will be used by your E-mail client when you send a move.

Vacation

Enter the vacation periods for both sides. This information is taken into consideration in the calculation of the time controls. You can add or remove vacation periods. ChessBase sorts the entries, removes overlaps and merges them into one vacation.

Signature

Enter your own complimentary close like Yours sincerely, name.

3.11.4 Correspondence move

Board window: Game Annotation Special annotation Correspondence move (Ctrl-W)

Received, replied, stamped

Here you can enter when you (or your opponent) received the postcard or the E-mail, when the reply was made and when the postcard was stamped. To calculate the time used (to print on the postcard) ChessBase will only use the days from "Received" and "Stamped". "Replied" is only for your information. The times in the right column are only activated if you have activated Use time in the <u>correspondence header</u>.

Penalty / set manually

According to the rules of correspondence chess there is a penalty of subtracting some days from your time account if you overstep the time allocation for a move without previously informing your opponent. These penalty days are entered here. ChessBase will take them into account when calculating the time controls. You can also override the rule and set a value manually.

Ist / 2nd repetitions

Keeps track of move repetitions.

Offer/accept/refuse draw, resign

If you activate any of these the information will be stored in the game and printed on the postcard.

Move is unclear

Sometimes the opponent's move may be ambiguous, or it may be illegible. Activate this to inform him of the circumstance.

• **Time overstepped** – this checkbox is automatically activated when ChessBase sees that the time limit was exceeded.

▶ Propose move / "If-moves" – in order to propose a continuation for your opponent you must execute the move on the board and click this checkbox for that move. You have to enter your reply as well (the point of proposing a move). You can enter a whole series of moves, or propose a number of alternatives, always marking the opponent's move as a proposal – but not your own, which can remain without commentary. The dates will be ignored. Before you print out the card you must go to the position in which you actually execute your next move. ChessBase will print out the card with your move and the proposal(s).

3.12 Engines

3.12.1 Installed engines

ChessBase shares a common directory for chess playing engines with programs like Fritz, Stockfish, Komodo etc.

The program's engine interface uses with the specifications of the current Windows version, for example Windows 10. This means that in future engines will no longer be stored in the folder /Program Files/ChessBase/Engines, they will be stored in /Program Files/CommonFiles/ChessBase/Engines.

After the installation you will find the Fritz engine and the current version of Crafty in the new folder. The chess engines of earlier program versions will still be in the folder / Program Files/ChessBase/Engines.

What do these changes mean for the user? The answer is simple: nothing at all. All the engines can still be used by Chessbase. This is true for recent engines as well as for older chess engines like Fritz 7 and Shredder 7.

<u>UCI engines</u> can be used wherever they are, in any folder or any disk on the computer. The configuration files with the extension ***.uci** are always saved in the folder / Documents and Settings/Username/Application Data/ChessBase/Engines.UCI.

When you install new ChessBase programs the engines are automatically put into the Engines directory.

Cloud Engines ...

3.12.2 Default engine

Menu File - Options - Engine

Folders	Engines		
Limits User Notation Engines] Board Design Language Clipboard Encyclopedia Misc Game update Tablebases - Nalimov (GUI) - Nalimov (GUI) - Syzygy (GUI) - Syzygy (GUI) - Syzygy (Engine) - Gaviota (Engine)	Default Engine Fritz 18 Neuronal (1058MB) Browse Heumas 1 3 √ ✓ Heumas Ply ✓ Assisted Analysis ✓ Legal moves ✓ Single click entry ✓ Forced moves entry	I 3 ✓ Threat	6

Board window: Home - Default Kibitzer.

In this dialog you can make one <u>analysis engine</u> your default engine. You can also set the <u>hash table size</u> for this engine.



The default engine starts whenever you click the button on the right in the tool bar (or press Alt-F2).

In the <u>board window</u> you can use the menu Engine – Add: (engine name) to start the <u>default engine</u>.

3.12.3 Load Engine

Board window - Add Kibitzer

This brings up a dialog box in which your can load <u>engines</u> and set<u>different engine</u> <u>parameters</u>.

-> <u>Cloud Engines ...</u>

Advanced offers you more possibilities.

For example:

	Engine parameters	
	Clear Hashtable	
Hashtable size Maximum Hashtable size		1536 MB
V Default Engine		
 ✓ Use Tablebases ✓ Smart CPU usage 		
ОК	Help	Cancel

Clear hash tables: This removes all information from the hash tables (which might have been filled in an earlier search).

Engine parameters: click to set the engine parameter available for the selected engine.

Hash table size: This is important if you are looking for optimum strength, especially in longer time control.

Permanent brain is the term for thinking on the opponent's time. This is an advantage because the engine often guesses what the opponent is going to play and then has already calculated its reply.

Tablebases are special endgame databases which allow the program to play fivepiece endings perfectly (even find them in the search).

Use Tablebases: If endgame tablebases have been installed the program can play the best moves from the tablebases without using the engine, as long as a position with five or less pieces is on the board.

Smart CPU Usage

A deep engine starts on a computer with hyperthreading (i7 4 Cores + 4 Hyperthreading) with only 4 Threads/Processors. On a computer without hyperthreading (i5, AMD) it starts with n-1 Threads/Processors. If this option is turned off it runs as in older versions.

Exception: The user has defined the number of threads/processors explicitly, for instance by defining a UCI engine.

Cloud loads the main window of Engine Cloud so that you can load cloud engines.

If you select an engine in the list that has been defined as not the standard engine the tick before the engine's name is removed.

Note: <u>UCI engines</u> can also be used as the standard engine in ChessBase.

3.12.4 Loading multiple instances of an engine

Many engines can be loaded more than once in the same window.

This allows more possibilities in the analysis mode "Deep Position Analysis".

It is possible to run evaluations with one variation and with several variations at the same time.

440 ChessBase 17

3.12.5 Hash tables

<u>Analysis engines</u> or Kibitzers use "hash tables" to store positions that have already been examined, in case they turn up again in the search tree. This speed things up tremendously, especially in the endgame.

You can set the size of the hash tables in the <u>Add Kibitzer</u> dialog. ChessBase will give you a plausible value for the hash tables. You should try to use the maximum, since that speeds up the engine tremendously. But if you go too high then Windows will start "swapping" on your hard drive, which will slow down the program to a snail's pace. So if your hard disk is being accessed constantly during analysis it means that the hash table size is too large. Reduce it until there is no hard disk activity during analysis.

Hashtable size	
Maximum	1536 MB
Hashtable size	▲ 300 ▼

The programs Deep Fritz and many others "learn" with their hash tables. If you are analyzing a very complex position and go down certain lines these programs remember them, especially winning and losing variations. When you return to the position they suddenly understand it much better. It is then that they come up with new and interesting ideas.

3.12.6 Engine parameters

	Engine parameters	
	Clear Hashtable	
Hashtable size		
Maximum		1536 MB
Hashtable size		<u>▲</u> 300 ▼

Board window: Home Add Kibitzer - Engine parameters.

This is a function for experts – normally the default values will do fine when you work with an analysis engine.

The engine parameters influence the analysis style of the engines. For instance increasing aggressiveness will generally make a program find mate combinations faster.

In certain engines you will find more and different parameters to set. For example, Nimzo allows you to set piece values, which is useful when you are solving studies.

3.12.7 UCI Engines

What is UCI?

This program was designed as a multi-engine system. This means that the graphical user interface and the actual chess engine (the module that calculates moves) are strictly separated. They use a pre-defined interface to communicate with each other. UCI stands for Universal Chess Interface. It is a new communications standard defined by *Stefan Meyer-Kahlen*. The UCI interface is closely related to the "Winboard" protocol. This means that existing Winboard engines can be very easily adapted by the authors to run under our interface.

For these programmers the new UCI interface has the following advantages:

• The engine can be run under an interface which has numerous advanced testing facilities that allow them to improve the strength of the engine.

• The engine runs at full performance and strength without the need of additional adapters.

• The engine will become available to a large number of users, who are able to install it without the need for complicated configuration, as is often the case with Winboard.

• The UCI protocol may be used without any license fees, for private and for commercial purposes.

Note: UCI Engines can also be used as default analysis engines in Chessbase 10.

A UCI Engine is installed using the menu Home UCI Engine.

🚾 Create UCI Engine	
gines	
🥨 Create UCI Engine	
ré sneet Openings book	

The dialog has two purposes:

- 1. A new UCI engine can be selected and made available to ChessBase.
- 2. The parameters of an engine that has already been installed can be modified. The modified engine can then be saved under a different name.

With regard to renaming engines there are certain restrictions. The original engine name must be contained in the new name. If the engine is saved with the standard settings the name must be left in its original form, i.e. you will not be able to edit the engine name at all. On the other hand if you change the default parameters then the name must also be changed (retaining the original name as part of the new one). The name of the engine author cannot be removed. However you do not need to modify it when you change the parameters.

Installing a UCI engine

Before a UCI engine is displayed in the engine dialog (F3) it has to be installed. This is done in a few simple steps:

- 1. Select the option Create UCI engine.
- 2. Next you must tell the program where the UCI engine is located. This is done by point and click in the file selector that appears. Use "Browse" and locate the UCI engine on your hard disk.
- 3. The name of the engine and its author are automatically given. Simply click "OK" to install the engine, which will then be displayed in the engine list.

Note that the UCI engine can be stored in any directory on any partition of your hard disk.

Modifying engines

Many UCI engines allow you to modify a number of search and evaluation parameters which influence the playing style of the engine. To change the parameters proceed as described above. In the Create UCI engine dialog click on the button Parameters. Each UCI engine will display the parameters which can be changed, and which vary for different engines. If you change any of the parameters the input fields for "Name" and "Author" become active and can be modified, within the constraints described above. After clicking "OK" the new engine is registered and will appear in the Fritz engine list, together with the other UCI and native Fritz engines.

<u>Please note</u>: modifying and storing an engine with a different name does not create a new copy of the engine on your hard disk. Only the modified parameters are stored under the new name and applied to the engine when this is started.

3.12.8 Note about the UCI engines

The software was designed as a multi-engine system and allows - as does ChessBase by the way - the integration of various chess engines. The graphical user interface and the actual chess program are strictly separated from each other and communicate with each other via a predefined interface. A large number of chess engines are available for download via the Internet, which communicate with the user interface via UCI protocol. UCI stands for Universal Chess Interface and was developed by Stefan Meyer-Kahlen.

The software supports engines that work with the UCI protocol and you can integrate them under the GUI.

Under the menu item *Engine* - *Create UCI Engine* you start the dialog to integrate the UCI engine.

Author	Frank Schneider
Name	Fritz 18 Neuronal
	Parameter
Priority Below no	rmal

This is about the distribution of the computing time. The communication between the program interface and the chess engine runs via a separate program, the engine interface. The interface runs with low priority to allow the parallel running chess engine a maximum of resources. Some UCI engines have problems with the default setting when the interface could not directly take over the ratings and other information due to lack of resources. With the setting "low priority" you can fix e.g. display problems of UCI Engines.

The actual <u>UCI engine</u> gets the appropriate computing time even with a low priority and brings full performance. So the setting has no negative effect on the performance of a UCI engine ! This can be easily determined by analyzing a given position with both settings on/off. The setting has practically no effect on the speed, it is about a smoother operation.

3.12.9 Extended Options in the Engine Window

In the <u>engine window</u> the user now sees a new display of the <u>number of processors</u> <u>used</u>. This display is only relevant for computer systems with several processors and programs that are able to use more than one processor.

Clicking the CPU button in the engine window allows the user to change the number of processors being used.

ChessBase 17

444

3.12.10 Extended Engine Information

In the analysis mode the standard engine displays new information in the <u>engine</u> <u>window</u>. Right clicking in the engine window opens a context menu.

.\$d	Engine	- ••	⊂≜e5x
i-e5	Engine		iig4-c
h6-	Lock Engine	Strg+Alt+L)3+ 별
.₩b	Increase number of lines	+	8 34.1
'. ው ር	Decrease number of lines	-	kh5 4
eptł	Next Best	Y	
i.≜c	Analyse threat	Х	oy), W
ıarp	Clip analysis		k (21.
+- (4	Copy to notation		
ot:	Scroll main line		
	Display win probability		
	Variation Board		
~	Visual Evaluation		

Next Best calculates the second best alternative for continuing. While the engine is calculating this information can be accessed faster by typing the key \mathbf{Y} .

At the beginning of the engine window the best line found so far is displayed in light <u>gray letters</u>.



After this possible alternatives are displayed.

Tip: This information is at the beginning of the list view. If you cannot see this information use the scroll bar to scroll back to the beginning of the list.

<u>Hint</u>: The next best move option is only available while the engine is only analysing one line.

Display of the current main line

At the bottom of the engine window the line that is currently being examined is displayed.

The main advantage of this display is that it is constantly updated even if the best line displayed remains unchanged during lengthy processing.

3.12.11 Analysis menu

As well as the rapid <u>analysis/evaluation profile</u>, the program offers many possibilities to check automatically with a strong chess engine game continuations or individual moves.

In the board window you will find these functions under the heading Analysis,



-c5 2.@g1-f3 d7-d6 3.d2-d4 c5xd4 4.@f3xd4 @g8-f6 5.@b1-c3 a7-a6 6.@c1-e3 e7-e6 7.@f1-e2

-	Quick Board 🗧							Kasparov: 2616 Games				٣O	6		//-		×
File	Home A	Analysis Ga	ames Players	Opening	Keys ۱	/iew											0
Openin on s	g reference Statisti election	cs Piece P Probability	Viece First Move Novelty	/ Tactical on Analysis	Centipaw Analysis	n Cre analysi	ate s jobs										
Text	Games Players	Tournaments	Annotator Source	es 💥													
Numb	White	Elo W	Black	~	Detect B	lunders a	nd small t	actics in the game (Umschal	t+Strg+Alt+U) =		VCS	Rou	Medals	Annotator	То	The	р ^
1465	Kasparov,G	2595	Natsis,T	2240	1-0	32	D85	Malta ol (Men)	21.11.1	980		2			-		
1466	Kasparov,G	2800	Negra,M		1-0	29	D20	Asiag Ludi Univ sim	10.09.1	991		1			-		
1467	Kasparov,G		Negulescu,A		1-0	43	A48	Wch U16 01st	09.197	7	vs	2			-		
1468	Kasparov,G	2812	Nemec,I		1-0	25	B07	Prague sim	30.03.2	2008					-		
1469	Kasparov,G	2825	Netzer,J	1730	1-0	27	D32	Colmar sim	09.07.1	998					-		
1470	Kasparov,G	2812	Nicoara,M	2245	1-0			Besancon sim2	23.08.1	1999							
1471	Kasparov,G	2851	Niebling,F	2191	1-0	40	B31	Frankfurt sim1	19.06.2	2000					-		
1472	Kasparov,G	2831	Nielsen,P	2638	1-0		D45	Reykjavik rapid	20.03.2		VCs					0	
1473	Kasparov,G	2831	Nielsen,P	2638				Reykjavik rapid								•	
1474	Kasparov,G	2625	Nikitin,A		1/2-1/2	28	E15	Moscow exh m	1981						-		
1475	Kasparov,G		Nikitin,A		1/2-1/2	36	D90	Baku training2	11.197	7	cs				-		
1476 <	Kasparov.G	2625	Nikitin/Sakarov		1-0	38	E12	Moscow exh m	1981								>

The function preferred by most users should be the new <u>Tactical Analysis</u>.

3.12.12 Advanced Engine Analysis

The concept of engine analysis under *Fritz/ChessBase* and with many common chess software runs unchanged as in the early 90s.

The <u>evaluation of the current board position</u> is always in the form of numbers and letters. This evaluation by a <u>chess engine</u> in the form of pawn units naturally gives the user a clear help and valuable hints for the evaluation of the current board position. The <u>visual display</u> in the engine window implemented in the present program version goes much further and makes both the evaluation of the position and the analysis much more <u>transparent for the user</u>.



A running engine analysis provides the evaluation, the program visualizes the placement of the *pieces*, *pawn structure*, *king security*, *general activity* and the sharpness of the position as a graphical display in the engine window. The user thus sees at "first glance" how the engine evaluates the aforementioned important factors.

This <u>innovative form of analysis</u> is extremely helpful, even the display of non-trivial threats or temptations can be recognized by the user much faster.

The program also offers the option of suppressing the display of the complete engine output and receiving only subtle hints as a stimulus to <u>your own thinking</u>. This option is excellent when watching live games, for example, and encourages more of the user's own thinking.

3.12.13 visual evaluation

The program visualizes the <u>placement of the pieces</u>, <u>pawn structure</u>, <u>king security</u>, <u>general activity</u> and the <u>sharpness of the position</u> as a graphical display in the engine window. The user thus sees at "first glance" how the engine evaluates the aforementioned important factors.



Note: via right click in the <u>engine window</u> you can switch between variant board and visual display. The visual evaluation is available in every engine window:

Right click -> Visual evaluation

Based on the symbols you can see the sharpness of the position, the colored figure symbols work according to the traffic light principle.

Green=safe, yellow=ok and red=threatened.

Move the mouse over the activated visual evaluation in the engine window. This changes the display in the board window.



So if you move the mouse over the area of the visual ratings in the <u>engine window</u>, the individual pieces are marked on the board, which gives more information especially for the pawns.

The color marking of each piece shows how well it is placed. The interpretation of the visual indicator is simple, it works as usual according to the traffic light principle. Green is very good, red is very bad. In the case of the king, the king's security is given high weighting, while in the case of the pawns, the quality of the pawn structure and the power of passed pawns are added.

Below the piece symbols, the visual display of the input window shows the mobility and activity for black and white in five levels. The rating of the engine is shown with the small gears.



Especially interesting is the classification of sharpness/complexity of a position in five levels (one to five flames). You can see immediately if there is a sharp tactical position on the board!

3.12.14 Animation Engine Variations

Long engine variations in the analysis window cannot be visually replayed by a normally strong player. Although there is an optional variant board (right click) in the engine window for replaying a variant, the better alternative works via MouseOver.

≊uox	C5 708-C8 7	28.@CD-1:	5 単C8XC2 29.g4-g5 裏16-b2 :	30.411-12
			Lock Engine	Stra+Alt+L
			Increase number of lines	+
			Decrease number of lines	-
			Next Best	Y
			Analyse threat	х
ngs			Clip analysis	
			Copy to notation	
depti	h=26 Deep		Scroll main line	
	,		Display win probability	
We	orld Cup blind	dfola	Variation Board	
Co	rus-C Wyk ad rus-C Wijk ad	an Z 🗸	Visual Evaluation	
	-		Choose Font	

You simply move the mouse pointer to a move of the displayed variant and the variant is immediately displayed in the board window on the large chess board! Just hold the mouse on a move of the variant and the variant will be shown on the board. If you move the mouse pointer away from the variant, the initial position is displayed again in the board window.

This display is also available with the new analysis comments in the engine window.

3.12.15 Analysis with Comments

When analyzing a position, there are often two questions:

1. "Why doesn't...?" For example, material is hanging, but the refutation is not immediately obvious.

2. "What threatens?"

Of course, one can answer these questions by typing moves oneself. But often one is not at all aware that the position holds a funny refutation or interesting threat. Then these new analysis comments are a good suggestion.



The display varies depending on the available position criteria.

36.Dh6+ Ke7 37.De3+ De5 38.Dxa7 f5 39.Lg2 Dxc3 40.Se3 Sh4 Depth: 31/63 00:01:03 234MN, tb=1173 White is slightly better. 19.Le4 parries Qh5xf3, Black threatens m 20...Txg3+ is a sac, 23.Lxe7 fixates the king on e8, Rook to the 7 Both kings are quite unsafe after 30.Df3, The position remains sł

Game: 19.Tad1 Ld4 20.Sxd4 Txg2+ 21.Kxg2 Sxd4+ = _Threat: 19...Dxf3 20.Le4 Lxf2+ 21.Kh1 Dxf6 Not: 19.Txe7+ Sxe7 20.Df4 Lxf3

3.12.16 Tips in the engine window

As a rule, the detailed evaluations tempt many users not to deal intensively with board positions. In many cases it makes sense to find the best possible continuation independently.

Therefore, in the engine window you will find the switch "*Hints on/off*", which you can use very well for your <u>own training</u>.

452	ChessBase 17				
	Kibitzer: Fritz 18 Neuron	al			
	Fritz 18 Neuronal		2 CPUs 🔶 🧧		2.53 21.2g
	+- 2.93	Depth=24	17.@e4-q3 (1/51)	28541 kN	depth=9, T

17.心e4-g3 幽h5-h6 18.幽a4-g4 禽b7-c8 19.心g3-h5 d7-d5 20.心h5xg7+ 空e8-f8 21.心g7-f5 22.幽g4xf5 空f8-g8 23.幽f5-g4+ 空g8-f8 24.e5-e6 罩h8-g8 25.幽g4-f5 幽h6-g6 26.幽f5xf7+

The program now hides the display of the calculated main variant and gives the user more or less discreet tips/hints about the board position.



Clicking on the "**Next hint**" button displays another hint. After multiple queries the program shows the hint directly with a green arrow on the chessboard.



Clicking again on the small icon in the engine window switches back to the more informative <u>engine display</u>.

3.12.17 Engine variant with language

The program "explains" the displayed engine variant in text form with completely natural language! It is challenging for a non-title holder to "blindly" imagine what is concretely happening in an engine variant. You see the best move, the rating and that's it.

This version of the program describes in natural text what the variation contains in terms of chess motifs.

For example, in a super-sharp position, a complex variation has the strange rating "0.00". ChessBase 17 then writes "*perpetual check*" or "*positional repetition*" and the matter is clear.

Material changes are described vividly: "White wins the queen for rook and knight". " Black loses two pawns". Other examples: "The position simplifies into an endgame TL vs TS".

Fritz 18 Neuronal Image: Control of the second											
•	± 0.62	Depth=33	19.Le4 (1/58)	3710 kN/s	2.29 24DN4 25.162 Sd4 20.0x07 SX62 27.0xn4 DXn4 28.101 Lt. depth=18, Time=2.3s						
19.Le4	Dh3! 🔳 20.g	3 (or 20.Sd2) Txg3	+! 🔳 21.hxg3 🔳 Dx	(g3+ 22.Kh1∎ Lxf2	23.Lxe7 Dh3+ 24.Sh2	Lxe1 25.Txe1	\$				
Dh4 26.	Dd1 Sxe7 27.	Lxb7 Dxf6 28.Tf1	Dg5 29.Df3 c6 30.0	Oxf7+ Kd8 31.La6 [0d5+ 32.Dxd5 Sxd5 33.Sg4 9	Sxc3 34.Se5 Ke7	舋				
35.Ld3 K	d6 36.Tf5 Sx	(a2 37.Sc4+ Kc7 3	8.Tf7 Tb4 39.Se5 K	d6 40.Sxd7 a5 41.	Txh7 Sc3		Ï				
Depth: 3	2/65 00:01:4	7 397MN, tb=2614	1				<u>,</u>				
White is	slightly bette	er. 19.Le4 parries (Qh5xf3, Black threa	tens mate (19Dh	3), 19Dh3 hangs the Ne7,		2				
20Txg3	8+ is a sac, 2	3.Lxe7 fixates the	king on e8, Both ki	ngs are quite unsa	fe after 31.La6.		8				
							٢				
Game:	19.Tad1 Dh3	20.Lf1 Df5 21.Ld3	Dh3 =				1				
Threat:	19Dxf3 20.	Le4 Lxf2+ 21.Kh1 l	Dxf6								
_Not: 19	Not: 19.Txe7+ Sxe7 20.Df4 Lxf3										

Not: 19.Lxe7 Se5 20.Txe5 Txg2+

Exciting are statements like: "*White gets a dangerous passed pawn on e6*". Or "White sacrifices a bishop", "Black has a penetrating attack", "White gets the majority on the kingside". "Both kings are insecure". "White plays a lever". "Maneuver Sd2-f1-e3-d5."

This makes the motives behind the position clear: the variation can be replayed directly without much clicking:

1. move the mouse arrow to a variant move and the position appears on the main board.

2. alternatively: move the mouse arrow to a variant move, then replay with the arrow keys. The board background turns blue to indicate that you are not moving in the game.



As soon as the mouse arrow leaves the engine variant, the initial position is again on the board and the arrow keys act again on the game continuation.

3.12.18 Apply text analysis and variants with a click

In addition to the main variants, alternative variants, threats, the program also displays text comments with linguistic explanations in the engine window.

Let's take a look at a concrete example with the duration analysis. The language commentary generated by the program within the <u>engine window</u> is highlighted in color.



With a click of the <u>left mouse button</u> you transfer the text comment including variant into the notation.

Notation	Reference	Replay training	Table	Plan Explorer	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Book	My Moves	Surveys		
				Ess B53	e <mark>n,Magnus</mark> Troll Maste	2279 - <mark>Be</mark> rs Gausda	rg,Olaf 2065 1 I (4) 10.01.2003	- 0 🛨 🦉			
21.≝c4-a	l 4 1.∢⊇c3-a4	金b7-d5 22.凹	c4-c3 🛓	.d5-e4 23.≅c	11-c1 <u>≜</u> e4x	g2 24.බa	4xc5 Exchange	N for B (wit	h 24.€)a4xc5) 🛔	e7xc5	^
25.≝c 26.a2-	3xc5 숲e8 a4 풀h8-e	-f7 White is Ro 8 :7.宣c1-d1	ok, Bisho e6-e5 Bla	p and Knight ack is better]	t for Queen	and Pawn	down (25ਲੈe	8-f7), Mano	euvre: 25Ke8-f	7-q8-h8-q7	<u>R</u>
21ĝb7- 28.≝d3-e	c6 22.‴a e4 ≜e7-f6	4xa <mark>o ≩eo-17</mark> 5 29.≌e4-f4 ≞	25.12-15 (b8-b7)	≝no-bo 24 30.@c3-e4 e	. <u>⊒ur-er ⊒u</u> 6-e5 31.≝f	7-07 23.0 4-h6 ĝf6	-g7 32.≝h6xh	20.≝ao-us 7 ≝b7-b8	<u></u>	- 114 g.07-ao f7-f6	8
34.f3-f4 40.營q6-e	e5xf4 35 e4+ ∛⊡d4-	.≌e1-e7 🖄f6xe -c6 41.�2c5-d7	e7 36.₩ /≌b8-b	h7xq7+ &e7 7 42.&d7xb	7-d6 37.∛∆d 6+ ≊b7xb6	a5-e4+ ଔ 5 43.h4-h	d6-c6 38.≌q7 5 &a8-b7 44.	xq6+ 営c6 h5-h6 空b7	-b7 39.ᡚe4xc5 ′-c7 45.h6-h7 ≝	⊦ ģb7-a8 ≟b6-b8	Aa
46.₩e4xt	f4+					<u>م ۲</u>	è				▼
t 🖌	11	上 🔐 !! !	!? ?	?!???+	⊦– ± ≛	= ∞	<u>~</u> ≌ ∓ ∓	+ ≠ 🥔	☆ × •		

By double-clicking on the text comment in the notation, you start the Editor and can edit and further process the language comment!

		Earlsen,Magnus 2279 - Berg,Olaf 2065 1-0 💳 🧕 553 Troll Masters Gausdal (4) 10.01.2003	
		21.堂c4-a4 [■ 21.全c3-a4 핥b7-d5 22.堂c4-c3 핥d5-e4 23.필d1-c1 핥e4xq2 24.全a4xc5 Exchange N for B (with 24.全a4xc5) 핥e7xc5 25堂c3xc5 童e8-f7) White is Rook, Bishop and Knight for Queen and Pawn down (25호e8-f7), Manoeuvre: 25Ke8-f7-q8-h 26.a2-a4 탈68-e8 27.필c1-e1 e8-e5 Biack is Better] 21. 핥b7-c6 22 ॼa4xa5 ✿e8-f7 23.27-83 필b8-b8 24 필d1-e1 필d7-b7 25.b2-b3 필b7-b6 26 ॼa6-d3 핥c6-b7 27.b2-b4 핥b	8-c
	Enter text after move	All	-a8
e	Deutsch	White is Rook, Bishop and Knight for Queen and Pawn down (25할e8-f7), Manoeuvre: 25Ke8-f7-g8-h8-g7	

This makes the annotation of games much easier.

3.12.19 Buddy Engine

This new form of analysis, which has not been implemented yet, clearly leads to <u>more</u> <u>precise analyses</u>, especially in complex positions. An engine analyzes the positions of the engine variant and determines whether certain moves are forced!

Kibitzer: Fritz 18 Neuronal	
Fritz 18 Neuronal 💿 🔍 🍳 2 CPUs 🗼 🔒 👤	-5.15 13ģf5xg4 14.h3xg4 h4xg3 15.里h1xh8 星d8xh8 16.Qb1-a3 里h8-h1+ 17.✿e1-e2 g3-g2 18.里a1-d1 g2-g1世
Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 (1/49) 183 MN depth=15. Time=1.5s Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 (1/49) 183 MN depth=15. Time=1.5s Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 (1/49) 183 MN depth=15. Time=1.5s Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 (1/49) 183 MN depth=15. Time=1.5s Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 (1/49) 183 MN depth=15. Time=1.5s Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 (1/49) 183 MN depth=15. Time=1.5s Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 (1/49) 183 MN depth=15. Time=1.5s Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 (1/49) Or -+ -5.36 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 Or -+ -5.46 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4 Or -+ -5.46 Depth=26/54 12h5-h4	
12h5-h4!■ 13.≜e2xg4 <mark>急f5xg4</mark> 14.h3xg4 h4xg3 15.≣h1-g1 <mark>1</mark> .h8-h2 16.豐c2-c3 h Depth: 26/54 00:01:59 183MN Black coefficient be king to N 12, h5 h4 kapper the Ne4. A pageod powers	별e7-h4 17.호e1-d1 별h4xg4+ 18.호d1-c2 말 문화

Our term for this engine is Buddy Engine.

All forced moves are commented by a colored square in the engine window. The square is used by the program as a symbol for "single move". A forced move can be recognized immediately, because it is displayed in color and therefore looks "quite colorful".

It is exciting for the user to discover forced variants: for example, one could play a slightly "worse" move in the opening preparation, but it demands the highest accuracy from the opponent, because everything is forced. This has higher practical chances of winning than a move that is perhaps 0.3 pawns better but easy to deal with.

We have been recommending for years to analyze with two variations. This way you can see if the best move is the only possible one. This has a price: a multi-variant search <u>runs slower</u> than the single-variant search.



With the Buddy Engine in the current program version, the single-variant search regains greater importance, because the advantages of the multivariant mode are partially offset. The Buddy Engine simply checks the initial position and then provides the user with the information to what extent the best move is forced, i.e. the only possible move.

We chose the term buddy because this engine acts as a sort of buddy/supporter of the main engine. The buddy engine takes a quarter to a fifth of the hash and CPU resources, leaving the main engine with almost unrestricted power.

With the current hardware generation, the buddy engine manages in most cases to check if the main engine has a big gap in the score to the second best engine.

Thus, the main advantage of this approach is that the main engine in single-variant mode <u>achieves higher computational depths</u> in the same amount of time, thus significantly increasing the quality of the analysis.

The Buddy Engine calculates slower than the main engine and works according to the following criteria:

1. the engine should look at many moves and therefore has less computing time per position.

2. it has only one CPU at its disposal.

Therefore, discrepancies can occur when the main engine detects another sharp move only at great depth. However, this is not a problem in practice, because it is detected immediately and it is also an interesting property of the position (complexity). In this situation, one simply switches (with bulging hash tables) to the two-variant search.

20.g5 Nh5 21.Nf4! **R**xc3 22.bxc3 Qe5 23.Nxh5 gxh5 24.Rxh5 Qg7 25.f4 Rc4 26.e5 Rc5 27.exd6 Qxh6 28.Rxh6 exd6 29.Rdxd6 Bf5 30.Kd2 Kg7 31.a4 Bg6 32.Rd4 Ra5 33.Kc1 Rc5 34.Kb2 b6 35.c4 Rf5 36.Kb3 Kf8 37.Kc3 Kg7 38.Rh4 Rc5

In the separate buddy window you can see what the engine is currently calculating. ^If you move the mouse pointer over a move of the engine variant, the corresponding analysis is displayed in the buddy window, so that you can see full variants.



5xc3 17.\$b2xc3 \$f5-h3 18.¤f1-f2 \$e/-h4 19.¤f2-e2 \$h3-q4 20.¤a1-f1 f7-f5 21.b4-b5

And not only for the initial position, but for each of the first moves. The longer the main engine calculates, the deeper Buddy's analyses become and the further he goes into the variants.

The commentary symbols are two-colored and there are three geometric shapes:

The left/top color shows the rating of the best move.

The second color corresponds to the second best move: green = move leads to advantage / yellow = roughly balanced / red = loss.

A vertically divided rectangle shows that the best move is trivial.

Diagonal from bottom left to bottom right means: Not trivial, but easy to find. Diagonal from bottom right to bottom left: Move appears later in the search, so is harder to find.

20.g5 Nh5 21.Nf4! **x**c3 22.bxc3 Qe5 23.Nxh5 gxh5 24.Rxh5 Qg7 25.f4 Rc4 26.e5 Rc5 27.exd6 Qxh6 28.Rxh6 exd6 29.Rdxd6 Bf5 30.Kd2 Kg7 31.a4 Bg6 32.Rd4 Ra5 33.Kc1 Rc5 34.Kb2 b6 35.c4 Rf5 36.Kb3 Kf8 37.Kc3 Kg7 38.Rh4 Rc5

21.Sf4 is a winning sacrifice and the best move. After the second best move, White is also still in a good position. 23.Sxh5 is clearly the best. If White doesn't take on h5,

the advantage is gone. Black has to retake, but that doesn't save.

Tip:try the Buddy Engine with some critical games/positions. In practical use, you will quickly come to appreciate the benefits of this analysis concept.

Tip: You can switch the Buddy Engine on or off at any time in the engine window by clicking on the small green button.



3.12.20 Evaluation history in the search

If the engine window has vertical space, the program displays the rating history of the search. So you can see from when the rating stabilized. This gives the user an idea of the complexity of the position (or in rare cases the blindness of the engine).



The Larsen-Spassky game from the 1970 match is probably the most famous real short game (under 20 moves) among the absolute world elite. The rating history for White shows the disadvantage before 12...h4(Larsen-Spassky before 12...h4): But only after 22 moves the consequences are clear.

3.12.21 Deep analysis

Most chess players analyse their games interactively. They try out variations on the board and let them be evaluated by <u>chess engines.</u>

This is very good for preliminary analysis so that you can get used to the motives of the position, but sometimes engines need more time to examine a position in detail. For this it is necessary to let an engine examine a position for a long time.

Board window: Analysis - Deep Analysis

Deep Analysis

In the deep analysis the engine generates a tree with the possible moves.

The analysis is left to run by itself. The longer it runs, the more reliable the variations are. After longer times the search depth is bigger, but not too complex so that the result remains easy to understand. Variations that do not look good after a large search depth are automatically removed. This leads to an annotation with an analysis of the most important moves. This function is an improvement over Fritz's deep position analysis, because no time is specified and the variation tree is dynamically restructured as the search progresses. After the function has been started the program calculates indefinitely and generates an analysis tree with the best moves and replies. The tree is dynamically updated and weaker variations are removed.

The program analyses candidate moves and makes the moves for further analysis, as every chess player would do it himself. This generates a tree which changes from iteration to iteration. Every iteration increases the processor time.

In the notation variations are shown in grey if they do not seem good at the current depth. If a variation cannot be proved to be good at two consecutive depths it disappears from the notation, so that only the best continuations are analysed and displayed.

During the analysis there are two ways you can influence the analysis:



Stop Process: This halts the analysis. The result can be stored as a different game, or the existing notation can be overwritten.

Open Cloud Engines: You can add cloud engines to the analysis to improve the quality. The function then accesses engines that are running in parallel.

One engine makes the candidate moves and creates a variation tree. In the example

this is done by Fritz 13.

The additional cloud engines calculate answers to the moves simultaneously, which are then added without losing any time. In the example this is done by the Houdini engine.

The title bar of the engine window tells us what function the engine has.

The candidate engine runs in multi-variation mode, because it has to calculate a lot of candidate moves.

During the deep analysis other engines can be added to the cloud server without interrupting the analysis. These engines automatically adopt the correct roles. If individual cloud engines stop running the analysis continues, as long as at least one local engine is running.

Skip Iteration: This skips an analysis level, which increases the processor time and the analysis depth of the engine.

Note: Variations that are in the notation at the start of the analysis are never deleted and are always analysed, unless they are the results of a previous Cloud Analysis.

Moves that have been marked with a question mark are never analysed.

3.12.22 Cloud Analysis

Board Window - Analysis - Cloud Analysis



Deep analysis with several engines running in parallel

Chess players usually analyse their games and chess positions interactively. They try out moves on the board and let them be evaluated by an engine that is continuously running. Unfortunately there is not always enough time to let the analysis run deeply enough. The opposite method is an analysis that runs by itself, in which an engine examines a position for a long time. There are two ways to do this in ChessBase: <u>Deep Analysis</u> and Cloud Analysis.

Cloud Analysis is a deep analysis in which several engines run in parallel, which saves a lot of time and increases the accuracy of the analysis. These engines either run on different computers, or they all run on one powerful computer, on which they have to share the ressources. The advantage of the Cloud Analysis is that the analysis can be carried out without using the hardware and software ressources of the local computer.

In the Cloud Analysis the engines adopt different roles. One engine always controls the analysis. Another engine evaluates the candidate moves from original position to make sure that the best possible depth is reached. One or more engines evaluate the possible replies to the candidate moves. Their search only changes when the candidate moves change.

A practical configuration is to use two to four engines. One controls the analysis, one evaluates the candidates, and optionally one or two reply to the strongest candidate moves. It is also possible to use several candidate engines if the moves they suggest are different.

If the cloud engines run on other computers the analysis continues reliably even if individual engines stop running. This can happen if an Internet connection is interrupted or someone else takes control of an engine. The controlling engine at least must run on the local computer. If additional cloud engines are added they are automatically assigned roles.

The function offers the deep analysis of a position with several engines that are running in parallel. It can be used with both <u>cloud engines</u> and <u>local engines</u> on your own computer. However, if local engines are used they must share ressources, which makes them slower. Cloud engines can run on other computers that you own, or they can be rented.

This function is only useful if more than one engine is used.

?

You should use at least two engines. Runs best with cloud engines.

After starting the analysis you can tell the selected engines what they have to do.

Cloud Engine: Houdini 3 Pro x64 ((greekwarrior)	
 Analysis Crawler N Variations 	Root Candidates	Expected Answers
Cloud Engine: Deep Fritz 13 (dera O Analysis Crawler N Variations	(mateur) (a) Root Candidates 3 (*)	Expected Answers
OK	Help	Cancel

In the Cloud Analysis one engine works continually evaluating the candidate moves of the initial position. Another engine (the "analysis crawler") makes these candidate moves and generates a variation tree. Unlike the Deep Analysis (see above) the controlling engine accepts the candidate moves in every iteration without losing any time.

It is also possible for several engines to evaluate replies to the candidate moves simultaneously. These replies will also be accepted without any delay. These engines work non-stop, and they will only start again when the candidate moves change. By doing this you can build your own cluster.

During the Cloud Analysis it is possible to add other engines to the cloud without interrupting the analysis.

They automatically take over the correct roles. If cloud engines stop running the analysis will continue as long as at least one local engine is still running.

If engines are loaded in advance their roles can be configured. It is more useful to work with different candidate engines so that the analysis is not identical.

Cloud Analysis with locally stored chess engines

You can use this analysis without cloud engines if you have a powerful computer with <u>several chess</u> installed.

Local Engine: Fritz 13		
Analysis Crawler	Root Candidates	Expected Answers
N Variations	3	
Local Engine:		
Deep Fritz 13		
O Analysis Crawler	Root Candidates	Expected Answers
 Analysis Crawler N Variations 	Root Candidates	Expected Answers
 Analysis Crawler N Variations 	Root Candidates 3	Expected Answers
 Analysis Crawler N Variations 	Root Candidates 3	Expected Answers

To do this start one or more kibitzers in the board window.

Note: Variations that are in the notation at the start of the analysis are never deleted and are always analysed, unless they are the results of a previous Cloud Analysis.

Moves that have been marked with a question mark are never analysed.

3.12.23 Analysis Jobs

The program offers the user the possibility to automatically analyze a series of positions with different engines or only one specific engine. This function makes it possible to mark a whole series of positions and analyze them one after the other with different engines. The results of the analysis are saved and can be viewed at any time later.

This incredibly useful function can be found in the board window under the menu item *Analysis - New Analysis Jobs.*



In the subsequent dialog, you will be prompted to enter a name for the database in which the results of the analysis jobs will be summarized. You should make sure that the name is as meaningful as possible so that you can clearly assign it at a later time.

After that comes the dialog for the fine adjustments. In the dialog you can record the positions for the analysis, define the preferred engine for the analysis of the position or look at previous results.

By right-clicking with the mouse and selecting Properties, you can individually adjust the analysis properties for each position.

The total duration of the analyses is displayed, with a click on Start/Next the analysis process is started.

Analy	sis Type	 Variations Deep Analysis 	
		Engines	
Numb	er of mainlines		3
O T Tir	Time me (minutes)		5
)epth		
De	pth		25 ‡
⊠ Me	rge result with or	iginal game	

Analysis jobs are a collection of positions which are automatically processed by ChessBase. The results of the evaluations by chess engines are stored in a database with the same name, so that you can return to them later to study them.

Clicking on "*New analysis jobs*" generates a file that contains the positions to be analysed. In the standard Windows dialog you can select a folder in which the file with the extension ***.analysis** should be save.

🗣 Netzwerk				PositionenPitters.analysis	27.10.2014 00
📴 Systemsteuerung		¥	<		
Dateiname:	PositionenPitters.analysis				
Dateityp: Analysis queue (*.analysis)					
Ordner ausblenden					Create new

Users can then customize the analysis process by configuring various settings in the "*Analysis Setup*" dialog box.

Users can open other boards while the analysis dialog box is open and add positions to the analysis queue by clicking "Add".

Add position This command adds the current board position to the analysis queue. The dialog box remains in view when you open analysis queues - and you can quickly add the positions that you would like to be analysed using the "Add" command.

Edit a position You can configure the settings for each individual position if you do not wish to use the program's default settings. This is done by right-clicking on the relevant entry in the queue.

Settings To edit the settings for a position in the queue, right-click on it and click $\ensuremath{\textit{Properties}}$.

Title		Setup			
2Sc6 3.Lc4		Default			
🔴 2Sc6 3.Lc4		Default			
🔴 12.De3 Dd7		Time = 0:02:00;Va			
🛑 18.Lxg5 Da5		Default			
💭 17Sdf6 18.Se4		Default			
🔵 120-0 13.Tae1	Restart	ime = 0:02:00;Va			
9 30.Df6 d3	Skip	efault			
\varTheta 24.Tb4 Tac8		ime = 0:01:00;Va			
	Remove				
	Properties				
	Properties				
	Add Position				
0.00		X			
Settings	U				
Tiala					
litte	17Sdf6 18.Se4				
Analysis Type	Variations				
	Deep Analysis				
	Engines				
Number of mainline	2				
Time	00:02:00				
_	00102100				
Merge result with	original game				
OK Cancel					

You can then give the position a title, specify the type of analysis or the engine(s) you would like to analyse the position.

You can also define how long the analysis should last. Any changes you make are shown in the dialog box under "Setup".

Title		Setup
2Sc6 3.Lc4		Default
2Sc6 3.Lc4		Default
🔴 12.De3 Dd7		Time = 0:02:00;Va
🔴 18.Lxg5 Da5		Default
🔴 17Sdf6 18.Se4		Default
🔴 120-0 13.Tae1		Time = 0:02:00;Va
🔴 30.Df6 d3		Default
💭 24.Tb4 Tac8		Time = 0:01:00;Va
	Add Position	
	<u>D</u> efault	

Time = 0:02:00;Variations = 2; Engines = Deep Fritz 14 Total time = 0:15:00; Remaining time = 0:15:00

The time limit and type of analysis can be set individually for each position, meaning you can choose e.g. between a brief analysis with single or multiple variations, or a deep position analysis. Each position can be analysed by up to 6 engines simultaneously.

Removing a position

w

To remove a position, right-click on it and select *Remove* to delete the selected position from the analysis queue.



The entries with a green <u>symbol</u> have already been processed, the red<u>symbol</u> signifies that the position has not yet been analysed.

Title	Setup			
19.Tab1 axb5	Time = 0:02:00;Variations = 2			
🔵 22.c4 e5	Time = 0:02:00;Variations = 2			
34.Dxb7 De6	Time = 0:02:00;Variations = 2			
13.bxc3 Dd3	Time = 0:02:00;Variations = 4			
27.Sd5 Le6	Time = 0:02:00;Variations = 2			
29.axb4 Tc4	Default			
🔵 30Txb4+ 31.Ka3	Time = 0:02:00;Variations = 2			
🔴 140-0 15.Lf3	Time = 0:02:00;Variations = 4			
🔴 25Sd6 26.a6	Default			
	Add Position			
Add Position				
Default				
Time = 0:02:00;Variations Total time = 0:18:00; Rem	= 4; Engines = Komodo 8 64-bit, Stockfish DD 64 aining time = 0:04:00			

Show results

You can add individual positions to the most recently used queues quickly and easily. To do this, you merely have to have already created a queue.

Each queue file has settings, and these apply to all the positions in that queue. Any changes made here always affect all of the positions! The settings can, however, be changed for individual positions. If you would like to analyse a number of different positions with different settings then you can create a new queue file with your desired settings.

7.Sf3 c5 8.Tb1 0-0 9.Le2 b6 10.0-0 Lb7 11.Dd3 La6 12.De3 Dd7 1) Deep Fritz 14: 13.dxc5 [2) Deep Fritz 14: 13.Lxa6 Sxa6 14.De2 Da4 15.d5 Tfe8 16.Sg5 c4 17.Le3 Tad8 18.Tfd1 Lxc3 19.Tdc1 Da5 20.Dxc4 Tc8 21.Db3 Lf6 22.h4 Sc5 23.Lxc5 Txc5 0.23/20] 13...Lxe2 14.Dxe2 Dc6 15.cxb6 axb6 16.Td1 Sd7 17.Lg5 h6 18.Lxe7 Tfe8 19.Td6 Dc7 0.35/20

Tip: You can run multiple instances of ChessBase 13 on a modern 64-bit computer, meaning that multiple analysis jobs can be run simultaneously. Saved analysis
queues have the file extension ".analysis" and can be loaded, modified or deleted at any time.

"Start/Continue" either starts the analysis or continues the analysis of a queue that has already been started.

Skip iteration This skips over an entry during analysis.

Show Results

This shows the results of the analysis. The program opens a window with a list of the relevant game entries and the results of the analysis in a preview pane.



By double clicking on the entry in the list, the game is loaded in a board window and you can see the results of the analysis in the notation window.

"Restart" restarts the analysis.

ChessBase 17

3.12.24 Tactical analysis

470

ChessBase offers in the form of "*Tactical analysis*" an extra function for <u>automatically</u> checking games for <u>mistakes and tactical inaccuracies</u>.



This analysis function is very suitable for the rapid, automatic analysis of your own as yet unannotated games.

From the list window you can have several games analysed at a time.

The games are simply highlighted with *CTRL+mouse click* in the list and then the *Tactical Analysis* is selected.

The dialog box allows you choose some basic settings:

Tactical Analysis			×
Time[s]		8	*
Recommended	<mark>8</mark> s		
● Fine	\bigcirc Medium	⊖ Coarse	
 Store evaluatio ✓ Erase old annot □ Training ✓ Blunder Catego 	ns tations pries		

Based on the hardware in use the program suggests a time per move; more thinking time would slow down the analysis. The tactical analysis can simply be left to work in the background while you complete other tasks in parallel on the computer.

Let us take a look at the result of just such an analysis:

471

"											
Designed and the second se	Notation + Openings Book 🗸 🗸										
s 🝟 🔍 🎕 💑 🍐 🖉	Notation Reference Replay training Surveys Plan Explorer Table Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book My Moves										
	Kasparov,Garry 2812 - Nicoara,Malina 2245 1-0 11 B51 Besancon sim2 23.08.1999										
	1.e2-e4 c7-c5 2.@g1-f3 @b8-c6 3.&f =b5 cr =u0 +.c2-c5 % 18-f6 5.營d1-e2 &c8-d7 6.d2-d4 B51: Sicilian: Moscow Variation (3 Bb5+) without 3Bc7. 6g7-g6N 0.88/21 [■ 6c5xd4± 0.39/20 7.c3xd4 a7-a+]										
	[
	7.d4xc5± d6xc5 8.e4-e5 White is better. 8①f6-d5 9.0-0 ①d5-c7 10.象b5-d3 象f8-g7 11.h2-h3 -0.09/19 [11象c1-4± 0.44/19] 110-0 12.心b1-a3 堂d8-c8 13.Ξf1-e1 象d7-f5 14.象d3-e4 象f5xe4 15.堂e2xe4 心c7-e6 16.心a3-c4 堂c8-c7 17.a2-a4 b7-b6 18.堂e4-h4 Ξf8-d8 19.象c1-h6 象g7-h8 20.堂h4-e4 Ξa8-c8 21.h3-h4 堂c7-d7 22.Ξa1-c1 -0.07/24										
	Sicilian: Moscow Variation (3 Bb5+) without 3Bd7										

The analysis copies the following information into the notation:

- Any opening novelty based on the reference database you have installed
- Training questions
- Alternative continuations including the engine's evaluation
- Graphical commentary
- Overall summary at the end of the notation including centipawn evaluation



Note: The default engine as set in the options is the one used for analysis.

If you are interested first and foremost in opening innovations, highlight your games in the list view and select "*Novelty annotation*. The program checks the games and lists only the innovations.

472 ChessBase 17

3.12.25 Individual tactics training

The best learning effect is achieved by critically examining your own games. ChessBase and Fritz offer you the possibility to filter tactical moments from your own games and offer them again for solution. With the help of ChessBase you can check afterwards where exactly you or your opponent made tactical mistakes.

Optionally, you can select several games or a single game and let the program automatically generate the training tasks.

Both Fritz and ChessBase offer this function, only the calculation of the analysis function is different. In the chess program you use the Full Analysis, in ChessBase you use Analysis - <u>Tactical Analysis</u>.

Both functions are identical and allow you to automatically generate *test positions* from your own games, so that you can again examine the critical situations from your own games.

If you want to examine a single open game, load the game into the board window and select the previously mentioned analysis function in the program.

In the dialog window you can now select the analysis settings, here with the database program.

Set the analysis time per move in seconds and be sure to select the Training setting. This option is needed to generate the training positions!

The setting "*Fine*" is very important for the function, because it generates further test positions to be solved, if necessary.

Time[s]		3
Recommended	8s	
● Fine	○ Medium	○ Coarse
Store evaluation	ons	
Store evaluation ✓ Erase old anno	ons otations	
 ☐ Store evaluation ✓ Erase old anno ☐ Training 	ons otations	

After the analysis is done by the program, the critical positions are presented in the form of a training task. The critical position is marked with a diagram within the notation.

Even more comfortable and recommended in practice is the analysis of a complete collection of games, e.g. all games you have played in the last season. In the chess program you open the game list of the database, select the games with CTRL+mouse click and then select the full analysis.

With the database program it works similarly. You can mark the games you want to analyze in the list preview and then right-click and select "*Tactical Analysis*".

Use the tactical analysis and go through the tactical moments in your own games again.

You can also use the <u>Harvest Training function</u> ...

3.12.26 Blunder Categories

The program offers an interesting option within the tactical analysis.

To do this, mark in a game list the games in which the program should mark concrete training positions and assigns an error category to them.

Right click on game selection starts the dialog:

	×								
	8								
22s									
OMedium	○ Coarse								
Store evaluations									
ations									
ries									
	22s O Medium ns ations	22s O Medium O Coarse							

In the dialog there is an entry "Blunder Categories".

What does "Blunder Categories concretely do?

The program enters information about the weighted error values, number of errors and

inaccuracies in the form of categories such as error, inaccurate, etc. at the end of the game notation.

	C52 Berlin 'Evergreen' 1852										
	22										
	A brilliant game!										
	Weighted Error V	/eighted Error Value: White=0.63/Black=1.09.									
	Loses game:		Black=1								
A State of the second s	Missed win:										
	Mistake:	White=4	Black=4								
	Inaccurate:		Black=1								
	OK:	White=3	Black=1								
	Best:	White=1	Black=3								
	Strong:										
The second	Brilliant:		It was not surprisi	ng that che:							

3.12.27 A tip on tactical analysis

When you are doing a <u>tactical analysis</u> in ChessBase, during the analysis the program adds to the notation automatically calculated variations and comments.

The meaning of most entries, e.g. references to comparable games, innovations, positional evaluation by the chess engine switched on at that particular time, etc. is to great extent self-explanatory.

What is the meaning of the numbers, e.g. (82) in the sample game in the commentary. E.g. before Cramling.

6.0-0 D26: Queen's Gambit Accepted: 4 e3 e6 5 Bxc5 c5 sidelines **0-0 7.b3** Bxe3 12.fxe3 Bg4 0-1 (82) Cramling,P (2515)-Peng,Z (2407) Ekaterinburg 2006]

The option to have commentary of this sort has existed for a long time in ChessBase, so primarily it has nothing to do with tactical analysis. Tactical analysis simply uses this option in order to provide some commentary.

The user is specifically given direct information about the game suggested for comparison. The game Cramling, P – Pen, Z ended 0:1 after 82 moves.

The game Jiranek, B – Grothe, M ended 1-0 after 60 moves.

14.Bxf6 Qxf6 1-0 (60) Jiranek, B (1454)-Grothe, M Berlin 2015]

3.12.28 Centipawn Analysis

Unfortunately, a frequently occurring problem in online chess is the employment of unauthorised aids, e.g. <u>chess engines</u> running in parallel. As a way to measure tactical precision and as an indication of possible computer help Centipawn Analysis has been introduced.

This subsequent analysis option for games which have been played is implemented in ChessBase.

Highlight within the games list of a database those games which are to be checked with the Centipawn Analysis.

Games list -> Analysis tab -> Centipawn Analysis.



Centipawn loss is worked out as follows: if from the point of view of an engine a player makes a move which is worse than the best engine move he suffers a centipawn loss with that move. That is the distance between the move played and the best engine move measured in centipawns, because as is well known every engine evaluation is represented in pawn units.

If this loss is summed up over the whole game, i.e. an average is calculated, one obtains a measure of the tactical precision of the moves. If the best engine move is always played, the centipawn loss for a game is zero.

Even if the centipawn losses for individual games vary strongly, when it comes, however, to several games they represent a usable measure of playing strength/ precision. For players of all classes blitz games have correspondingly higher values.

In a database select the games to be checked (*Ctrl-A for all games*). Then in the tab **Analysis** choose *Centipawn Analysis*. A search time between zero (=400ms) and three seconds is completely sufficient when working with an up-to-date rapid computer.

476	ChessBase 17	
	Seconds	6 •
	<u>O</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel

After the analysis is completed the result is written into the database in the form of a text file.

Strong GMs in long games reach CP losses between 15 and 25. Club players achieve between 30 and 60. However, the values can vary to a great extent. Even club players can sometimes absolutely manage low values such as 10.

A low value in an individual game is not proof of cheating. In quiet draws the values tend to be lower.

Reliable values can only result from larger numbers of games.

Interpretation of the values

The results of Centipawn Analysis are recorded both in the <u>notation</u> and in a separate text file. The text file can be found in the folder in which the database is stored.

Example: Notation

CentiPawn Loss w=32/b=53. biggest=102/278

In the notation we have the average Centipawn loss for White and Black (in hundredths of a pawn).

In the output file in the database folder we have the result for each individual game of the player and after that the average for all the games.

Richter, 4, 59 avg=26 means 2 games, one with 4, one with 59. Mean (average) is 26.

3.13 Engine - Cloud.com

3.13.1 Server Engine-Cloud.com

The new server **Engine-Cloud.com** offers a groundbreaking innovation for analysis with chess engines. It is possible to use the Internet to access chess engines that are running on other computers and use them for your own analysis. Engine Cloud is ideal for people who have several computers and would like to combine them for detailed analysis. It is also possible to run an engine on your computer and offer it to other users in the Cloud.

- Increase the quality of your analysis by using different chess engines on different computers, combining the results in a single board window. That is just as comfortable as if you were running the engines locally on your own computer.
- If you own several computers you can use them with Engine Cloud to create a single analysis. When you do this you have all the ressources of the available hardware and software at your fingertips.

It is possible to remotely access an office computer and use its chess engines in the Interface as if they were stored on your own computer.

- This system offers many advantages to tournament players. They can travel to a tournament with a relatively weak notebook. In between rounds they can use Engine Cloud to analyse positions with the more powerful computers that they have at home.
- Chess engines are extreme applications that demand a computer's complete power. This means that a lot of energy is needed. If you work with a notebook a lot you can use the computing power of other computers to prolong the life of your battery and still use the maximum power for analysis. Another advantage is that the fan doesn't have to be used so much, so the computer runs more quietly during the analysis.
- Powerful computers cost a lot of money. By using Engine Cloud you can pay a small fee to use top engines running on extremely powerful hardware. You can decide for yourself how often you want to use these ressources, so you don't have to invest a lot of money in expensive hardware to make first class analyses.
- For complex analyses you can access several machines at the same time as kibitzers, each running with full power.

File Home Insert Board Report Analysis Training View	0
Let's Contribute Let's Check Submit Lists of Check Engine Analysis Game Monour-Let's Check Deep Analysis Check Let's Check Check Let's Check Che	Open Cloud Engines lysis
	Kibitzer: Stockfish 2.3.1 JA 64bit E Stockfish 2.3.1 JA 64bit Stop 4 CPUs 1 C = (-0.24) Depth=23/33 11. Sxf6+ (1/40) 4710 kN/s 11. Sxf6+ Sxf6 12. Sxd4 Ld7 13.g4 Tc8 14.Kb1 Db6 15.g5 Sd5 16.Ka1 Sf4 17.De4 Sg6 18.f4 Tfd8 19.h4 La4 20.Sxe6 Lc6 = (-0.24) Depth: 23/33 00:00:20 95913kN
	Kibitzer: Houdini 3 x64 Image: Constraint of the state o
A B C D E F G Notation + Openings Book Notation Reference Taining Score sheet LiveBook Openings Book Richter,Kurt1 - Abramavicius,Leonhard 1-0	Nonzer Houdini 3 Pro 364 Stop S
C13 Hamburg ol (Men) [Germany-Lithuania] (8) 18.07.1930 1.d4 d5 2.Sc3 Sf6 3.Lg5 e6 4.e4 dxe4 5.Sxe4 Le7 6.Lxf6 Lxf6 7.Sf3 Sd7 8.Ld3 0-0 9.De2 c5 10.0-0-0 cxd4 11.g4 g6 12.h4 Lg7 13.h5 Te8 14.hxg6 hxg6 15.g5 e5 16.Th4 Sf8 ↓ ▲	Kibitzer: Houdini 3 x64 Stop 6 CPUs 6 Houdini 3 x64 Stop 6 CPUs 6 11.Sxf6+ Sxf6 12.Thg1 b6 13.Le4 Sxe4 14.Dxe4 Le6 15.Txe4 Dc7 16.Tgd1 Lb7 17.Df4 Dxf4+ 18.Txf4 Tfd8 19.Tfd4 Txd4 20.Txe4 Ld5 21.b3 Kf8 22.Se1 Tc8 23.Kb2 b5 24.e4 a6 25.Tb4 bxe4 26.Txe4 = (-0.05) Death-21/51 00 00 f5 15/mNi 16/mNi
Call - Open Cloud Engines	100%



- If you own fast hardware and top engines you can use Engine Cloud to offer your ressources to other users for a small fee.
- You can use Cloud Engines to do anything that you would use local machines for, such as analysis, engine matches, or for games in the the Engine Room at Playchess. com.

3.13.2 List View

Database window - Cloud - Cloud Engines



Board Window - Analysis - Open Cloud Engines



After logging into Engine Cloud with your Playchess.com account details you see the start up screen of the server.

Please log in with your playchess.com account.								
Username	DerAmateur							
Password	•••••							
Remember Password								
Enter As Guest								

Here you can offer engines, and you can see a list of the Cloud engines offered by other people.

📥 Engin	e Cloud - D	erAmateur	_			~	1.1			÷.,			-				
File	Home	View															
•		8	82	2	À.	Segoe UI	•	12 •									
Ping Server Server	Use Engine Use Engines	Offer Privat Engine	e Offer Public Engine	Check Ducat Account Ducats	s Provider Experience List Ranking		Font										
Name	-		Provider	Experience	Machine		Nation	Speed	Threads+Hash	Cores	MN/s	Likes	Current Rate	Fix Rate	Booking Fee	Max Fix Ti	Waiting
😑 Fritz 13			sundiver	** =	Intel Xeon E31260	L	-	2.40 GHz	1 + 160MB	4/8(1)	2.08	3	Free	0,30	Free	60 min	In use
😑 Deep H	liarcs 13.2		ben	** =	Intel Core i7 860		-	2.79 GHz	4 + 400MB	4/8(1)	2.40	0	0.02	0,30	0.02	120 min	In use
🗧 Deep J	unior 12 x64		ben	** 🚥	Intel Core i5-2430	M	-	2.39 GHz	2 + 500MB	2/4(1)	3.13	0	0,10	0,30	0,02	120 min	÷
Komoo	do64 SSE Ver	rsion 4	sxb	** 🚥	Intel Core i5-2430	M	+	2.40 GHz	1 + 512MB	2/4(1)	0.86	2	0,02	0,10	0,00	120 min	-
🗧 Komoo	do 4 SSE42 xf	54	tryme	** 🚥	AMD Phenom II X	6, 4GB	-	3.21 GHz	1 + 2048MB	6/6(1)	0.90	1	0,05	0,30	0,00	120 min	In use
Deep	Rybka 4.1 S	SE42 x64	tryme	** 🚥	AMD Phenom II	X6, 4GB	-	3.21 GHz	6 + 2048MB	6/6(1)	0.30	1	0,05	0,30	0.00	120 min	1 Waiting
Stockfi	sh 2.2.2 SSE	42 x64	tryme	** 🚥	AMD Phenom II >	6, 4GB	-	3.21 GHz	6 + 2048MB	6/6(1)	6.62	1	0,05	0,30	0,00	120 min	In use
Critter	1.4a SSE42 x	64	tryme	** 🚥	AMD Phenom II X	6, 4GB	-	3.21 GHz	6 + 2048MB	6/6(1)	7.78	1	0,05	0,30	0,00	120 min	In use
Fritz 13			haschme		Intel Core2 Quad	Q6600, 2GB		2.39 GHz	1 + 256MB	4/4(1)	2.08	0	0,10	0,30	0,00	180 min	
Houdi	ni 1.5a x64		tryme	** 🗖	AMD Phenom II X	15, 4GB		3.21 GHz	6 + 2048MB	5/6(1)	9.62	1	0,05	0,30	0,00	120 min	In use
•								m									
🔳 Use B	ingine 😋	Like Engine	X Cancel Bid	🔒 Ping Pro	vider 💲 Persona	l Data										Pr	ivate Only
																	0
Chat												_					L
Thank yo Welcome, Bidding Fe Your bid Bidding Fe Your bid	u for conn deramater ee: Deep R has been d ee: Deep R has been d	necting to th ur! ybka 4.1 SSE queued at p ybka 4.1 SSE queued at p	42 x64, #1: 0, osition 1 in 1 42 x64, #1: 0, osition 1 in 1	oud. 05 D, total=0 the waiting I 05 D, total=0 the waiting I	1,05 D, deramateı ist. 1,05 D, deramateı ist.	ır->EngineC ır->EngineC	loud loud										
-																	÷
tryme																	
 Type c 	hat messa	ge here															
Done - Op	en Cloud Er	ngines															www.chessbase.de

The list is ordered into columns. By right clicking on a column header you can configure the list to your own requirements.

Experience	Machine	Ontimize column widths
** =	Intel Xeon E31260L Intel Core i7 860	All Columns
	Intel Core i5-2430N Intel Core i5-2430N	Hide 'Machine'
	Intel Pentium G630	Auto Fit Column ('Machine')
🚖 🛛 📼	AMD Phenom II X	Hide all columns to right ('Machine' ->)
	Intel Core2 Quad Quo	

The following information is offered in the columns of the List View.

Name	Provider	Experience	Machine	Nation	Speed	Threads+Hash	Cores	MN/s	Likes	Current Rate	Fix Rate	Booking Fee	Max Fix Time
Fritz 13	sundiver	** 💻	Intel Xeon E31260L	-	2.40 GHz	1 + 160MB	4/8(1)	2.08	3	Free	0,30	Free	60 min
Deep Hiarcs 13.2	ben	** =	Intel Core i7 860	-	2.79 GHz	4 + 400MB	4/8(1)	2.44	0	0,02	0,30	0,02	120 min

Name

The name of the engine that is being offered.

Provider

The name of the Playchess.com user. You can right click on a column and click on Show User Information.

Experience

The experience rating of the user. It is based on the usage of the engine, the number of different users, the number of Likes, and the amount of ducats that have been earned. You can see also the quality of the Internet connection.

Machine

The hardware configuration of the computer being offered.

Nation

The nationality of the provider.

Threads + Hash

The number of processes that are used by the engine, followed by the size of the hash tables.

Cores

The number of cores and threads that are being supplied by the provider. The example shows that 4 cores with 8 threads are being offered in 1 processor.

MN/s

The performance of the Clound Engine in meganodes per second.

Likes

The number of positive ratings of the user configuration.

Current Rate

The price per minute for the use of the engine, as decided by the user.

Fixed Rate

The fixed price per minute, as decided by the provider.

Max Fixed Time

The time limit for the use of the engine at the Fixed Rate. At the end of this time the user can be outbid.

Booking Fee

The one time booking fee, which is independent of the time used.

Waiting

The number of users that are waiting to use the engine, in the order of their offer for using the engine.

Author

The name of the developer of the chess engine.

Let`s Check

The speed index for the access on the Let's Check server. The higher the index is, the faster green entries appear in Let's Check.

Some information in the list are displayed in different fonts and colours.

Deep Fritz 11	gfroberg	*	Intel Core i7 870		2.93 GHz 4
Houdini 2.0 w32	kjoeller	*	Intel Core2 Quad		2.33 GHz 3
Stockfish 2.2.2 JA SSE42 1C	sxb	**	Intel Core i5-2430	+	2.39 GHz 1
Houdini 1.5a x64Michi	<u>keimer</u>	*	AMD Phenom II X		3.31 GHz 5
Deep Junior 12 x64	ben	**	Intel Core i5-2430		2.39 GHz 2
Deep Fritz 10	deramateur	*	Intel Core2 Duo E	-	3.00 GHz 2

If you are using a Cloud engine yourself it is displayed in green and underlined. In this example the engine "Houdini" is being used for analysis.

If an engine is only available for private use it is displayed in the list in blue.

Fritz 10 deramateur	🔶 Intel Core2 Duo E8400
---------------------	-------------------------

The colour of an engine changes to red when an offer has been made for an engine.

📄 Deep Junior 12 x64	ben	**
📄 Fritz 10	deramateur	*
Fritz 13	sundiver	**
😑 Fritz 13	nag kings	*

This happens when there are several offers for an engine and there is a waiting list.

Waiting
In use
In use
-
-
In use
1 Waiting
In use

If your offer is not the highest the engine will be loaded when the other users have stopped using it. This way of using Cloud engines is useful if you are not at your computer all the time and you want to limit the costs.

If the hardware configuration of a provider changes the text in the Machine column changes to light grey.

Machine	Nation	Speed	Threads+Hash
Intel Xeon E31260L	-	2.40 GHz	1 + 160MB
Intel Core i7 860	_	2.79 GHz	4 + 400MB
Intel Core i5-2430M	_	2.39 GHz	2 + 500MB
Intel Core i5-2430M	-	2.40 GHz	1 + 512MB
AMD Phenom II X6 1090T, 16G	_	3.62 GHz	6 + 2048MB
Intel Core2 Quad Q8300, 3GB	_	2.49 GHz	3 + 192MB

There are various symbols to the left of the engine's name.

Deep Hiarcs 13.2	ben
Deep Junior 12 x64	ben
Komodo64 SSE Version 4	sxb
冒 Komodo 4 SSE42 x64	tryme
Deep Rybka 4.1 SSE42 x64	tryme
 Deep Rybka 4.1 SSE42 x64 Stockfish 2.2.2 SSE42 x64 	tryme tryme
 Deep Rybka 4.1 SSE42 x64 Stockfish 2.2.2 SSE42 x64 Critter 1.4a SSE42 x64 	tryme tryme tryme

All engines marked with a green symbol \blacksquare can be used for analysis immediately, by double clicking on the engine's name

If a yellow symbol = is used the engine is being used by someone else, but you can take control of the engine for your own analysis by offering a higher price

The engine name is displayed in red $\overline{\bullet}$ if there is a waiting list for the engine. A red symbol next to the name means that there is a fixed price per minute.

At the bottom of the List window there is a toolbar with commonly used functions.



Use Engine

The engine is loaded that is selected in the list.

Personal Data	This opens the provider's "Personal Data" menu.
Ping Provider connection.	This measures the speed of the provider's Internet
Cancel Bid	This removes your bid from the waiting list.
Like Engine	You can say that you like the engine.

484

3.13.3 Board window with provided engine

If you have made an engine publically available it is started in a $\underline{separate\ board\ window}.$



If someone is using the engine that you have provided this board window shows you the position that the user is analysing with your engine. The window also shows you information about the user, the time he has spent analysing, and the number of ducats transferred.



You can talk to the user in the chat window.



Change Engine Data offers the chance to change the conditions for an engine's use. If you close the window the engine is unloaded and is no longer available to be used.

3.13.4 Engine connection

After loading an engine for your own analyses by double clicking it and agreeing on payment a connection window is displayed for the cloud engine.

Houdini 3 Pro x64<ÀÍÄÆ> used by deramateur		
The engine is re	served for you - please load it now in a board window.	
Current Rate:	0,04 Ducats/min	
Limit Rate:	0,04 Ducats/min	
Total Ducats		
	0,04	
Remaining Ducats:	291,69 Ducats	
Budget:	290,00 Ducats	
	Stop	

In this window you can see the price for the use of the engine and how much money you have paid for using the engine so far. Your account balance in ducats is also displayed.

3.13.5 Using a Cloud Engine privately

If you own several computers you can connect them with Engine Cloud and use them for a single analysis.

First you have to start the program on the computer on which the engine is installed. Click on the menu *View* Open Cloud Engines. Log on with the user name of your Playchess.com account. In the selection window pick the engine you want to use as a Cloud Engine and select the option *Offer* private engine.



Now start the program on the other computer that you want to use for the analysis, and select *Open Cloud Engines* again.

Log on with the same account as before. The engine that you have provided is displayed in the list in blue. If you only want to see the private engines in the dialog tick the box Private Only.

Only	v	private	users	can	see	this	engine
					_		

Double clicking an engine in the list opens the connection window, and the engine is now shown in the board window ready to be used for analysis or playing games.

3.13.6 Public Cloud Engines

In order to use the public Cloud Engines you would usually need a supply of Ducats. Ducats are the currency used on the server Playchess.com. They are used to pay for services such as private training, and they are also used to pay for the use of Cloud Engines.

Sometimes you can find users who offer their computer free of charge. These engines are marked as Free in the *Booking Fee column*, but there is the chance that another user will take this engine away from you by bidding ducats to use it.

Booking Fee	Max Fix Time
Free	60 min
0,02	120 min
0,02	120 min

You can buy ducats in the ChessBase online shop at <u>www.chessbase.com</u>.

In the column Name the available engines are displayed. If an engine is marked with a green point \bigcirc in front of the name it can be loaded immediately and can be used for your own analysis.



If you are offering an engine for public use you can define the conditions for its use in the Revenue menu.

Engine	Revenue	
Computer Revenue Private Users Ignored Users		
	Booking Fee Minimum per Minute	0 , 0 Ducats
	Reliable Rate (no bidding)	0 , 01 Ducats/min
	Max. Time for Fixed Rate [min]	60
ОК	Help	Cancel

The **Booking Fee** is always charged when an engine is used. It is possible to set the value to zero.

The **Minimum per Minute** should be set to a low rate, but other users can offer a higher amount and take control of the Cloud Engine at any time. You can fix an upper limit for the offer, but only the existing rate is charged if no other user takes control of the engine. This setting is sensible if there is a low demand.

You can be certain of keeping an engine by booking it with the **Fixed Rate**. This rate is a bit higher than the standard rate, but other users are not allowed to outbid you and you are guaranteed control of the Cloud Engine. This is recommended if there is a high demand on the Engine Cloud Server. During the analysis the user never pays more than the price for one minute in advance. If you aren't satisfied with the results supplied by the engine you can stop the analysis. In this way you can try out many engines without risking a lot.

If a yellow symbol = is displayed to the left of an engine it is currently being used by another user. If you would like to use this engine you can attempt to outbid the user.

488	ChessBase 17					
	Bid for Houdini 3 Pro x64 <g< p=""></g<>	asbarof>				
	The engine is in use, but you may submit a higher bid.					
	Current Rate:	0,01 Ducats/min				
	Booking Fee:	0,00 Ducats				
	Your Limits:					
	Max. Rate:	0 , 03 Ducats/min				
	Budget (Ducats):	290				
	ОК	Help Cancel				

If an engine is being used a fee is added to the bid which is the same as the current price per minute. This is also the case if a bid is unsuccessful. This is to protect the user of an engine against destructive bids which are only intended to take an engine away from him. If a bid is unsuccesful the user is placed in a waiting list. This means that the bidder gains control of the engine automatically when the previous user no longer needs the engine. After an engine has been booked a new window opems with the current board position and the engine begins the analysis.

If there is a waiting list for an engine the <u>engine's name is displayed in red</u>.

📄 Deep Junior 12 x64	ben	**
🚊 Fritz 10	deramateur	*
Fritz 13	sundiver	**
😑 Fritz 13	nag kings	*

If there is a red symbol \blacksquare to the left of the engine's name the engine has been booked for a fixed price, the reliable rate per minute.

As already stated, an engine can be taken away from another user by offering a higher bid.

The engine is currently booked at the reliable rate. You may queue a bid.				
Current Rate:	0,02 Ducats/min			
Costalba and Joona Kiiski	0,00 Ducats			
Your Limits:	0 . 02 Ducats/min			
Budget (Ducats):	290			
ОК	Help Cancel			

As soon as an engine changes hands a window opens that tells the user the status of the engine, the bid and the ducat budget.

By clicking on the button Stop the engine is halted immediately and <u>the payments are</u> stopped.

3.13.7 Offering a public Cloud Engine

Every chess engine that has the engine layout that was introduced in Fritz 11 can be offered as a Cloud Engine. These engines are easily recognisable, since they have the extension ***.engine**.

<u>UCI engines</u> can also be used as Cloud Engines. In the case of UCI engines pay attention to the conditions of the license of the maker of the UCI Engine! The older chess engines can still be used in the GUI, but they are not accepted as Cloud Engines. Only the engines that can be used are displayed in the dialog window.

Äfter the program has been started use the menu View Open Cloud Engines.



The next step is to log into the server with your existing Playchess.com account details.

Login - Engine Cloud	X		
(
Please log in with	n your playchess.com account.		
Username	DerAmateur		
Password	•••••		
Remember Password			
	Enter As Guest		
ОК	Cancel		

Note: If you log in as a *Guest* you can see the activities of the Cloud Engine server, but you cannot load an engine or take part in the analysis possibilities.

After you have connected to the server click the button Offer Public Engine.



Select an engine from the Load Engine dialog and confirm the selection with OK.

In the configuration dialog for the Cloud Engine you have selected there are the following options:

Engine

Engine	Engine		
Computer Revenue Private Users Ignored Users	Please check your engine software license that it is ok to process remote analysis tasks.		
	Nick Name:	Slow Hiarcs	
	Author:	Mark John Uniacke	
	Description:	Deep Hiarcs Paderborn by Mark John Uniacke	
	<u>H</u> ashtable size (MB):	192	
	Web URL:	http://www.fritzcloud.com	

Here you can set the Informations for the used Chess engine.

Computer

Engine Computer	Computer			
Revenue Private Users Ignored Users	Intel Core2 Quad Q8300			
		Defaults		
	This Machine	Cluster Controller		
	Speed in MHz	2493		
	Number of Boxes	1		
	Number of CPUs	1		
	Number of Cores	4		
	Number of Threads	4		

This defines the settings for the hardware ressources. *This Machine* copies the settings from the System Properties. By selecting *Cluster Controller* you can define your own settings for the ressources you want to make available, for instance the

» ″ number of cores or threads.

Revenue		
Engine	Revenue	
Computer		
Revenue		
Private Users		
Ignored Osers		
	Booking Fee	0 , 0 Ducats
	Minimum per Minute	0 , 02 Ducats/min
	Reliable Rate (no bidding)	0 , 05 Ducats/min
	Max. Time for Fixed Rate [min]	60

This sets the prices for potential users of the engine. The meaning of the individual parameters is described in another part of this Help file.

Private Users / Ignored Users

This adds users who you would like to allow to take part in your private analyses.

If you tick the box *Only private users can see this engine* only the users named here can see the engine that is being offered.

Only private users can see this engine

It is also possible to prevent certain users from using the engine. To do this you have to tick the box *Activate ignore list* .

Activate ignore list

Notes for the providers of public engines

When you first start to use Engine Cloud you should charge a very low amount for the booking fee. This will assure that as many users as possible will try out your hardware/ software combination. You will definitely receive ducats for providing a cloud engine when users decide to use the engine for a fixed price. In our opinion the first attempts at offereing a Cloud Engine should be used to build up a good reputation among users, who will then go on to make big analyses with the engines.

The server identifies the engine by the user name, the engine name and the hardware key. The system calculates the average speed and sums up the positive ratings for

		Reference	493
		L	

other users in the Likes column.

3.13.8 Summary of the auction system

It is important to understand the difference between the providers and the users in the Engine Cloud system.

It is possible to be both a provider and a user at the same time.

Renting of a Cloud Engine for a fixed price

The booking fee plus a fixed price per minute has to be paid.

If a red symbol \blacksquare is at the beginning of the row the engine cannot be taken away from the current user by outbidding him. den. Bids can still be made, but they will not be accepted until the current gives up the engine or his maximum time runs out. If the

board window is open the engine starts to analyse this position automatically!

Normally there is a maximum time for renting the engine at the fixed price.

Your Limits:		
Max. Rate:	0 , 10 Ducats/min	
Budget (Ducats):	347	
	Set reliable rate	

At the end of this time there is no more protection against being outbid, but if there are no bids you can continue to analyse normally.

All engines with a green symbol can be used for analysis immediately by double clicking on the engine's name.

The engine is available or protect against au	e, you could use it at the current rate uctions by using the reliable rate.
Current Rate:	0,01 Ducats/min
Reliable Rate:	0,30 Ducats/min
Booking Fee:	0,00 Ducats
Your Limits:	
Max. Rate:	0 , 01 Ducats/min
Budget (Ducats):	290
S	Set reliable rate
ОК	Help Cancel

In the dialog window you can see the provider's settings for the current price, the fixed price and the booking fee.

Renting of a Cloud Engine with an auction

In this case you must pay the booking fee and the current rate for one minute. The yellow symbol \blacksquare next to the engine signifies that the engine is being used by another user. If you would like to use this engine for your own analysis you can try to outbid the user.

You can offer a higher rate than is being used with the menu Limits - Max Rate.

Your Limits:		
Max. Rate:	0 , 10 Ducats/min	
Budget (Ducats):	347	
	Set reliable rate	

If you are outbid the price rises automatically, like it does with Ebay bids. Starting with the next minute the user is charged the higher price. If the other bidder withdraws his bid, for instance by logging out, the price falls slowly back to the old value.

If the user's price is outbid he is given a warning and has to react. If he does not increase his price the engine is unloaded after 20 seconds. The new user then pays the higher price that he has offered. Even if the engine is unloaded fast it can take a few minutes for the price to drop to the old level. This means that if there are auctions for popular engines the prices are automatically higher.

Fees

At the end of the rental period the provider pays a transaktion fee of 2% to the server.

If the provider merely unloads the engine, half of the price since the start of processing the last main line is refunded.

When you bid against another user you have to pay the price for one minute to the server even if your bid is unsuccessful. This is to prevent people making bids just for fun.

3.13.9 Hints Engine Cloud

3.13.9.1 Use of Cloud Engines

Can engines be used without paying ducats?

This is possible if you load private engines on your own computers to be used by yourself. This is one of the ways to use the Engine Cloud. You can also use the engines of other users that are listed in the Booking Fee column as FREE.

Booking Fee	Max Fix Time
Free	60 min
0,02	120 min
0,02	120 min

Can I offer a lower price than the currently asked price per minute? Can I negotiate a price?

You can always make an offer. The provider is informed and has the opportunity to lower the booking fee. If he does this the engine is automatically loaded. It is recommendable to load a board window with the position to be analysed in advance. If an engine is loaded while the user is away it immediately starts to analyse the position in the board window.

Can the length of time for using an engine be limited?

This can be done by limiting the ducat budget for using an engine.

Your Limits:		
Max. Rate:	0 , 10 Ducats/min	
Budget (Ducats):	347	
	Set reliable rate	

As soon as the limit is reached the Cloud Engine is unloaded and the current line

including its evaluation is copied into the game notation.

Can engine matches be carried out with Cloud Engines?

Yes. Engine Cloud offers an interesting type of autoplayer. You can load both engines from the Engine Cloud server, or you can load one engine to play against a local engine on your own computer. The Cloud Engines can be used for test suites, permanent analysis on the Let's Check server or in the Machine Room on Playchess.com. If you use a Cloud Engine in this way you should use a fixed price. This makes sure that you will not be outbid and will be able to continue using the engine. If you lost an engine by being outbid you would lose a game.

3.13.9.2 Providers of Cloud Engines

Can an engine be offered just to a small group of users?

In the engine settings there is section for "Private Users". Here you can list the users who are allowed to access your engine.

What do the stars in the "Experience" column mean?

This shows how often a provider's engine has been used.

Experience	
**	
**	
**	
**	

The number of stars is based on the number of times it has been used, the number of different users, the number of Likes and the ducats that have been earned.

What price should I ask for my system configuration?

The price is decided by supply and demand. You should start off by offering your Cloud Engine free of charge. This will allow you to gather experiences and decide on a suitable price.

What does "Max Time for Fixed Rate" mean?

The fixed rate protects the user of a Cloud Engine from being outbid. After the time limit specified by the provider has been reached the Clound Engine is open for new bids, even though the current user can continue if there are no bids.

Can more than one engine be offered on a computer?

No. The identification of an engine is a combination of the user name, the engine name and the hardware key. This combination is unique for every engine.

3.13.9.3 Cloud Engines on Playchess.com

Cloud Engines can be used in many different ways. You can use these engines for your own analyses and tests. This can be done for permanent analysis or in the Engine Room on the Playchess.com server.

You can use Cloud Engines in the Engine Room in Playchess.com. Enter the Engine Room and select the option File – Playing Mode – Computer.



Click the button Define Engine to start the Load Engine dialog. There is a button Cloud in this dialog.

If you click this button you are asked to log into the Engine Cloud server.

Now the main window of the Engine Cloud Server is opened in a separate window. You can select the engine you want to use in the Engine Room by double clicking on one of the engine names in the list.

After you have done this a window is displayed for the engine connection, and the engine can be used in the Engine Room in the same way that any local engine can be

used.

There is a confirmation in the Chat window when a Cloud Engine has been loaded.

3.13.9.4 Cloud Game Analysis

Chess players usually analyse their games and chess positions interactively. They try out moves on the board and let them be evaluated by an engine that is continuously running. Unfortunately there is not always enough time to let the analysis run deeply enough. The opposite method is an analysis that runs by itself, in which an engine examines a position for a long time. There are two ways to do this in ChessBase: <u>Deep Analysis</u> and Cloud Analysis.

Cloud Analysis is a deep analysis in which several engines run in parallel, which saves a lot of time and increases the accuracy of the analysis. These engines either run on different computers, or they all run on one powerful computer, on which they have to share the ressources. The advantage of the Cloud Analysis is that the analysis can be carried out without using the hardware and software ressources of the local computer.

In the Cloud Analysis the engines adopt different roles. One engine always controls the analysis. Another engine evaluates the candidate moves from original position to make sure that the best possible depth is reached. One or more engines evaluate the possible replies to the candidate moves. Their search only changes when the candidate moves change.

A practical configuration is to use two to four engines. One controls the analysis, one evaluates the candidates, and optionally one or two reply to the strongest candidate moves. It is also possible to use several candidate engines if the moves they suggest are different.

If the cloud engines run on other computers the analysis continues reliably even if individual engines stop running. This can happen if an Internet connection is interrupted or someone else takes control of an engine. The controlling engine at least must run on the local computer. If additional cloud engines are added they are automatically assigned roles.

The function offers the deep analysis of a position with several engines that are running in parallel.

More details

3.13.9.5 Let's Check

The Cloud Engines can be used on the <u>Let's Check server</u> in the same way as any locally stored engine.

The speed index is based on the speed of the engine's provider, not on the speed of the computer with which you are using Let's Check.

3.13.9.6 Infinite Analysis with a Cloudengine

Every game can be analysed by several Cloud Engines in parallel. Since the Cloud Engines run at full speed regardless of the limitations of the local computer you can come to plausible analysis results very fast.



The above diagram shows the analysis of a position with four different Clound Engines, which are each running at full speed in the board window. As you can see from the Task manager, the CPU load is only 0%.



The Cloud Engines can deliver precise results even on weaker computers.

This type of analysis can also be used while watching a game in the Broadcast Room of the server Playchess.com.

3.13.9.7 Settings dialog for providers

- <u>Engine</u>
- Computer ...
- <u>Revenue</u>
- Private Users
- Ignored Users

3.13.9.8 Engine

The section **Engine** defines the standard settings for the display of the engine in the Engine Cloud main window.

Engine	Engine	
Computer Revenue Private Users Ignored Users	Please check your engine software license that it is ok to process remote analysis tasks.	
	Nick Name:	Deep Fritz 13
	Author:	Frans Morsch
	Description:	Deep Fritz 13 by Frans Morsch
	Hashtable size (MB):	512
	Web URL:	www.chessbase.com

Note: Please pay attention to the user license of the software that you would like to use on the Engine Cloud server!

Pick a name that you would like to give to the engine in the list
The name of the developer of the chess engine.
The provider can give a short description of his configuration.
The size of the hash tables in megabytes.
The address of a web site containing further information.

3.13.9.9 Computer

The section **Computer** allows the provider to adjust the system configuration he is offering. If you do not wish to make any modifications simply tick the box "This Machine", and the settings from the System Properties will be used.

Engine	Computer		
Computer Revenue Private Users Ignored Users	Intel Core2 Quad Q83	Intel Core2 Quad Q8300 Defaults	
	 This Machine Speed in MHz Number of Boxes Number of CPUs Number of Cores Number of Threads 	Cluster Controller	

The option *Cluster Controller* is needed if you have access to a cluster. A cluster is a group of networked computers which act as a single computer to the outside world. A cluster is very efficient for carrying out intensive analyses with chess engines.

If you have access to a cluster and want to offer this, it is displayed as a cluster in the column $\ Cores$.

Cores
4/8(1)
4/8(1)
2/4(1)
2/4(1)
6/6(1)
6/6(1)
4/4(1)
6/6(1)
Cluster
4/4(1)

The following paramaters are available:

Speed in MHz

The processor speed.

	Reference	503
Number of Boxes	This parameter is only relevant for clusters.	
Number of CPUs	The number of processors that are used.	
Number of Cores	The number of processor cores.	
Number of Threads	The number of parallel tasks allowed in the process.	

3.13.9.10 Revenue

Supplying a chess engine costs money, for instance for the electricity used. The section Revenue determines how much users must pay the provider for using his engine.

Engine	Revenue	
Computer <mark>Revenue</mark> Private Users Ignored Users		
	Booking Fee	0 , 0 Ducats
	Minimum per Minute	0 , 02 Ducats/min
	Reliable Rate (no bidding)	0 , 05 Ducats/min
	Max. Time for Fixed Rate [min]	60

The *Booking Fee* is charged whenever an engine is used. It is possible to set this value to zero.

The *Minimum per Minute* is the lowest price for which a user can use the engine. Other users can bid more than this amount at any time.

The *Fixed Rate* (Reliable Rate) is a higher rate at which bidding auctions are no longer allowed. Other users cannot take control of the Cloud Engine by bidding more. Users pay the *Fixed Rate* when there is a high demand for engines on the Engine Cloud server.

Providers of Cloud Engines

3.13.9.11 Private Users

In this section you can name users who you would like to take part in your private analyses.

Engine	Private Users
Computer	
Revenue	Ben
Private Users	deramateur
Ignored Users	haschme mapi
	Private
	Add
	Add
	Remove
	Only private users can see this engine

Tick the box *Only private users can see this engine* if only the listed users should see the engine in the engine list.

Only private users can see this engine

If an engine is only available for private use it is listed in blue and is underlined.

3.13.9.12 Ignored Users

It is possible to forbid certain users to access an engine. The engine is invisible to these users. After the users who are to be ignored have been listed you have to tick the box Activate ignore list.

Activate ignore list
3.13.9.13 Bid Dialog

After double clicking on an engine in the Engine Cloud window a dialog for bidding pops up.

The engine is available, or protect against au	you could use it at the current rate ctions by using the reliable rate.
Current Rate:	0,05 Ducats/min
Reliable Rate:	0,30 Ducats/min
Booking Fee:	0,00 Ducats
Your Limits:	
Max. Rate:	0 , 05 Ducats/min
Budget (Ducats):	347
Se	et reliable rate

This dialog displays the status of the engine. In this case it is displayed that the engine is available at the current rate.

Current Rate This shows the price that the user must pay to use the engine.

Fixed Rate This is the reliable fixed rate as defined by the provider.

Booking Fee This is the one time fee for using the engine.

In the **Max Rate** the user can agree to pay a higher rate for using the server. If there is a bid against him the price rises automatically, in the same way as Ebay bids. The user is then charged the higher price starting the next minute. If the other user withdraws his bid, for instance by logging out, the price slowly drops to the old value.

If the new bid is larger the user is given a warning and must react immediately. If he does not react the engine is unloaded after 20 seconds.

Note: In the chat window you are informed about the results of bids.

See also

Auction system

Public Cloud Engines

3.13.9.14 Ducats

Ducats are the currency of the Playchess server. You can purchase ducats in the <u>ChessBase Shop</u>.



A ducat is worth about 8.6 cents, 11.6 ducats are equal to one Euro (approximately one dollar). The conversion contains the VAT required by German law. You can buy ducats from the ChessBase shop at this rate.

3.13.9.15 Rating List

In the main window of the Engine Cloud server you can open a rating list based on user experiences.



The rating in the list is based on the time the engine was used, the number of different users, the number of Likes and the ducats that were earned.

507

P	rovide	r Experience List		×
I	#	User	Experience	
	1	Gasbarof	492.75	
н.	2	imtkain	451.99	
н.	3	АНДЖ	188.51	
н.	4	Rechenschieber	167.47	=
н.	5	Aku1GM	110.40	M
н.	6	DrRobert	80.38	5.2
e	7	JoseMariBernad	70.99	5.7
н.	8	catur123 com	62.52	7.8
	9	Schon gewonnen	61.74	5.1
4	10	Heikoschach	53.78	12
	11	darkraider	50.20	9.6
	12	Werewolf	42.97	D.C
	13	zdavid13	42.80	15
	14	Lateef	41.30	
	15	Czi	39.22	
	16	HappyPhantom	34.09	
	17	TryMe	30.91	
	18	CoffeeOne	29.89	
	19	Fagaro	27.04	
	20	Hieronymus	26.27	
	21	Fulcrum2000	26.01	
	22	Mapi	22.70	
	23	YodaWindu	19.14	
	24	Aku2GM	16.62	
П.	25	sn95g5	15.74	
	26	mw testing	15.35	- d.
	17	C	14.06	
		Show User Info	ormation	in
		ОК		er

3.14 Let's Check

3.14.1 Description

508

"Let's check" is a new analysis function which will revolutionise the chess world for years to come.

Engine analysis has changed chess forever. This is so obvious that many aspects are now taken for granted. For instance, a slow engine on an old notebook does not always tell the truth, and yet people only wait a few seconds before uncritically making the recommended move. Popular positions are analysed by thousands of players over and over again. This means an immense amount of time and electrical enetgy, both of which are finite ressources.

The program offers help. Every position that has been analysed by anyone at any time is voluntarily saved on a server. The possible engine variations are then available to everyone who looks at this position. We call this system "Let's Check" because detailed analysis can be gained immediately without investing any time.

Whoever analyses a variation deeper than his predecessor overwrites his analysis. This means that the Let's Check information becomes more precise as time passes. The system depends on cooperation. No one has to publish his secret openings preparation. But in the case of current and historic games it is worth sharing your analysis with others, since it costs not one click of extra work. Using this function all of the program's users can build an enormous knowledge database. Whatever position you are analysing the program can send your analysis on request to the "Let's check" Server. The best analyses are then accepted into the chess knowledge database. This new chess knowledge database offers the user fast access to the analysis and evaluations of other strong chess programs, and it is also possible to compare your own analysis with it directly. In the case of live broadcasts on Playchess.com hundreds of computers will be following world class games in parallel and adding their deep analyses to the "Let's Check" database. This function will become an irreplaceable tool for openings analysis in the future.

Reference

509



When you store a variation in Let's Check you can add your name to it. If your analysis is later replaced by a deeper evaluation his name is then put in your place. Three variations are possible for every position. Whoever analyses a position deeply for the first time becomes the "discoverer", and his name is connected with the position forever, even if other users make a deeper analysis. Apart from common theory every position in chess can be "discovered".

There is an honours list for those who have won or discovered variations. Winning a variation is more valuable depending on how often it is visited and how deep the previous variation was. It is also possible to use Let's Check anonymously without entering your name.

Whether you are a beginner, a club player or a grandmaster. With the help of "Let's Check" every chess player can contribute to this database. Especially valuable: whoever analyses a position for the very first time wins the position for himself and his analysis is connected with his own name for the chess world. Who has won the most positions? With the help of deeper analyses you can win positions from other players and enter the honours list of "Let's Check". (All chess engines are allowed as analysis programs, whether single or multi processor versions).

With Let's Check every chess player has access to the current openings theory and the evaluations of the strongest chess engines. The program presents the complete openings theory as a statistics tree. The "LiveBook" shows for every position not only the complete statistics based on the weekly updated Chessbase Online Database (currently over five million games) but also how often a particular continuation was examined in the "Let's Check" database.

LiveBook ..

Game analysis ..

3.14.2 LiveBook

"The Let's Check data can be used as an openings book. Since all the openings of the online database are contained the LiveBook is already the largest source of information for openings moves that have already been played. You can use this book to play or just to look up information. The LiveBook is "live" because it can change from second to second. Every position that is checked with the LiveBook is immediately available together with an evaluation.

When a top game is broadcast and the viewers are using LiveBook, a full analysis with evaluations is available in the LiveBook when the game is over.

Anyone can add moves to the LiveBook, regardless of how sensible they are. Just like a human brain the LiveBook forgets information that is unimportant and rarely accessed.

Click on the tab *LiveBook* in the notation window.

Notation +	Notation + Openings Book								
Notation	Reference	Replay training	Surveys	Plan Explorer	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Book	My Moves

If you are connected every move you make is stored, so click on "Disconnect" for private preparation. Data is only transferred to the LiveBook when the connection light is green.

					Sec. in	Notation +	Openings B	ook								- ,	• ×
8	1	4 1	V de	è	冒	Notation	Reference	Replay trainin	g Surveys	Plan Expl	orer 1	Table	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Book	My Moves	
7	1					Move		Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date			Evaluati	discovered a		^
6				3		10≜f8-e	7	2	50%	2784	2020)-Nov-1	1	ŧ	Hypekiller500	D	
5					1825	10 <u>\$</u> f8-b	4	1	100%	2247	2017	'		=	discovered a		
4	10.60	EDE	3			10c6-c5		0	-	-	2015	5			position		
2		2 2		101 191		10g7-g	6	0	-	-	2014	Ļ			Pandasonic d	iscovered	
															Deep Analysi		
2	86	-		2 <u>2</u>	3 2										marcvandenl		
1		日后		2	E										= 0.12p		
	A E	3 C D) E	FG	н												
	Iŧ	-		→	→1	<								>	4		► ►

The information about the position is displayed in columns.

Reference 511

Move	Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date	Evaluation	Visits	[%]
9.c3	34	46%	2417	2012-Feb	=	177	45
9.De2	21	62%	2455	2010		90	23
9.Dd2	13	58%	2410	2012-Okt	=	72	18
9.Sxf6+	2	75%	2353	2002		4	1
9.0-0	2	50%	2392	2011	=	39	10

Move: shows the possible moves in this position.

[%]: The frequency with which this move was played. This is based on the games in the LiveBook.

Evaluation: The average of the evaluations added by chess engines.

<u>Games</u>: The number of games in which the move was played.

<u>Result</u>: The average performance of the move.

<u>Elo-AV</u>: The average Elos of the players in the games used.

Dates: The last analysis added to the LiveBook.

Visits: The number of accesses to the position that is being displayed.

If a top game is being played on the chess server and lots of viewers are using Let's Check, then when the game is over it is available in full in the LiveBook with relatively deep engine analyses.

Anyone can add his own moves to the LiveBook, sensible or not. Just like a human brain the LiveBook forgets unimportant material after a while, i.e. information that is rarely updated.

When the engine is running additional information can be found in the engine window when the Let's Check function is active.

Infoboards in the LiveBook

In the LiveBook tab there are two miniature boards.



The left or upper mini-board shows the position which is currently being accessed the most. The right or lower mini-board explains the current chat. If it says, for instance, "DerAmateur has won a position"", the position is displayed. Clicking on a line in the chat window displays the position. Clicking on the board copies the position.

3.14.3 Basics

In the <u>LiveBook</u> every position that was analyzed with an engine is stored in a single Opening book.

You can access the Database with Fritz, Komodo or ChessBase and also with our Web Apps!



Also the computer analysis that was made with the position is stored. If more than one engine was used then the three deepest analyses will be stored and displayed with the position.

With the LiveBook you have also access to all the games in our <u>Online database</u>, it also includes all the analyzed positions that have yet to appear in a game.

You can find thousands upon thousands of novelties and analysis waiting to be discovered and used for your own Analysis!

When you open a game in Fritz 15, Komodo or ChessBase 13, the notation pane where the moves are recorded has a number of tabs at the top:

Notation ·	+ Opening	s Book				▼ 🗴
Notation	Training	Score sheet	LiveBook Ope	enings Book		
	💋 Disco	nnect 🐧	Settings	Shop Shop		
Move	Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date	Evaluat ^	Gerald Run
5c4	0	-	-	2011	±	Deep Anal Rouddba#7
5f5	1	100%	2245	1997	=	bouduna#1
5d4	14	32%	2417	2014	=	
5 8 a5	1	0%	2503	2002	= 8	
5g6	0	-	-	2012	=	
5h5	2	100%	2311	2015	=	
5b6	0	-	-	2011	= ~	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
<					>	< >

Click on the LiveBook to see what it has for that position.

The LiveBook will now show you not only all the moves that exist from this position,

but also how many games. It also display the evaluation, based on the computer analyses recorded, and the number of visits.

Evaluation	Visits	[%]	^
ŧ	200	1	
=	772	2	2
=	2004	6	2
=	108	0	200
=	150	0	200
=	248	1	2
=	131	0	\mathbf{v}
		>	

So if you prepare an Opening check the LiveBook. With the Information form the Livebook you also save your time running your engine on a move.

3.14.4 Start Let's Check

"Click on the large blue right arrow in the engine window to start Let's Check.



Alternatively you can start the analysis with the menu Analysis - Let's Check.

File	Home	Insert	Board	d Rep	ort	Analysis	
Let's Check	Contribute Engine	Let's Check Analysis	Submit Game	Lists of Honour+	. S	ubmit Positic	on
		Le	t's Cheo	:k			

Click on *Settings* to enter login details for the chess server to add your name to your analysis.

Connect automatical	У	
Vse Playchess.com ac	count name	
Username	DerAmateur	
Password		
Suppress Noise		
ОК		Cancel

To work privately click on "*Disconnect*". When the connection button is green you are connected with the server.

Disconnect	🐒 Settings		V
11.Kb1 Db6 12.Lc4	0.00 depth=22	Houdini 2.0 x64	20.07.20:

Whoever saves a variation in Let's Check can have his name added to it. If a variation is replaced by a deeper analysis the name is replaced with that of the other person. Up to three variations are allowed for each position. Whoever is the first to analyse a position sufficiently deeply becomes the positions "Discoverer". His name is always connected to the position, even if other users later add deeper variations.

You win a variation if you replace the second or third variation in the list of three variations. You win a position if you replace the first variation in the list. The first variation is not deleted, it just drops down to the second place.

The creation date of the variation is displayed next to the discoverer's name.

DerAmateur	19.11.2012	0	(My Line)
KingRik	20.07.2012	0	(Points=0
skalde	09.02.2012	1	(Points=0

The value next to the national flag shows how often a variation was confirmed. The higher this number is, the more trustworthy the information is.

The window also displays whether the position is standard openings theory (main), the number of visits and the main variation.

516	ChessBase 17		
	O Sconne	ect Settings	
	7.Sf3 Le7 8.Lc4 7.Sf3 0-0 8.Lc4 7.Sf3 Le7 8.Lc4	0.46 depth=26 0.20 depth=21 0.50 depth=25	Deep Fritz 13 Deep Rybka 4 x64 Fritz 13
	Common Theory	Visits=436	1

Progress Bar

Deep analyses are very valuable. The progress bar shows roughly how long it will be until the position has been analysed enough for your name to be added to the book.

As soon as the analysis has been accepted this is displayed in the chat window.



Note: Apart from the already known openings theory every position in chess can be "discovered".

There is an honour list for those who have won positions, i.e. who have named positions. A win is more valuable the more often a position was visited and the deeper the previous variation was. It is also possible to use Let's Check anonymously without adding your name.

Discovering a position

More calculation time is needed to "discover" a position than for standard analysis. The green progress bar jumps back slightly when the next step is displayed.

The system has three levels:

- 1. Fast calculation (black display)
- 2. Deep calculation (green display)
- 3. Very deep calculation (Discoverer, only the first)

Deeper calculations can overwrite the variation, but the name of the person who discovered the position remains. The window also shows whether the position is part of common chess theory, the number of visits, the main line and the depth.

					Re	ference	517
Disconnect	1	Settings					\checkmark
14Rfd8 15.Rhd1 Ne7	0.31	depth=22	Fritz 13	DerAmateur	02.11.2011	0 💻	(My Line)

The entry *My Line* has to do with the variation that has been discovered (3 half moves) and is currently being displayed in the Let's Check window. The position's discoverer is stored separately and has nothing to do with this information.

The evaluation of the analysis is also displayed.

3.14.5 How should a game be analysed with Let's Check?

A deep analysis that would normally last over an hour can now be carried out in a few minutes.

Submit a whole game for analysis by other engines. (Umschalt+Strg+Alt+G)

The condition for this is that you have already won enough analysis credits by contributing your own engine. The credits system achieves a balance between giving and taking analysis power. For every position that you analyse while contributing your engine you win 1 credit. If you analyse a complete game you win about 1.3 credits per position. This difference is to benefit the server's own interests.

As far as the analysis is concerned it is relatively uninteresting that the evaluations come from different engines. On the one hand today's top programs are so similar that you almost long for a different variation. On the other hand it has no chess value to trust differences of 1/100 pawn values. Engine analyses are subjective because they have been tuned in games of machine against machine. They should only be used as guidelines in non-tactical positions.

How can I access the results of a game I've submitted all at once?

In the chat window of the Live Book you can see how many positions have already been analysed. The first results usually arrive after about a minute. As soon as the game is finished select *Lets Check Analysis* in the Analysis tab and click "Add".

Board window: Menu Analysis - Let's Check Analysis - Blunders, Combinations, Training.



All the calculated variations will be inserted in the game notation.

Analysis Type:	 Blunders, Combinations, Training Retrieval Only Standard Analysis Win Variations
	Advanced

Games played by strong grandmasters are usually available fully analysed in the Let's Check database by the next day. All the important tournaments and championships of

the past have already been fully analysed.

For instance, look at the Candidates Zurich tournament 1953. Within seconds each game is commented pointing out possible errors and combinations in the style of a human commentary. Only obvious blunders are commented. If tactics are found training questions will be generated automatically.

To do this for several games at once: In the database list select the games you want to examine, then *Right Click - Edit - Annotate Blunders and Tactics with Lets Check*.

543820	Adams,	M 2460	Westerinen,H	2395	1-0	32	C96	London NWYM	1988		
543821	Het	Edit			•		Сору			Stra+C	
543822	Het		1.2								1000
543823	Het	Opening referen	ce on selection	Strg+Alt	+Eingabe		Paste			Strg+V	1993
543824	Het	Merge Selected (Games		Eingabe		Delete			Entf	2 1
543825	Hoc	Selection to Boo	k	Umschalt	+Eingabe		Select all			Stra+A	Ó WI
543826	Ηος	Replay games au	tomatically							stig / ri	20 8
543827	Hoc	Output			+		Clip or U	nclip		F5	10302707
543828	Hoc	Cross Table			т		Replace	with <no game="" td="" wi<=""><td>ndow open></td><td></td><td>M 252</td></no>	ndow open>		M 252
543829	King	Charles Charles									Londor
543830	Kine	Statistics			5		Filter Gar	nes		Strg+F	26 3.Lg
543831	King	Piece Probability	·	Un	nschalt+S		Edit				3 Lb7 7
543832	King	Overview			0		More			•	d4 Sd5
543833	King	List Format					Annotate	Blunders and Tactio	s with Let's Cł	heck	Sf4 14
543834	Kos	List i offiliat			,	14	A10	Lonaon INVVYM	1988	10.1001 go 17.	d 5 g4 ∶
543835	Kos	Close				41	B92	London NWYM	1988	19.dxe6 dxe6 2	0.Sxe6
542926	Koston	A 2510	McNab C	2410	1-0	26	POS	London NIM/VM	1099	22.h3 Td8 23.c5	5 Ld5 2

This access of variations is very practical after live games broadcast on the chess server have finished. Games being watched by many viewers are usually available immediately after the game with deep analysis.

3.14.6 What do the green, blue and red letters for the depth mean?

Let's Check recognises three levels of evaluation depth. The "green level" is the lowest and needs about a minute of calculation on a modern computer with a deep engine. Evaluations below this level are ignored when choosing a main line.

0.44 **depth=25** Fritz 13 0.46 **depth=26** Deep Fritz 13 0.20 **depth=21** Deep Rybka 4 x64

The "blue level" is the depth that is needed to discover a position. The "red level" leads to the message "Deep Analysis" in the Chat window. On a modern computer with four processors this can last up to an hour.

3.14.7 Why does the progress bar often jump back after reaching 100%?

The progress bar shows how far you are from reaching the next goal. This can be the depth to win a variation. As soon as this has been achieved the progress bar shows the time needed to win the next variation.

When there is nothing left to win the depth goals for a position have been reached and the message "Deep Analysis" appears in the Chat window of the Live Book window.

3.14.8 Let's Check Server Statistics

You can view the statistical information in real time at any time.

Let's Check Statistics

10.11.2016, 21:22:53

Value	Since midnight	Yesterday (24h)	Total before today
Analysing Users total:	9693	10586	42636
Now Logged in:	3133		
Peak:	3391	3394	4403
Book Requests:	5403039	6331633	114308308
MoveLists:	695019	758387	14440593
New Positions:	0	0	0
Current Growth:	0 pos/min	0 pos/min (av)	
Analysed Positions:	977962	1130533	21536136
Automatic Analysis Jobs:	83653	95278	1855752
Deep Variation Wins:	1768	1724	30372
Discoveries:	1944	2320	34505
Comments:	0	0	4



Deepest Analysis







Hottest until now

522 ChessBase 17

3.14.9 Let's Check context menu

Right clicking in the Let's Check window opens a context menu with various functions:



Show User information: This displays information about the user whose analyses have been sent to the Live Book. This is only possible if he has a user name on the Playchess.com server. In the dialog window there is a section containing the statistics. This shows the number of points the user has, and the number of variations he has won. The number of points depends on the value of the positions that have been analysed. The window only contains the total points reached. The number of variations is a number that can change at any time, if another user stores a deeper analysis for this variation. The window also shows how many Likes the user's lines and comments have been given by other users.

Annotate Position: This inserts the analysis of other users into the game notation. Right click in the Let's Check window and then click on "Annotate Position". This copies the analyses from the Let's Check database nested up to four levels deep. Only variations are used that have at least a "green level".

After clicking on the function the evaluation is copied into the notation.

<u>Copy lines to notation</u>: This copies all existing variations (not just the selected variations) into the notation.

The following is an example of copying lines into the notation:

Notation	Reference	Table	Training	Score sheet	LiveBook	Openings Book	
Richter, Kurt1 - Abramavicius, Leonhard 1-0							
		C13	3 Hambu	urg ol (Mer	n) [Germa	any-Lithuania	a] (8) 18.07.1930
1.d4 d	5 2.Sc3	Sf6 3	3.Lg5 e	6 4.e4 d	xe4 5.S	xe4 Le7 6	Lxf6 Lxf6 7.Sf3
[7.Sf3	0-0 8.D	d2 0.44	4/25 Frita	z 13/DerAr	mateur]		
[7.Sf3	Le7 8.Lo	c <mark>4 0.46</mark>	/26 Deej	p Fritz 13/0	Clare]		
[7.Sf3	0-0 8.Lo	:4 0.20,	/21 Deep	o Rybka 4 🤉	x64/Sank	ara]	
7Sd7	8.Ld3 (0-0 9.	De2 c5	10.0-0-	0 cxd4		

What does "Engine/Game Correlation" mean at the top of the notation after the Let's Check analysis?

This value shows the relation between the moves made in the game and those suggested by the engines. This correlation isn't a sign of computer cheating, because

strong players can reach high values in tactically simple games. There are historic games in which the correlation is above 70%. Only low values say anything, because these are sufficient to disprove the illegal use of computers in a game. Among the top 10 grandmasters it is usual to find they win their games with a correlation value of more than 50%. Even if different chess programs agree in suggesting the same variation for a position, it does not mean that these must be the best moves. The current record for the highest correlation (October 13th 2011) is 98% in the game Feller-Sethuraman, Paris Championship 2010. This precision is apparent in Feller's other games in this tournament and results in an Elo performance of 2859 that made him the clear winner.

Like Variation/Report Suspicious Analysis: These functions send a report about the evaluation of the selected variation to the server. This is also displayed in the Chat window of the Live Book.

3.14.10 Information in the Chat window

In the Live Book's Chat window you can see important information from the server.

New comments are displayed, and users are also displayed who discover a position or win a variation.

Speed index=49
Gerald Rummel won a variation.
(Palmur)
Pacificrabbit won a variation.
(Mapi)
Ulpius won a variation. (Mapi)
Winston discovered a position
DerAmateur discovered a position
BrentMagnusson won a variation.
(michael555)
BrentMagnusson won a position
(Gormonde)

There is also a context menu for the Chat window.

Show User Information
Clear
Dont Scroll
Font

Show User Information: This displays detailed information about the user whose engine analysis was entered into the Live Book.



The number of points, the number of variations and the ratings are displayed. The number of points depends on the value of the positions that have been analysed. The window only contains the total points reached. The number of variations is a number that can change at any time, if another user stores a deeper analysis for this variation. The window also shows how many Likes the user's lines and comments have been given by other users.

<u>Clear:</u> This empties the contents of the Chat window.

Don't scroll: This freezes the Chat window in its current position.

Font: You can choose a different text font to display the text in the Chat window.

Important information in the Chat window

Warning: N variations = 3

This message appears when the user is running his chess engine in multi-line mode. This results in an analysis which isn't as deep and is of less value for Let's Check, since it profits from analysis that is as deep as possible.

Information about variations that have been won

Variations can be both discovered and conquered (won). In the Chat window it is often stated that a variation has been won. What is the meaning of the name of the user that is in brackets?

BrentMagnusson won a variation. (michael555) BrentMagnusson won a position (Gormonde) Gerald Rummel discovered a position.. Pacificrabbit won a variation.

This message tells us that the the other user has sent a deeper analysis to the server that has replaced the variation previously sent.

Information Deep Analysis

"Deep Analysis" goes one step further than discovery, and means that the user has made an extremely deep analysis.



The user also receives bonus points for the ranking list as described.

3.14.11 Commentaries in the LiveBook

The evaluations in Let's Check come exclusively from chess programs. Every position in the LiveBook can be given a text commentary in any language with a maximum length of 139 characters.

526 ChessBase 1

Text	Author	Likes	Dislikes	Date	Weight	Language
Bobbys Lieblingszug und sehr stark. 1.c4 finde i	LoveYouNele	2	5	07.11	0	-
Escriba su comentario aquí	Velimirovic	0	0	20.08		
Jugada del ajedrez clásico, Harry Nelson Pillsbu	Sinmiedo	0	0	05.02		5
"d4 und Schwarz gibt entnervt auf." Otto	rolau61	3	2	17.11		-
Fritz(and many other engines)'s favourite	clsg4	0	0	29.09		
Queen's Pawn Opening.	Panthee	2	2	19.10		
Type your comment here	АНДЖ	0	0	18.11		
🕞 Write 🥒 Edit 🗙 Delete 🙃 Like 🗼 Report						

Other users can rate these commentaries with either "Like" or "Don't Like". Commentators who are often praised are weighted more and their texts are moved to the top. Texts are only allowed that have to do with the chess content of the current position and do not contravene the copyrights of other authors. Anyone who breaks these rules will be ejected without a warning.

Use: Depending on the size of the LiveBook window the text entry field is at the right or at the bottom. Clicking on "Write" opens the input dialog.



Clicking on a flag selects the language.

Annotations					×
	Please write o Please	only comments re respect the copyr	lated to the curre ight of other aut	ent position. hors.	
New Move	!				
				C	
ОК		Hel	p	C	ancel

The commentary can be deleted or edited until someone else rates it.

Tip: Clicking on a commentary opens it in a preview window to make it better to read.

"He must come through this hollow way, no other path leads to Küssnacht" - Friedrich Schiller

The commentary is now displayed clearly in a commentary window.

You can add your own text comment to the Live Book, if the position has not yet been processed, using the menu "Write".

3.14.12 Networked Analysis

Whoever wants to easily climb up the Let's Check Honour List should temporarily "contribute" his engine to the community. The system thinks like one global worldwide chess brain about positions that seem to be interesting to people at the moment, or which may become interesting soon. If you have logged into the Let's Check server the positions may be conquered by you or even discovered for the first time Analysis - Contribute Engine



After this function has been started the engine that the user has "contributed" is used for the analysis of positions that are picked by the server. The server chooses positions based on different criteria, such as their current interest. By using "Contribute Engine" you are aiding in the creation of an online book for other users.

It is possible to abort this function at any time. You can do this by closing the window, starting a new game, or by clicking on the "Contribute Engine" button a second time.

It is also possible to suggest positions for analysis.

Submit Position

These positions are presented to the "contributed" engines. Whoever contributes an engine collects "credits". If your credits account is in the plus positions that you suggest for analysis are treated with a high priority, and they are chosen sooner, Even if you have overdrawn your credits account you can suggest any number of positions, but they will be put at the end of the queue and may even expire before it's their turn.

3.14.13 Game analysis with Let's Check

Menu Analysis - Let's Check Analysis



Let's Check can quickly comment a game with engine variations. If all the positions are already known the full analysis only lasts a few seconds. Blunders are marked with question marks, the best known moves are marked with exclamation marks.

There are four types of analysis:

New Bullet Opponents About Equal Slow Time control Blitz Blitz Open Seek Formula	
	Bes' Gam
Playing Mode v Title Status Nat Rank Distance So	ocial
Update Prog Choose to play as human or computer, edit challenge settings (Strg+M) Playing/Idle/Engine Knight! 183 km	

1. Blunders, Combinations, Training checks within seconds each game is commented pointing out possible errors and combinations in the style of a human commentary. Only obvious blunders are commented. If tactics are found training questions will be generated automatically.

2. "Retrieval Only" just fetches known variations from the server and does not make any calculations.

3. "Standard Analysis" analyses until the minimum depth is reached to enter a person's name. If a variation with this depth already exists no calculations are made.

4. "Win variations" calculates until at least one variation has been won.

530	ChessBase 17		
	Analysis Type:	 Blunders, Combinations, Training Retrieval Only Standard Analysis Win Variations 	
		Advanced	
	ОК	Cancel	

The minimum and maximum calculation time per move limit the calculation time.

<u>Tips:</u>

1. After an important live game deep analyses are probably already available for the whole game.

2. If you analyse famous historical games using "Win variations" with a large minimum time it is possible that you will "discover" new positions.

3.14.14 Prospecting for innovations

Many popular opening systems have been thoroughly analysed and it is very difficult to find theoretical innovations in preparation against a theoretically knowledgeable opponent with which one can surprise him or her. One approach to finding them is the search for rare or even as yet unplayed moves which still get a good evaluation from an engine. This is the route taken by many players, above all professional chess players. You try out various continuations and ideas in the opening variation you have chosen and follow the evaluations of the engine. This method offers some advantages, but also takes up a lot of time.

The program now offers the possibility to carry out the search for potential theoretical innovations automatically.

This new – pre-opening extremely important – innovation is called *Novelty Mining* because it reminds one of the panning for nuggets of gold in a heap of river sand.

Procedure

Load into the <u>board window</u> an opening position which is relevant either for your repertoire or for preparation for an opponent. In the <u>notation window</u> click on the tab **LiveBook**. There you will find the new entry **Novelty Mining**".

Notation + Openings Book									
Notation Reference Repl	ay training	Surveys	Plan Expl	orer Table	Score sheet	LiveBook Ope	enings Book	My Mov	/es
Disconnect	3	Settings	2	Find in Shop		Novelty Mining			
Move	Games	Result	Elo-Av	Date		Evaluation	Visits	[%]	My Moves
8曾f6-g6	9	56%	2530	2020-Sep-7		=	14234	57	
8d7-d6	4	88%	2492	2018		=	6259	25	
8曾f6-a6	3	50%	2433	2018		=	2309	9	
8b7-b6	1	100%	2460	2019		±	141	1	
8d7-d5	1	100%	2218	2019		=	574	2	

After the click, first of all the settings dialog is started. Here you can specify exactly how the search for a playable (usable) innovation is to be carried out by the default <u>engine</u>.

Search for novelties in reasonable engine mo Book or is very rare.	i variations starting we which has not l) from here. A novelty is a been played in the Live
Side	● <u>W</u> hite	○ <u>B</u> lack
depth		5 🔺
Search time [sec]		5
Eval Range		20 - 99 -
Already played	 Never Max. Once Side Line Every Mov 	e
<u>O</u> K		<u>C</u> ancel

The following settings are possible:

- The Side for which a usable novelty should be found.
- Depth sets the nesting depth of the variations which will be investigated from the current position. The resulting variation trees can be flatter if not sufficient games have been played with them.
- Evaluation range fixes the evaluation interval in hundredths of a pawn: if a move calculated achieves a value in this range it counts as a possible. For White and Black these ranges are different and are automatically suggested when colours are changed. The more aggressively or optimistically you set this interval the fewer hits are found , but these nuggets are all the more important.
- Already played refers to the number of possible games already played: if "Never" the move should not have been played in good games. "Max. once" means that one previous game has been found. "Side Line" concerns less than 5 percent of all games. With "Every move" all limitations are off. All moves played are analysed. That results in an automatic engine check of the variations which follow.

<u>Hint</u>: The engine search for novelties works very efficiently. Normally one would set up a search with many multi-variations in order to explore widely for alternatives. The multi-variation search, however, gives exactly as much calculating time to the main variation as to all the other continuations. So, side lines are calculated clearly less deeply.

When mining the frequently played variations are excluded according to the setting *Already played* via the UCI interface. That immediately directs the whole of the

calculating power into the alternative candidates.

Example: After the moves 1. e4 c5 2. Nf3 e6 3. d4 cxd4 4. Nxd4 Nc6 5. Nc3 Qc7 6. f4 d6 mining finds the nugget 7.g4 with an evaluation of >= 0.4.

If you carry out a "normal" search with Stockfish after 6... d6, this move which has never been played is also suggested.

Stock	fish 12 🛈	€, €, ;	B CPUs	Cloud
0	± 1.00	Tiefe=35	7.g4 (1/40)	7667 kN/s
7.g4 a 14.Ne2 e5 21.M Weiß	5 8.Be3 b5 9.N 8 Be7 15.0-0 0-0 Nf5 Bf8 22.Rf2 steht besser: ±	xc6 Qxc6 10.a3 N 0 16.axb4 Rxb4 1 exf4 23.Bxf4 Ne : (1.00) Tiefe: 34/	lf6 11.Bg2 Nd7 12 7.b3 Qc7 18.Nd4 5 24.h6 Be6 25.h; 45 00:01:13 560	.g5 Rb8 13.h4 b4 Re8 19.Qd2 a5 20.h5 kg7 DMN

During the search a status window is displayed -> *Technical messages*.

There you will see the progress and when appropriate the display of possible alternative continuations or candidate moves. The results are copied to the notation; you can if you wish choose to <u>save</u> them.

3.14.15 Honours Lists

The program shows two rating lists for the usage of the online analysis.



Weighted Rating List for Let's Check

The rating list is based on the frequency of the engine analyses and the search depth.

Ra	nking			x
	#	User	Points	•
	1	mely	25875.09	
	2	Pacificrabbit	23127.91	
	3	Blackborn	18352.40	-
	4	Clare	17318.27	-
	5	KingRik	13620.93	
	6	TwoKnights	8959.11	
	7	drodger	7419.83	
	8	Tabaluga	6620.15	
	9	Michael R	5963.89	
	10	rookalinc	5624.53	
	11	Gerald Rummel	5399.84	
	12	Small-girl	4941.71	
	13	Kaos_00	4803.08	
	14	Hypekiller5000	4527.98	
	15	Antihistamine	4376.84	
	16	Deep Mira	4361.79	
	17	snowbird122	4286.83	

"Likes" shows a list of the rated commentaries of a user.

anking	A.S. Samer	×
#	User	Likes (net) 🔺
1	A de Diego	32
2	Fabian Kröger	19
3	madhatter5	18
4	Robot 2	17
5	Riscoresign	14
6	hemmer	14
7	Werewolf	13
8	Panthee	12
9	SchlampigerKönig	12
10	MishaTheCat	8

3.14.16 Speedindex

The speed index is a relative value. It is based on the speed of the computer used by one of our developers.

This value is relevant to the user because it gives an idea how long it will take to calculate a variation.

The lower the number is the longer it will take until a variation becomes green.

536

3.15 Common questions about Let's Check

3.15.1 Is my analysis always sent to Let's Check?

No. Clicking the button "Disconnect" breaks the connection and no more data is sent via the Internet.



To do this the program must have been activated with a valid activation key.

When Let's Check is active engine analysis is sent to the database, and already existing analyses are received. All queries of a position are stored in the database and counted as "visits". No other data is sent, and no complete games.

If information has been sent it means the user has entered this move notation with the Let's Check feature running.

3.15.2 Can Let's Check be used anonymously?

Let's Check can be used without logging into a Playchess.com account.

In this case you will receive no information about who analysed which position.

3.15.3 What does it cost?

The use of Let's Check is included in the price of the program.

3.15.4 What difference does the power of my computer make?

The program regularly performs speed checks on your computer. Fast computers are at an advantage. By contributing your engine you can process more positions in the same time and win "credits".

Deep engines also have a strong advantage. Analysing in multi-variation mode needs more time. If you log into your Playchess.com account your "speed index" will be displayed in the Chat window.

3.15.5 What engines are allowed?

Every engine that can be used in the User interface can be used for Let's Check.

3.15.6 Can variations and evaluations be manipulated?

Since Let's Check is open for all engines it is possible that old, bad or manipulated engines can be used. Destructive content is always possible whenever people can share content in any form of online community.

The hardware power and the processing time of variations play a role, so it will be difficult to falsify an analysis even if an engine has reported having made the deepest analysis.

In the Let's Check window we also see how often a variation has been verified by other users. The system cleans itself, and so unverified variations and the obsolete evaluations of older engines will disappear with time.

3.15.7 Can senseless moves be input and analysed?

All legal positions and moves are valid for analysis. Rarely visited moves without deep analysis expire after a while.

If you don't want to see any senseless moves you should check the option "Hide rare moves".

3.15.8 How are the Let's Check honours lists created?

Points are awarded for winning a variation. The number of points depends on the popularity of the position and the time spent calculating it. The starting position is the most valuable position because it is visited the most. If you lose a variation to someone else you lose some of the points you were awarded for winning this variation, so your points can fall when you are not active.

3.15.9 What do the two diagrams in the LiveBook window mean?

The left (or upper) diagram shows the most popular position, i.e. the position that is being analysed by the most visitors. The right (or lower) diagram shows positions that have been reported as discovered or won in the Chat window.



Clicking on a won/discovered message in the Chat windows displays this position. This position can be copied into the main board (Home - Paste Position). Then the moves of the variation can be played backwards, if they are known to the system.

If the first move of the engine variation leads to a position which also has a deeply analysed engine move this is added to the "main line". This is repeated until no more positions are found or a length of 10 half moves is reached.

3.15.10 Can a text commentary be edited or deleted?

You can edit or delete your own comments until someone else clicks "Like" or "Dislike". Comments can be changed by right clicking on them.

Administrators can correct spelling mistakes or delete comments if they violate copyrights or do not make a chess-related comment on the position. Copyright is deemed to to have been violated if comments are taken from a source that exceed the amount of usually accepted quoting.

3.16 Cloud Databases

3.16.1 Cloud Databases

"*Cloud Computing*" refers to the use of resources such as applications, processing power and data storage on remote computer systems. The connection is made using the Internet from a typical device, such as a PC, smart phone or tablet.

A typical example of cloud computing is the use of our <u>Engine Cloud Server</u>. It is possible to access chess engines that are running on other computers and use them for your own analysis, or you can supply your own engines to be used by other users.

With ChessBase it is now possible for you to store your data not only on your own hard drive but also on our ChessBase servers. This makes it possible for you to access

your data from different devices without having to copy or re-install databases. It is even possible to make your databases accessible to other users as a cloud database.

Of course, you can use external cloud storage such as Microsoft's "OneDrive" to store databases in CBH format. This is a good solution for large CBH databases, and it is supported by ChessBase. However, ChessBase's cloud databases offer many other chess-related functions, for instance web browser access on all platforms.

This has the following advantages:

- You can access your opening repertoire or your stored games from anywhere without using ChessBase.
- You can put games on the Cloud for your friends and teammates to access via their web browsers.
- You can publish a database on the web with a single click.
- These are new functions that make it much easier to exchange chess data.
- There is a new entry Cloud Databases on the left side of the database window.

Folders			\sim					
Öffentliche Dokumente	Shared With Me	MyMoves Backups	Repertoire Black	CloudClip - Recent Games	computertest	Fritz@chessbase	Meine Verlustpartien	My Games
Game History								
Purchased Data	personal	Playchess.com	Schreiner	selectedPositions	Taktik	Website	Repertoire White	
🖶 🚡 My Databases	🗣 Open 🖽 🛙	Details 🚟 Tile 翊	Small Icons 🛛 🗤 🕯 🕅	1edium Icons 🛛 🚧 Big	Icons x128 Huge	e Icons 🛛 🛛 🛪 🛛 🗛 🗛	ns	

This allows you to access and view the cloud databases.

3.16.2 DataBase Format Cloud

 $\underline{\textbf{Question:}}$ Which format do my games have to be in (PGN or CBH) to upload them to the ChessBase cloud?

The ChessBase-cloud is a feature were you need either ChessBase or a ChessBaseaccount.

If you use ChessBase, you may create a Cloud-database and then your able to enter games by replay them move by move, or just copy and paste them from other ChessBase-databases, either PGN or CBH.

If you use the ChessBase-account exclusively you are able to open in the Web-App "My Games" PGN-files which are stored on your local disc.

You are able to copy this game in cloud-databases which you have created with the Web-App.

3.16.3 Registration with ChessBase Cloud

The registration is free of charge for everyone who has an ChessBase account. This means that the username and password are the same as for your Playchess.com account.

Menu Home Cloud Databases (Alt + F12)

Folders × × Database path Computer			\sim	G		\bigcirc			
Öffentliche Dokumente Setzwerk	Shared With Me	MyMoves Backups	Repertoire Black	CloudClip - Recent Games	computertest	Fritz@chessbase	Meine Verlustpartien	My Games	
Game History									
Purchased Data	personal	Playchess.com	Schreiner	selectedPositions	Taktik	Website	Kepertoire White		
🔄 👔 My Databases	🕏 Open 🔚 Details 🎬 Tile 🤐 Small Icons 🤲 Medium Icons 🎫 Big Icons 🕬 Huge Icons 🕬 Giant Icons								

If you do not yet have an ChessBase account you can either log in as a guest or use this link to go to a web page to register a new account.

http://playlogin.chessbase.com/playchesslogin/Create.aspx

The button "Create Account" opens the page in your web browser.

You can use this same account to use our other online offers. You can play games on <u>Playchess.com</u>, you can try out fritzundfertig.de, you can leave user comments on www.chessbase.com, you can use <u>Let's Check</u> and the <u>Engine Cloud</u>, and you can access the web database database.chessbase.com.

Registration is free of charge.
3.16.4 Create new Cloud Databases

Depending on the level of your ChessBase membership you can create a large number of databases, which you can later delete.



The databases "*My Games*", "*Repertoire White*" and "*Repertoire Black*" are preinstalled. If you try to delete these databases all the games in them are removed, but the databases themselves remain.



The status line below the database symbol gives you information about the account name and the amount of space that is used on the server.



3.16.5 Saving Games

Board Window - File - Save To Cloud



Select the Cloud Database now to save the Game.

Database	*
MyMoves Backups	
ጆ Repertoire Black	
🚔 CloudClip - Recent Games	Ξ
Computertest	
Fritz@chessbase.com	
C Meine Verlustpartien	_
🌰 My Games	
le personal	
Playchess.com	_
Cebrainar	

3.16.6 Storage space for the Cloud Databases

The amount of storage that you have depends on the type of membership you have. A free unregistered ChessBase account has 20 MB disc space. That is enough for about 10,000 games.

A basic membership of Playchess.com gives you 100 MB.

A premium membership gives you 250 MB. These amounts are not guaranteed and may be changed at a later date.

See <u>http://shop.chessbase.com/en/categories/42</u> for more details!

When you have run out of space you can delete databases that you no longer need. Alternatively you can delete games from cloud databases by first marking them as deleted and then using the function "*Remove deleted games*".

You can create a new cloud database by clicking on the button "*New Cloud Database*".

This opens a standard Windows dialog, and you can create a new database with the extension ***.cbcloud**.

Bibliotheken				
Netzwerk				
Systemsteueru	ing	\sim	<	
Dateiname:	New Database.cbcloud			
Dateityp:	CBCLOUD-Format (*.CBCLOUD)			

The new database is generated both on your local hard drive and on the server. You can begin working on the database locally, importing the games that you want it to contain.

Games can be added to it in the same way as any other database, for instance via the Clip Database.

The server now synchronises the locally stored database with the remote database by copying the games into the cloud database, which can now be accessed by other devices or with a web browser.

3.16.7 Using Cloud Databases offline

Cloud databases can also be used offline. Any changes made will be synchronised the next time there is a connection with the Cloud.

The cloud databases are stored on your computer's hard drive in the folder Cloud in Documents.

3.16.8 Database functions with Cloud Databases

All databases with the extension ***.cbcloud** can be viewed and edited in the same way as other databases.

Games can be stored, replaced, copied and deleted.

It is also possible to filter and sort the game lists.

Differences between CBH and CBCloud Formats

What differences are there between these database formats?

The **CBCloud format** is made up of <u>only four files</u>. There are no index files for the players, tournaments, etc. The same data can be stored as in the CBH format, but due to the lack of index files there are less functions to access the data.

Sorting and two-level deleting is possible.

3.16.9 Deleting a Cloud Database locally

What happens when you delete a cloud database from your computer's hard drive that you want to keep on the server?

When you delete a cloud database on your hard drive you are asked if it should also be deleted from the cloud server.

The next time you open the cloud databases the symbol is displayed, and clicking on it creates a local copy again. Locally deleting a cloud database is sensible if you are looking at your databases on another computer and want to completely remove them afterwards.

3.16.10 Accessing Cloud Databases on other computers

An advantage of cloud databases is that you can access your data from any computer with an Internet connection. If you open your cloud databases on another computer, will all the games be downloaded?

Only the descriptions of the games that are visible in the games list are downloaded. When you click on a game the whole game is downloaded.

It is also possible to download all the games in a Cloud database to work with them locally. This is done by right clicking on a database symbol and selecting "*Cache Cloud Database*".

			Reference	545
\mathcal{C}		\frown		(
	Open	Eingabe		
leperto	Search	Strg+F	pitters	Rep
	Opening reference	Strg+Alt+Eingabe		
	E-Mail Selected Database			
_	Edit	+		
Amat	Delete All Files	Umschalt+Entf	17.13MB = 58% of 200	мв
Open Dase Pr	Tools	•	ig lcons ×128 Huge lcons	*256 Gi
ber	Cache Cloud Database		M., FCO Tournament	Г
	Database Sharing	Umschalt+Strg+Alt+S		
	Properties	Alt+Eingabe		

Click a database symbol for a preview here.

 $\underline{\text{Tip}}$: It is also possible to access the same cloud database on two computers at the same time. All changes are synchronised in real time.

3.16.11 Sharing Cloud Databases

Cloud databases can be shared with other users.

	Edit the users with whom you share the selected cloud database (Umschalt+Strg+Alt+S)
0	Connect to the Cloud Server and select the database that you want to share by clicking on it.
d	Move Repertoire to Cloud Database Sharing Cloud
	Edit the users with whom you share the selected cloud database (Umschalt+Strg+Alt+S)

_					
	Repertoire Black	blitzpartien	My Games	pitters	Repertoire White

Click on the button "*Database Sharing*" to start the dialog to select which users are allowed to use the database. Alternatively you can right click on a database and

ChessBase 17

select the option "Database Sharing".



be recognised by the green icon.

Users who may a	access this database	×
User	Rights	
Matthias	Load	
💾 Pitters	Load/Save	
📄 Ben	Load	
V Load		
Save		
Add User	Remove User	

Click on "Add User" and enter the ChessBase account name of the user. It is automatically checked if this is a valid account.

If the account does not exist this warning is displayed.

Info ×	
Heinz Collin - Unknown User	
ОК	

Each user can be given three levels of access rights:

1. No rights – i.e. only the display of the database list.

- **2. Reading rights** i.e. loading of games.
- **3. Writing rights** i.e. storing games.

If you tick "Save", the user has writing rights for the shared database. Otherwise he can load the games in the database, but he isn't allowed to edit them in the Cloud.

How can I set Option 1 in the dialog? --> Untick both boxes.

The status is shown in the column "Rights" and by small symbols to the left of the user names.

User	Rights
Matthias	Load
💾 Pitters	Load/Save
📄 Ben	Load

In the explorer bar of the database window there is an entry "Cloud Databases/Shared with me" $\ensuremath{\mathsf{me}}$

Folders 👻 🗙					
🖃 📲 Database path					
🗄 📲 Computer					
🗄 📲 Öffentliche Dokumente	lucky12 - My	dsf - Dutch	schachegger - 1.e4	schachegger - Siz	
🗄 🖣 Netzwerk	Games		e5 Bekannte Abs	2eb	
🗄 🗠 🔁 Game History					
					Doubleclick to open!
🗄 📲 Cloud Databases					
Shared With Me					
🗄 📲 My Databases	DerAmateur:	Cloud Databases	connected. Used S	pace on server: 74.	.76MB = 37% of 200MB

This displays all the databases that other users are sharing with you. You can see the relation to the other User too.

548 ChessBase 17

3.16.12 Publishing Cloud Databases on the Web

Click on the "Cloud" tab. Select a Cloud database and click "*Share*". Select "*Public Web Database*" in the following dialog and write a small description text.

Description:	
My best Games from Playchess.com!	^
	~
✓ Public Web Database	
URL: http://cloud.chessbase.com/86/downle	oad.html
Test URL	
ОК	Cancel

Clicking on "*Test URL*" shows you how your database will look when it's published on the web.

The PGN Replayer is open and the game are available.

Reference

549



Your standard browser will be loaded, together with functions to replay games, and all the games will be available to be downloaded in PGN format.

Note: If you change the database, for example by adding new games, the web version of the database will be automatically updated. You do not need to use the share function again, and no new files are uploaded.

3.16.13 Repertoire Databases in the Cloud

In ChessBase you can manage your <u>opening repertoire</u> in two databases, one for White and one for Black. It is recommendable to keep these two databases in the Cloud, so that you can look at them on any computer that has ChessBase 13.

The first time you access the Cloud the program offers to automatically generate repertoire databases for White and Black.

If you accept the offer you can supply the source for the automatically generated databases.

You can create the repertoire databases at any time by selecting Report -> Create Repertoire in the database window and accessing a database with your own games.

If you already have a single repertoire database that you created without separating colours in ChessBase 12, the function Report -> Create Repertoire offers the possibility

to divide it into White and Black. ChessBase uses the moves that you have marked Blue. It is strongly recommended to divide your repertoire into White and Black.



In the board window, use the function Report -> Repertoire -> Mark Move Blue.

This marks the moves in your games which should be added to your repertoire. This builds a repertoire report for new game collections or searching in the repertoire database. There is no sense in marking all your games with 1.e4 in the repertoire report just because 1.e4 leads to a line in your repertoire database with Ruy Lopez.

You can access your openings at any time from any devices. Browser applications are currently being developed with which you can access your repertoire for training purposes without using ChessBase.

3.16.14 Cloud Database Icons

Cloud icons and their features are not displayed permanently in the database window. They disappear?



This is correct. They are dependent on logging in. As soon as you have logged in all the cloud icons are listed under "*My Databases*". When you log out they are removed.









schachegger - 1.e4 schachegger - Siz e5 Bekannte Abs... 2...e6

3.17 Database text

3.17.1 Database text

A database text is <u>not a game</u> but a text report, which may contain pictures, videos, positions and links to games, keys, other texts, etc.

2 6	8	ء 🖭 😟	;			
File	Hom	e Edit	:			
Back F	Forward	Home	[+	Activate/d	eactivate ainer
N	lavigation		Vi	ew	Activ	ate
English	Deutsch	Francais	Espanol	Italiano	Nederlands	Portuguese

It appears like a game in the database list, and can be loaded in the same way.

Database texts can also contain links to video sequences. When you click a video icon the clip is replayed.

ChessBase Magazine usually includes over 30 minutes of video. The database text is created with a special <u>database text editor</u> that is built into the program. To start a new text click New – Text in the database window or press Ctrl-Alt-N.

Sorting database texts

When you sort a database this is how the database texts are handled:

Database texts without tournament data or year are sorted to the top of the database

Database texts with <u>tournament data</u> are placed in front of the tournament, so they appear as the first entry for a tournament in the <u>tournament index</u>. This is used to create a tournament report.

Database texts which contain data on specific rounds of a tournament (round reports) are sorted to the top of each round of the tournament.

3.17.2 Database text header

Database text editor: Text data (F2)

17

Texttitles	
Language	English ▼
<u>T</u> itle	B. History
Author	Henris
<u>T</u> ournament	Albin Counter- More ?
🔲 <u>R</u> ound	1

The header of a text defines the way it will appear in the games list and its position when you sort the database.

> Titel, author and tournament

These will appear in the games list. The author will also be automatically included in the annotators' index. The title can be different for each language.

Round

If you enter a round number <u>sorting the database</u> will insert the text at the top of the corresponding round of the tournament (round reports).

Details

This is used to enter additional tournament information. This is exactly the same as in the <u>tournament data</u> dialog.

3.17.3 Database text editor

Database window: Menu File New Text (Ctrl-Alt-N)
Starts the database text editor with a new database text. You can also load an exisiting text and edit it.

Database text editor: Editor Mode (Ctrl-W)

After writing a text you can switch it to browser mode in which the text can only be read, not edited. In this mode links and embedded events are activated with a single mouse click (as in a web browser). In edit mode they require a double-click. Switch back to Editor mode if you want to make changes.

• Keyboard functions

The ChessBase editor conforms to most of the normal Windows conventions with regard to typing and editing. The keyboard functions are very similar to those of the Windows notepad.

Ctrl + cursor left/right	Jump one word left/right
Home/End:	Jump to beginning/end of line
Ctrl-Home/End	Jump to beginning/end of text
Shift + cursor keys	Mark text
Shift + Home/End	Mark text to beginning/end of line
Shift-Ctrl + Home/End	Mark to beginning/end of text
Ctrl-A	Mark entire text
Ctrl-B	Marked/following text bold
Ctrl-C	Copy marked text into clipboard (Ctrl-X cuts text)
Ctrl-E	Centre text
Ctrl-I	Marked/following text italic
Ctrl-R	Replace text
Ctrl-S	Save text
Ctrl-U	Underline marked/following text
Ctrl-V	Insert text from clipboard
Ctrl-Z	Undo last operation
Shift-Ctrl-Z	Redo last (undo) operation
Ctrl-0	Switch to standard text
Ctrl-1	Switch to main header
Ctrl-2	Switch to header 2
Ctrl-3	Switch to header 3

3.17.4 Database text multimedia links

Database text editor: Format - Multimedia



In a <u>database text</u> you can embed pictures, sound files and videos. The pictures must be in the Windows BMP format, sound files in the WAV format, and video in wmv. They can only be linked into the database text after you have saved it. The multimedia files are copied in separate directories with the name of the database and the extensions *.bmp, *.wav and *.avi.

Audio and video aliases

This allow you to use audio or video files more than once in a database text, e.g. in the translation of the text in a different language. Clicking Audio or Video alias produces the list of all the files already used. Choose the one you need. The file is not

copied a second time but has two links in the database text. Links to sound files produce a sound file symbol in the text. When you click this symbol then the audio file will be replayed. WMV files are represented by the first frame of the video.

3.17.5 Database text chess links

Just like a HTML page ChessBase database texts can have links to other texts, pictures, videos, etc. In addition there are a number of chess specific links, such as tournaments, games, keys, players, etc. When a game link is clicked the game is loaded in a separate window for replay.

The links are to be found in the Links menu of the <u>Database text window</u> (you can also right-click in the text editor and select Link). The chess specific links are all to be found in the submenu ChessBase.



Edit Game (Shift-Ctrl-G)

The game must be loaded in a board window. The link is to the game and the exact position that is currently on the board. If the game is in the same database as the text, then the text will merely contain a reference to it. Note that in this case you cannot simply copy the text to another database. ChessBase will not be able to find the quoted game in the new database and so it will not be loaded. If the game is in a different database the ChessBase will copy the entire game (without commentary) into the text. However, only the reference will be visible.

▶ Edit Position link (Shift-Ctrl-D)

Inserts a diagram, which you can define in the <u>Enter position</u> mask. If you have loaded a game the position on the board will be automatically be inserted. You can select the diagram size, coordinates and specify whether it should be a full diagram or just a fragment, which you select from the Format dropdown menu. Mark the diagram and press Ctrl-E if you want to center it.

▶ Edit Cross table (Shift-Ctrl-T)

Click a tournament in the <u>tournament index</u> (you can also click the first game of the tournament in the games list). Switch to the database text and insert the Table link, which will appear as the tournament name. When you click this link a cross-table of the tournament is generated.

Edit Player (Shift-Ctrl-E)

Reference	555
-----------	-----

Enter the player's full name, exactly as it appears in the <u>players encyclopedia</u>. To make sure you get the spelling right you should type in a few letters and then click the "?" button for a list of names from the encyclopedia. Choose the one you want. When you click the player link a picture and the biographical details are loaded from the encyclopedia.

Edit Text (Shift-Ctrl-X)

You can create a jump to a different text in the same database. A dialog box displays all the texts that are present, and you can select the one to be linked.

• Edit Game list (Shift-Ctrl-L)

This lists the games of a database. You cannot insert a link to the games of a different database.

Edit Key link (Shift-Ctrl-K)

You can put a reference to an <u>openings</u> or <u>theme</u> index in a database. The key must be opened, but in order to avoid confusion only one key can be active in order for the link to be created.

Edit Opening book (Shift-Ctrl-B)

This inserts a link to an openings book.

Edit External gamelist (Shift-Ctrl-F)

This inserts a link to the last opened database. Naturally if you send the database with the text to somebody else you must also include the external database, otherwise the link will not work.

Edit Search mask (Shift-Ctrl-M)

This allows you to define a search mask and create a link to it in the text. You can enter a name for the link (e.g. "Short wins"). When the link is clicked the search is conducted on the current database.

3.17.6 Format text

토 프 크	— Line	Arial • 30 •
📲 Indent	H Format Normal	
	👸 Set Code Page	Text Color B I <u>U</u>
Alignment	Format	Font

Language

The language of the database text should be set with the tabs on the top left of the window. Depending on which language is set for the program operation the corresponding language will be automatically loaded.

Format: Header

There are four standard formats: Main header (Ctrl-1), header 2 (Ctrl-2), header 3 (Ctrl-3) or standard text (Ctrl-0). You can also use Define header formats (Ctrl-D) to set the font, colour, alignment and stylefor each of the formats.

Format: Alignment

556 ChessBase 17

Use Left align (Ctrl-I), Right align (Shift-Ctrl-R) or Centered (Ctrl-E) to align the marked or following text.

Format: Indent

The left indent is given in points.(each point corresponding to 1/72 Inch)

Format: Style

Use Italic (Ctrl-I), Bold (Ctrl-B) or Underline (Ctrl-U) for the marked or following text.

Format: Font (Ctrl-F), Font size

This allows you to select a font for the marked text. It is advisable to only use standard Windows fonts, otherwise the text may not appear properly on other computer systems where the font is not installed.

Format: Text color (Ctrl-R)

Change color of marked text. You can select a color from the Windows colours palette.

Format: Web Link

Type in the URL of a web site. Clicking the link will start up your Internet browser and connection to the web site given.

Format: Pin note

Mark a text passage and then click Format – Pin note. You will be prompted for a text label, which is inserted in place of the marked text. Clicking the pin note label in the database text makes the original text appear in a separate box. Pin notes help you to make your text neater. You should use them to insert explanations or footnotes to the text.

Format: Text Label

This is a link within a database text. You must enter a text string. When the lable is clicked the program will search for this in the database text and jump to that position. Text labels are very useful for a table of contents at the top of a text, or for jumping to other sections.

Format: Line

Inserts a horizontal line in the text

You can also format text and insert links by marking and then right-clicking it

3.17.7 Default Text

When a database contains a <u>database text</u> at the first position, you can open this by clicking on the text tab in the <u>database list window</u>:

The Albin Counter-Gambit <u>Training</u>



This training section provides games featuring ideas and plans typical for the Albin Counter-Gambit which should be looked at both from White's and from Black's point of view. The entire training includes the solving of concrete game positions to improve your understanding of typical ideas and plans.

The following games are proposed for training:

Games featuring typical manoeuvres for Black in the Albin Counter-Gambit:

There is no language selection tab in this editor, the text is shown in the program language. To switch between possible other languages, load the database text by double-clicking it from the games list:

Text	Games	Players	Tournaments	Annotator	Sources	Teams	Openi	ngs	Themes	Tactics
Number	Whit	e		Elo W	Black			Elo B	8 Resu	lt Mov
The World Champions Text					t					
	The	Challen	gers						Text	t
	Conditions							Text	t	
	Alekhine								Text	t

3.17.8 Looking for and finding database texts

Our database format allows not only the simple saving of games, positions or game data. Databases may also contain extensive texts including embedded links, these are called database texts. All database texts are produced with the integrated ChessBase text editor and contain important information.

The following screenshot shows an example of the way database texts are represented within a games list.



Within the text itself you can immediately access the game being discussed with a click on the link or in Fritz Trainers you can load the appropriate video directly.

Database texts are generally to be found at the start of the games list, but can also be stored in the middle or at the end of the list. You can target a search for database texts in one or more databases.

Let us assume that you would like to search through several databases in ChessBase for database texts. Hold down the Ctrl key and use mouse clicks to mark the databases to be searched.

A right click starts the context menu from which we choose the search mask with "Search". In the search mask, under the tab "Game data" there is the option Text.

White	🔘 Black	🖉 Text
		Not
		© Blitz

If this button is activated, the program will filter out for the window containing the results of your search all those database texts which are present.

<u>Tip</u>: if you frequently make use of a search for database texts, ChessBase allows you to store the criteria for your search and reload whenever you need to! These functions are made available to you in the search mask of the new version of the program via *Load* and *Save*.

Reference	559

4 Support

4.1 System requirements



Recommendation: PC Intel i7, i9 or Ryzen 7/9, 8 GB RAM, Windows 11 or 10 with 64bit, Windows Media Player, graphics card with 1 GB RAM, RTX graphics card for real time Raytrace board, (DVD-ROM drive) and Internet access.

The program runs quite smoothly on older computers with

Minimum (without raytracing): PC Intel i3 or i5 or Ryzen 3, 4 GB RAM, Windows 8.1 (32- or 64-bit), DirectX11, graphics card with 512 MB RAM, DVD-ROM drive, Windows Media Player and Internet access.

System requirements ChessBase Account: Internet access and current browser, e.g. Chrome, Safari. For Windows, OS X, iOS, Android, Linux.

4.2 Support

First of all: Check for <u>updates</u> in the chess server.

Automatic updates as required



Updates are actively supplied for the program

The program is supplied with a help file. When in the program, click on the symbol with a question mark on the top right-hand edge of the screen to open the help file.

Visit the <u>support page</u> on www.chessbase.com for answers to frequently asked questions.



Check the <u>download page</u> of www.chessbase.com for further resources.

Write a mail to our support if this does not solve your problem.

Check for Windows Updates.

Menu Help

Access to the Helpfile.

4.3 Use touchpad

If you primarily play on a laptop with a touchpad. Unfortunately this leads to quite a few slips where you accidentally release the piece before its destination. Is there a way to change the interface so I can click the piece, and then click the destination square?

Please disable some options in the option dialog Game.

	e p tre ne	000	
11			
Heumas –			

Menu File - Options - Game.

1	3	6
1	0	1
Heumas Ply		
Assisted Analysis		
Legal moves		
Single click entry		
✓ Forced moves entry		

Disable the items "Single Click Entry" and Premove.

Now a smooth operation via touchpad should be possible without any problems.

4.4 Trouble shooting

• My position (reference) search does not find all games Delete and recreate the <u>search booster</u>, it might be defect

I don't have access to the <u>Online database</u>.

Using the Online database presupposes that you have a proper dial-up network connection installed. When you start your Internet browser the connection should be made automatically. If it is not you will have to manually start it before you try to access games from the Online database from within ChessBase.

▶ The <u>E-mail function</u> of ChessBase does not work, and nothing is sent Your Email program is not registered as your default Email client. Check the settings of your Email client or use the Windows Control Panel – Internet Options - tab Programs. The email program should support Simple MAPI. Netscape 7.1 does not support Simple MAPI.

In the board window the chessboard has letters instead of pieces

The <u>diagram fonts</u> have not been correctly installed. Possibly ChessBase did not get the rights to install fonts in your Windows setup. Try to install the fonts manually. They are all to be found in the directory \Fonts on the ChessBase DVD.

When printing diagrams on an HP printer the white squares are too narrow
Switch to alternate font mapping. In the board window go to File – Print – Page setup
Fonts and change the font settings to "ChessBase Alternate".

• When printing diagrams on an HP laserjet IIIP printer, characters appear in stead of figurines.

There are two options in the Printer Setup – Fonts:

- 1. Print True Type Fonts as Bitmap Soft Fonts and
- 2. Print True Type as Graphic.

You need to set option 2

4.5 Font problems

Problem

In the game notation and in printouts the chess symbols are not given correctly;

or

For the chessboard the wood and marble textures are not available; the board cannot be scaled.

Cause

The TrueType fonts are not correctly installed. This most often occurs when you do not have the required administration rights under Windows.

Solution

Install the fonts manually in the Windows Control Panel – Fonts. The fonts are to be found in the *directory* *Fonts* on your ChessBase DVD.

4.6 Optimize Real 3D Board

To use the real 3D Board, you need a fast graphics adapter which supports 3D rendering in hardware. It should be compatible with <u>DirectX</u> 9 or better. If there are any problems, please try to download recent driver software for your graphics adapter. Check the Microsoft Windows Update page or the web site of the hardware manufacturer.



Important: Usually only the latest drivers of a graphics adapter bring optimal performance.

If you do not use the real 3D board, you <u>do not need DirectX</u>.

4.7 Admin Tool

In the program folder you will find the separate program "ChessBaseAdminTool.exe".

□ c ∨ [system] 53.659.220 k von 152.598.524 k frei						
▼c:\Program Files\ChessBase\CBase17*.*						
↑ Name	Erw.	Größe	Datum Attr.			
@ []		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:34			
🗀 [Agora]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29-			
🗀 [Bitmaps]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29-			
Denoise]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29-			
🗀 [GIF]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29-			
(HTML)		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29			
[Licenses]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29			
[Messages]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29-			
[Prerequisites]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29-			
[Raytracer]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29-			
[Ribbons]		<dir></dir>	03.11.2022 13:29-			
S BCGCBPro 170	dll	12.604.416	15.11.2022 09:35-a-			
BetaVersionHistory	txt	9.332	17.11.2022 20:57-a-			
CBase17	exe	26.128.552	17.11.2022 21:00-a-			
ChessBaseAdminTool	exe	1.316.520	17.11.2022 09:11-a-			
ChessRes	dll	1.760.944	15.11.2022 15:15-a-			
a d3dcompiler_47	dll	4.916.728	06.05.2022 16:30-a-			
is d3dcsx_47	dll	1.922.536	06.05.2022 16:34-a-			
Eco	cbcod	4.172.508	20.12.2019 20:43-a-			
EcoMoves	cod	8.000	20.12.2019 20:43-a-			

This application is started automatically after the program is started and informs you about the <u>activation</u> status of the installed programs.

In the case of problems with the activation the program can be started manually by double clicking on the EXE file in the program folder.

- Activate starts the dialog for the program activation.
- Activate Offline starts the dialog for the program activation on a computer without Internet access.
- **Deactivate** deactivates the selected program version.

4.8 FAQ on activating / deactivating

Recent versions of our programs come with a <u>serial number</u>. After the program has been installed, it is absolutely necessary to activate the software by inputting this on our activation server. After the software installation the activation dialog box is automatically displayed. This is where – when connected to the internet – you enter the serial number. **Question**: On how many computers can one install and activate, for example, the latest version of Fritz or ChessBase?

Answer: In principle it is possible to install, activate and then use each of our programs simultaneously on three different computers. That makes it possible for you to employ your software, e.g., on a desktop computer and a notebook!

Question: I have got a serial number for the chess server and the registration of a <u>ChessBase Account</u>. Although I am certain that the serial number is valid, it is not accepted when I enter it via My account – Enter serial number!

Answer: A valid serial number allows you to unlock an account only once. When the serial number has been used for an activation, its useful life is over and thus the serial number can no longer be used for further activations!

Question: I have bought a new computer. Whenever I want to activate a program with the serial number, I get the succinct reply, the *Serial number is in use*.

Answer: You absolutely have to make sure that when you change the configuration of your system or acquire a new computer that you have deactivated the program! By doing so you reset the number of times the serial number has been used and you can then input your serial number again when you have changed the configuration or bought a new computer.

The option for deactivation can be found under *File* Activation Deactivate!

Note: these functions are only available if the user is logged in with his <u>ChessBase</u> <u>account</u> within the program! At the top right of the screen you will find the entry " *Login* ".

The activation and update are available under the menu item File - Activation - Program Update.

If the menu item is grayed out and therefore inactive, log in with your ChessBase account!!!

Log into the following login dialog with the user name of your ChessBase account. If you now switch to the activation menu after logging in, you will notice that these important functions are available

4.9 Updates

w

The serial number is needed for the first program start.

After entering <u>the serial number</u> the program has unlimited access to the online database and the Updates.

We always offer updates with corrections and new functions for an installed program version. These are available to the registered user free of charge.

Note: these functions are only available if the user is logged in with his <u>ChessBase</u> <u>account</u> within the program! At the top right of the screen you will find the entry " *Login* ".



Clipdatenbank

The activation and update are available under the menu item *File* - *Activation* - *Program Update*.



If the menu item is <u>grayed out</u> and therefore inactive, log in with your ChessBase account!

Log into the following login dialog with the user name of your ChessBase account. If you now switch to the activation menu after logging in, you will notice that these important functions are available!

4.10 64 bit versions of Windows

Attention: In the 64 bit versions of Windows it is now the convention to install programs in a different path, "C:\Program Files", and no longer in "C:\Program Files (0x86)".

For this reason only the 3D boards packaged with CB12 can be used, not those included with Fritz. Some older engines might still be found in "C:\Program Files (0x86) \ChessBase\Engines."

4.11 DGT Board 64 Bit

If you have a 64bit application like ChessBase12 64bit or Deep Fritz 14 then you need to connect with the DGT e-Board. At this moment most of the chess applications are 32bit!! If you are not certain and have a 64bit Windows, you can install both 32bit and 64bit drivers.

Download Site is <u>http://www.digitalgametechnology.com/site/index.php/dgtsupport/</u><u>downloads-2</u>

4.12 Error Messages

4.12.1 Can't open database

ChessBase cannot find or open a database.

Possible causes:

- The database is being used by another program in write-protect mode (see network capabilities)
- The database is corrupted. Run an integrity test and try to repair the database.
- Too many databases are opened simultaneously (not too likely).
- The database has been deleted externally while ChessBase was running (i.e. the icon is still displayed).
- The database was copied from a DVD to your hard disk without removing the write protection (which is on all DVD files). Remove the write protection or use the

568 ChessBase 17

function <u>Menu File - Install - Install Database from DVD</u> instead of copying the files with the Explorer.

4.12.2 Database in use, can't delete

You are trying to delete, rename or reorganize a database that is currently in use. Please first close all relevant windows.

The database could also be open from another program, e.g. over the local network.

4.12.3 Only replace game with multimedia commentary

Multimedia commentary (sound, pictures, video) in games and <u>database texts</u> are saved in separate directories and files. This makes certain restrictions necessary. Saving a game in the same database would duplicate all multimedia files. For this reason ChessBase only permits <u>replace game</u>.

4.12.4 Not enough RAM memory

The function you are trying to use requires more RAM memory than is installed in your computer. For instance, <u>finding double games</u> is fast because a lot of information is cached in memory. Without enough memory the function may be painfully slow.

4.12.5 Read/write error

ChessBase can open a database but cannot store any games in it.

Possible causes:

- The database is corrupted use the integrity check to repair it.
- Your hard disk partition is full.
- Another program has opened the database so that no write operations are possible (see <u>network capabilities</u>).

4.12.6 Wrong database format

The function you have chosen is not possible with this type of database.

Examples:

1. You cannot create keys or a search booster in a <u>PGN</u> database.

2. You cannot access <u>indexes</u>, <u>find doubles</u> or <u>check integrity</u> on a database in the older CBF format.

Solution: Convert the database to the normal ChessBase format (right-click the database symbol).

4.12.7 Error Update

Two error messages:

Can't upgrade to version the following info window opens cannot write

C\:users\xxxxx\AppData\Local\chessbase\Updates\CBx15x64exe

Download Error: The code segment cannot be greater than or equal to 64K. errcode=C8

Solution: Delete the file "CBx16x64.exe " in the directory **C:** users\xxxx\AppData\Local\chessbase\Updates\.

Reboot your computer.

Start CB again and run the Update via *Menu File - Activation* again. That should solve the problem.

Index

_ * _

*.cbcloud 543 *.cbone 349

- 2 -

2cbh 345, 347

- 3 -

3D board 93, 102, 425, 431, 562

- 6 -

64 bit versions of Windows 567

A tip on searching for doubles 354 A tip on tactical analysis 474 Aboservice 327 Access 402 Accessing Cloud Databases on other computers 544 Activation 14 Add game to repertoire 398 Admin Tool 564 Advanced Engine Analysis 446 Algebraic Notation 168, 362 420 Amazon Analyse 444 Analysis engine 90, 173, 207, 436, 440, 441 Analysis Jobs 464 Analysis menu 445 Analysis with Comments 450 **Animation Engine Variations** 449 Annotated games 277 85, 224, 226, 227, 231, 234, Annotating games 235, 237, 238, 245, 361 Annotation palette 85, 226

Annotator 185 Annotator index 129 Apply text analysis and variants with a click 454 Archive database 335, 359 Assisted analysis 213 Automatically paste PGN and FEN 355

- B ·

Backup 281, 335 Backup copies of your repertoire 413 Beauty of Games 120 Best book line 97 Best game 106 **Bid Dialog** 505 **Blunder Categories** 473 Board design 191 82 Board window Board window - Save Game in Cloud 542 Board window with provided engine 484 Book analysis window 97 Book window 98, 193 Bookmark games in ChessBase 240 Browse Positions 277 Buddy Engine 456

- C -

Calling up the search mask 144 Can a text commentary be edited or deleted? 538 Can engine matches be carried out with Cloud Engines? 496 Can engines be used without paying ducats? 496 Can I negotiate a price? 496 Can Let's Check be used anonymously? 536 Can more than one engine be offered on a computer? 497 Can senseless moves be input and analysed? 537 Can the length of time for using an engine be limited? 496 Can variations and evaluations be manipulated? 537 Can't open database 567 Category (Tournament) 198 CBF 345 CBH 337, 345

Index

Centipawn Analysis 475 Changed conventions for the saving and replacing of games! 249 Check integrity 339 Chess Media System 257 Chess Movies 29 Chess notation 362 ChessBase Account 18 ChessBase Magazine 361 Classification 360.386 Classification keys 390 Classification positions 390 Classify whole database 386 Clever game handling 283 Clip database 318 Clip database for web-based use 319 Cloud Analysis 461 Cloud Database Icons 550 **Cloud Databases** 538 384 **Collect Openings** Color bars 242 238 coloured circle in the notation? Coloured highlights 413 Commentaries in the LiveBook 525 Commentary symbols 361 Commenting functions 246 Completely delete a repertoire 414 Contents 13 Conversion from 2CBH to older file formats 348 Conversion from older file formats to the new 2CBH format 347 Coordinates 191 Copy games 321, 323 Copy games to book 180. 332 copy survey to notation 372 Copying and inserting ASCII and FEN 220 Copying games with a right click 113 219 Correcting moves Correspondence chess management 34.432 Correspondence header 434 435 Correspondence move **Correspondence Notation** 362 Create new Cloud Databases 541 Create training lessons 258 Creating a Repertoire Database 399 Creation date 313

Critical positions 235 Cross Tables 198 CTG 337, 345, 385 CTRL-F6 200 Customising the display of information 113 Customize Shortcuts 201

- D -

Database file selector 179. 321 DataBase Format Cloud 539 Database formats 337, 339, 345, 354 Database functions with Cloud Databases 543 Database in use can't delete 568 Database Management 316 Database paths 334 Database Preview 40 Database statistics 115 Database symbols 312 Database text 551 Database text chess links 554 Database text editor 552 Database text header 552 Database text multimedia links 553 Database Text Window 110, 557 Database types 184.310 Database window 38 Database window Start 28, 333 Databases 28, 308, 311, 333, 339 Deactivation 14 Decriptive Notation 168 Deep analysis 459 Default book 315 Default engine 54.437 Define reference database 364 Delete game 324 Deleting a Cloud Database locally 544 Deleting a Database 325 Deleting variations in the repertoire 413 Description Let's Check 508 Description LiveBook 510 Design 171 Detect Sacrifices 58 DGT Board 80, 425 Diagram 220 Diagram list 424

Diagrams within notation 76 Differences between CBH and CBCloud Formats 543 Different Statistical Displays in the Opening Book 101 Direct installation from the shop 374 **Direct Search** 264 DirectX 93, 102, 425, 431, 562 Discovering a position 514 Display attack relations 52 Display Current Main Line 55 **Display Reference Percentage** 48 **Docking Window** 22 Double click on the fast board 41 Double Games 352 Downloads Reference Database 330 Drag and Drop 206, 273 Driver 431, 562 Ducats 506

- E -

EBook 420 ECO classification 360 Edit menu in games list 336 Edit Openings Book 98 Edit player's names 185 Editorial annotation 234 Elo Profile 297 125, 297, 301, 304, 359 Elo ratings E-Mail 29.423 Encrypting databases 335 Endgame Classification 134 Endgame keys 131 Endgame probabilities 45 131, 155, 294 Endgames Engine 49, 90, 173, 207, 436, 437, 441 Engine Cloud 476 Engine connection 485 Engine dialog Cloud 501 440, 441 Engine parameters Engine variant explained with language 452 Engine window 49, 443 Enginelayout 436 208, 219 Enter moves Enter moves with single clicks 219

Enter position 220 EPub 420 Error Update 569 Evaluation display 51 Evaluation history in the search 458 Export opening report 382 Express correction 208 Extend your game collection 319 Extended Book display 100 Extended Information in the Board Window 84 Extending the repertoire 404

- F -

FAQ 2CBH Format 349 FAQ on "My Moves" 410 FAQ on activating / deactivating 564 Fashion Index 47 Fast Switch of the Reference Search 285 Fast Switch of the Search Database 286 Favourites list 430 Feedback for training positions 182 FEN diagram description 220 **FEN** Format 355 Figurine Notation 168 File names and extensions 337, 339 144, 263, 284 Filter Filter – Good Games 341 Filtering a list 264 Final Material 294 Find novelty/compare 387 Finding Games 27 Flexible headings in the notation window 76 Fold notation 87 Folder Shortcut 179, 321 Folders 178.351 Folding and game hints notation 59 Font problems 562 Fonts 206, 562 Fonts Commentary Box 231 Format text 555 Full text search in the Tournament list 129

- G -

Game Analysis with Cloud Engines 499

Game Analysis with Let's Check 518 Game analysis with Let's Check 529 Game History 281 Game History Board window 89 Game overview 104 Game Title 135 Games indexes 350 111, 263, 273, 336, 414 Games list Games subscriptions 329 Gaviota EGTB files 177 GM Title 125, 192, 297, 300, 301 Good Games 365 Goto Fritz 106 Graphic commentary 237 **Graphics Adapter** 431, 562

- H -

Harvest training material 123 Hash tables 440 Help Menu 42 173, 208, 219 Heumas Hints for working on your repertoire 407 History 281 Honours Lists 534 How are the Let's Check honours lists created? 537 How can you insert a possible continuation into a saved game? 220 How should a game be analysed with Let's Check? 518

- | -

ICCF Correspondence Chess Server 432 ID-Card 192, 297, 300 Ignored Users 504 Illegal positions 255 Immediate Access to the Repertoire Database 398 Import protocol 184, 310, 323 Improve Playernames 341 350 Index Individual tactics training 472 Infinite Analysis with a Cloudengine 500 Info boards 510 Information in the Chat window 523

Insert a diagram before the first move 243 Insert new key 393 Install database from CD 326 Install database on hard disk 327 Install new key 393 Installed Engines 436 Instant Analysis 43 Integrity 339 Intelligent Searches in the Online Database 278 Interactive Position Input 222 Interactive search for structures 267 Interactive search mask 137 Interactive search mask-Any Event 141 Interactive search mask-Any Material 143 Interactive search mask-Any Opening 141 Interactive search mask-Any Position 142 Interactive search mask-Any Strength 140 Interactive search mask-Everyone 139 Interactive search mask-Other Options 144 Is my analysis always sent to Let's Check? 536

- K -

Kev 131, 132, 133, 294, 383, 390, 391, 392, 393, 394 Key functions 392 Key memo 394 Keyboard shortcuts for commentary symbols 202 Keyboard shortcuts in games lists 203 Keyboard shortcuts in the board window 204 Keyboard shortcuts in the database window 205 49, 90, 173, 207, 436, 440, 441 Kibitzer Knock Out 198

- L -

Language 426 Language selection by mouse click 231 lay 83 Lavout 36, 82, 200 Let's Check context menu 522 Let's Check Server Statistics 521 Limits 174, 427 List View Engine Cloud 478 List window 109, 111, 128, 350 Live databases 342

Live opening comments/notifications 343 Load and save layouts 82 Load Engine 437 Loading multiple instances of an engine 439 Lock engine 207 Looking for and finding database texts 557

- M -

Main window Engine Cloud 478 Manoeuvres 151 Marking variations with Reference 378 27, 56, 131, 155, 168, 294 Material Maximum size of the tree of positions 99 Medals 238 Media Player 257 Mega Database 286.363 201 Menu bands Merge Transpositions 428 253, 401 Merging games Merging transpositions 175 Miscellaneous options 428 Mobi 420 Moves 208.219 Moves highlighted with a yellow arrow 78 32 Movies in ChessBase Moving Windows 200 Multimedia commentary 224 **Multiple Choice** 258, 260 My databases 311 My Moves 402

- N -

Name of the Opening 373 Navigating games with the slider 85 26 Navigation Chess Board Network capabilities 359 Networked Analysis 527 New - Board/Position/Text 55 New data format 2cbh 346 New Index 135 New input mode for games 210 Next best move 55, 444 No evaluation profile? 45 no games displayed in player index 127 No information from the player encyclopaedia 300 Not enough RAM memory 568 Notation 56, 87, 105, 168, 362 Notation - Remove Novelty 389 Notation Window 56.87 Notation Window Toolbar 79 Note about the UCI engines 442 Notes for the providers of public engines 489 **Novelties** 387 Novelty 387 Novelty Annotation 388

- 0 -

Offering a public Cloud Engine 489 Online Database 274. 285 Opening Reference 286.365 Opening reference on Database 377 Opening surveys 367 Openings 365.379 97, 98, 180, 193, 315, 332, 385 Openings book Openings classification 383, 390 Openings key 27, 383, 390, 391, 392, 393, 394 Openings Key Window 383, 391, 392 Openings report 379 Optimized Interface with Direct2D 24 **Options Encyclopedia** 197 Options in the book window 193 Organising repertoires 408 Other options for working on the repertoire 404 Output menu in games list 414 Overview in Diagrams 104

- P -

Panes 200 Parameters for Reference Search 181 Passing on to the openings app 108 Password 359 27, 165 Patterns Pawn structure 165, 245 PGN Downloads from the Internet 358 **PGN** Format 337, 345, 354, 428 Photos 125, 192, 297, 300, 301, 304 Piece path 245 Piece probability 295

Piece Set 191 Plan Explorer 70 Player dossier 303 Player encyclopedia 192, 297, 300, 304, 307 Player Encyclopedia as List 306 Player Encyclopedia online 299 Player index 125, 301, 307 Player preparation by mouse click 127 125, 167, 185, 192, 297, 300, 301, 304, Players 307 Playing through games with the mouse wheel 27 Position 165, 220 Position Setup using the DGT board 81 Print evaluation profile 45 Print rating profile 45 Print Up to move XX" option 29 Printina 416, 417, 424 29 Diagrams Games 29 Repertoire 401 Score Sheet 105 Private Users 504 Processors 443 Progress Bar 514 234 Promotion Prospecting for innovations 531 Protocol 323 Providers of Cloud Engines 497 **Public Cloud Engines** 486 Publisher 130 Publishing Cloud Databases on the Web 548 Publishing of Games in the Internet 418

- Q -

Quick Access 19

- R -

Rapid input of games212Ray Tracing boards94Read/write error568Rearranging windows200Recent Databases109Recognising PGN downloads356Reference286, 365

Reference database 184, 285, 286, 310, 364, 365 Registering for web functions 16 Registration with ChessBase Cloud 540 Remove deleted games 316. 324 Removing critical positions from notation 236 Removing medals 239 Rename a Database 326 105, 253, 396, 398 Repertoire Repertoire database 184, 310, 396, 398 Repertoire Databases in the Cloud 549 Repertoire print 401 Repertoire training 67 Replace game 254 Replace game with multimedia commentary 568 Replay arrows 191 Replay Training 61 Retro moves 196 Revenue 503 Ribbons 19 Round Robin 198

- S -

Sacrifice 132, 284 Same players 293 Save Game to Cloud 249 Save games as analysis 189 185, 188, 249 Save mask Save mask board 187 Saving games 185, 249 Saving Games in PGN 358 Saving searches 264 Score Sheet 105 22 Screen Layout Search booster 317, 339 Search for annotations 150 Search for game data 147 search for games between players whose Elo ratings differ greatly 268 Search for manoeuvres 151 Search for material 155 Search for medals 164 Search for position 165 Search for sacrifices 284 Search for similar endgames 288 Search for similar middle game structures 289

Search for similar moves 290 Search in the Online database 285 Search in the player encyclopedia 304 Search in the reference database 285 Search mask 88, 144, 147, 150, 151, 155, 164, 165, 263, 284 Search mask - Attacks 160 Search result window 88 Searching for annotated games 273 Searching for game tags 294 Searching for positions 271 Searching for time controls 166 Searching in the online shop 373 Sending games to the web app Fritz 107 Serial Number 196 Server Engine-Cloud.com 476 Service Pack 565 Set beauty 121 Setting the notation 168 Settings Computer Cloud 502 Settings dialog for providers 501 Sharing Cloud Databases 545 Shortcuts 36, 201, 202, 203, 204, 205 Show classification positions 390 Show contents of DVD 38 376 Show Hot Variations Show Next Move 100 Showing the name of the opening 78 Simplified update of the reference database 331 Slider 26 Solve training lessons 260 Sort Tournament Tables 198 Sorting database texts 551 Sorting games 273 Sorting Keys 395 Sound 428 Source edit dialog 194 Source index 130. 194 Speak text annotations 59 Speedindex 535 Spelling of players' names 307 Standard engine 54, 173 Standard repertoires 407 Start Let's Check 514 Statistics 297 Stopping the variation box from appearing 233

Storage space for the Cloud Databases 542 Strategy key 132, 295 Style specifications 24 Summary of the auction system 493 Supplementary moves at the end of a game notation 229 Support 37, 559 Swiss System 198 Symbol palette 85, 226 System requirements 559 Syzygy Tablebases 176

- T -

Table notation 105 Tablebases 175, 178, 351 Tactical analysis 470 Tactics 256 Tactics key 132 Taskmanager 42 Teams 185 Teams index 130 Text commentary 227 Theme keys 133 Theory Weight 114 Threats 256 **Tip Deleting Games** 324 Tip for a new installation 315 Tip Search mask 150 **Tipp Merging Games** 254 Tips Game list 112 Tips in the engine window 451 Tips on searching for a player 266 Tips Opening surveys 372 Title Norm 198 Toolbar 109 Top Game 114 Touchpad 561 Tournament data 195 Tournament index 128 **Tournament tables** 198 Training 182, 258, 260, 261 184, 261, 310 Training database Training notation 261 Training questions including those being timed 183 Training questions with diagrams 262
Transfer key 394 Transfer of thematic keys 133 Transitions in the evaluation profile 44 Trends 47 Trouble shooting 561 Trying Out Moves 217 Types of databases 184, 310 Typical tactical positions in an opening variation 291

- U -

UCI Engines 441 Unplayed transpositions 196 565 Update Update of the Reference Database 327 Updates 37.559 Up-dating the search window of the online database 280 Usage 313 Use of Cloud Engines 496 Use of colours for variations within the notation 74 Use of colours in the repertoire 406 Use Theme Keys 428 useful shortcut Ctrl-F6 42 User name 167 Using a Cloud Engine privately 485 Using Cloud Databases offline 543

- V -

Variation dialog 79 Variations 208, 231 Videos 361 Vista 436 Visual Evaluation 447 visually impaired user 59

- W -

What difference does the power of my computer make? 536 What do the green, blue and red letters for the depth mean? 520 What do the two diagrams in the LiveBook window mean? 537 What does "Max Time for Fixed Rate" mean? 497 What does it cost? 536 What engines are allowed? 536 What is a database 308 What price should I ask for my system configuration? 497 What's new? 13 Why does the progress bar often jump back after reaching 100%? 520 Windows 200 Windows Media Player 257 Working on or extending a repertoire 411 Wrong database format 568